
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: June 8, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Meeting 

June 8, 2021, at 7:00 PM 
City Council Chambers 

231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer 
www.palmerak.org 

AGENDA 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. ROLL CALL

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Consent Agenda

a. Action Memorandum No. 21-037: Authorizing the City Manager to Sign a Memorandum of
Agreement with the State of Alaska, Department of Health and Social Services to Receive Funding
to Encourage and Increase Access to Support Covid -19 Activities ............................ Page 3 

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a. May 11, 2021, Special Meeting .............................................................................. Page 9 
b. May 11, 2021, Regular Meeting ............................................................................. Page 11 

E. REPORTS
1. City Manager’s Report
2. City Clerk’s Report
3. Mayor’s Report
4. City Attorney’s Report

F. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

G. PUBLIC HEARING
1. Ordinance No. 21-008: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Regarding Garbage

Collection and Disposal .............................................................................................. Page 19 
2. Ordinance No. 21-009: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 Water Supply System

 ................................................................................................................................ Page 23 
3. Resolution No. 21-020: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate the Reversion of Tract E-2 of

the Replat of Tract A, B, E and H-2 Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision to the City of Palmer and
Prepare a Resolution Authorizing the Sale to Northland Hangers LLC for Industrial Purposes per
Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 ................................................................................. Page 27 

4. Resolution No. 21-021: Authorizing the City Manager to Conduct a Public Land Sale for 1891 S.
Chugach (17N02E04C004) as Authorized by Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 ................. Page 45 

H. NEW BUSINESS
1. Action Memorandum No. 21-038: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the

City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection to Grant a Marijuana License to Connoisseur Lounge, LLC
Located at 226 West Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2, Marijuana License No. 27522 ............... Page 59 

2. Committee of the Whole: Discussion Regarding Annexation ...................................... Page 127 

Mayor Edna B. DeVries 
Deputy Mayor Sabrena Combs 
Council Member Julie Berberich 
Council Member Richard W. Best 
Council Member Steve Carrington 
Council Member Brian Daniels 
Council Member Jill Valerius 

City Attorney Michael Gatti 
City Clerk Norma I. Alley, MMC 
City Manager John Moosey 

Page 1 of 254Page 1 of 254

http://www.palmerak.org/


__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: June 8, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 2 of 2 

I. EXECUTIVE SESSION
1. Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which Would Clearly Have an Adverse Effect Upon the Finances

of the Public Entity and Matter which by Law, Municipal Charter, or Ordinances are Required to be
Confidential – Potential Litigation Attorney Client Communication: State of Alaska City of Palmer
Dispatch Agreement (note: action may be taken by the council following the executive session)

J. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE

K. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

L. COUNCIL COMMENTS

M. ADJOURNMENT

Tentative Future Palmer City Council Meetings 

Meeting 
Date 

Meeting 
Type Time Notes 

Jun 22 Regular 7 pm 

July 13 Regular 7 pm 

July 27 Regular 7 pm 

Aug 10 Regular 7 pm 

Aug 24 Regular 7 pm 
Sep 14 Regular 7 pm 
Sep 28 Regular 7 pm 
Oct 11 Special 6 pm Election Certification 

Page 2 of 254Page 2 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-037 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-037 

Subject: Authorizing the City Manager to Sign a Memorandum of Agreement with the State of Alaska, Department 
of Health and Social Services to Receive Funding to Encourage and Increase Access to Support Covid -19 Activities 

Agenda of: June 8, 2021 

Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
Community Development 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 30,000 
 

This legislation (√): 
ⱱ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 30,000 
ⱱ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 30,000 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $ 
ⱱ Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s): 
ⱱ Not budgeted Grant Award 
 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

Page 3 of 254Page 3 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-037 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 

1. MOA – State of Alaska – Department of Health and Social Services - Division of Public Health –
COVID-19 Emergency Operations Center State of Alaska - Department of Health and Social Services

Summary Statement/Background: 

Approval of this action will allow the City of Palmer to receive $30,000 (thirty thousand dollars) in funds to partner 
with the Greater Palmer Chamber of Commerce. The Greater Palmer Chamber will use its resources to encourage 
and provide opportunities to positively impact our community’s fight against the COVID-19 pandemic.  

The purpose of this MOA is to provide funding to government entities to implement community-driven strategies 
that support COVID-19 related activities. These activities include improving efforts and increase access to COVID-
19 testing in the community, building capacity to increase access to COVID-19 vaccine in the community, and 
implementing strategies that decrease health inequities, as well as other COVID-19 related recovery and 
preventing strategies.  

Administration’s Recommendation:  

To approve Action Memorandum No. 21-037 

Page 4 of 254Page 4 of 254



Department of Health and 
Social Services 

FINANCE AND MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
Juneau Office 

P.O. Box 110650 
Juneau, Alaska 99811-0650 

Main: 907.465.3082 
Fax: 907.465.2499 

Memorandum of Agreement Between 

State of Alaska - Department of Health and Social Services 

Division of Public Health – COVID-19 Emergency Operations Center 
(DPH-EOC) 

- and –

City of Palmer 

C0621-570-Y 

I. PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this MOA is to provide funding to government entities to
implement community-driven strategies that support COVID-19 related
activities. These activities include improving efforts and increase access to
COVID-19 testing in the community, building capacity to increase access to
COVID-19 vaccine in the community, and implementing strategies that
decrease health inequities, as well as other COVID-19 related recovery and
prevention strategies.

CFDA Number 93.323, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,
Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity for Prevention and Control of
Emerging Infectious Diseases

II. THE DPH AGREES TO:
Provide support to the community on COVID-19 vaccine administration,
testing, and other COVID-19 related activities. The COVID-19 EOC Team
is available to consult and provide technical assistance to government
entities and to pre-approved pass-through recipients of award funding.
The team will also ensure that approved activities meet the funding
requirements.

III. THE CITY OF PALMER AGREES TO:
Provide COVID-19 vaccine-related health equity activities in
partnership with the Palmer Chamber of Commerce.

Page 5 of 254Page 5 of 254



Recipients/sub-awardees who are conducting COVID-19 testing must establish/ 
maintain a means to ensure that the results of all COVID testing performed by this 
entity is reporting to the State of Alaska Department of Health and Social Services. 
All testing (all types, all results) is subject to this requirement and must be 
reported within 24 hours of administration.  

Any additional activities not specifically stated in this MOA must be 
approved by the COVID-19 EOC Team prior to those activities 
occurring. 

IV. JOINT RESPONSIBILITIES:
Both parties will make a good faith effort to communicate about any issues that
might arise that will impact the timeliness of activities, reporting, or payment.

V. PERIOD OF AGREEMENT AND TERMINATION:
The performance period to reimburse eligible expenditures is March 29,
2021 through March 31, 2022. This agreement will terminate on March
31, 2022 and receipts must be for activities prior to this date. Funds are
intended to be used to support staff time (including overtime), supplies,
and other materials as needed to support COVID-19 related activities.

VI. TERMS OF PAYMENT
The State agrees to pay the City of Palmer up to $30,000.00 over the
term of this agreement.

The Recipient will submit monthly invoices detailing services performed in
accordance with APPENDIX A (provided separately).

The invoice must:
• reference the recipient’s name, address and phone number
• reference the contract number: C0621-570-Y
• include an invoice number
• Reference the Alaska Division of Public Health – COVID-

19 EOC Team

Failure to include the required information on invoices may cause an 
unavoidable delay to the payment process. The State will pay all 
invoices within thirty (30) days of invoice approval by the Project 
Director. The Recipient shall submit final invoices to the address 
specified below no later than 30 days after March 31, 2022. 

Email invoices to: 
covidadmin@alaska.gov 
(please reference Community MOA Reimbursement Request in 
the subject line) 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this contract, it is understood 
and agreed that The State shall withhold reimbursement at any time 
the recipient fails to comply with the terms of the MOA. 

Page 6 of 254Page 6 of 254

mailto:covidadmin@alaska.gov


VII. UNALLOWABLE COSTS

• Resources or activities funded by another HSS Contract, grant, or MOA
• Purchase of vehicles
• Reimbursement of pre-award costs
• Research
• Indirect costs associated with the award
• Food and/or water
• Hospital bill or insurance claims
• Clinical care
• Publicity and propaganda (lobbying):

VIII. CONTACT INFORMATION

DPH-EOC primary point of contact: Maria Caruso
Division of Public Health, COVID Program Coordinator
Office: 907-310-6092
Email: maria.caruso@alaska.gov

City of Palmer primary point of contact: John Moosey
City of Palmer, City Manager
Office: 907-761-1304
Cell:  907-863-0740
Email: jmoosey@palmerak.org

City of Palmer finance contact: Gina Davis
City of Palmer, Finance Director
Office: 907-761-1314
Email: gdavis@palmerak.org

City of Palmer additional contact: Justyna Mazurkiewicz
City of Palmer, Administrative Assistant
Office: 907-761-1317
Email: jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org

Page 7 of 254Page 7 of 254

mailto:gdavis@palmerak.org
mailto:jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org


VII. SIGNATURES
By signature of the below, both parties agree to the terms of this MOA.

City of Palmer 

By: Date: 
John Moosey, City Manager, City of Palmer 

State of Alaska 

By: Date: 
Marie Jackman, DPH-EOC Program Contact 

By: Date:   
Heidi Hedberg, EOC/Unified Commander & DPH Director 

By: Date: 
Jason Grove, Procurement Manager 

Page 8 of 254Page 8 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Special Meeting Minutes Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Special Meeting 
May 11, 2021 

A. CALL TO ORDER

A special meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on May 11, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers, 
Palmer, Alaska. Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

B. ROLL CALL

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 

Edna DeVries, Mayor 
Julie Berberich (participated telephonically) 
Richard W. Best (participated telephonically) 
Steve Carrington 

Sabrena Combs, Deputy Mayor  
Brian Daniels 
Jill Valerius (participated telephonically)

Staff in attendance were the following: 

John Moosey, City Manager 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk (participated telephonically) 

Kara Johnson, Deputy City Clerk 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Main Motion: To Approve the Agenda 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Daniels 
Vote: 6 Yes/1 Absent (Best) 

Action: Motion Carried 

Council Member Best joined the meeting at 6:08 p.m. 

E. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

Ms. Andrea Hackbarth, Ms. Laura Ojeda-Melchor, Ms. Meggie Aube-Trammel, and Ms. Janel Gagnon with 
Mat-Su Moms for Social Justice, stated they would not be speaking at the regular city council meeting, May 
11, 2021 due to personal safety concerns and issued a formal complaint against Mayor DeVries. 

Ms. Jackie Goforth spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Chris Tyree spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Richard Striker spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Mike Robinson Mat-Su chapter of the Proud Boys President, spoke against a Police Department Advisory 
Board. 

Page 9 of 254Page 9 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Special Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 2 

Ms. Carolyn Porter spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Steve Renier spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Rosalind Griffin spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Leighann Pope spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. John Miller spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Lewis Bradley spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Dave Calvert spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Marvin Yoder spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Doug McKinnis spoke against a Police Department Advisory Board. 

F. EXECUTIVE SESSION
1. Subjects That Tend to Prejudice the Reputation and Character of Any Person – City Manager

Evaluation (Note: action may be taken following the executive session)

Motion to Postpone: Due to Time Constraints Postpone Executive Session to May 11, 
2021, Regular City Council Meeting 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Daniels 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

G. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE

None. 

H. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

None. 

I. ADJOURNMENT

With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 6:56 p.m. 

Approved this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 

_______________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

_______________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

Page 10 of 254Page 10 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 1 of 8 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
May 11, 2021 

A. CALL TO ORDER

A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on May 11, 2021, at 7:08 p.m. in the Council Chambers, 
Palmer, Alaska. Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 7:08 p.m. Mayor DeVries requested it be 
recorded, that due to the preceding special meeting adjourning at 6:56 p.m. the regular meeting was delayed 
in starting. 

B. ROLL CALL

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 

Edna DeVries, Mayor 
Julie Berberich (participated telephonically) 
Richard W. Best (participated telephonically) 
Steve Carrington 

Sabrena Combs, Deputy Mayor  
Brian Daniels 
Jill Valerius (participated telephonically)

Staff in attendance were the following: 

John Moosey, City Manager 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk (participated telephonically) 
Michael Gatti, City Attorney (participated telephonically)

Cynthia Cartledge, City Bond Attorney (participated
telephonically)
Kara Johnson, Deputy City Clerk 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 

Council Member Best joined the meeting at 7:09 p.m. 

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a. Introduction and Setting a Public Hearing for May 25, 2021, for Ordinance No. 21-005:
Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.36 Industrial District, 17.58 Business Park and
Enacting 17.28.020 Palmer Commercial Land Use Matrix

b. Introduction and Setting a Public Hearing for May 25, 2021, for Ordinance No. 21-006:
Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.050 Central Business District Boundaries,
Deleting Section 17.64.055 Fee-in-Lieu, and Amending Section 17.64.080 Landscaping
Requirements

c. Introduction and Setting a Public Hearing for May 25, 2021, for Ordinance No. 21-007:
Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 18.05.067 Pertaining to Election Proposition and
Questions Referral Deadlines

d. Action Memorandum No. 21-030: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a
Contract with Pioneer Door Inc. for Procurement and Installation of a New 12’ x 12’ Rolling Steel
Garage Door at the WWTP in the Amount of $15,360.47

e. Action Memorandum No. 21-031: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of
the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection for the Renewal of Liquor License No. 2098 for the
Oaken Keg 1739 Located at 664 East Palmer-Wasilla Highway

Page 11 of 254Page 11 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 8 

f. Action Memorandum No. 21-032: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of
the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection for the Renewal of Liquor License No. 39 for the
Alaska State Fair Located at 2075 Glenn Highway

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a. April 13, 2021, Regular Meeting

Main Motion: To Approve the Agenda, Consent Agenda, and Minutes 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Valerius 

Primary Amendment #1: To Postpone I.6 to May 25, 2021, City Council Meeting and 
Remove J.1 From the Agenda 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Carrington 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

Primary Amendment #2: To Move I.1 and I.2 on the Agenda to Consent Agenda 
Moved by: Valerius 

Seconded by: Combs 
Vote: 4 Yes/3 No (Best, Carrington, DeVries) 

Action: Motion Carried 

Vote on Motion: To Approve the Agenda, Consent Agenda, and Minutes as Amended 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 

E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS
1. Presentation on Redistricting from Alaska Redistricting Board Executive Director Peter Torkelson

Mr. Peter Torkelson Alaska Redistricting Board Executive Director, spoke on the timeline of the upcoming 
changes to voter redistricting due to the 2020 Census. 

2. Presentation on Police Task Force by Mat-Su Moms for Social Justice Representatives Andrea
Hackbarth, Meggie Aube-Trammel, and Laura Ojeda-Melchor

Withdrew from Communications and Appearance request at Special City Council Meeting on May 11, 2021. 

3. Presentation of Proclamation Declaring May 16-26, 2021, as Public Works Week

Mayor Devries read and presented a proclamation to the Palmer Public Works Department recognizing their 
outstanding service to the community. 

F. REPORTS
1. City Manager’s Report

City Manager Moosey requested to have City Attorney Gatti represent the city going forward in all matters 
regarding Cedar Park Subdivision. 

Page 12 of 254Page 12 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 8 

Main Motion: To Allow the City Manager to Move Forward with Cedar Park Using 
Representation of City Attorney Mike Gatti 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Daniels 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

2. City Clerk’s Report

City Clerk Alley thanked the city council in their support of her achieving her Athenian and being able to 
represent the city at the International Institute of Municipal Clerks Annual Conference in Michigan. 

3. Mayor’s Report
a. Memorial Day Proclamation

Mayor DeVries postponed Memorial Day Proclamation to May 25, 2021 City Council Meeting. 

b. City of Palmer Peace Officers Memorial Day and National Police Week

Mayor Devries read and presented a proclamation for Peace Officers Memorial Day and National Police Week 
to the family of fallen city of Palmer Police Officer Jim Rowland. 

4. City Attorney’s Report

None. 

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

Mr. Noel DeVries spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Mike Coons spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Lloyd Thurman spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Karen Crandle spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Nick Brockett spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Beth Fread spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Burt Houghtaling spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Debbie Richards spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Eugene Carl Haberman testified on the public process and rights for the public to address policies and 
procedures. 

Mr. Dave Maxwell spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Angie Hutching spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Dickey Hudgins spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Page 13 of 254Page 13 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 8 

Ms. Cindy Hudgins spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Sarah Heath spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Linda Spohn spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Mark Spohn spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. John Loew spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. James York spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Robyn Bjork spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. John Vinduska spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Steve Faulkner spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Garret Nelson spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Gordon DeVries spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Corie DeVries spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Don Maupin spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Earl Lalkey spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Heather Orzalli spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Richard York spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Tony Tabor spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Madison Hutching spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Amanda Pagaran spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Douglas Nelsen spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Jack Lorrigan spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. David Miller spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. L.D. Howard spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Sawyer Grader spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Michelle Zorbe spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Lucy Klebesadel spoke establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Andy Kosachuk spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Page 14 of 254Page 14 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 8 

Ms. Wendy Palin spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mr. Erik Anderson spoke regarding city variances, and the appointment of the city attorney for future city 
contact with Cedar Park. 

Ms. Kim Swanson spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Jack Goforth spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Lara Losure spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Betty Doggett spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Ms. Cheri Crippen spoke against establishing a Police Department Advisory Board. 

Mayor DeVries called a recess at 9:36 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 9:46 p.m. 

H. PUBLIC HEARING
1. Resolution No. 21-018: Authorizing the Issuance and Sale of a Utility Revenue Bond by the City

in the Principal Amount Not to Exceed $8,052,000.00 for Purposes of Financing Costs of Wastewater
Utility Capital Improvements; Establishing the Terms of the Utility Revenue Bond; and Related Matters

Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-018. 

Mr. Eugene Carl Haberman requested a motion to continue the public hearing at another time and spoke on 
the public process and rights for the public to address policies and procedures. 

Hearing no objection from Council, Mayor DeVries closed the public hearing. 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-018 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 

2. Resolution No. 21-019: Amending the 2021 City of Palmer Budget for the Fiscal Year Ending
December 31, 2021 by Appropriating $1,580,000.00 from the General Fund to the Water/Sewer Fund
for Payment of Costs of the Engineering, Constructing and Installing Secondary Clarifiers at the
Palmer Wastewater Treatment Plant Facility

Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-019. 

Mr. Eugene Carl Haberman testified on the public process and rights for the public to address policies and 
procedures. 

Mr. Erik Anderson spoke on how this would affect the city’s infrastructure, funding for future projects, and 
future city growth. 

Hearing no objection from Council, Mayor DeVries closed the public hearing. 

Page 15 of 254Page 15 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 6 of 8 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-019 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Carrington 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 

I. NEW BUSINESS
1. Action Memorandum No. 21-031: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the

City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection for the Renewal of Liquor License No. 2098 for the Oaken
Keg 1739 Located at 664 East Palmer-Wasilla Highway

2. Action Memorandum No. 21-032: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the
City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection for the Renewal of Liquor License No. 39 for the Alaska
State Fair Located at 2075 Glenn Highway

Action Memorandum No. 21-031 and Action Memorandum No. 21-032 was moved to the Consent Agenda. 

3. Action Memorandum No. 21-033: Approving a Council Community Grant in the Amount of
$250.00 to Alaska Farmland Trust for the Drive Your Tractor to Work Day Event

Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-033 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 

4. Action Memorandum No. 21-034: Approving the City Manager to Negotiate and Enter into an
Agreement with Resource Data, Inc., for Vote from Home Feasibility Study Services for the City of
Palmer in the Amount of $3,000.00

Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-034 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: 4 Yes/3 No (Best, Carrington, DeVries) 

Action: Motion Carried 

5. Action Memorandum No. 21-035: Authorizing the City Manager to Purchase One Case CX37C
Mini Excavator with Attachments in an Amount Not to Exceed $69,947.50, Under the Governmental
and Proprietary Procurements Section of Palmer Municipal Code 3.21.230 by Attaching to the
Sourcewell Contract#32119-CNH Awarded to CNH Industrial America LLC

Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-035 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Carrington 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 

6. Committee of the Whole: Discussion Regarding Annexation

Postponed to May 25, 2021 City Council Meeting due to time constraints. 

Page 16 of 254Page 16 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 7 of 8 

J. EXECUTIVE SESSION
1. Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which Would Clearly Have an Adverse Effect Upon the Finances

of the Public Entity and Matter which by Law, Municipal Charter, or Ordinances are Required to be
Confidential – Potential Litigation Attorney Client Communication: State of Alaska City of Palmer
Dispatch Agreement (note: action may be taken by the council following the executive session)

2. Subjects That Tend to Prejudice the Reputation and Character of Any Person – City Manager
Evaluation (Note: action may be taken following the executive session)

Mayor DeVries announced the council was going to enter into executive session to discuss subjects that tend 
to prejudice the reputation and character of any person – City Manager. 

Main Motion: To Enter into Executive Session to Discuss Subjects that Tend to Prejudice 
the Reputation and Character of Any Person – City Manager 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Carrington 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

Mayor DeVries called a recess at 10:07 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 10:17 p.m. 

The Council entered into Executive Session at 10:17 p.m. and exited at 10:46 p.m. to reconvene the Regular 
Meeting. 

Upon exiting the Executive Session and reconvened the Regular Meeting, the following motions were made: 

Main Motion: To Increase Salary by 3% Following a Satisfactory Evaluation and Have 
Increase Take Effect on June 15, 2021 

To Show a Vote of Confidence in the City Manager 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Carrington 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 

K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE

Deputy City Clerk Johnson reported written public testimony and Resolution No. 21-018 were Items Placed 
on the Table (see official meeting packet for items placed on the table). 

L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

Mr. Erik Anderson thanked City Clerk Alley for all the help she has given in answering his questions regarding 
city variances. 

M. COUNCIL COMMENTS

Council Member Berberich and Best requested the Connectivity of Palmer Study, that previous Council 
Member LaFrance had done be brought back for the council to study. 

Council Member Valerius requested a review of the process of setting the Agenda due to concerns with the 
process. 

Page 17 of 254Page 17 of 254



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 11, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 8 of 8 

N. ADJOURNMENT

With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 10:59 p.m. 

Approved this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 

_______________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

_______________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

Page 18 of 254Page 18 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-008 

Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Regarding Garbage Collection and Disposal 

Agenda of: May 25, 2021 – Introduction 
June 8, 2021 – Public Hearing 

Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 
Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
Community Development 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 

√ Public Works 04/12/2021 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 
Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 
Creates a saving in the amount of: $ 

√ Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
Budgeted Line item(s): 
Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

Page 19 of 254Page 19 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-008

Summary Statement/Background: 

Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and Disposal has not been updated in several years. A 
review of this chapter of code was conducted by the Solid Waste Collector and the Public Works Director. The 
recommended changes will bring the code in line with Mat-Su Borough landfill requirements and current City of 
Palmer standards of operations. 

Administration’s Recommendation: 

Adopt Ordinance No. 21-008 

Page 20 of 254Page 20 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

Ordinance No. 21-008 

An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Garbage 
Collection and Disposal 

WHEREAS, from time to time the Palmer Municipal Code needs to be reviewed and updated to remain 
current with standards of operation and procedures; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department has conducted a review of the current Palmer Municipal Code 
Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and Disposal. 

THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 

Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  

Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 8.20.050 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and old language is stricken): 

8.20.050 Garbage – Adequate receptacles required – Accumulation time limit. 
No person shall keep on or about the premises owned or occupied by him any garbage unless the same shall be 
kept in a metal dumpster or plastic garbage receptacle, as provided by the city or contracted service provider 
approved by the city manager, or other adequate receptacle with a tight fitting cover. No person shall keep on 
or about the premises owned or occupied by him any garbage for a period longer than the frequency of collection 
as established by the city manager. 

Section 4. Palmer Municipal Code Section 8.20.060 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and old language is stricken): 

8.20.060 Garbage – Depositing restrictions. 
No person shall deposit any garbage, rubbish or ashes upon any streets, alleys or city-owned property, or upon 
any property owned by another. For the purpose of collection, garbage must be bagged, placed for collection in 
a metal, city provided plastic garbage plastic or other adequate receptacle with a tight fitting cover when a 
garbage rack is available and placed on the street no earlier than 5:00 a.m. and no later than 8:00 a.m. of the 
day of pickup. Plastic garbage receptacles should be removed from the street no later than 7:00 p.m. of 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: May 25, 2021 
Public Hearing: June 8, 2021 

Action: 
Vote: 

Yes: No: 

Page 21 of 254Page 21 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 2 of 2 

designated trash collection day. Additional plastic garbage bags may be used in lieu of garbage receptacles for 
extra trash that does not fit inside the plastic garbage receptacle. Any additional bags should be placed at the 
right side of the plastic garbage receptacle, so the solid waste collector can easily see them. Customers will be 
charged for each additional bag of trash as outlined in the city of Palmer current adopted fee schedule. However, 
they shall not be placed at curbside prior to 5:00 a.m. of the date of collection. A garbage rack may not project 
into the right of way by more than three feet to the front face of said rack. The placing of garbage at curbside 
in paper bags or cardboard boxes is not allowed. It shall be the property owner/renter’s responsibility to retrieve 
all windblown or animal-strewn garbage. 

Section 5. Palmer Municipal Code Section 8.20.100 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and old language is stricken): 

8.20.100 Garbage – Collection – Occupant duties – Containers. 
A. The city may regulate or undertake the general collection of garbage, rubbish and ashes throughout the city
subject to the provisions of this title.
B. Every person having the care, either as an owner or occupant of any premises, shall make adequate provision
to ensure that all garbage originating or accumulating thereon shall be disposed of at least as frequently as the
frequency of collection established under this chapter, and in no event shall such disposal be less frequent than
weekly. The city manager may establish a schedule of collection.
C. All garbage placed in receptacles or containers for collection shall be drained of surplus liquids. All boxes
and rubbish must be broken, cut up, or otherwise reduced in size and placed in receptacles or bundles securely
tied. Residential ashes shall be in separate containers. In no event shall any bundle or other receptacle, including
contents, exceed 60 50 pounds in weight.
D. All garbage containers shall be furnished by the city. of metal or other suitable material, shall be leakproof,
shall have tight-fitting covers, and shall be kept in a clean and sanitary condition by the owner. They shall be
equipped with two handles or with a suitable bail. Receptacles for ashes and rubbish shall be fitted with
substantial handles or bails. No garbage or rubbish receptacle shall exceed 30 gallons in capacity, nor shall it be
so loaded that it cannot be conveniently handled without spilling its contents No plastic garbage receptacle shall
be so loaded as to exceed 250 pounds total weight. Additional bundles are authorized and should be placed next
to garbage containers. The weight of any bundle or the combined weight of any receptacle and its contents shall
not exceed 60 50 pounds. The size of any bundle shall not be greater than four feet in length and can be
conveniently handled and disposed of by the collector, except where special equipment or machinery is provided
on spring and/or fall cleanup.
E. All receptacles garbage containers shall be furnished by the customer city. If a receptacle is broken, lost or
damaged, outside of normal wear and tear as determined by the city, it will be the responsibility of the property
owner/renter to pay for a replacement receptacle. Residential customers may rent dumpsters from the city for
special projects. Commercial customers shall lease dumpsters from the city or provide their own containers,
subject to approval of the city manager.

Section 6. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-008 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 
City Council.  

Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021. 

_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 22 of 254Page 22 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-009 

Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 Water Supply System 

Agenda of: May 25, 2021 – Introduction 
June 8, 2021 – Public Hearing 

Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 
Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
Community Development 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 

√ Public Works 04/12/2021 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 
Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 
Creates a saving in the amount of: $ 

√ Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
Budgeted Line item(s): 
Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

Page 23 of 254Page 23 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-009

Summary Statement/Background: 

An error was found in Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 water system supply. The recommended change 
will correct the error. 

Administration’s Recommendation: 

Adopt Ordinance No. 21-009 

Page 24 of 254Page 24 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

Ordinance No. 21-009 

An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 Water 
Supply System 

WHEREAS, from time to time the Palmer Municipal Code needs to be reviewed and updated to remain 
current with standards of operation and procedures; and 

WHEREAS, an error was discovered in Palmer Municipal Code section 13.16.025 water supply system. 

THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 

Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  

Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.0256 is hereby amended to read as follows (new 
language is underlined and old language is stricken): 

13.16.025 Water supply system 
When a proposed subdivision is to be serviced by the city water system, such system shall be provided by the 
subdivider to standards established by the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation. Fire 
hydrants shall be provided to standards established by the American Waterworks Association. Upon acceptance 
all easements and sewer water improvements associated with such a sewage water system shall be dedicated 
to and accepted by the city for administration, operation and maintenance. No proprietary rights of any type or 
description shall be retained by the developer or owner of the subdivision. 
Subject to PMC 13.08.030, when each lot within a proposed subdivision has an area of 20,000 square feet or 
more, connection to the city water system is not required, provided the developer proves to the city manager 
that the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation has approved on-site water supply systems for each 
lot. 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: May 25, 2021 
Public Hearing: June 8, 2021 

Action: 
Vote: 

Yes: No: 

Page 25 of 254Page 25 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 2 of 2 

Section 4. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-009 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 
City Council.  

Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021. 

_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 26 of 254Page 26 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-020 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 21-020 

Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate the Reversion of Tract E-2 of the Replat of Tract A, B, E and 
H-2 Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision to the City of Palmer and Prepare a Resolution Authorizing the Sale to
Northland Hangers LLC for Industrial Purposes per Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080

Agenda of: June 8, 2021 – Public Hearing 

Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
 

Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
Community Development May 11, 2021 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 32,235.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
√ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 32,235.00 

Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s): 
√ Not budgeted 01-00-00-3699 Land Sales Revenue

 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

Page 27 of 254Page 27 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-020 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Resolution No. 21-020
2. Tract E-2 Area Map
3. MSB Property Detail
4. Resolution No. 364
5. MEA to COP Expenditure Reimbursement Request
6. Purchase and Sale Agreement

Summary Statement/Background: 

Approval of this resolution will authorize the City Manager to prepare the necessary documents, including a 
Purchase and Sale Agreement for the Mayor to execute the transfer of Tract E-2 of the Replat of Tract A, B, E 
and H-2 Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision from Matanuska Electric Association (MEA) to the city and the city sale 
to Northland Hangers LLC for $34,200.  MEA requests that they be reimbursed from the proceeds of the sale for 
expenses incurred during the preparation of the sale.  Net proceeds minus closing cost would be $32,235.  The 
expenses are: 

Alyeska preliminary title report $250.00 
FSBO Real Estate Sign $775.00 
Lot Clearing, I-beam and directional sign removal $940.00 

       $1,965.00 

On May 10, 1977, Palmer City Council passed Resolution No. 364 authorizing the sale to MEA of Tract E-2, replat 
of Tract A, B, E, and H-2 of the Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision for one dollar ($1.00).  This sale has a recorded 
deed condition that stipulates the property to be used solely and exclusively for the construction, maintenance, 
and repair and renovation of an electrical substation.  The deed condition further stipulates in the event the 
property is not used as a substation it shall revert to the city.  There is however no timeline for performance of 
the placement of a substation by MEA.   

MEA learned of the deed condition when a title search was performed because of a pending sale of Tract E-2 to 
Airframes Alaska.  MEA and Airframes Alaska had agreed to the property sale for $34,200.00, which is the Borough 
assessed value.  MEA contacted the city on October 27, 2020, to ask the city to consider having a deed condition 
removed.  There is no allowance for the deed condition to be remove, only for the reversion of the property to 
the city in the event MEA does not install a substation. Any removal of deed conditions will have to be presented 
to City Council by resolution for approval. 

The property is located at the corner of E. Commercial Drive and S. Industrial Way.  Included in the packet is a 
Mat-Su Borough real property detail and an area map.  The property dimension is 100’ x 117’ for a total area of 
11,700 square feet (.35 Acre).  Department directors have evaluated whether there is any need to retain to 
property for future public use.  (memo attached) 

Palmer City Council approved the Action Memorandum, authorizing negotiation of the reversion and sale of the 
real property. Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 allows for the sale or transfer of real property owned by the city. 
Depending on the type of sale transaction determined, valuation may be based on a qualified appraisal or Borough 
assessed value.  

Administration’s Recommendation: 

Approve Resolution No. 21-020 authorizing the City Manager to complete documents for reversion of Tract E-2 
and sale of property to Northland Hangers LLC  

Page 28 of 254Page 28 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-020 Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

Resolution No. 21-020 

A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Complete Documents for 
the Reversion of Tract E-2, Replat of Tract A, B, E, and H-2 of the Palmer Industrial Site From 
Matanuska Electric Association and Sale to Northland Hangers LLC 

WHEREAS, on May 10, 1977 Palmer City Council passed Resolution No. 364 authorizing the sale to 
Matanuska Electric Association (MEA) of Tract E-2, replat of Tract A, B, E, and H-2 of the Palmer Industrial Site 
for one dollar ($1.00) for the sole purpose of an electrical substation; and 

WHEREAS, a recorded deed condition stipulated that if Tract E-2 of the Palmer Industrial Site was not 
used as a substation by MEA it shall revert to the City; and 

WHEREAS, MEA is prepared to revert Tract E-2 to the City subject to stipulations of the deed; and, 

WHEREAS, as a condition of reversion, MEA is requiring a sale of Tract E-2 of the Palmer Industrial Park 
Subdivision by the City to Northland Hangers LLC after the reversion; and 

WHEREAS, MEA has negotiated a sale price of $34,200 to Northland Hangers; and 

WHEREAS, MEA requires reimbursement for costs incurred in preparation of sale to Northland Hangers 
LLC of $1,965.00; and 

WHEREAS, Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 authorizes the City to sell or dispose of any real property, 
including property held for public use, when in the judgement of the City Council it is no longer required for 
municipal purposes; and  

WHEREAS, Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 Industrial Sites provides that real property may be sold, 
leased or disposed of for new industries benefiting the city upon terms and conditions as the city council 
considers advantageous to the civic welfare of the city to any person who agrees to install, maintain and operate 
a beneficial new industry. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby authorizes the Mayor to execute 
the reversion of Tract E-2, Replat of Tract A, B, E, and H-2 of the Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision from and 
Matanuska Electric Association. 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Public Hearing Date: June 8, 2021 
Action: 

Vote: 
Yes: No: 

Page 29 of 254Page 29 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-020 Page 2 of 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby authorized the Mayor 
to execute the sale of Tract E-2, Replate of Tract A, B, E, and H-2 of the Palmer industrial Park Subdivision to 
Northland Hangers LLC for Industrial purposes. 

Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2021. 

________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 30 of 254Page 30 of 254



0.1 0 

WGS_ 1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere 

© Matanuska-Susitna Borough 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough 

0.04 0.07 Miles THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION 

Reported on 02/05/2021 11 :45 AM 

This map is solely for informational purposes only. The Borough makes no express or implied warranties with 
respect to the character, function, or capabilities of the map or the suitability of the map for any particular purpose 
beyond those originally intended by the Borough. For information regarding the full disclaimer and policies related 
to acceptable uses of this map, please contact the Matanuska-Susitna Borough GIS Division at 907-861-7858. 

nER 

- Highway 

- MajorRoad 

- M edium Road 

- MinorRoad 

- Ramp 

-- Primitive Road 

-- Private Road 

--+ Alaska Railroad 
lQl Mat-Su Borough Boundary 
□ Incorporated Cities 
• Address Numbers 
D Parcels 
-- Government Lot Lines 

ROW and Easements 
-- ROW Road 

-- ROW RR 

-· ROW Easement 

-· Section lin e easement 

.. , Lakes and Rivers 
Streams 
100 year Flood Zone 

1: 2,257 

Notes 

0 

This map was automatically generated 
using Geocortex Essentials. 

�-

P
age 31 of 254



�, MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH 
Real Property Detail for Account: 1301000L00E-2 

Site Information 
Account Number 

Parcel ID 

TRS 

Abbreviated Description 
(Not for Conveyance) 

Ownership 
Owners 

1301 000L00E-2 

34401 

S17N02E05 

PALMER IND PK RSB T/A&B&E& H-2 LOT E-2 

MATANUSKA ELECTRIC ASSN 

Subdivision 

City 

fl/!ap PA12 

Buyers 

PALMER IND PK RSB T /A&B&E& H-2 

Palmer 

Tax Map 

Primary Owner's Address PO BOX 2929 PALMER AK 99645-2929 Primary Buyer's Address 

Appraisal Information Assessment 

Year Land Appraised Bldg. Appraised Total Appraised Year 
2021 $34,200.00 $0.00 $34,200.00 

2020 $34,200.00 $0.00 $34,200.00 

2019 $34,200.00 $0.00 $34,200.00 
Building Information 
Building Item Details 
Building Number Description 

Tax/Billing Information 
Year Certified Zone Mill Tax Billed 
2021 No 0012 

2020Yes 

2019 Yes 

Tax Account Status 2 

0012 

0012 

13.322 

13.386 
$0.00 

$0.00 

Recorded Documents 
Dc1te Type 

Land Assessed Bldg. Assessed Total Assessed' 
2021 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

2020 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

2019 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Area Percent Complete 

Recording Info (offsite link to DNR) 

Status 

Current 
Tax Balance Farm Disabled Veteran Senior Total 

$0.00 

LID Exists 

$0.00No $0.00 
Land and Miscellaneous 
Gross Acreage Taxable Acreage Assembly District 

0.31 0.31 Assembly District 002 

$0.00 $0.00 

Precinct Fire Service Area 
11-070 Palmer Fire Service is under the 

jurisdiction of the 9.IY. of Palmer 

1 Total Assessed is net of exemptions and deferments.rest, penalties, and other charges posted after Last 
Update Date are not reflected in balances. 
2 I f account is in foreclosure, payment must be in certified funds. 

Road Service Area 

No Borough Road Service, for City of 
Palmer road service info, call (907)745-
::iano 

Last Updated: 2/5/2021 12:00:44 AM 

Page 32 of 254Page 32 of 254



I 

I 

I 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

RESOLUTION NO. 364 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE SALE TO MATANUSKA ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION OF 
TRACT E-2, REPLAT OF TRACT A, B, E AND H-2 OF THE PALMER INDUSTRIAL PARK 
SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO PLAT NO. 77-19 RECORDED APRIL 6, 1977, FOR USE 
AS A SITE FOR AN ELECTRICAL SUBSTATION. 

THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, RESOLVES: 

1. The sale of the following described property to the MATANUSKA
ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION is consistent with the purposes and development of 
the Palmer Industrial Park. The parcel is suitable and necessary for the 
location of an electrical substation. Since the substation will serve 
the Indqstrial Park, the sale is for the nominal consideration of One 
Dollar ($1. 00). 

2. William E. Curtis, City Manager, is authorized to execute and
deliver the Deed attached hereto to the MATANUSKA ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, 
upon payment of the purchase price of One Dollar ($1.00). 

3. The property which is the subject of this sale and Resolution is
described as Tract E-2, as more fully set forth in the Deed attached to 
this resolution. 

2.13 

4. Site Restrictions for the Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision have
heretofore been duly executed and recorded, and a copy are attached to this 
resolution for the information of the Grantee. 

' 5. Publication of this resolution shall be by posting a copy hereof 
on the City Hall bulletin board following its passage. 

Passed and approved by the City Council of the City of Palmer, 
Alaska, this 10th day of May, 1977. 

·_ e)!IJ.4,
'iv.AL�;., A 

WILLIAM E. CURTIS, CITY CLERK 

Page 33 of 254Page 33 of 254



315S MC HOLMES 

:.rTORN!!:YS AT U\'N 

u•,::s11i)n4,1..C,:iaPo".v1�:.s 

i�sr :,�r,o�.\L ll�HLDl:Hi 
AZ, ,;nun 

,cnoa�Git,/\US�A Ii ,01 

z,n.uu 

HOUK /¥A PAG.I:! "-0 .
P•lm•r R,cordin� Di1trid

GRANT DEED OF A FEE SIMl?LE SUBJECT TO A 
CONDITION SUBSEQUENT WITrl RIGHT TO RBVE

0

RTE.R 
IN GRANTOR 

'l'he Grantor, CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, a municipal corporation, 
for and in consideration of One Dollar ($1.00), in hand paid, 
grants, conveys, bargains �nd sells to M.�TANUSKA ELECTRIC 
ASSOCIATION, a cooperative corporation, the address of which i_s 
Palmer, Alaska, the following described real property situated 
in the Palmer Recording District r Third Judicial District, Sta.te 
of Alaska: 

Tract E-2 of the replat of Tract A, B, E and H-2, 
Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision, according to 
Plat No. 77-19 recorded April 6, 1977. 

TOGETHER WITH, all and singular, the tenements,. heredi ta·· 
ments and appurtenances thereunt.o belonging or in anywise 
appertaining, 

SCJBJECT TO all restrictions, reservations, easements, 
ce,venants, rights of way of record, including those pertaining 
to oil, gas and minerals, and 

FURTEER SUBJECT TO rules and regulations oontrolJ.i:ng 
the use, occupation and development of ·palmer Industrial 
Park property as promulgated by the Grantor from time to time. 

This deed is made and accepted upon the following condition 
precedent, which is hereby declared to run with the land. A 
violation of the condition subsequent shall work a forfeiture of 
title of the land hereby conveyed to the Granter, its successors 
or assigns and the Grantee binds its successors and assigns to 
the fulfillment of this condition subsequent, and the reverter 
of the property, together with a right of entry for breach of 
condition subsequent. 

The-condition subsequent is that the real property herein 
conveyed shall be used solely and exclusively for the construction• 
maintenance, repair and renovation of an electrical substation 
facility, together with such equipment, machinery and improvements 
as may from time to time be necessary or desirable for such 
utilization of the real property, and should the Grantee or its 
successors or assigns cease or fail to use the real property for 
such purpose, then the said real property shall revert to and 
become the property of the Granter, its successors or assigns . 

...... Dated: � ll"','IC,. ). ( 1977 

CITY OF PALNE'.R; ALAS.KA 

Byad.M-2 8.4f 
William E. Curtis, 
City Manager 

Page 34 of 254Page 34 of 254



915S ;.:10 HOLMES 

AT;-:;q'H�"'1"S J\T UW 

"' � a�.s,.l,.\L CQ>p,c <l:-,"";:•.1 

;.�;� •1.\il'h.t.L &\JILUl�C 

:MATANti,c;,KA ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION 
Grantee 

By 

STATE OF ALASF'..A 
ss: 

THIRD DISTRICT 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on this <;:a,,( [, t; day of � &, , < 
1977, before the undersigned Notary Publicpersonally�eared 
WILLIAM E. CURTIS, known to me to be the City Manager of the 
CITY OP PALMER, ALASKA, a municipal corporation, and he 
acknowledged that he executed the foregoing instrument, in said 
official capacity, as the free act and deed of said corporation 
for the uses therein stated. 

WITNESS my hand and seal the day and year in this certificate 
first written. 

STATE OF ALASKA 

THIRD DISTRICT 
ss: 

..-2-f 
THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on this ,9. / day of \ c..,v� 

1977, befpre t:,he undersjgned Notary Public personally appeared 
iA. ;;__(.(/,t.

:
-(.'- t� }.,l,.,._,-o,._,,,.. , known to me to be �he 

.. �.k :i-,._,_.\ ( j1i, 1a.��--.,, �,__ of l·Li:\.TAi'\l"USKA ELECTRIC ASSOCIA'l'IO:,tr, 
and he acknowledged tB.at he executed the foregoing instrument, 
in said official capacity, as the free act and deed of said 
corporation. 

WITNESS my hand and seal the day and year in this 
certificate first written. 

N()t:ary'PublJ.c for Alas%a 
.My commission expires: cz- 1;0. 7 7 

-2-

11-uo7217
7-

JUN 23 4 12 PH '17

REG.t.:Es1::.� .: : M £A

ADDRESS � / tj3 0

--?[Liu£. 

Page 35 of 254Page 35 of 254



MATANUSKA ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION 

May 7, 2021 

RE: Tract E-2, Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision, Plat 77-19 
City of Palmer 
Reconveyance Cost Reimbursement Request 

City of Palmer 
Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
645 E. Cope Industrial Way 
Palmer, AK 99645 

Greetings Mr. Hanson, 

MEA's tangible expenditure costs to reconvey Tract E-2 have been identified. These include a 
preliminary title report, a For Sale by Owner sign and removal of two I-beams and a MEA 
directional sign. 

As you may know, this represents tangible expenditure only. Monies were paid by MEA to ensure 
that a potential sale of the property was fair and open. I-beam removal was conducted as a part 
of the potential sale due-diligence. 

$250.00 Alyeska preliminary title report 
$775.00 FSBO real estate sign 
$940.00 Lot clearing, I-beam and directional sign removal 
1,965.00 - Total 

In behalf of its members, MEA respectfully requests expense reimbursement in the amount of 
$1,965. I have attached relate information and photographs for your records. Please call or 
write for y qu tions. 

Sine 

Man 
Lan 
Matanuska E 
manny.lopez@mea.coop 
907-761-9311

Page 1 of 2 

Page 36 of 254Page 36 of 254



MATANUSKA ELEC TRIC ASSOCIATION 

Two I-beam Poles MEA directional and FSBO 

After brush clearing and cleanup 

Page 2 of 2 

Page 37 of 254Page 37 of 254



{01126604} Page 1 of 6 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 

This Purchase and Sale Agreement ("Agreement") is made as of ______________, 2021 
between __________________________("Purchaser"), and the City of Palmer, Alaska, a 
municipality organized and existing under the laws of the State of Alaska ("Seller").  This 
Agreement supersedes any other conditional Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 20, 
2020 between the Purchaser and Seller regarding this property. 

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth below, and intending to 
be legally bound, Purchaser and Seller agree as follows: 

1. Description of Property:

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Seller agrees to sell and Purchaser
agrees to purchase the property and buildings, described as follows and hereafter collectively 
referred to as the "Property": 

Tract E-2, replat of Tract A, B, E, and H-2 of the Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision 

Tax ID# 17N02E04C004 

2. Property to be Conveyed “As Is”:

The Property subject to this agreement is conveyed "as is," without warranty, express or
implied, of merchantability or suitability for a particular purpose, or otherwise. Purchaser 
consents and agrees that it is relying solely on its own inspection of the premises and not on any 
representation of the Seller or Seller's agent or employees in making their determination to 
purchase the Property. 

Purchaser acknowledges that it has inspected the Property and accepts the same "as-is" 
and without reliance on any expressed or implied representations or, warranties of Seller or 
agents or employees of Seller, as to the actual physical condition or characteristics thereof of the 
Property. 

Seller expressly makes no warranties as to the physical condition of the Property and all 
inspection obligations rest with the Purchaser. 

3. Purchase Price and Payment Terms:

Purchaser agrees to pay for the Property the sum of ___________________________,
based upon the agreed price between Seller and Buyer, to be paid as follows: 

a. _______________________ as the earnest money deposit, in the form of a check
shall be held by ________________________ until closing, at which time this
payment shall be credited to Buyer, or until this Agreement is otherwise
terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Earnest money
shall be forfeited except upon disapproval of this Agreement by the Palmer City
Council;

Page 38 of 254Page 38 of 254



{01126604} Page 2 of 6 

b. The Principal Balance of ________________________ shall constitute the balance
of the Purchase Price (minus the earnest money deposit under item (a) of this
section) which shall be paid to the Seller at closing, and subject to all applicable
provisions of the Palmer Municipal Code;

c. Seller agrees to pay one-half of the closing costs;

d. Buyer agrees to pay Real Property ad valorem taxes (if any) prorated from the
recording date of transfer of the property;

e. Owners Title Policy; and

f. Other Title Company closing and recording fees.

4. Title:

Purchaser may provide a policy of title insurance, which indicates the condition of title
subject to reservations, exceptions, easements, rights-of-way, covenants, conditions, and 
restrictions of record or created by operation of law; and also subject to governmental 
regulations including but not limited to setback, use classifications, zoning or special permit 
requirements, and any matters including, but not limited to, existing trails or encroachments 
which would be disclosed by actual inspection or survey of the property. The Purchaser shall 
initiate the order for the title report from the title company selected by Seller. Title shall be 
delivered by Quitclaim Deed (“Deed”) for industrial purposes related to a beneficial new industry 
to Purchaser as:  ___________________________ 

5. Deed:

Title to the Property pursuant to City Council Resolution ____ (attached) shall be
conveyed to Purchaser by a Quitclaim Deed (“Deed”) “as is” without warranty, express or implied, 
of merchantability or suitability for a particular purpose, or otherwise for industrial purposes for 
a beneficial new industry duly executed by Seller and recorded as soon as practicable after the 
execution of this Agreement. 

6. Defense and Indemnification:

The Purchaser agrees that it shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Seller, its
directors, officers, employees, contractors, assigns, and successors from any and all claims, 
actions, administrative proceedings (formal or informal), judgment damages, punitive damages, 
penalties, fines, costs, liabilities, amounts paid in settlement, interest, or losses including but not 
limited to attorney’s fees, consultant fees, expert fees, arising out of or in any way related to any 
environmental claim, the existence of any hazardous substances or violation of any 
environmental law, regulation, or ordinance resulting from or related to Seller’s use, 
maintenance, ownership, or operation of the Property. 

7. Hazardous Material:

Page 39 of 254Page 39 of 254



{01126604} Page 3 of 6 

Purchaser acknowledges that it has personally inspected the Property, and after due and 
diligent inquiry, found no evidence of environmental contamination on or near the Property; and 
that the Seller, to the best of its knowledge, is unaware of any environmental contamination on 
or near the Property; and that the Purchaser will maintain the Buildings in such a manner as to 
prevent the occurrence of any environmental contamination; and Seller makes no warranties 
express or implied with respect to the condition of the Property, the existence or non-existence 
of environmental contamination or the suitability for any purpose whatsoever. Purchaser agrees 
that if the presence of hazardous material in the Property is caused or permitted by the 
Purchaser, its agents, employees, contractors, or invitees, or of environmental contamination of 
the Property by hazardous materials otherwise occurs on the Property, Purchaser shall defend, 
indemnify and hold harmless Seller from any and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, 
costs, liabilities, or losses (including, but not limited to, sums paid in the settlement of claims, 
attorney's fees, consultant fees and expert fees) which indemnification includes, without 
limitations, costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any clean-up, 
remedial, removal, restoration work required by any federal, state or local government in or 
under the Property. As used herein, the term "hazardous material" means any hazardous or toxic 
substance, material, or waste, which is or becomes regulated by any local government authority, 
the State of Alaska, or the United States government. 

8. Commissions:

Each party represents and warrants to the other that it has not engaged the services of
any real estate licensee, broker, finder or other person who would be entitled to any commission 
or fee in respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and each shall indemnify the other 
against any loss, cost, liability or expense incurred by the other as a result of any claim asserted 
by any such real estate licensee, broker, finder, or other person on the basis of any brokerage or 
similar arrangement or agreement made or alleged to have been made. 

9. Notices:

No notice, consent, approval or other communication provided for herein or given in
connection with this Agreement shall be validly given, made, delivered or served unless it is in 
writing and delivered personally, sent by overnight courier or sent by registered or certified 
United States mail, postage prepaid, with return receipt requested to: 

Seller: City of Palmer 
231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer, Alaska 99645 

Purchaser: 

Page 40 of 254Page 40 of 254



{01126604} Page 4 of 6 

or to such other addresses as either party may from time to time designate in writing and deliver 
in a like manner to the other party. Notices, consent, approvals, and communications given by 
mail shall be deemed delivered upon the earlier of three days after deposit in the United States 
mail in the manner provided above or immediately upon delivery to the respective addresses set 
forth above, if delivered personally or sent by overnight courier. 

12. Costs and Fees:

If either party breaches any term of this Agreement, the breaching party agrees to pay to
the non-breaching party all reasonable attorney's fees and reasonable costs and expenses 
incurred by the non-breaching party in enforcing this Agreement or preparing for legal or other 
proceedings, whether or not instituted. If any legal or other proceedings are instituted, the party 
prevailing in any such proceeding shall be paid the reasonable costs, expenses, and fees incurred 
by the other party, and if any judgment is secured by such prevailing party, all such costs, 
expenses, and fees shall be included in such judgment, attorney's fees to be set by the court and 
not by the jury. 

13. Waiver:

Excuse or waiver of the performance of the other party of any obligation under this
Agreement shall only be effective if evidenced by a written statement of the party so excusing. 
No delay in exercising any right or remedy shall constitute a waiver thereof, and no waiver by the 
Seller or Purchaser of a breach of any covenant of this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver 
of any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other covenant or condition of this 
Agreement. 

14. Assignment:

This Agreement is binding on the heirs, successors, and assigns of the parties, but shall
not be voluntarily assigned by either party without prior written consent of the other party, which 
consent shall not be unreasonable withheld.  

15. Entire Agreement:

This document contains the entire Agreement between the parties. It may not be
modified except in a writing signed by all parties. 

16. Construction of Agreement:

The captions of the paragraphs of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not
govern or influence the interpretation thereof. This Agreement is the result of negotiations 
between the parties and, accordingly, shall not be construed for or against any part, regardless 
of which party drafted this Agreement or any portion thereof. 

17. Surviving Covenants:

Page 41 of 254Page 41 of 254



{01126604} Page 5 of 6 

The provisions of this Agreement shall survive the delivery of the Deed. 

18. Time is of the Essence:

Time is of the essence of this Agreement.

19. Controlling Law and Venue:

This Agreement shall be governed by, construed under, and enforced in accordance with
the laws of the State of Alaska and the City of Palmer.  Venue for actions between the parties 
arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be in The Third Judicial District Palmer, Alaska. 

20. Further Assurances:

Whenever requested to do so by the other party, Seller or Purchaser promptly and
expeditiously shall execute, acknowledge and deliver any and all such conveyances, assignments, 
confirmations, satisfactions, releases, instruments of further assurance, approvals, consents and 
any and all further instruments and documents as may be reasonably necessary, expedient, or 
proper in order to complete any and all conveyances, transfers, sales, and assignments herein 
provided, and to do any and all other reasonable acts and to execute, acknowledge and deliver 
any and all documents as so reasonably requested in order to carry out the intent and purpose 
of this Agreement. 

21. Miscellaneous:

Purchaser acknowledges its responsibility to inspect the Property described herein and
agrees the Seller assumes no liability for matters, which would have been disclosed to the 
Purchaser by an inspection of the Property. Purchaser further acknowledges that the Seller 
makes no warranties, either expressed or implied, nor assumes any liability whatsoever, 
regarding the social, economic or environmental aspects of the Property, to include without 
limitation, physical access, or natural or artificial hazards which may or may not exist or 
merchantability, suitability, or profitability of the Buildings for any use or purpose. 

22. Permit Laws and Taxes:

Purchaser agrees that it will comply with all permits, laws, and taxes of any federal, state
or local entity for any and all activities associated with the sale or use of the Property and any 
approvals necessary for development of the Property.  

Purchaser shall acquire and maintain in good standing all permits, licenses and other 
entitlements necessary to its performance under this Agreement. All actions taken by the 
Purchaser under this Agreement shall comply with all applicable statutes, ordinances, rules and 
regulations. The Purchaser shall pay all taxes pertaining to its performance under this Agreement. 

Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to 
confer upon any person, firm or corporation other than the parties hereto and their respective 
successors or assigns, any remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any term, 
covenant or condition hereof, as third party beneficiaries or otherwise and all of the terms, 

Page 42 of 254Page 42 of 254



{01126604} Page 6 of 6 

covenants and conditions hereof shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto 
and their successors and assigns. 

This Agreement may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Agreement on any 
number of separate counterparts, and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to 
constitute one and the same instrument.  

Each undersigned representative of the Purchaser and Seller certifies that he or she is 
fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Purchase Agreement and legally 
bind the Party he or she represents to this document. 

Executed this ______ day of _______________________, 2021. 

Seller:  Purchaser: 
The City of Palmer, Alaska 

___________________________ __________________________ 
Edna DeVries, Mayor  Its: _______________________ 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 

Page 43 of 254Page 43 of 254



Page 44 of 254Page 44 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-021 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 21-021 

Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Conduct a Public Land Sale for 1891 S. Chugach (17N02E04C004) as 
Authorized by Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080  

Agenda of: June 8, 2021 – Public Hearing 

Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
 

Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
Community Development May 12, 2021 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 

This legislation (√): 
Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 
Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 
Creates a saving in the amount of: $ 
Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
Budgeted Line item(s): 
Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

Page 45 of 254Page 45 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-021 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Resolution No. 21-021
2. Mat-Su Borough Real Property Detail
3. Area Map
4. Director’s Memos for Determination of Future Public Use
5. Purchase & Sale Agreement Form
6. Sale or Disposition of Real Property Matrix

Summary Statement/Background: 

In 1982 The City of Palmer purchased 1891 S. Chugach.  The property is a total of .62 acres and is located at the 
intersection of S. Chugach and Outer Springer Loop.  There is a sewer and water main that services properties to 
the east on or adjacent to the property.  The status of the easement for the sewer and water main will be 
determined with a title search and appraisal.   

The City of Palmer has encouraged the property owner to the North to consider putting an offer on the property 
to satisfy possible encroachment issues.   Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 does not allow for a private sale to 
occur unless there has been an unsuccessful public sale.    

Resolution 21-021 authorizes the City Manager to initiate the disposal of 1891 S. Chugach by means of a public 
sale.  For the city to conduct a public sale it must be advertised in a newspaper of general circulation in the city. 
The notice shall contain a description of the real property to be sold and the time, date, place and any terms or 
limitation of the public sale.  A public sale requires a qualified appraisal within 180 days of the resolution 
authorizing the sale.  

A Determination of Future Public Use Memo was circulated among departments to consider if the City of Palmer 
anticipates any future use or need.  Included is the response from directors.  Public works findings, recognize the 
need to preserve and protect easements for the water and sewer main.  If after appraisal and title search it is 
determined the easement exists on the property it may be necessary to make price adjustments to the property. 
Preliminary research indicates in 1964 40’ of the original lot was deeded to the State of Alaska for additional Right 
of Way on Outer Springer. 

Administration’s Recommendation: 

Approve Resolution No. 21-021 authorizing the City Manager to prepare necessary documents for the preparation 
of a public sale.  In the event a public sale does not meet a minimum bid as established by an appraisal the City 
Manager is authorized to negotiate a private sale to be approved by City Council. 

Page 46 of 254Page 46 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-021 Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

Resolution No. 21-021 

A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Conduct a Public Land Sale 
of 1891 S. Chugach (17N02E04C004) as Authorized by Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080  

WHEREAS, the City of Palmer purchased the property located at 1891 S. Chugach in 1982 and is a total 
of .62 of an acre; and 

WHEREAS, the city may sell or dispose of any real property, including property acquired or held for or 
devoted to a public use, when in the judgement of the City Council it is no longer required for municipal purposes; 
and  

WHEREAS, City Staff determined that there is no future public use or benefit for the property other than 
to preserve easements necessary for the water and sewer mains; and  

WHEREAS, the property would be of a higher benefit to the public under private ownership. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby authorizes the city manager to 
conduct a public sale in accordance with Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby acknowledges that if 
the public sale is unsuccessful a private sale may be negotiated and approved by City Council. 

Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2021. 

________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by:  

Date: 
Action: 

Vote: 
Yes: No: 

Page 47 of 254Page 47 of 254



[� 
t ·,• MATANUSKA-SUSITNA BOROUGH 

Real Property Detail for Account: 17N02E04C004 

Site Information 
Account Number 
Parcel ID 
TRS 
Abbreviated Description 
(Not for Conveyanc e) 

Site Address 
Ownership 
Owners 

17N02E04C004 
20807 
S17N02E04 
TOWNSHIP 17N RANGE 2E SECTION 4 LOT 
C4 

1891 S CHUGACH ST 

Subdivision 
City 
Map PA12 

PALMER CITY OF Buyers 

Palmer 

Tax Maµ 

Primary Owner's Address 231 W EVERGREEN AVE PALMER AK 99645- Primary Buyer's Address 
6952 

Appraisal Information Assessment 
Year Land Appraised Bldg. Appraised Total Appraised Year 

2021 $29,700.00 $0.00 $29,700.00 
2020 $29,700.00 $0.00 $29,700.00 
2019 $29,700.00 $0.00 $29,700.00 

Building Information 
Building Item Details 
Building Number 
Tax/Billing Information 
Year Certified Zone 

Description 

Mill Tax Billed 
Recorded Documents 
Date Type 

Land Assessed Bldg. Assessed Total Assessed' 
2021 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
2020 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
2019 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Area 

2021 No 0012 
2020 Yes 0012 13.322 

13.386 
$0.00 
$0.00 

7/23/1982 WARRANTY DEED (ALL TYPES) 
10/27/1947 

Percent Complete 

Recording Info (offsite link to DNR) 

Palmer Bk: 269 Pg: 23 
Palmer Bk: 5 Pg� 

2019 Yes 0012 
Tax Account Status 2 
Status 

Current 
Land and Miscellaneous 

Tax Balance Farm 
$0.00 

Gross Acreage Taxable Acreage Assembly District 
0.62 0.62 Assembly District 002 

Disabled Veteran Senior 
$0.00 $0.00 

Precinct Fire Service Area 

$0.00 

11-070 Palmer Fire Service is under the 
--jurisdiction of the Q_ty: of Palmer 

1 Total Assessed is net of exemptions and deferments.rest, penalties, and other charges posted after Last 
Update Date are not reflected in balances. 
2 If account is in foreclosure, payment must be in certified funds. 

Total LID Exists 
$0.00No 

Road Service Area 
No Borough Road Service, for City of 
Palmer road service info, call (907)745-
::1<1nn 

Last Updated: 5/3/2021 12:00:08 AM 

Page 48 of 254Page 48 of 254



0.0 0 

NAO_ 1983_StatePlane_Alaska_ 4_FIPS_5004_Feet 

© Matanuska-Susitna'Borough 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough 

0.02 

Reported on 01/26/2018 10:30 AM 

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION 

This map is solely for informational purposes only. The Borough makes no express or implied warranties with 
respect to the character, function, or capabilities of the map or the suitability of the map for any particular purpose 
beyond those originally intended by the Borough. For information regarding the full disclaimer and policies related 
to acceptable uses of this map, please contact the Matanuska-Susitna Borough GIS Division at 907-861-7858. 

Alaska Railroad 

Roads 

Highway 

Major 

Medium 

Minor 

Primitive 

Private 

Mat-Su Borough Boundary 

Incorporated Cities 

Parcels 

Lakes and Rivers 

Flood Zone 

0 

This map was automatically generated 
using Geocortex Essentials. 

P
age 49 of 254



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
FROM: Nichole Degner, Community Development 
DATE:  May 10, 2021  
SUBJECT: Internal review: Determination of public use for 

17N02E04C004 AK Tool Dr 

 Inside City Limits  Outside City Limits
___________________________________________________________________________ 

We have distributed the pre-application packet for the subject project and have received the 
following comments from the following departments: 

1. City Manager:  No comment.
2. Building Inspector:  See attachment. Objection for public use.
3. Community Development:   No changes necessary.
4. Fire Chief:  No changes necessary.
5. Public Works:  PW has no issue with the sale of property, however, the continuation of

the 2x20’ wide underground utility easements from the East side of the property (see plat
attachment) must be established before the sale.

6. Planning and Zoning Commission:  N/A

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Brad Hanson 
 Director 

Dusten Voehl 
 Building Inspector 

Beth Skow 
Library Director 

Page 50 of 254Page 50 of 254



{01126604} Page 1 of 6 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 

This Purchase and Sale Agreement ("Agreement") is made as of ______________, 2021 
between __________________________("Purchaser"), and the City of Palmer, Alaska, a 
municipality organized and existing under the laws of the State of Alaska ("Seller").  This 
Agreement supersedes any other conditional Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 20, 
2020 between the Purchaser and Seller regarding this property. 

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth below, and intending to 
be legally bound, Purchaser and Seller agree as follows: 

1. Description of Property:

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Seller agrees to sell and Purchaser
agrees to purchase the property and buildings, described as follows and hereafter collectively 
referred to as the "Property": 

The Southeast one-quarter (SE 1/4) of the Southwest one-quarter (SE 1/4) , 
Section Four (4), Township Seventeen (17) North, Range Two (2) East, Seward 
Meridian, described as follows:  Beginning at the Southwest corner of said 
Southeast One- Quarter (SE 1/4)  Southwest one-quarter (SW 1/4), thence North 
One Hundred Ten and No/100 (110.00) feet; thence East Two Hundred Seventy 
and 52/100 (270.52) feet; thence South One Hundred Ten and Seventy and 52/100 
(270.52) feet to the point of Beginning, except the West Forty (40) feet and the 
South Forty (40) feet deed to the State of Alaska, recorded March 3, 1964 in Book 
51 at Page 37, in the Palmer Recording district, Third Judicial District, State of 
Alaska. 

Physical Address: 1891 S Chugach, Palmer, Alaska 99645 

Tax ID# 17N02E04C004 

2. Property to be Conveyed “As Is”:

The Property subject to this agreement is conveyed "as is," without warranty, express or
implied, of merchantability or suitability for a particular purpose, or otherwise. Purchaser 
consents and agrees that it is relying solely on its own inspection of the premises and not on any 
representation of the Seller or Seller's agent or employees in making their determination to 
purchase the Property. 

Purchaser acknowledges that it has inspected the Property and accepts the same "as-is" 
and without reliance on any expressed or implied representations or, warranties of Seller or 
agents or employees of Seller, as to the actual physical condition or characteristics thereof of the 
Property. 

Seller expressly makes no warranties as to the physical condition of the Property and all 
inspection obligations rest with the Purchaser. 

Page 51 of 254Page 51 of 254



{01126604} Page 2 of 6 

3. Purchase Price and Payment Terms:

Purchaser agrees to pay for the Property the sum of ___________________________,
based upon the agreed price between Seller and Buyer, to be paid as follows: 

a. _______________________ as the earnest money deposit, in the form of a check
shall be held by ________________________ until closing, at which time this
payment shall be credited to Buyer, or until this Agreement is otherwise
terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  Earnest money
shall be forfeited except upon disapproval of this Agreement by the Palmer City
Council;

b. The Principal Balance of ________________________ shall constitute the balance
of the Purchase Price (minus the earnest money deposit under item (a) of this
section) which shall be paid to the Seller at closing, and subject to all applicable
provisions of the Palmer Municipal Code;

c. Seller agrees to pay one-half of the closing costs;

d. Buyer agrees to pay Real Property ad valorem taxes (if any) prorated from the
recording date of transfer of the property;

e. Owners Title Policy; and

f. Other Title Company closing and recording fees.

4. Title:

Purchaser may provide a policy of title insurance, which indicates the condition of title
subject to reservations, exceptions, easements, rights-of-way, covenants, conditions, and 
restrictions of record or created by operation of law; and also subject to governmental 
regulations including but not limited to setback, use classifications, zoning or special permit 
requirements, and any matters including, but not limited to, existing trails or encroachments 
which would be disclosed by actual inspection or survey of the property. The Purchaser shall 
initiate the order for the title report from the title company selected by Seller. Title shall be 
delivered by Quitclaim Deed (“Deed”) for industrial purposes related to a beneficial new industry 
to Purchaser as:  ___________________________ 

5. Deed:

Title to the Property pursuant to City Council Resolution ____ (attached) shall be
conveyed to Purchaser by a Quitclaim Deed (“Deed”) “as is” without warranty, express or implied, 
of merchantability or suitability for a particular purpose, or otherwise for industrial purposes for 
a beneficial new industry duly executed by Seller and recorded as soon as practicable after the 
execution of this Agreement. 

6. Defense and Indemnification:

Page 52 of 254Page 52 of 254



{01126604} Page 3 of 6 

The Purchaser agrees that it shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Seller, its 
directors, officers, employees, contractors, assigns, and successors from any and all claims, 
actions, administrative proceedings (formal or informal), judgment damages, punitive damages, 
penalties, fines, costs, liabilities, amounts paid in settlement, interest, or losses including but not 
limited to attorney’s fees, consultant fees, expert fees, arising out of or in any way related to any 
environmental claim, the existence of any hazardous substances or violation of any 
environmental law, regulation, or ordinance resulting from or related to Seller’s use, 
maintenance, ownership, or operation of the Property. 

7. Hazardous Material:

Purchaser acknowledges that it has personally inspected the Property, and after due and
diligent inquiry, found no evidence of environmental contamination on or near the Property; and 
that the Seller, to the best of its knowledge, is unaware of any environmental contamination on 
or near the Property; and that the Purchaser will maintain the Buildings in such a manner as to 
prevent the occurrence of any environmental contamination; and Seller makes no warranties 
express or implied with respect to the condition of the Property, the existence or non-existence 
of environmental contamination or the suitability for any purpose whatsoever. Purchaser agrees 
that if the presence of hazardous material in the Property is caused or permitted by the 
Purchaser, its agents, employees, contractors, or invitees, or of environmental contamination of 
the Property by hazardous materials otherwise occurs on the Property, Purchaser shall defend, 
indemnify and hold harmless Seller from any and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, 
costs, liabilities, or losses (including, but not limited to, sums paid in the settlement of claims, 
attorney's fees, consultant fees and expert fees) which indemnification includes, without 
limitations, costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any clean-up, 
remedial, removal, restoration work required by any federal, state or local government in or 
under the Property. As used herein, the term "hazardous material" means any hazardous or toxic 
substance, material, or waste, which is or becomes regulated by any local government authority, 
the State of Alaska, or the United States government. 

8. Commissions:

Each party represents and warrants to the other that it has not engaged the services of
any real estate licensee, broker, finder or other person who would be entitled to any commission 
or fee in respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and each shall indemnify the other 
against any loss, cost, liability or expense incurred by the other as a result of any claim asserted 
by any such real estate licensee, broker, finder, or other person on the basis of any brokerage or 
similar arrangement or agreement made or alleged to have been made. 

9. Notices:

No notice, consent, approval or other communication provided for herein or given in
connection with this Agreement shall be validly given, made, delivered or served unless it is in 
writing and delivered personally, sent by overnight courier or sent by registered or certified 
United States mail, postage prepaid, with return receipt requested to: 

Page 53 of 254Page 53 of 254



{01126604} Page 4 of 6 

Seller: City of Palmer 
231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer, Alaska 99645 

Purchaser: 

or to such other addresses as either party may from time to time designate in writing and deliver 
in a like manner to the other party. Notices, consent, approvals, and communications given by 
mail shall be deemed delivered upon the earlier of three days after deposit in the United States 
mail in the manner provided above or immediately upon delivery to the respective addresses set 
forth above, if delivered personally or sent by overnight courier. 

12. Costs and Fees:

If either party breaches any term of this Agreement, the breaching party agrees to pay to
the non-breaching party all reasonable attorney's fees and reasonable costs and expenses 
incurred by the non-breaching party in enforcing this Agreement or preparing for legal or other 
proceedings, whether or not instituted. If any legal or other proceedings are instituted, the party 
prevailing in any such proceeding shall be paid the reasonable costs, expenses, and fees incurred 
by the other party, and if any judgment is secured by such prevailing party, all such costs, 
expenses, and fees shall be included in such judgment, attorney's fees to be set by the court and 
not by the jury. 

13. Waiver:

Excuse or waiver of the performance of the other party of any obligation under this
Agreement shall only be effective if evidenced by a written statement of the party so excusing. 
No delay in exercising any right or remedy shall constitute a waiver thereof, and no waiver by the 
Seller or Purchaser of a breach of any covenant of this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver 
of any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other covenant or condition of this 
Agreement. 

14. Assignment:

This Agreement is binding on the heirs, successors, and assigns of the parties, but shall
not be voluntarily assigned by either party without prior written consent of the other party, which 
consent shall not be unreasonable withheld.  

15. Entire Agreement:

Page 54 of 254Page 54 of 254



{01126604} Page 5 of 6 

This document contains the entire Agreement between the parties. It may not be 
modified except in a writing signed by all parties. 

16. Construction of Agreement:

The captions of the paragraphs of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not
govern or influence the interpretation thereof. This Agreement is the result of negotiations 
between the parties and, accordingly, shall not be construed for or against any part, regardless 
of which party drafted this Agreement or any portion thereof. 

17. Surviving Covenants:

The provisions of this Agreement shall survive the delivery of the Deed.

18. Time is of the Essence:

Time is of the essence of this Agreement.

19. Controlling Law and Venue:

This Agreement shall be governed by, construed under, and enforced in accordance with
the laws of the State of Alaska and the City of Palmer.  Venue for actions between the parties 
arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be in The Third Judicial District Palmer, Alaska. 

20. Further Assurances:

Whenever requested to do so by the other party, Seller or Purchaser promptly and
expeditiously shall execute, acknowledge and deliver any and all such conveyances, assignments, 
confirmations, satisfactions, releases, instruments of further assurance, approvals, consents and 
any and all further instruments and documents as may be reasonably necessary, expedient, or 
proper in order to complete any and all conveyances, transfers, sales, and assignments herein 
provided, and to do any and all other reasonable acts and to execute, acknowledge and deliver 
any and all documents as so reasonably requested in order to carry out the intent and purpose 
of this Agreement. 

21. Miscellaneous:

Purchaser acknowledges its responsibility to inspect the Property described herein and
agrees the Seller assumes no liability for matters, which would have been disclosed to the 
Purchaser by an inspection of the Property. Purchaser further acknowledges that the Seller 
makes no warranties, either expressed or implied, nor assumes any liability whatsoever, 
regarding the social, economic or environmental aspects of the Property, to include without 
limitation, physical access, or natural or artificial hazards which may or may not exist or 
merchantability, suitability, or profitability of the Buildings for any use or purpose. 

22. Permit Laws and Taxes:

Page 55 of 254Page 55 of 254



{01126604} Page 6 of 6 

Purchaser agrees that it will comply with all permits, laws, and taxes of any federal, state 
or local entity for any and all activities associated with the sale or use of the Property and any 
approvals necessary for development of the Property.  

Purchaser shall acquire and maintain in good standing all permits, licenses and other 
entitlements necessary to its performance under this Agreement. All actions taken by the 
Purchaser under this Agreement shall comply with all applicable statutes, ordinances, rules and 
regulations. The Purchaser shall pay all taxes pertaining to its performance under this Agreement. 

Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to 
confer upon any person, firm or corporation other than the parties hereto and their respective 
successors or assigns, any remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any term, 
covenant or condition hereof, as third party beneficiaries or otherwise and all of the terms, 
covenants and conditions hereof shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto 
and their successors and assigns. 

This Agreement may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Agreement on any 
number of separate counterparts, and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to 
constitute one and the same instrument.  

Each undersigned representative of the Purchaser and Seller certifies that he or she is 
fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Purchase Agreement and legally 
bind the Party he or she represents to this document. 

Executed this ______ day of _______________________, 2021. 

Seller:  Purchaser: 
The City of Palmer, Alaska 

___________________________ __________________________ 
Edna DeVries, Mayor  Its: _______________________ 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 

Page 56 of 254Page 56 of 254



Sale or Disposition of Real Property 
Type of sale What How Why 

Public and Charitable 
Conveyances 

Conveyance to U.S. State, 
political subdivision or non-
profit 

Sell, Donate or Exchange 
Without Public Sale 

Council decides it is 
Advantageous to the city 

Property Exchanges 
Conveyance or Exchange of 
an Equivalent property 

Public notice Required 
Council Conditions  
Without Public Sale 

Council decides it is 
Advantageous to the city 

Grants for Federal and State 
Programs 

Grant or Devote real 
property to US, State, local 
Subdivision, any Gov’t Agcy. 

Without Public Sale 
Consideration agreed upon 

Council decides it is 
Advantageous to the city 

Industrial Sites 
Private, New Industry Sell, Lease or dispose of 

Without public sale 
Council decides it is a beneficial 
new industry 

Public Sale 
Anybody Sold to the highest bidder 

• Procedure for public sale
No longer a public use 

Conveyance of Public 
Improvement Property Interests 

Convey, quitclaim, release, 
cancel property easement, 
right of Way permit 

Without Public Sale 
Qualified Appraiser/Borough tax 
assessor 

No longer a public use of 
installing, constructing, 
maintaining a public improv. 

Private Sale 
Sale after unsuccessful 
public sale. 

Highest price offered No longer a public use, Change 
of use 

Change of Use 

Transferred to another city 
purpose. 
Sale of non-useful utility 
property 

No legal consideration necessary 
By public sale or other Type. 

No longer purpose of original 
use or no public purpose 

Process for Sale 

The city manager may provide by regulation for the procedures and forms as to applications, surveys, appraisals, auction, bidding, form 
or substance of purchase agreement, or any other matter involving the sale or disposition of city property not inconsistent with and to 
implement the intent and purpose of this chapter. The absence of a regulation or an inconsistent resolution shall not invalidate any public 
sale procedure, or conveyance executed or to be executed by the city, where the requirements of this chapter have been otherwise 
satisfied 

• Determine the type of Sale
• CC Resolution is necessary for the sale, conveyance, grant, cancel, exchange of Property
• Any Public, private sale requires a qualified appraisal. (Within 180 days of resolution authorizing sale)
• P&SA is signed by the mayor, attested by clerk and approved as to form by city attorney.
• Resolution must include:

o Legal description of property
o Findings on behalf of council justifying the sale
o Appraisal if necessary
o P&SA form including terms and conditions

• Purchase and Sale Agreement (P&SA) after resolution authorizing the execution by the mayor for a deed, note
and deed of trust.

• No action of the council to dispose of any city interest in real property dedicated to public use shall be final until
the resolution to do so has been on file in the office of the city clerk for 30 days. Prior to any council action on the
sale of real property, the city manager shall make his recommendation to the city council as to any change of use
or merits of the sale or disposition of the real property.

• Notice of a proposed public sale of real property shall be published not less than two weeks prior to bid date in a
newspaper of general circulation in the city. The notice shall contain a description of the real property to be sold
and the time, date, place and any terms or limitations of the public sale.

Page 57 of 254Page 57 of 254



Page 58 of 254Page 58 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-038 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-038 

Subject:  Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection 
to Grant a Marijuana License to Connoisseur Lounge, LLC Located at 226 West Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
Marijuana License No. 27522 

Agenda of:  June 8, 2021 

Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
Community Development 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ Unknown 
 

This legislation (√): 
ⱱ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ Unknown 

Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 
Creates a saving in the amount of: $ 
Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
Budgeted Line item(s): 
Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

Page 59 of 254Page 59 of 254



City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-038 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. LGB Notice from the State of Alaska
2. Liquor License Review Form
3. Liquor License Application Documents

Summary Statement/Background: 

Connoisseur Lounge has applied for a Marijuana License. Per State law a local governing body may protest the 
approval of an application by providing the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of the reason for 
the protest or may voice a non-objection to a request. 

Administration’s Recommendation:  

Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-038 

Page 60 of 254Page 60 of 254



Department of Commerce, Community, 
and Economic Development 
ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 

550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

Main: 907.269.0350

April 12, 2021 

Matanuska Susitna Borough 
City of Palmer 
Attn:  Borough/ City Clerk 
VIA Email: adam.bradway@matsugov.us, alex.strawn@matsugov.us, permitcenter@matsugov.us, 
cityclerk@palmerak.org, bpacka@palmerak.org   

☒ New Application ☐ Transfer of Ownership Application
AMCO has received a complete application for the above listed license (see attached application documents)
within your jurisdiction. This is the notice required under 3 AAC 306.025(d)(2) or 3 AAC 306.045(c)(2).

To protest the approval of this application pursuant to 3 AAC 306.060, you must furnish the director and 
the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the protest within 60 days of the 
date of this notice, and provide AMCO proof of service of the protest upon the applicant. 

3 AAC 306.010, 3 AAC 306.080, and 3 AAC 306.250 provide that the board will deny an application for a 
marijuana establishment license if the board finds that the license is prohibited under AS 17.38 as a 
result of an ordinance or election conducted under AS 17.38 and 3 AAC 306.200, or when a local 
government protests an application on the grounds that the proposed licensed premises are located in a 
place within the local government where a local zoning ordinance prohibits the marijuana 
establishment, unless the local government has approved a variance from the local ordinance. 

This application will be in front of the Marijuana Control Board at our March 31- April 1, 2021 meeting. 

Sincerely, 

Glen Klinkhart, Director 

Page 61 of 254Page 61 of 254

mailto:adam.bradway@matsugov.us
mailto:alex.strawn@matsugov.us
mailto:permitcenter@matsugov.us
mailto:cityclerk@palmerak.org


1 

City of Palmer ● Marijuana License Review Form  

BUSINESS NAME: Connoisseur Lounge, LLC OWNER: Mathew Chambers 
LICENSE TYPE: Marijuana License #27522 
LOCATION: 226 West Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2, Palmer, AK 99645 

Route to:  Department of Finance 
Department of Finance 

Business License/Sales Tax/ 
Utilities/Assessments Current: Yes √ No 

If no, explain: Business has not secured a City business license at this time. 

Other Comments: 

05/20/2021 
Finance Director Date 

Route to: Department of Community Development 
Department of Community Development 

Code (PMC/Bldg/Fire) Compliant:   √ Yes  No 

If no, explain: 

Other Comments: 
Applicant must meet the requirements of Palmer Municipal Code title 14 Signs.  Based on the operational 
plan submitted, only one wall sign is allowed per street frontage.  No building permit has been applied 
for any remodel to premise. 

May 20, 2021 
Community Development Director Date 

Route to: Police Department 
Police Department 

Excessive Calls: Yes X No 

If yes, explain: 

Other Comments: 

May 24, 2021 
Chief of Police Date 

TO COUNCIL FOR AGENDA OF:  June 8, 2021 

Page 62 of 254Page 62 of 254



Department of Environmental 
Conservation 

 DIVISION OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
FOOD SAFETY & SANITATION PROGRAM 

1700 E Bogard Rd. Bldg. B, Suite 103 

Wasilla, Alaska, 99654 

Main: 907.376.1854 

Fax: 907.376.2382 

www.dec.alaska.gov/eh/fss 

nathan.maxwell@alaska.gov 

November 23, 2020 

The Connoisseur Lounge 
Attn: Mr. Warren 
226 W Evergreen Ave STE 2 
Palmer, AK 99645 

Re: Plan Review Approval for The Connoisseur Lounge  Facility:  22350    Permit ID: 11545 

Dear Mr. Warren: 

Thank you for submitting your Food Establishment Application and Plan Review Application for 
The Connoisseur Lounge located at 226 W Evergreen Ave Ste 2 in Palmer, Alaska. 

This letter serves as the official approval of your plan review application. You should expect to receive 
a copy of your Food Establishment Permits in the mail shortly, but until then, this letter serves as your 
approval to operate.  

Here is a link that has resources that may be helpful for you and your facility, which address 
common food safety risk factors: http://dec.alaska.gov/eh/fss/Food/RF_Resources.html.  

Please notify our office if there are any significant changes to the facility, style of service, location of 
service, ownership, or menu changes. 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact an EHO in our Wasilla office: Nathan 
Maxwell at (907) 376-1854 / nathan.maxwell@alaska.gov or Krista Weydahl at (907) 376-1857 / 
krista.weydahl@alaska.gov.   

Sincerely, 

Nathan Maxwell 
Environmental Health Officer 

Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 63 of 254Page 63 of 254

http://www.dec.alaska.gov/eh/fss
mailto:nathan.maxwell@alaska.gov
http://dec.alaska.gov/eh/fss/Food/RF_Resources.html


[Form MJ-00] (rev 09/27/2018)  Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

What is this form? 

This application certifications form is required for all marijuana establishment license applications. Each person signing an 
application for a marijuana establishment license must declare that he/she has read and is familiar with AS 17.38 and 3 AAC 306.  

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO’s main office by each proposed licensee (as defined in  
3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) before any license application will be considered complete. 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee:  License Number:  

License Type:  

Doing Business As:  

Premises Address:  

City:  State:  ZIP:  

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: 

Title: 

Ownership and financial interest in other licenses: Yes No

Do you currently have or plan to have an ownership interest in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in 
another marijuana establishment license? 

If “Yes”, which license numbers (for existing licenses) and license types do you own or plan to own? 

Section 1 – Establishment Information

Section 2 – Individual Information

Section 3 – Other Licenses

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 27522
Retail Marijuana Store
The Connoisseur Lounge
226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2
Palmer AK 99645

Trisha Torborg
Member

✔

Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 64 of 254Page 64 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 65 of 254Page 65 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 66 of 254Page 66 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 67 of 254Page 67 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 68 of 254Page 68 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 69 of 254Page 69 of 254



[Form MJ-00] (rev 09/27/2018)  Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

What is this form? 

This application certifications form is required for all marijuana establishment license applications. Each person signing an 
application for a marijuana establishment license must declare that he/she has read and is familiar with AS 17.38 and 3 AAC 306.  

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO’s main office by each proposed licensee (as defined in  
3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) before any license application will be considered complete. 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee:  License Number:  

License Type:  

Doing Business As:  

Premises Address:  

City:  State:  ZIP:  

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: 

Title: 

Ownership and financial interest in other licenses: Yes No

Do you currently have or plan to have an ownership interest in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in 
another marijuana establishment license? 

If “Yes”, which license numbers (for existing licenses) and license types do you own or plan to own? 

Section 1 – Establishment Information

Section 2 – Individual Information

Section 3 – Other Licenses

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 27522
Retail Marijuana Store
The Connoisseur Lounge
226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2
Palmer AK 99645

Elizabeth Warren
Member

Limited Cultivation, doing business as: Denali Herb Company AMCO License #14706.

✔

Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 70 of 254Page 70 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 71 of 254Page 71 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 72 of 254Page 72 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7'h Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.llcensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

What is this form? 

An operating plan is required for all marijuana establishment license applications. Applicants should review Title 17.38 of Alaska 

Statutes and Chapter 306 of the Alaska Administrative Code. This form will be used to document how an applicant intends to meet 

the requirements of those statutes and regulations. If your business has a formal operating plan, you may include a copy of that 

operating plan with your application, but all fields of this form must still be completed per 3 AAC 306.020(c). 

What must be covered in an operating plan? 

Applicants must identify how the proposed premises will comply with applicable statutes and regulations regarding the following: 

• Control plan for persons under the age of 21
• Security

• Business records

• Inventory tracking of all marijuana and marijuana product on the premises
• Employee qualification and training

• Health and safety standards

• Transportation and delivery of marijuana and marijuana products

• Signage and advertising

App Ii cants must also complete the corresponding operating plan supplemental forms (Form MJ-03, Form MJ-04, Form MJ-05, or 

Form MJ.-06) to meet the additional operating plan requirements for each license type. 

Section 1 - Establishment & Contact Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed as identified on the license application. 
' 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I MJ License #: 127522 
License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
City: Palmer I State: l Alaska l ZJP: 

199645

Mailing Address: 10400 E Bradley Lake Avenue 
City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZJP: 199645

Designated Licensee: Mathew Chambers 
Main Phone: 907-244-8329 I Cell Phone: I 907-244-8329 
Email: matt.theconnoisseur@gmail.com 

[Form MJ-01] (rev4/3/2019) Page 1 ofll 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 73 of 254Page 73 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019)  Page 2 of 11 
License #___________________ 

2.1. Describe how the marijuana establishment will prevent persons under the age of 21 from gaining access to any portion of the 
licensed premises and marijuana items: 

Restricted Access Areas (3 AAC 306.710): 

3.1. Describe how you will prevent unescorted members of the public from entering restricted access areas: 

3.2. Describe your recordkeeping and processes for admitting visitors into and escorting them through restricted access areas: 

Section 2 – Control Plan for Persons Under the Age of 21 

Section 3 – Security 

At the entrance to the store, a sign shall be displayed stating that "No one under 21 years of age allowed". The sign shall be 
larger than 12"x12" with letters at least one-half inch in height and in high contrast to the background of the sign. All restricted 
access areas will have signs that read "Restricted Access Area. Visitors Must be Escorted". The Connoisseur Lounge will 
refuse entrance to any person who does not produce a form of valid photo identification (ID) showing that person is twenty-
one (21) years of age or older. All visitors and customers will be greeted by an employee once they enter the retail sales area 
where they will be asked to provide their ID. A Valid form of ID will include; an unexpired, unaltered passport; an unexpired, 
unaltered driver's license; or identification card of any state or territory of the United States, the District of Columbia, or a 
province of Canada. If at any time an employee suspects that a visitor is under twenty-one (21) the employee will refuse 
access and will ensure the individual is escorted off the premises. Employees will be trained to spot inconsistencies and signs 
of forgery in IDs. All IDs will be thoroughly examined before entrance to the retail store is granted.

Every entry point to a restricted access area will be covered by security cameras and locked (except 
for the store entrance during normal business hours) and will have the required signs stating
"Restricted Access Area, Visitors Must be Escorted". All entry points will be equipped with entry 
sensors and connected to the security system. Only the licensees or employees will have the keys or 
access codes to unlock the commercial grade, non-residential entryway doors/door locks. All 
windows shall remain locked and broken glass sensors shall be installed. The Connoisseur Lounge 
will have at least one employee behind the retail sales counter at all times to assist in deterring 
unauthorized access. Any visitor who is allowed access to the restricted access areas of the facility 
must check in at the front entrance and follow the visitor procedures outlined in Section 3.2.

The Connoisseur Lounge has a strict visitor policy. All visitors who wish to take a tour of the retail
store in its entirety must be pre-scheduled by a licensee. AMCO, AMCO Enforcement and duly
authorized law enforcement agents are exempt from The Connoisseur Lounge visitor policy. Each
visitor must sign into the visitor's log indicating their name, the date, time in and out of the restricted
access area and, if needed, the purpose of the visit. Upon sign in, the visitor must produce valid
government issued photo ID. After ID verification, the visitor will be handed a visitor badge that must
be visibly worn at all times throughout the tour. A licensee or designated employee will escort and
actively supervise the visitor(s) during the entire visit. At no time will there be more than 5 visitors
per supervising licensee or designated employee. Once the visit/tour has concluded, all visitors will
be required to return their visitor badge, enter the time out on the visitor log and exit the facility. The
supervising licensee or designated employee will report any irregular behavior or activity that
occurred during the visit/tour on the visitor logs. Visitor logs will be kept as an official business
record and will be made readily available to an agent of AMCO upon request.

27522

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 74 of 254Page 74 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019)  Page 3 of 11 
License #___________________ 

3.3. Provide samples of licensee-produced identification badges that will be displayed by each licensee, employee, or agent while 
on the premises, and of visitor identification badges that will be worn by all visitors while in restricted access areas: 

Security Alarm Systems and Lock Standards (3 AAC 306.715): 

3.4. Exterior lighting is required to facilitate surveillance. Describe how the exterior lighting will meet this requirement: 

All areas outside the restricted access area where video surveillance is required, will be illuminated
by photo cell light fixtures to cover a minimum of twenty (20) feet from the retail store's entrances
and exits. The exterior lighting fixtures of the retail store will be designed and installed to deter
nuisance activity and enhance surveillance, while minimizing any sort of neighborhood nuisance.
Further lighting will be used to increase picture quality and brightness for security related
documentation. The camera system and lighting will be constantly calibrated to maximize the quality
of any recorded images, and to also discourage theft and/or trespassing. The lighting fixtures will be
installed to ensure there are no dark spots around the perimeter, or any of the entrances to the
facility. All outdoor lighting will be weather proof and vandal proof.

27522

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 75 of 254Page 75 of 254



... �,o,a._..,
(,,

, 
->' ,, 

AMCO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

3.5. An alarm system is required for all license types that must be activated on all exterior doors and windows when the licensed
premises is closed for business. Describe the security alarm system for the proposed premises, explain how it will meet all 
regulatory requirements, and outline your policies and procedures regarding the actions to be taken by a licensee, employee, or 
agent when the alarm system alerts of an unauthorized breach: 

The alarm system for the licensed premises will consist of entry sensors on all doors and windows. 
Broken glass sensors will also be used near the windows. The security system is monitored 24 
hours/day and the local law enforcement will be contacted if any of the sensors are triggered once 
the system is armed. The system will be armed after business hours by using the system's keypad 
or the key chain remote. The security system has a panic function installed and once activated, a 
siren will sound and law enforcement will be contacted. If an unauthorized breach does occur, a 
licensee and/or an employee will immediately call the local enforcement to ensure the security 
system representative has relayed the alarm to them. Also, in the event of an unauthorized breach 
during operating hours, a licensee or an employee will instruct all employees, customers and visitors 
to vacate the premises to a pre-determined safe location, take a head-count of all known persons 
that were in the retail store and await law enforcement. The Connoisseur Lounge will comply with all 
law enforcement directives. Once determined safe to do so, a licensee or an employee will re-enter 
the store, take inventory of all marijuana and marijuana products, cash etc and ensure that there is 
nothing missing. AMCO will be notified electronically as soon as possible and, in any case, not more 
than 24 hours of any unauthorized access to the premises and any theft or diversion of money, 
marijuana or marijuana products. 

3.6. Describe vour oolicies and procedures for preventing diversion of marijuana or marijuana product, including by employees: 

Employees will be aware that any diversion or inversion of marijuana will result in an immediate termination of employment. 
Employees will log their time daily while working in the licensed premises and will be trained on inversion and diversion methods 
and how to detect them along with The Connoisseur Lounge's standard operating procedures for handling marijuana and 

o

marijuana prducts including, but not limited to; label tags placed on every package of marijuana and how to ensure they are in 
the database inventory. Inventory will be checked regularly and cross-checked with Metrc to determine if diversion or inversion of 
marijuana is an issue. The interior and exterior of the licensed premises will be covered by video surveillance 24 hours per day 
and closely monitored. Video surveillance records will be kept for a minimum of 40 days or longer if requested by AMCO or Law 
Enforcement for investigatory reasons . The video recordings and inventory checks will help prevent the diversion of marijuana. 

3.7. Descnbe vour policies and procedures for preventing loitering: 

The Connoisseur Lounge's retail store is located on private property. A sign will be posted at the 
entrance to the facility stating "No Loitering" is permitted on the premises. A licensee or an employee will 
be instructed to randomly perform a walk around of the retail store to ensure that there are no persons 
loitering around the premises. Employees will be instructed to kindly tell any persons loitering to leave the 
premises. If a person loitering refuses to leave, the employee will call for a licensee. If the person still 
refuses to leave a licensee will contact local law enforcement. Loitering policies will also include when the 
business is closed after hours and this will be enforced by a 24 hour surveillance system. 

You must be able to certify the statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the box to the right: 

3.8. I certify that if any additional security devices are used, such as a motion detector, pressure switch, and duress, 

panic, or hokk.ip alarm, to enhance security of the licensed premises, I will have written policies and procedures 

describing their use. 

[Form MJ-01) (rev 4/3/2019) 

License# 
27 522 

Initials 

Page4of ll 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 76 of 254Page 76 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Video Surveillance (3 AAC 306.no}: 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

3.9. The video surveillance and camera recording system for the licensed premises covers each restricted access area, 

and both the interior and exterior of each entrance to the facility. 

3.10. Each video suNeillance recording: is preserved for a minimum of 40 days, in a format that can be easily accessed 

for viewing (consistent with the Alcohol & Marijuana Control Office's approved format list); clearly and accurately 

displays the time and date; and is archived in a format that does not permit alteration of the recorded image. 

3.11. The surveillance room or area is clearly defined on the Form MJ-02: Premises Diagram that is submitted with this 
application. 

3.12. SuNeillance recording equipment and video surveillance records are housed in a designated, locked, and secure 

area or in a lock box, cabinet, closet or other secure area where access is limited to the licensee(s), an authorized 

employee, and law enforcement personnel (including an agent of the Marijuana Control Board). 

Initials 

3.13. Describe how the video cameras will be placed to produce a clear view adequate to identify any individual inside the licensed 

premises, or within 20 feet of each entrance to the licensed premises: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will install a video surveillance system which will cover each restricted 
access area and each entrance to a restricted access area within the licensed premises. The 
System will also cover each exit to the exterior of the premises and each point-of-sale area. The 
surveillance system will be placed in a way that produces a clear view adequate to identify any 
individual inside the licensed premises, and within 20 feet of each entrance to the premises. Both 
the interior and exterior of each entrance to the facility will be recorded by a video camera. Camera 
systems will be placed so that there is a clear, unobstructed view of day to day activity without 
blockage from any equipment in the facility in order to assure a clear view of persons entering and 
exiting the facility. Surveillance recording equipment and surveillance records will be kept in a 
locked area that is accessible only to the licensees, authorized employees, AMCO or local law 
enforcement personnel. 

3.14. Describe the locked and secure area where video suNeillance recording equipment and original copies of surveillance records 

will be housed and stored, and how you will ensure the area is accessible only to authorized personnel, law enforcement, or an 

agent of the Marijuana Control Board. If you will be using an offsite monitoring service_and offsite storage of video SUNeillance 

records, your response must include how the offsite facility will meet these security requirements: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will house and maintain surveillance recording equipment on-site inside a 
steel cabinet in the office/storage area of the licensed premises. The cabinet doors will be locked 
and only the licensees will hold a key which will be clearly marked "DO NOT DUPLICATE". This 
area will only be accessed by licensees or authorized employee(s) to ensure that there is no 
unauthorized access or tampering. The security system will be password protected for added 
security. All recorded data will be stored for a minimum of forty (40) days as an official business 
record. All surveillance footage will be accessible for upload to a separate hard drive in the event 
that it must be stored for longer for criminal, civil, or administrative investigations. All recordings will 
be time and date stamped, and archived in a format that prevents alteration of the recorded image. 
Law enforcement and Marijuana Control Board agents will have access, if requested, to recordings 
and surveillance data. 

[Form MJ-01) (rev 4/3/2019) 

Ucense # 
27 522 PageSofll 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 77 of 254Page 77 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Section 4 - Business Records 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306. 755. All licensed marijuana establishments must maintain, in a format that is readily 
understood by a reasonably prudent business person, certain business records. 

4.1. I certify that the following business records will be maintained and kept on the licensed premises: 

a. all books and records necessary to fully account for each business transaction conducted under my license for the

current year and three preceding calendar years (records for the last six months must be maintained on the licensed

premises; older records may be archived on or off-premises);

b. a current employee list setting out the full name and marijuana handler permit number of each licensee,
employee, and agent who works at the marijuana establishment;

c. the business contact information for vendors that maintain video surveillance systems and security alarm
systems for the licensed premises;

d. records related to advertising and marketing;

e. a current diagram of the licensed premises, including each restricted access area;

f. a log recording the name, and date and time of entry of each visitor permitted into a restricted access area; 

g. all records normally retained for tax purposes;

h. accurate and comprehensive inventory tracking records that account for all marijuana inventory activity from
seed or immature plant stage until the retail marijuana or retail marijuana product is sold to a consumer, to
another marijuana establishment, or destroyed;

i. transportation records for marijuana and marijuana product, as required by 3 AAC 306.7S0(f); and

J. registration and inspection reports of scales registered under the Weights and Measures Act, as required
by 3 AAC 306.745.

Initials 

4.2. A marijuana establishment is required to exercise due diligence in preserving and maintaining all required records. Describe 
how you will prevent records and data, including electronically maintained records, from being lost or destroyed: 

All required six (6) month business records will be kept on the business computer's hard drive in the 
office/storage area. An external hard drive will be used to back-up all files on a regular basis. The 
external hard drive will be kept in a fire proof safe. 

All physical records and electronic records required under 3 AAC 306. 755 will be kept onsite for the 
current year and the three (3) previous years in a format that is readily understood by a reasonably 

prudent business person. 

Physical records will be kept in binders in the office area. Some may also be scanned and stored 

digitally as described above. 

[Form MJ--01) (rev 4/3/2019)
Ucense/127522 Page 6of 11 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 78 of 254Page 78 of 254



. Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Section 5 - Inventory Tracking of All Marijuana and Marijuana Product 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306. 730. All licensed marijuana establishments must use a marijuana inventory tracking 

system capable of sharing information with Metre to ensure all marijuana cultivated and sold in the state, and each marijuana 

product processed and sold in the state, is identified and tracked from the time the marijuana is propagated from seed or cutting, 

through transfer to another licensed marijuana establishment, or use in manufacturing a marijuana product, to a completed sale of 

marijuana or marijuana product, or disposal of the harvest batch of marijuana or production lot of marijuana product. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

5.1. My marijuana establishment will be using Metre, and if any other tracking software is used, it will be capable of 
sharing information with Metre. 

5.2. All marijuana delivered to a marijuana establishment will be weighed on a scale registered in compliance with 
3 MC306.745. 

5.3. My marijuana establishment will use registered scales in compliance with AS 45.75.080 (Weights and Measures 
Act), as required by 3 MC 306.745. 

Section 6 - Employee Qualification and Training 

Initials 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.700. All licensees, and every employee or agent of the marijuana establishment who 

sells, cultivates, manufactures, tests, or transports marijuana or a marijuana product, or who checks the identification of a 
consumer or visitor, must obtain a marijuana handler permit from the board before being licensed or beginning employment at a 

marijuana establishment. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

6.1. All licensees, and each employee or agent of the marijuana establishment who sells, OJltivates, manufactures, 

tests, or transports marijuana or marijuana product, or who checks the identification of a consumer or visitor, 

shall obtain a marijuana handler permit from the board before being licensed or beginning employment at the 

marijuana establishment. 

6.2. Each licensee, employee, or agent who is required to have a marijuana handler permit shall keep that person's 

marijuana handler permit card in that person's immediate possession (or a valid copy on file on the licensed 

premises) when on the licensed premises. 

6.3. Each licensee, employee, or agent who is required to have a marijuana handler permit shall ensure that that 

person's marijuana handler permit card is valid and has not expired. 

Initials 

6.4. Describe any in-house training that will be provided to employees and agents (apart from a marijuana handler course): 

All employees will be trained by a licensee in-house in regards to their responsibilities, which will include the 
opening/closing of the store, characteristics of the different strains in stock, packaging of products, packaging 
placement on displays, housekeeping, currency handling, operation of the security system and how to react in 
emergencies, proper health and safety regulations regarding to handling marijuana and marijuana products and legal 
issues, both State and Federal. 

The licensees and all employees will complete a state approved course and obtain their marijuana handler permits 
prior to starting employment. The permits will be kept in their immediate possession at all times when on the licensed 
premises. Copies of all handler permits will kept on file at the licensed premises as well. The licensees and all 
employees shall ensure their card has not expired. 

Training updates will be made readily available throughout the year or when the licensees deem necessary. 

[Fonn MJ-01) (rev 4/3/2019) 

Lla!nse # 
27 522 

Page7of 11 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 79 of 254Page 79 of 254



�,. .. ('ll, ....... t., .. 
1. ,�

AMCO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Section 7 - Health and Safety Standards 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.735. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

7.1. I understand that a marijuana establishment is subject to inspection by the local fire department, building 
inspector, or code enforcement officer to confirm that health or safety concerns are not present. 

7.2. I have policies regarding health and safety standards (including: ensuring a person with an illness or infection 
does not come into contact with marijuana or marijuana product; good hygienic practices; cleaning and 
maintenance of equipment and the premises; pest deterrence; chemical storage; sanitation principles; and 
proper handling of marijuana and marijuana product) and will take all reasonable measures and precautions to 
ensure that they are met or exceeded. 

7.3. I have policies to ensure that any marijuana or marijuana product that has been stored beyond its usable life, or 
was stored improperly, is not salvaged and returned to the marketplace. 

7.4. I have policies to ensure that in the event information about the age or storage conditions of marijuana or 
marijuana product is unreliable, the marijuana or marijuana product will be handled in accordance with 
3 AAC 306.735(d). 

Answer "Yes" or "No" to each of the following questions: 

7.5. Adequate and readily accessible toilet facilities that are maintained and in good repair and sanitary conditioi:i 
are clearty indicated on my Form MJ-02: Premises Diagram. 

7.6. Convenient handwashing facilities with running water at a suitable temperature are clearly indicated on my 
Form MJ-02: Premises Diagram. 

Yes 

E] 

Initials 

No 

□ 

□ 

7 .7. If you answered "No" to either 7 .5 or 7.6 above, describe how toilet and/or handwashing facilities are made accessible, as 

Section 8 - Transportation and Delivery of Marijuana and Marijuana Products 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306. 750. 

8.1. Describe how marijuana or marijuana product will be prepared, packaged, and secured for shipment. Include a description of 
the type of locked, safe, and secure storage compartments to be used in vehicles transporting marijuana or marijuana product: 

In the event that The Connoisseur Lounge transports any marijuana or marijuana product from the 
retrul store to a different retail license (which is unlikely to occur), a trip manifest will be printed from 
Metre to accompany the shipment. A copy of the trip manifest will also be maintained on the licensed 
premises as a business record. Any marijuana or marijuana product to be transported will be placed 
within a sealed package or container up to 1 O pounds and then into a secure storage compartment 
within the transport vehicle or in the bed of a truck. Any individuals involved in the transport will have 
a valid, marijuana handler permit and be trained to travel directly to the destination without any 
unnecessary stops and without opening packages of marijuana or marijuana product. Continued .. 

(Form MJ-01) (rev4/3/2019) Page8ofll 
l.la!nse# 27522 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 80 of 254Page 80 of 254



��IJA.·"'-<,,. 

-> �, 

AMCO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

8.2. The marijuana establishment from which a shipment of marijuana or marijuana product originates will ensure 
that any individual transporting marijuana shall have a marijuana handler permit required under 3 AAC 306.700. 

8.3. The marijuana establishment that originates the transport of any marijuana or marijuana product will use the 
marijuana inventory tracking system to record the type, amount, and weight of marijuana or marijuana product 
being transported, the name of the transporter, the time of departure and expected delivery, and the make, 
model, and license plate number of the transporting vehicle. 

8.4. The marijuana establishment that originates the transport of any marijuana or marijuana product will ensure that 
a complete printed transport manifest on a forrn prescribed by the board must be kept with the marijuana or 
marijuana product at all times during transport. 

8.5. During transport, any marijuana or marijuana product will be in a sealed package or container in a locked, safe, 
and secure storage compartment in the vehicle transporting the marijuana or marijuana product, and the sealed 
package will not be opened during transport. 

8.6. Any vehicle transporting marijuana or marijuana product will travel directly from the shipping marijuana 
establishment to the receiving marijuana establishment, and will not make any unnecessary stops in between 
except to deliver or pick up marijuana or marijuana product at any other licensed marijuana establishment. 

8.7. When the marijuana establishment receives marijuana or marijuana product from another licensed marijuana 
establishment, the recipient of the shipment will use the marijuana inventory tracking system to report the type, 
amount, and weight of marijuana or marijuana product received. 

8.8. The marijuana establishment will refuse to accept any shipment of marijuana or marijuana product that is not 
accompanied by the transport manifest. 

Section 9 - Signage and Advertising 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.770. 

Initials 

f[J 

rill 

9.1. Describe any signs that you intend to post on your establishment, including quantity, dimensions, graphics, and location on your 
establishment ( photos or drawings may be attached): 

The Connoisseur Lounge may have up to three signs on the facility, two signs affixed to the building 
and one free standing. The Connoisseur lounge will begin with one sign on the North side of the 
building, which will be a 48"x48" sign and will be attached to the exterior wall. 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019) 

Ucense#27522 
Page9ofll 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 81 of 254Page 81 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 
9.2. Describe any advertising you intend to distribute for your establishment. Include medium types and business logos (photos or 

drawings may be attached): 

The Connoisseur Lounge may utilize the following advertising mediums: 
local Alaska Leaf magazine, trade magazines, radio, temporary banners, flyers and signs, social 
media, lighters, direct text messaging with opt out, clothing items or other items of permissible 
branding, website, business cards, stickers, and/or in collaboration with local and state wide 
retailers. It would reflect the name of the business, address, phone number, email address, and 
license#. 
The Connoisseur Lounge will ensure that all advertisements contain all AMCO regulatory warning 
statements verbatim. 

f unsworn falsification that this form, induding all accompanying schedules and statements · t , 1s rue, correct,

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019) 

Ucense 11 27 522 
Page to of U 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 82 of 254Page 82 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019)  Page 11 of 11 
License #___________________ 

(Additional Space as Needed): 

8.1 Continued: Labels will be affixed to the packaging including all information originally
provided by the cultivation or manufacturing facility such as; (1) testing facility and license
number (2) testing date and results (3) name and license number of cultivation facility (4)
name and license number of manufacturing facility if applicable (for concentrates and
products) (5) harvest batch number or production lot number (6) date of packaging (7) net
marijuana weight (8) expiration date if applicable. When receiving product from a transport into
The Connoisseur Lounge, employees will be trained to first inspect product/packaging/quality,
weigh product and then formally accept product into the Metrc inventory tracking system after
confirming the validity of the transportation manifest.

27522

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 83 of 254Page 83 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Form MJ-02: Premises Diagram 

 [Form MJ-02] (rev 4/9/2019)  Page 1 of 2 
License #___________________ 

What is this form? 

A detailed diagram of the proposed licensed premises is required for all marijuana establishment license applications, per  
3 AAC 306.020(b)(8). All areas designated as the licensed premises of a single license must be contiguous. All diagrams must have 
the licensed premises area labeled, and outlined or shaded as appropriate.  

What must be submitted with this form? 

Applicants must attach multiple diagrams to this form, including (as applicable): 
 Diagram 1: 

a diagram showing only the licensed premises areas that will be ready to be operational at the time of your preliminary 
inspection and license issuance;  

 Diagram 2: 
if different than Diagram 1, a diagram outlining all areas for which the licensee has legal right of possession (a valid lease or 
deed), and clearly showing those areas’ relationship to the current proposed licensed premises (details of any planned 
expansion areas do not need to be included; a complete copy of Form MJ-14: Licensed Premises Diagram Change must be 
submitted and approved before any planned expansion area may be added to the licensed premises); 

 Diagram 3: 
a site plan or as-built of the entire lot, showing all structures on the property and clearly indicating which area(s) will be part 
of the licensed premises;  

 Diagram 4: 
an aerial photo of the entire lot and surrounding lots, showing a view of the entire property and surrounding properties, and 
clearly indicating which area(s) will be part of the licensed premises (this can be obtained from sources like Google Earth); and 

 Diagram 5: 
a diagram of the entire building in which the licensed premises is located, clearly distinguishing the licensed premises from 
unlicensed areas and/or premises of other licenses within the building. If your proposed licensed premises is located within a 
building or building complex that contains multiple business and/or tenants, please provide the addresses and/or suite 
numbers of the other businesses and/or tenants (a separate diagram is not required for an establishment that is designating 
the entire building as a single licensed premises). 

This form, and all necessary diagrams that meet the requirements on Page 2 of this form, must be completed and 
submitted to AMCO’s main office before any new or transfer license application will be considered complete. 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 
Licensee: MJ License #:

License Type:

Doing Business As:  

Premises Address:

City: State: Alaska ZIP:  

Section 1 – Establishment Information 

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 27522
Retail Marijuana Store
 The Connoisseur Lounge
226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2
Palmer 99645

27522
Received by AMCO 12.11.20

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 84 of 254Page 84 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 85 of 254Page 85 of 254



AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

P
age 86 of 254

P
age 86 of 254



R
eceived by A

M
C

O
 12.11.20

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

P
age 87 of 254

P
age 87 of 254



R
eceived by A

M
C

O
 12.11.20

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

P
age 88 of 254

P
age 88 of 254



-

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7'" Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

What is this form? 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board Phone: 907.269.0350 

Operating Plan Supplemental 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store 

This operating plan supplemental form is required for all applicants seeking a retail marijuana store license and must accompany Form 
MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan, per 3 AAC 306.020(b)(ll). Applicants should review Chapter 306: Article 3 of the 

Alaska Administrative Code. This form will be used to document how an applicant intends to meet the requirements of the statutes 
and regulations. 

If your business has a formal operating plan, you may in dude a copy of that operating plan with your application, but all fields of this 

form must still be completed per 3 AAC 306.020 and 3 AAC 306.315(2). 

What additional information is required for retail stores? 

Applicants must identify how the proposed establishment will comply with applicable regulations regarding the following: 

• Prohibitions

• Signage and advertising

• Displays and sales 

• Exit packaging and labeling

• Security

• Waste disposal

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office before any new or transfer application for a 
retail marijuana store license will be considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter informabon or e usrness se , 

127522 Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I MJ License #:
eking to be licensed as identified on the license application 

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZIP: 199645

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 89 of 254Page 89 of 254



"'.,,,. "'�v, 
$ ,, 

AMCO, Alaska Marijuana Control Board

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

Section 2 - Overview of Operations 

2-1- Provide an overview of your proposed facility's operations. Include information regarding the intake and flow of marijuana and
marijuana product at your premises, and a description of what a standard customer visit to your establishment would entail:

Each _shipment of marij_uana and marijuana product that arrives at The Connoisseur Lounge's retail store will be inspected
by a hc_ense� or authorized employee before it is accepted and added to the store's inventory. The shipment will be 
reC?nc1led with the transport manifest, shipment labels and packaging labels to ensure consistency. All product will be 
weighed an� reconciled with the weight listed on the manifest and labels. Any shipments with discrepancies will be 
reiected. Shipments that pass initial inspection will be accepted into the facility, entered into Metre and the point of sale 
software and added to the store's inventory storage or display cases. At the end of each business day, The Connoisseur 
Lounge will reconcile the sale's transactions from the point of sale software with the inventory on hand and with Metre to 
ensure consistency and that any discrepancies are immediately addressed. The licensed premises will consist of a retail 
area (where marijuana transactions will occur) and an office/processing area (restricted to the licensee and employees) 
where bulk marijuana will be stored and packaged. Wholesale transactions will occur in the retail area and then moved to 
the office area. Once packaged in the office area, small amounts of packages will be moved to the retail area prior to 
opening for the day (store will not be open between Sam and 8am). Customers will enter the store and samples will be 
available for inspection on the counter tops. These samples will be in secure containers and tethered to the counter top. 
Packages for sale will be on shelves within the counters and behind locked doors or on shelving located behind the 
cashier. The customer can then purchase the product of their choice with the assistance of an employee (Budtender) who 
will ensure that all sales are within the regulatory limits on quantity sold per transaction and exit packaging requirements. 

Section 3 - Prohibitions 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.310. 

3.1. Describe how you will ensure that the retail marijuana store will not sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana 
product to a person who is under the influence of an alcoholic beverage, inhalant, or controlled substance: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will not sell, offer to sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana products to any consumers who 
are:(1) not physically present on the licensed premises; (2) under the influence of alcohol, inhalants or controlled substances (all 
employees will be trained to recognize signs of impairment); or (3) not at least twenty-one (21) years of age at the time of purchase, 
as evidenced by valid government issued photo identification. All customers will enter one main door into our retail store where they will 
be greeted by an employee who will then check their ID. If a person seems to be under the influence, they will not be allowed inside the 
store. 

3.2. I certify that the retail marijuana store will not: 

a. sell, give, distribute, deliver, or offer to sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana product in a
quantity exceeding the limit set out in 3 AAC 306.355; 

b. sell, give, distribute, deliver, or offer to sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana product over the 
internet;

C. 
offer or deliver to a oonsumer, as a marketing promotion or for any other reason, free marijuana or marijuana
product, including a sample;

d. offer or deliver to a consumer, as a marketing promotion or for any other reason, alcoholic beverages, free or for
compensation; or

e. allow a person to oonsume marijuana or a marijuana product on the licensed premises.

Answer "Yes" or "No" to the following question: 

Initials 

Yes No 

3.3. Do you plan to request Mure approval of the Marijuana Control Board to permit consumption of marijuana 
or marijuana product in a designated area on the proposed premises? 

□ 

fl'nnn MJ.031 (rev 11/07/2017) 
Page2of6 

•

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 90 of 254Page 90 of 254



AJVICO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental

Section 4 - Signage and Advertising 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.360 and 3 AAC 306.365. All licensed retail marijuana stores must meet minimum standards 
for signage and advertising. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your ini tials in the corresponding box: 

4.1. l understand and agree to follow the limitations regarding the number, placement, and size of signs on my proposed 
establishment, set forth in 3 AAC 306.360(a). 

4.2. The retail marijuana store will not use giveaway coupons as promotional materials, or conduct promotional 
activities such as games or competitions to encourage the sale of marijuana or marijuana products. 

4.3. All advertising for marijuana or marijuana product will contain the warnings required under 3 AAC 306.360(e). 

4.4. I understand and agree to post, in a conspicuous location visible to customers, the notification signs required under 
3 AAC 306.365. 

4.5. I certify that no advertisement for marijuana or marijuana product will contain any statement or illustration that: 
a. is false or misleading;

b. promotes excessive consumption; 

c. represents that the use of marijuana has curative or therapeutic effects; 

d. depicts a person under the age of 21 consuming marijuana; or 

e. includes an object or character, including a toy, a cartoon character, or any other depiction designed to 
appeal to a child or other person under the age of 21, that promotes consumption of marijuana. 

4.6. I certify that no advertisement for marijuana or marijuana product will be placed: 
a. within 1,000 feet of the perimeter of any child-centered facility, including a school, childcare facility, or

other facility providing services to children, a playground or recreation center, a public park, a library, or a
game arcade that is open to persons under the age of 21;

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

on or in a public transit vehicle or public transit shelter;

on or in a publicly owned or operated property; 

within 1,000 feet of a substance abuse or treatment facility; or 

on a campus for postsecondary education.

Section 5 - Displays and Sales 

Initials 

5_1_ Describe how marijuana and marijuana products at the retail marijuana store will be displayed and sold: 

•· d arijuana products will be displayed and dispensed for sales within t he designat� restricted access area, .All mariJuana an m 
s· e stating "Restricted Access Area: Visitors Must Be Escorted: will be posted at the access points unreachable �o customers. igna� 

na and mari·uana roducts will be displayed in locked, glass display cases/point of sale oounterthat !ead be�1nd
b 

th
h
�

��t�is
�

=�J�:se/point of dale co�nter. Product displays will be in full view of a working video surveilla�ce and tn a coo er e tn e .. .. d t • t r d in the display Marijuana and Marijuana products will be camera system at all times that _marijuana or �an�t:fi
1 
�� t��

n
:

d 

s
a

�: 
regularly monit�red to ensure compliance with the displa� and sec�red in/. locked

d 
c:�� !

1
\ ;�;:�t;t��:!���

d accounted for at all times. Samples of mar(juana strains !or customer in:�c�oncl?sing_ po ,aes, an 
t . 

nd tethered to the counter tops Packaged marijuana for res ale will be on s helving located behtn t e will be 1n secure con a,ners a · . 
cashier or in locked shelving areas ins ide the counter tops. Continued on Page 6. •·

Page3of6 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 91 of 254Page 91 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

[Form MJ-03] (rev 11/07/2017)  Page 4 of 6 
License #___________________ 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.345. 

6.1. Describe how the retail marijuana store will ensure that marijuana and marijuana products sold on its licensed premises will meet 
the packaging and labeling requirements set forth in 3 AAC 306.345(a): 

6.2. Provide a sample label that the retail marijuana store will use to meet the labeling requirements set forth in 3 AAC 306.345(b): 

Section 6 – Exit Packaging and Labeling 

All shipments arriving at The Connoisseur Lounge will be inspected by a licensee or an authorized employee.
Shipments will be inspected for quality and consistency with the transport manifest and shipment labels and
for regulatory compliance. Labels will be checked for: (1) name and license number of the manufacturing or
cultivation facility; (2) production lot and/or batch number; (3) strain information; (4) strain and batch
information; (5) delivery driver name and handler's card verification; (6) the weight of the products transferred;
and (7) testing information. Once a delivery is approved by a licensee or authorized employee, the inventory
will be accepted into the retail store and entered into Metrc with all mandatory information designated by
AMCO. The shipment information will be both recorded in Metrc and stored on-site as official business
records. Both the transporting agent and a licensee or an authorized employee will sign all paperwork and
documents expressing that all information is deemed correct and the transfer took place. If any of the above
information is missing or inaccurate, a licensee or an authorized employee will refuse the transfer.

27522

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 92 of 254Page 92 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

Section 7 - Security 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.350 and 3 AAC 306. 720. 

7.1. Describe the retail man}uana store's procedures for ensuring a form of valid photographic identification has been produced 

before selling marijuana or marijuana product to a person, as required by 3 MC 306.350(a):

The Connoisseur Lounge will not sell, offer to sell, give. distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana products to any consumers who 
are: (1} not physically present on the licensed premises; (2) under the influence of an alcoholic beverage, inhalant, or controlled 
substance; or (3) not at least twenty-one (21) years of age at the time of purchase, as evidenced by a valid, government-issued 
photo identification. Employees of The Connoisseur Lounge will greet customers near the entry of the retail store and check 
identifications. No individual will be allowed to to browse the retail floor without their photo identification being verified. Continued on 
Page 6 ... 

You must be able to certify the statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the box to the right: 

7 .2. The video surveillance and camera recording system for the licensed premises covers each point-of-sale area. 

Section 8 - Waste Disposal 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.740. 

Initials 

8.1. Describe how you will store, manage, and dispose of any marijuana waste, including expired marijuana or marijuana products, 
in compliance with any applicable laws. Include details about the material(s) you will mix with ground marijuana waste and the 
processes that you will use to make the marijuana waste unusable for any purpose for which it was grown or produced: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will be disposing of: (1) marijuana that is identified as contaminated, infected or is otherwise 
rejected for quality; (2) marijuana and marijuana products that reach their expiration date; (3) any other materials or 
containers in contact with marijuana products that risk contamination; (4) any other marijuana or marijuana product 
deemed as waste by the licensees or an authorized employee, MCB, AMCO Enforcement or AMCO Director. 
Marijuana waste will be stored away from all other products in a locked container on the premises, and will be rendered 
unusable prior to leaving the store for disposal. A notice, via email, will be sent to AMCO enforcement not later than 
three days prior to rendering waste unusable. Marijuana waste will be rendered unusable by grinding the materials and 
mixing with other compostable and non-compostable non-marijuana material such as; food waste, cardboard, paper 
and yard waste; until the resulting mixture is no more than fifty percent (50%) marijuana waste. Licensees or an 
authorized employee will maintain a log on the status of all marijuana waste, tracking the type, date of disposal, date it 
was rendered unusable, the reason it's being wasted and the final destination. 

You must be able to certify the statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the box to the right: Initials 

8.2. The retail marijuana store shall give the board at least three days written notice required under 3 MC 306.740(c) 
before making marijuana waste unusable and disposing of it. 

I declare under penalty of unsworn fal.sification that this form, including all accompanying schedules and statements, is true, correct, 
and complete. ,,,,11111,,,,, 

,,,,, e'< Ros.,,,.,

Printed name of licensee 

[Form MJ-03) (rev 11/07/2017) 

' �\. ....... ('-✓,: ,,, 
.... , � .··· '•,. r';-"'� 

� �...... ··· ... _\fl-=--:. 
�OTl\f?

;, _ - Notary Public in an i the State of Alaska 
'°UBL\Ci -

\ l 
'1.,...,

\ \fl;·... / , f My commission expires: '1__,, l �L--
., ;1 •• ,• .i,; ' \ 
,.,, ';>-1:····~····•' r,.'? ,,' '1,,1 OF f\\. ,,,' 1l111111111\ y� r\,1f0L L •• , /17\ Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of_\µ.,..,..__�.....:;..:....;..VVO"'-'-'_..;._T __ __,, 20.:......tM,. 

·- 27522
l.bnse# ______ _ 

Pages of 6 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 93 of 254Page 93 of 254



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

[Form MJ-03] (rev 11/07/2017)  Page 6 of 6 
License #___________________ 

(Additional Space as Needed): 

5.1 Continued: Budtenders will take the customer order and dispense for sales from behind
the counter. Concentrates and edibles will all be pre-packaged and labeled. Flower will be sold
either pre-packaged or "Deli style". "Deli" style flower will be displayed in large glass jars
(behind the point of sale counter) with batch labeled strains. Employees will take customer
orders at the point of sale counter and weigh the flower using a certified scale. Once weighed
to the desired amount, the employee will register the purchase in the POS system which
integrates with Metrc, seal the product into a child-resistant container, and print the packaging
label. The pre-packaged products will be displayed in the glass display cases located within
the restricted access area. The store will also buy bulk marijuana and roll their own pre-roll
marijuana joints and package them in accordance with the regulations and place into
re-labeled mylar bags, j-tubes, joint boxes etc. Any edibles requiring refrigeration will be stored
in a refrigerator behind the point of sale counter in the restricted access area. Employees will
ensure that each marijuana product is in fully opaque and child-resistant packaging before a
customer exits the store with it.

7.1 Continued: Employees will be trained to identify forgeries and inconsistencies of ID's and
will utilize an ID guide to help recognize ID's from other states and countries. A licensee or
authorized employee will be on hand to help manage customer ingress and egress on the
sales floor. If an ID is not in compliance for any reason, the customer will be asked to leave
and law enforcement will be contacted if necessary.

27522

AMCO Received 4/9/21 RB

Page 94 of 254Page 94 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 95 of 254Page 95 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 96 of 254Page 96 of 254



What is this form? 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-09: Statement of Financial Interest 

A statement of financial interest completed by each proposed licensee (as defined in 3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) is required for all 

marijuana establishment license applications, per 3 AAC 306.020(b)(4). A person other than a licensee may not have direct or 

indirect financial interest (as defined in 3 AAC 306.0lS(e)(l)) in the business for which a marijuana establishment license is issued, 

per 3 AAC 306.0lS(a). 

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office by each proposed licensee before any license 
application will be considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I License Number: I 27 522

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
City: Palmer I State: IAK 

Section 2 - Individual Information 

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: Mathew Chambers 
Title: Manager/Member 

I ZIP: 199645 

[Form MJ-09) (rev 09/27/2018) Page 1 of 2 

Received by AMCO 12.11.20 

Page 97 of 254Page 97 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 98 of 254Page 98 of 254



[Form MJ-09] (rev 09/27/2018)  Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-09: Statement of Financial Interest 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

What is this form? 

A statement of financial interest completed by each proposed licensee (as defined in 3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) is required for all 
marijuana establishment license applications, per 3 AAC 306.020(b)(4). A person other than a licensee may not have direct or 
indirect financial interest (as defined in 3 AAC 306.015(e)(1)) in the business for which a marijuana establishment license is issued, 
per 3 AAC 306.015(a).  

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO’s main office by each proposed licensee before any license 
application will be considered complete. 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee: License Number: 

License Type: 

Doing Business As: 

Premises Address: 

City: State: ZIP: 

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: 

Title: 

SSN: Date of Birth: 

Section 1 – Establishment Information

Section 2 – Individual Information

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 27522
Retail Marijuana Store
The Connoisseur Lounge
226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2
Palmer AK 99645

Trisha Torborg
Member

Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 99 of 254Page 99 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 100 of 254Page 100 of 254



What is this form? 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-09: Statement of Financial Interest 

A statement of financial interest completed by each proposed licensee (as defined in 3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) is required for all 

marijuana establishment license applications, per 3 AAC 306.020(b)(4). A person other than a licensee may not have direct or 

indirect financial interest (as defined in 3 AAC 306.0lS(e)(l)) in the business for which a marijuana establishment license is issued, 

per 3 AAC 306.0lS(a). 

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office by each proposed licensee before any license 
application will be considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I License Number: I 27 522

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
City: Palmer I State: IAK 

Section 2 - Individual Information 

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: Elizabeth Warren 
Title: Member 

I ZIP: 199645 

[Form MJ-09) (rev 09/27/2018) Page 1 of 2 

Received by AMCO 12.11.20 

Page 101 of 254Page 101 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 102 of 254Page 102 of 254



What is this form? 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7tti Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https:ljwww.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-09: Statement of Financial Interest 

A statement of financial interest completed by each proposed licensee (as defined in 3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) is required for all 

marijuana establishment license applications, per 3 AAC 306.020(b)(4). A person other than a licensee may not have direct or 

indirect financial interest (as defined in 3 AAC 306.0lS(e)(l)) in the business for which a marijuana establishment license is issued, 

per 3 AAC 306.0lS(a). 

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office by each proposed licensee before any license 
application will be considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I License Number: I 27522

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
City: Palmer I State: IAK 

Section 2 - Individual Information 

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: Elizabeth Warren 
Title: Member 

I ZIP: 199645 

[Form MJ-09) (rev 09/27/2018) Page 1 of 2 

Received by AMCO 12.11.20 

Page 103 of 254Page 103 of 254



Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 104 of 254Page 104 of 254



Department of Commerce, Community, & Economic Development 

Alcohol & Marijuana Control Office 
License Number: 27522 

License Status: New 

License #27522 

Initiating License Application 

10/26/2020 2:51:45 PM 

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 

Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 

Business License Number: 2116208 

Designated Licensee: Mathew Chambers 

Email Address: mattchambers907@gmail.com 

Local Government: Palmer 

Local Government 2: Matanuska-Susitna Borough 

Community Council: 

Latitude, Longitude: 61.355700, -149.070300 

Licensee #1 

Type: Entity 

Alaska Entity Number: 10145944 

Physical Address: 

Alaska Entity Name: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 

Phone Number: 907-244-8329 

Email Address: mattchambers907@gmail.com 

Mailing Address: 10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 
UNITED STATES 

Entity Official #2 

Type: Individual 

Name: Elizabeth Warren 

SSN: 

Date of Birth: 

Phone Number: 907-355-5540 

Email Address: lizwarren978@gmail.com 

Mailing Address: 978 South Roskelley Cirde 
Palmer, AK 99645 
UNITED STATES 

226 W. Evergreen Ave 
Suite 2 
Palmer, AK 99645 
UNITED STATES 

Entity Official #1 

Type: Individual 

Name: Trisha Torborg 

SSN: 

Date of Birth: 

Phone Number: 907-841-7773 

Email Address: trish_9@hotmail.com 

Mailing Address: 10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 
UNITED STATES 

Entity Official #3 

Type: Individual 

Name: Mathew Chambers 

SSN: 

Date of Birth: 

Phone Number: 907-244-8329 

Email Address: mattchambers907@gmail.com 

Mailing Address: 10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 
UNITED STATES 

Note: No affiliates entered for this license. 

Page 105 of 254Page 105 of 254



LEASE 

PARTIES This Lease (this "Lease"), dated, for reference purposes only, is made by and
between Kendra Nugent an Alaska resident is ("Landlord") and, The Connoisseur

Lounge, LLC whose address is 10400 E .  Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, Alaska 99645
("Tenant'').

1 .  PREMISES. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases 
from Landlord, for the term, at the rental and upon all the conditions set forth ,
herein, that certain space (the "Premises") containing approximately One �Thousand One Hundred Ninety (1,190) square feet. Tenant is renting � -;i_ 

�of building located on a portion of Lot 7, Block 2, M.D. SNODGRASS
ADDffiON TO THE PALMER TOWNSITE, plate filed in Book 14 at Page
350A,, Palmer Recording District, State of Alaska, with a street address of
226 West Evergreen, Palmer, Alaska.
2. TERM.

2.1 INITIAL TERM. The Lease term shall commence on
November 1, 2020 and shall continue for a tenn of three years until November I,
2023, unless sooner terminated pursuant to any provision hereof.

2.2 OPTION TO RENEW. Provided that Tenant is not in
material default of the Lease, Tenant shall, at its option, have the right to renew this
Lease for an additional three (3) year term ("Second Tenn"). The Monthly Rent for
the Second Term shall be increased by 5% of the monthly rent of the initial term.
Tenant shall provide sixty (60) days written notice to Landlord that it is exercising its
option to renew.

2.3 EARLY TERMINATION. In the event Tenant is unable to obtain
all local government approvals, State of Alaska Marijuana Control Board ( .. AMCO .. )
approvals, or other necessary governmental agency approvals to operate a marijuana
retail establishment, then Tenant may, at its option, cancel, with 30 days written
notice, the remaining term of this Lease, with no further obligations under this Lease,
except for Tenant shall forfeit its Security Deposit and be charged customary
cleaning and any necessary repair expenses (if any) to put the Property back into the
same condition it was when Tenant took possession of the Property, at Landlord s
option.

1 I 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 106 of 254Page 106 of 254



3. RENT/DAMAGE DEPOSIT.

3. I .Minimum Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as minimum rent
for the Premises monthly installments as follows: 

(a) Monthly rent lease rate will be TWO THOUSAND EIGHT Y
TWO AND 50/100 Dollars ($2,082.50 ) PER MONTH. Rent will be prorated for the 
month ofNovemeber for the sum of SIXTY NINE AND 42/100 ($69.42) PER DAY 
for the month ofNovemeber only. 

(b) Tenant shall pay the first month's rent upon execution of this
agreement. Landlord shall be under no obligation to keep the last month's rent or 
damage deposit in a segregated account. 

( c) Tenant shall pay a damage deposit to be applied to any damages
to the premises in the amount of $2,082.50 

3 .2.Late Charge. If any payment is not paid with.in five ( 5) days of the 
due date, then there shall be added as additional rent an amount equal to

TWENTY-FIVE percent (25%) of the delinquent payment for the month or 
portion thereof after the· date it was due, provided, however, if such sum and late 
charges are not paid in full on or before the tenth (10th) day of the month, such sum 
shall commence to bear interest at the rate of 50 percent (50%) per annum until paid 
in full. 

3.3. Lease Amendment. On January 1, 2021 tenant shall amend the 
lease to renting the entire building at $1. 7 5 per square feet with the intent to purchase 
the building at fair market value. Tenant will have first right of refusal to purchase 
the entire building. 

4. CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS. Tenant shall be responsible
for the design, construction, payment and installation of Tenant's own leasehold 
improvements and trade fixtures, including, but not limited to, salon chairs, 
washing bowls, lights, branch wiring beyond the panel, floor coverings, interior 
partitioning, decor, shelves, racks and cm1:nters; provided that the design and decor 
shall be subject to the reasonable prior written approval of Landlord, and Tenant 
shall provide Landlord with appropriate design drawings for approval prior 
improvements must meet current municipal code and Tenant must obtain all 
necessary permits for constructing and installation of Tenants leasehold 
improvements. The Landlord shall not be responsible for Code upgrade and is not 
responsible to pay any costs associated or related to the Tenant Improvements. 

Tenant shall not do or directly contract for anything to be done causing the 

21 ·- . 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 107 of 254Page 107 of 254



Premises to be encumbered by liens of any nature, and shall, whenever and as often 
as any lien is recorded against said property, purporting to be for labor or materials 
furnished or to be furnished to Tenant, discharge the same of record within 10 days of 
the date the lien is recorded by recording the bond contemplated is A.S. 34.35.072 or 
otherwise appropriately satisfy the subject lien in full. 

Tenant shall obtain waivers of lien rights and releases of claims from 
contractors, subcontractors, and suppliers- in connection with Tenant's leasehold 
improvements and shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from the same. 

Landlord shall n,ot be liable for any labor or materials furnished or to be 
furnished to Tenant upon credit. Tenant shall have no authority, express or implied, 
to create or place any lien or encumbrance ·of any kind or nature whatsoever upon, or 
in any manner to bind, the interest of Landlord in the Premises or to charge the 
rentals payable hereunder for any claim in favor of any person dealing with Tenant, 
including, but not limited to, those who may furnish materials or perform labor for 
any construction or repairs, and each such claim shall affect and each such lien shall 
attach to, if at all, only the leasehold interest granted to Tenant by this instrument. At. 
least ten (10) days before commencing or causing to be commenced any work that is 
or may be the subject of a lien for work done or materials furnished to �e Premises, 
Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing thereof, to allow Landlord, if it desires, to 
post and record notices of non-responsibility or to take any other steps the Landlord 
deems appropriate to protect its interest. 

Upon completion of construction the Tenant shall provide to Landlord valid 
lien releases and satisfactory proof of payment of all liens, claims based on notices 
of right to lien, and other claims against the Premises, and a Certificate of 
Occupancy for the Premises. If the Tenant's improvements are less than $5,000 
Landlord shall not require a Certificate of· Occupancy. 

5. UTILITIES. Tenant shall contract directly with provider and pay for all,
internet services and telephone service, utilities, together with any taxes thereon. 

6. USE. The Premises shall be used and occupied only for State of Alaska

Marijuana Retail Establishment and no other use without the prior written consent 

of Landlord. No act shall be done in or about the Premises that is unlawful or that 

will increase the rate of insurance on the building. Tenant will not commit or allow 

to be committed any waste upon the premises or any public, private, or mixed 

nuisance or other act or thing which disturbs the quiet enjoyment of the Landlord's 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 108 of 254Page 108 of 254



business. Tenant shall comply with all laws relating to its use of the Premises. No 
illegal drugs that are illegal under Alaska Law, or alcohol shall be allowed on the 
premises. Tenant shall · use all commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the 
necessary approvals and licenses to operate a Marijuana Retail Establishment. 

This agreement does not create an employee/employer relationship. In 
consideration of the matters described above, and of the mutual benefits and 
obligations set forth in this agreement. 

7. ACKNOWLEDGErvIBNT AND MARIWANA SPECIFIC LAW. The

Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Leased Property will be used as a Marijuana 
Cultivation Facility. Tenant hereby warrants that the operation of its business shall 
be conducted in strict compliance with all applicable governmental laws relating to 
the regulation and legalization of marijuana and marijuana establishments. 
Landlord and Tenant recognize marijuana remains an illegal substance under the 
federal Controlled Substances Act and both the Tenant expressly agrees to 
indemnify, <;Iefend and hold harmless Landlord from and against any claim, 
liability, expense, lawsuit, loss or other damage, including reasonable attorneys' 
fees, arising from or relating to Tenant's use of the Premises or Assignee's activities 

or any violations of federal law, at Tenant's sole cost and expense. Should Tenant's 
use of the Premises endanger in any way the Landlord's ownership, title, or right to 
possess the Premises, including through official warnings to cease and desist, 
warnings by Lenders, or the threat of seizure, Lessor shall be entitled to terminate 
this Lease, in its sole discretion, effectively immediately upon notice to the Tenant. 
Landlord may, in its sole discretion, elect not to terminate the Lease and instead 
permit Tenant to remain in possession. 

8. CHANGE IN INDUSTRY. Th� Tenant recognizes that the marijuana
industry is a highly regulated industry, subject to change; in the event that 
regulatory law requires the Leased Property be altered for compliance purposes, 
Tenant agrees to make all Alterations at its own cost and subject to the provisions 
of contained above. If Tenant cannot make sufficient Alterations to the Property to 
achieve complianc�, Landlord, in its sole discretion, may elect to terminate the 
Lease. 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 109 of 254Page 109 of 254



9. DISPOSITION OF MARIJUANA. The Landlord recognizes it has 

certain responsibilities because it is leasing to a Tenant in the marijuana industry, 

which is a highly regulated industry, and hereby acknowledges that the event of a 

default or abandonment or otherwise, Landlord shall not take possession of or 

remove marijuana from the Property, and Landlord shall contact the Alcohol 

Marijuana Control Office (AMCO) enforcement to facilitate disposal of any left 

behind marijuana. 

7. MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS AND ALTERATIONS.

7. I .Landlord's Obligations. Except for damage caused by the 

negligence or intentional act of Tenant or Tenant's agents, employees or invitees, 
Landlord, at Landlord's expense, shall keep in good order, condition and repair the. 

foundations and structural portions of the exterior walls and exterior roof of the 
Building. Landlord shall have no obligation to make repairs under this Section 7 .1 
until a reasonable time after the receipt of written notice of the need for such repairs. 

7 .2.Tennant's Obligations. Subject to the provisions of Section 7 .1, 
Tenant, at Tenant's expense, shall keep in good order, condition and repair the 

Premises and every part thereof, including but not limited to plumbing, any 

mechanical or electrical apparatus, plumbing, doors, window frames, hardware, glass 
and nonstructural ceilings, entrance door, walls, the light fixture, outside sign, and 
ballasts for the lights. Tenant shall, at the expiration or termination of this Lease, 
surrender and deliver up the Premises to Landlord in as good condition as when 

received by Tenant from Landlord or as thereafter improved, reasonable use, wear 
and tear excepted. Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises or the Building 
occasioned by its use thereof or by the removal of Tenant's trade fixtures, furnishings 
and equipment, which repair shall include, but not be limited to, the patching and 

filling of holes and repair of structural damage. Tenant shall be responsible for 

plumbing, heater, and its ventilation· system. 

7.3 Landlord's Rights. If Tenant fails to perform Tenant's obligations 
under this Article 7, Landlord may (but shall not be required to) enter upon the 
Premises after ten (10) days' prior written notice to Tenant and put the same in good 
order, condition and repair or otherwise cure the default, and the cost of such action 
plus :fifteen percent (15%) thereof shall become due and payable as additional rent to 
Landlord together with Tenant's next rental installment. Notwithstanding the 
forgoing, Landlord shall comply with the AMCO required Visitor Policy imposed on 
all State of Alaska Marijuana Establishments. The Visitor Policy requires any 

5 I · · ·

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 110 of 254Page 110 of 254



persons who enter a restricted access area of a marijuana establishment to sign into a 
visitor log kept by the Tenant, show identification to Tenant or Tenant's agents 
verifying that the person gaining access is 21 years of age or older, wear a Visitor 
Badge, and remain in eyesight of Tenant or Tenant's agents at all times. 

7 .4 Alterations and Additions. Tenant �hall not, without Landlord's 
prior written consent, make any alterations, additions or improvements in the 
Premises. All work on the Premises shall be done in compliance with all applicable 
governmental codes and regulations. At Landlord's option, all alterations, 
improvements or additions which may be made on the Premises shall become the 
property of Landlord and remain upon and be surrendered with the Premises at the 
expiration of the term. Tenant's machinery, equipment and trade fixtures other than 
those which are affixed to the Premises so that they cannot be removed without 
material damage to the Premises shall remain the property of Tenant and may be 
removed by Tenant. 

8. INSURANCE: INDEMNITY.

8.1.Liability Insurance. Tenant shall maintain in force during the 
term of this Lease a policy of comprehensive public liability insurance issued by a 
company acceptable to Landlord and insuring Tenant and Landlord against any 
liability, including without limitation damage to other portions of the Building, 
arising out of the ownership, use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises and all 
areas appurtenant thereto, such insurance shall be in an amount of not less than One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). The limits of said insurance shall not, however, 
limit the liability of Tenant hereunder. Such policies shall name Landlord and 
Landlord's agents as additional insureds and shall provide that they may not be 
canceled without thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Landlord. Landlord shall be 
furnished with a certificate evidencing issuance of such policy of liability insurance, 
and such certificate shall recite that said policy may not be canceled without thirty 
(30) days' prior written notice to Landlord. If Tenant shall fail to maintain said
insurance, Landlord may but shall not be required to procure and maintain the same,
at the expense of Tenant.

8.2.Property Insurance. Landlord shall maintain in force during the· 
term of this Lease a policy of insurance issued by a company authorized to engage in 
the insurance business in the State of Alaska, insuring the Building against damage 
or destruction by fire and/or by perils covered by the standard form of extended 
coverage· endorsements to fire insurance policies in the State of Alaska in effect at 
the time when the policies are obtained. 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 111 of 254Page 111 of 254



8.3.Waiver of Subrogation. As long as their respective insurers so 
permit, Landlord and Tenant hereby mutually waive their respective rights of 
recovery against each other for any loss insured by fire, extended coverage and other 
property insurance policies existing for the benefit of the respective parties. Each 
party shall apply to its insurers to obtain said waivers. Each party shall obtain any 
special endorsements, if required by its insurer, to evidence compliance with the 
aforementioned waiver. 

8.4.Hold Harmless. Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold 
Landlord harmless from and against any and all claims arising from Tenant's use of 
the Premises or from the conduct of its business or from any activity, work or thing 
which may be permitted or suffered by Tenant in or about the Premises and shall 
·further indemnify, defend and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all
claims arising from any breach or default in the performance of any obligation on
Tenant's part to be performed under the provisions of this Lease or arising from any
negligence of Tenant or any of its agents, contractors, employees or invitees and
from any and all costs, attorneys' fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in the
defense of any such claim or any action or proceeding brought thereon. Tenant
hereby assumes all risk of damage to property or injury to persons in or about the
Premises from any cause, and Tenant hereby waives all claims in respect thereof
against Landlord, excepting where said damage arises solely out of the negligence of
Landlord.

8.5 .Exemption of Landlord from Liability. Landlord shall not be 
liable for injury to Tenant's business or any loss of income there from or for damage 
to the goods, wares, merchandise or other property of Tenant, Tenant's employees, 
invitees or customers or any other person in or about the Premises; nor, unless 
caused by its negligence, shall Landlord be liable for personal injury to Tenant or 
Tenant's employees, agents, contractors and invitees, whether said damage or injury 
results from conditions arising upon the Premises or upon other portions of the 
Building of which the Premises are a part or from other sources or places, and 
regardless of whether the cause of such damage or injury or the means of repairing 
the same is inaccessible to Landlord or Tenant. Landlord shall not be liable for any 
damages arising from any act or neglect of any other tenant, if any, of the Building in 
which the Premises are located. 

9. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION. In the event the Premises are damaged
to such an extent as to render the same untenantable in whole or in a substantial 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 112 of 254Page 112 of 254



part thereof or are destroyed, it shall be optional with Landlord to repair or rebuild 

the same; and after the happening of any such event, Tenant shall give Landlord or 

Landlord's agent immediate written notice thereof. Landlord shall have not more 

than thirty (30) days after date of such notification to notify Tenant in writing of 

Landlord's intentions to repair or rebuild said Premises or the part so damaged as 

aforesaid, and if Landlord elects to repair or rebuild said Premises, Landlord shall 

prosecute the work of such repairing or rebuilding without unn�cessary delay, and 

during such period the rent of said Premises shall be abated in the same ratio that 

that portion of the Premises rendered for the time being _unfit for occupancy shall 

bear to the whole of the Premises. If Landlord shall fail to give the notice aforesaid, 

Tenant shall have the right to declare this Lease tenninated by written notice served 

upon Landlord. 

In the event the Building in which the Premises are located shall be damaged 

( even though the Premises hereby leased shall not be damaged thereby) to such 
extent that, in the opinion of Landlord, it shall not be practicable to repair or rebuild, 

or is destroyed, then it shall be optional with Landlord to terminate this Lease by 

written notice served on Tenant within thirty (30) days after such damage or 

destruction. 

10. PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXES. Tenant shall pay or cause to be paid

before delinquency any and all taxes, including any imposed marijuana sales taxes, 

levied or assessed, and which become payable during the term hereof upon all 

Tenant's leasehold improvements, equipment, furniture, fixtures and any other 

personal property located in .the Premises. In the event any or all of Tenant's 

leasehold improvements, equipment, furniture, fixtures and other personal property 

shall be assessed and taxed with the real property, Tenant shall pay to Landlord its 

share of such taxes within ten (10) days after delivery to Tenant by Landlord of a 
statement in writing setting forth the amount of such taxes applicable to Tenant's 

property. 

11. INSOLVENCY. If Tenant b,ecomes insolvent or voluntarily or

involuntarily bankrupt or if a receiver, assignee or other liquidating officer is 

appointed for the business of Tenant and. if the receivership, assignment or other 

liquidating action is not terminated within thirty (30) days of any such appointment, 

then Landlord may terminate this Lease and Tenant's right of possession under this 

Lease, at Landlord's option. 

12. DEFAULTS. The occurrence of any one or more or the following events

shall constitute a default and breach of this Lease by Tenant: 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 113 of 254Page 113 of 254



12.1.Vacation of Premises. The vacating or abandonment of 
Premises by Tenant; 

12.2.Failure to Provide Rent. The failure by Tenant to provide rent 
as described in Section 3 .1 or any other payment required to be made by Tenant 
hereunder as and when due; 

12.3.Failure to Perform Covenants. The failure by Tenant to observe 
or perform any of the covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Lease . to be 
observed or performed by Tenant where such failure shall continue for a period of 
ten (10) days after written notice thereof by Landlord to Tenant; provided, however, 
that if the nature of Tenant's default is such that more than ten (10) days are 
reasonably required for its cure, then Tenant shall not be deemed to be in default if 
Tenant commences such cure within said ten ( 10) day period and thereafter diligently 
prosecutes such cure to completion; and 

13. REiviEDIES IN DEFAULT. In the event of any such default or breach by
Tenant, Landlord may, at any time thereafter, in its sole discretion, with or without 
notice or demand and without limiting Landlord in the exercise of a right or remedy 
which Landlord may have by reason of such default or breach: 

13.1.Termination. Terminate Tenant's right to possession of the 
Premises by any lawful means, in which case this Lease shall terminate, and Tenant 
shall immediately surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord. In such event, 
Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant all damages .incurred by Landlord 
by reason of Tenant's default, including but not limited to the cost of recovering 
possession of the Premises; expenses of reletting, including, but not limited to, 
necessary renovation and alteration of the Premises; reasonable attorneys' fees; the 
worth at the time of award by the court having jurisdiction thereof of the amount by 
which the unpaid rent and other charges and Additional Charges called for herein for 
the balance of the term after the time of su�h award exceeds the amount of such loss 
for the same period that Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided; and that portion 
of any leasing commission paid by Landlord and applicable to the unexpired term of 
.this Lease. In this event, Landlord shall contact .AMCO Enforcement Division to 
ensure that AMCO is notified that Tenant has lost possession of the Property and 
have AMCO Enforcement come and remove any marijuana or marijuana products 
from the facility prior to retaking possession of the Property. Unpaid installments of 
rent or other sums shall bear interest from the date due at the maximum legal rate; 

9 I ·l; /I '. -�. .. - ... 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 114 of 254Page 114 of 254



13.2.Enforce Rights. Maintain Tenant's right to possession, in which 
case this Lease shall continue in effect whether or not Tenant shall have abandoned 
the Premises. In such event, Landlord shall be entitled to enforce all of Landlord's 
rights and remedies under this Lease, including, but not limited to, the right to 
recover the rent and any other charges and Additional Charges as ·may become due 
hereunder; or 

13.3.0ther Remedies. Pursue any other remedy now or hereafter 
available to Landlord under the laws or judicial decisions of the state in which the 
Premises are located. 

14. PRIORITY. Tenant agrees that this Lease shall be subor4inate to any 
mortgages or deeds of trust now or at any time hereafter constituting a lien upon the 
Premises or the Building containing the same, to any and all advances to be made 
there under, and to the interest thereon, and to all renewals, replacements and 
extensions thereof; provided that the mortgagees or the beneficiaries named in said 
mortgages or deeds of trust shall agree to recognize this Lease in the event of 
foreclosure if Tenant is not in default hereunder and if Tenant attoms to the 
mortgagee. Within ten (10) days after written request from Landlord, Tenant shall 
execute any documents that may be necessary or desirable to effectuate the 
subordination of this Lease to any such mortgages or deeds of trust and shall 
execute Estoppel Certificates as requested by Landlord from time to time in the 
standard form of any such mortgagee or beneficiary. 

15. CONDEMNATION. If all of the Premises or any portion of the Building
as may be required for the reasonable use of the Premises shall be taken by eminent 
domain ( or by a voluntary conveyance made in lieu of a taking by eminent 
domain), this Lease shall automatically terminate as of the date Tenant is required 
to vacate or will be deprived of the reasonable use of the Premises, and all rentals 
shall be paid to that date. In the case of a taking of a part of the Premises, Tenant 
may, at its election, terminate this Lease by notice in writing to Landlord within ten 
(10) days after the receipt by Tenant of written notice of the proposed taking, and
with any such notice by Tenant to Landlord to be effective on a date which shall be
specified by Tenant in the notice but shall be no later than thirty (30) days after the
date of the giving of notice. If within said thirty (30) day period Tenant does not
exercise its right to terminate this Lease because of a taking of a part of the
Premises, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, and the rental shall be
equitably reduced based on the proportion by which the floor area of the Premises
is reduced, such rent reduction to be effective as of the date when possession of
such portion is delivered to the condemning authority. Landlord reserves all rights

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 115 of 254Page 115 of 254



to damages to the Premises for any taking by eminent domain, and Tenant hereby 
assigns to Landlord any right Tenant may have to such damages or award, and 
Tenant shall make no claim against Landlord for damages for termination of the 
leasehold interest or for interference with Tenant's business. Tenant shall have the 
right, however, to claim and recover from the condemning authority compensation 
for any loss to which Tenant may be put for Tenant's moving expenses and for the 
interruption of or damage to Tenant's business; provided that such damages may be 
claimed only if they are awarded separately in the eminent domain proceeding and 
not as part of the damages recoverable by Landlord. 

16. PARKING AND COMMON AREAS.

· 16.1.Landlord's Obligations and Rights. Landlord covenants that 
there shall be an area for common and parking areas for the nonexclusive use of 
Tenant (provided that Tenant has access to the required amount of parking spots per 
�alrner land use code) during the full term of this Lease; provided that the 
condemnation or other taking by any public authority or sale in lieu of condemnation 
of any or all of such common and parking areas shall not constitute a violation of this 
covenant. 

16.2.Tenant's Rights. Tenant, for the use and benefit of itself and its 
agents, employees, customers, and licensees, shall have the nonexclusive right in 
common with Landlord and other present and future owners and tenants and their 
agents, employees, customers, and licensees to use said common and parking areas 
during the entire term of this Lease for ingress, egress �d automobile parking. 

16.3.Rules and Regulations. Tenant, in the use of said common and 
parking areas, agrees to comply with such reasonable rules, regulations and charges 
for parking as Landlord and Tenant shall agree upon from time to time for the 
orderly and proper operation of said common and parking areas. Such rules may 
include but shall not be limited to the following: (1) the restricting of employee 
parking to a limited, designated area or areas; and (2) the regulation of the removal, 
storage and disposal of Tenant's refuse and other rubbish. 

17. NONWAIVER. Waiver by Landlord of any breach of any term, covenant
or cond�tion herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, 
covenant or condition or of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, 
covenant or condition herein contained. The subsequent acceptance of rent 
hereunder by Landlord shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach 
by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition of this Lease, other than the failure of 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 116 of 254Page 116 of 254



Tenant to pay the particular rental so accepted, regardless of Landlord's knowledge 
of such preceding breach at the time of acceptance of such rent. 

18. SURRENDER OF POSSESSION. Upon expiration of the term of this
Lease, whether by lapse of time of otherwise, Tenant shall promptly and peacefully 
surrender the Premises to Landlord. 

19. HOLDING OVER. If Tenant shall, without the written consent of
Landlord, hold over after the expiration of the term of this Lease, such tenancy 
shall be for an indefinite period of time on a month-to-month tenancy, which 
tenancy may be terminated as provided by the laws of the State of Alaska. During 
such tenancy, Tenant agrees to pay Landlord rent at the rate of Two Hundred 
percent (200%) of the rental as set forth herein, unless a different rate shall be 
agreed upon, and to be bound by all of the· terms, covenants and conditions herein 

specified, so far as applicable. 

20. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Tenant shall not assign this Lease
nor sublet the whole or any part of the Premises to any person or entity
without the written approval of the Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld. As used herein the term "Assignment" includes without limitation
transfers to a subsidiary or affiliated entity, the restructuring of a limited
partnership, transfers of interest by or between individual partners if Tenant is
a partnership, transfers of stock by stockholders if Tenant is a corporation, and
any assignment in connection with any corporate merger or consolidation

21. NOTICES. All notices under this Lease shall be in writing and deliyered
in person or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
Landlord at the same place rent payments are made and to Tenant at the Premises or 
to such other respective addresses as may hereafter be designated by either party in 
writing. Notices mailed as aforesaid shall be deemed given on the date of such 
mailing. 

22. COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES. If by reason or any default on the
part of Tenant it becomes necessary for Landlord to employ an attorney, or in case 
Landlord shall bring suit to recover any rent due hereunder or for breach of any 
provision of this Lease or to recover possession of the Premises, or if Landlord 
shall bring an action for any relief against Tenant, declaratory or otherwise, arising 
out of this Lease, and Landlord shall prevail in such action, then and in any of such 
events Tenant shall pay Landlord a reasonable attorneys' fee and all costs and 
expenses expended or incurred by Landlord in connection with such default or 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 117 of 254Page 117 of 254



action. 

23. LANDLORD'S ACCESS. Landlord and its agents shall have the right to
enter the Premises at reasonable times, provided Landlord and its agents follow the 
required Visitor Policy, for the purpose of inspecting it, showing it to prospective 
purchasers or lenders and making such repairs as Landlord may deem necessary or 
desirable. Landlord may, at any time, place on or about the Premises any ordinary 
"For Lease" signs and may, during the last ninety (90) days of the term of this 
Lease, place on or about the Premises any ordinary "For Sale or Lease"· signs, 
without rebate of rent or liability to Tenant. 

24. CAPTIONS AND CONSTRUCTION. The titles to the sections of this
Lease are not a part of this Lease and shall have no effect upon the construction or 
interpretation of any part hereof. 

25. REMOVAL OF PROPERTY. At the end of the term or Second Term, if
Tenant shall fail to remove any of its property of any nature whatsoever from the 
Premises at the termination of this Lease or when Landlord has the right of reentry, 
Landlord may, after notifying AMCO Enforcement of Tenant's departure and 
AMCO Enforcement's removal of any marijuana or marijuana product, at its 
option, remove and store said property without liability for loss thereof or damage 
thereto, such storage to be for the account and at the expense of Tenant. If Tenant 
shall not pay the cost of storing any such property after it has been stored for a 
period of ten (10) days or more, Landlord may, at its option, sell or permit to be 

. sold any or all of such property at public or private sale, in such manner and at such 
times and places as Landlord in its sole discretion may deem proper, without notice 
to Tenant, and shall apply the proceeds of such sales as follows: first, to the cost 
and expense of such sale, including reasonable attorneys' fees actually incurred; 
second, to the payment of the costs or charges for storing any such property; third, 
to the payment of any other sums of money which may then be or thereafter 
become due Landlord from Tenant under any of the terms hereof; and fourth, the 
balance, if any, to Tenant. 

26. SUCCESSORS. All of the covenants, agreements, terms and conditions
contained in this Lease shall apply to and be binding upon Landlord and Tenant and 
their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, except as 
expressly limited herein. 

27. ACCEPTANCE OF PREMISES.- Tenant shall accept the Premises "as
is II at the commencement of the term of this Lease and in their then present 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 118 of 254Page 118 of 254



condition and subject to all applicable zoning, municipal, county, borough, and 
state laws, ordinances and regulations governing and regulating the use of the 
Premises and accept this Lease subject thereto and all matters disclosed thereby and 
by any exhibits attached hereto. Tenant acknowledges that neither Landlord nor 
Landlord's agents have made any representation or warranty as to the s�itability of 
the Premises for the conduct of Tenant's business. 

28. SALE OF PREMISES BY LANDLORD. In the event of any sale of the
Premises by Landlord, Landlord shall be and hereby is entirely freed and relieved 
of all liability under any and all of its covenants and obligations contained in or 
derived from this Lease arising out of any act, occurrence or omission occurring 
after the consummation of such sale; and the purchaser at such sale or any 
subsequent sale of the Premises shall be deemed, without any further agreement 
between the parties or their successors in interest or between the parties and any 
such purchaser, to have assumed and agreed to carry out any and all of the 
c_ovenants and obligations of Landlord under this Lease and any renewal terms. 

29. TENANT'S STATEMENT. Tenant shall, at any time and from time to
time, upon not less than five (5) days' prior written notice from Landlord, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to Landlord a statement in writing: (a) certifying that this 
Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect ( or, if modified, stating the nature 
of such modification and certifying that this Lease as so modified is in full force 
and effect) and the date to which the rental and other charges are paid in advance, if 
any; (b) acknowledging that there are not, to Tenant's knowledge, any uncured 
defaults on the part of Landlord hereunder or specifying that such defaults, if any, 
are claimed; .and ( c) setting forth the date of commencement of rents and expiration 
of the term hereof. The prospective purchaser or encumbrancer of all or ariy portion 
of the real property of which the Premises are a part may rely upon any such 
statement. 

30. SUBORDINATION BY TENANT. Landlord shall have the right to
unilaterally subject and subordinate Tenant's rights and remedies under this 
Agreement and Tenant's right, title and interest in and to the Premises to the lien of 
any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest that Landlord may elect to grant in, 
to or against the Premises without the necessity of Tenant joining in any such 
subordination, provided that Landlord protects Tenant's right, title and interest in 
and to the Premises under this Agreements with an appropriate non-disturbance 
agreement approved by Tenant, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld 
by Tenant. Tenant shall, within ten (10) days after being requested by Landlord: 
(a) execute and deliver such approval and such other and further instruments which

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 119 of 254Page 119 of 254



evidence and approve such subordination in recordable form as Landlord or 
Landlord's mortgagee, beneficiary or secured party may request; and (b) attom to 
such mortgagee, beneficiary and/or secured party as the Landlord under this 
agreement if and when it succeeds to any of Landlord's right, title or interest in or 
·to all or any part of the Premises. Tenant hereby appoints Landlord as its attomey-
in-fact only to execute and deliver any and all such instruments on behalf of Tenant
that Tenant fails or refuses to execute and deliver, which appointment is
irrevocable, shall survive the death, dissolution, incapacity or dissolution of Tenant
and is coupled with an interest in Landlord.

31. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Lease sets forth the entire understanding
and agreement of Landlord and Tenant with respect to the Premises and the Lease 
thereof, and all prior understandings or agreements are merged herein. This Lease 
may be amended or modified only in writing signed by both parties. 

32. BROKERS COMMISSION. Tenant represents and warrants that it has
incurred no liabilities or claims for brokerage commissions or finder's fees in 
connection with the execution of this Lease, and that it has neither dealt with nor 
has it had any knowledge of any real estate broker, agent or sales person in 
connection with this Lease except NI A . Tenant agrees to 
indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all such liabilities or claims including, 
without limitation, attorney's fees and costs. 

33. SECURITY AGREEMENT. Tenant grants to Landlord a security interest
in all fixtures, trade fixtures and personal property located on the premises, except 
for any marijuana or marijuana products, which are not subject to any Landlord 
security interest, pursuant to AS §45.29.et seq. The grant of security interest is for 
any obligation that will become due and is due under the lease. 

34. RECORDING. Tenant shall not record this Lease without ·the prior
written consent of Landlord. However, upon request of either p�Ity, }:,0th !-'�rti':'-� 
shall execute a memorandum or "short _form" of this Lease for the purposes of 
r�('<JTn::ltion in a f'0T'm .-:-11�t0m�riJy used for such purposes. Said memorandum or 
short form of this Lease shall describe the parties, the Premises and the Lease term, 
and shall incorporate this Lease by refer':'��':'. 

35. LEASE NOT AN OFFER. The submission of this Lease to Tenant shall
:-::::� �-:- -:--:--�'..'.t:"_�::-� �� �� c,ff�r, �0!' shall Tenant have any rights with respect thereto 
unless and until Landlord executes a copy of this Lease and delivers the same to 
1enan1. 

151 n . ..j. u �..;

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 120 of 254Page 120 of 254



36. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE DISCLOSURE. Tenant shall promptly
disclose to Landlord, in writing, if Tenant knows, or has reasonable cause to 
believe, that any toxic dangerous, or hazardous substance, as those terms are 
defined under federal, state, or local law, has come to be located in, on, about, over, 
or beneath the premises. In addition, Tenant shall execute a written statement to 
Landlord no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each lease year describing 
in detail any and all toxic, dangerous, or hazardous substances, as those terms are 
defined under federal, state, or local law, which Tenant knows, or has reasonable 
cause to believe, have come to be located in, on, about, over, or beneath their 
premises, or that there are no toxic, dangerous, or hazardous substances in� on 
about, over, or beneath the premises. 

37. FORUM SELECTION. This Lease shall be construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Alaska. Should any legal proceeding be necessary 
under this Lease, the same shall be commenced in the Superior Court for the State 
of Alaska, Third Judicial District at Palmer, Alaska. Tenants agree speci.fical.ly that 
venue and jurisdiction in that court is proper, and further agree to submit 
themselves to the jurisdiction of that court. Tenants shall not claim that said forum 
is an inconvenient forum. 

IN WIT
N

ESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease on the dates 
set forth below their respective signatures. 

L�trestments, LLC
By: Kendra Nugent, Sole Member 

EXECUTED on Mt'i h O lb .l?;;..--

/JP�I� 
9 

9 , joi). \ ��

onnoisseur Lounge, LLC

-L:,+L.L.;-1.L..W..-......... '-'-'-"-�· � 

EXECUTED on � 
A-'P<l.l l. 9

1 
�OJ..\ rf (_ 

161Pagc 

AMCO Received 4/9/21 rb

Page 121 of 254Page 121 of 254



IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I execute the certificate and affix the Great
Seal of the State of Alaska effective October 23, 2020.

Julie Anderson 
Commissioner

Alaska Entity #10145944

State of Alaska 
Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 

Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing

Certificate of Organization

The undersigned, as Commissioner of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development of the State of
Alaska, hereby certifies that a duly signed and verified filing pursuant to the provisions of Alaska Statutes has
been received in this office and has been found to conform to law.

ACCORDINGLY, the undersigned, as Commissioner of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development,
and by virtue of the authority vested in me by law, hereby issues this certificate to

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 122 of 254Page 122 of 254



Articles of Organization
Domestic Limited Liability Company

Web-10/23/2020 9:52:15 AM

1 - Entity Name

Legal Name:  The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

2 - Purpose

To own and operate a specialized retail store and any lawful purpose

3 - NAICS Code

452990 - ALL OTHER GENERAL MERCHANDISE STORES

4 - Registered Agent

Name:  Mathew Chambers

Mailing Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

Physical Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

5 - Entity Addresses

Mailing Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

Physical Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

6 - Management

The limited liability company is managed by a manager.

7 - Officials

Name Address % Owned Titles

Jana Weltzin Organizer

Name of person completing this online application

This form is for use by the named entity only. Only persons who are authorized by the above Official(s) of the named entity may make
changes to it. If you proceed to make changes to this form or any information on it, you will be certifying under penalty of perjury that you
are authorized to make those changes, and that everything on the form is true and correct. In addition, persons who file documents with
the commissioner that are known to the person to be false in material respects are guilty of a class A misdemeanor. Continuation means
you have read this and understand it.

Name:  Jana Weltzin

Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing 
PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK 99811-0806 
(907) 465-2550 • Email: corporations@alaska.gov
Website: corporations.alaska.gov

 COR
FOR DIVISION USE ONLY

Page 1 of 1
Received by AMCO 12.11.20

Page 123 of 254Page 123 of 254



Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development

CORPORATIONS, BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL
LICENSING

Show Former

State of Alaska / Commerce / Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing / Search & Database Download /

Corporations / Entity Details

ENTITY DETAILS

Name(s)

Entity Type: Limited Liability Company

Entity #: 10145944

Status: Good Standing

AK Formed Date: 10/23/2020

Duration/Expiration: Perpetual

Home State: ALASKA

Next Biennial Report Due: 1/2/2022 

Entity Mailing Address: 10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER, AK 99645

Entity Physical Address: 10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER, AK 99645

Registered Agent

Agent Name: Mathew Chambers

Registered Mailing Address: 10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER, AK 99645

Registered Physical Address: 10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER, AK 99645

Officials

Legal Name The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

Type Name

Elizabeth Warren Member 40.00

Mathew Chambers Manager, Member 36.00

TRISHA TORBORG Member 24.00

AK Entity # Name Titles Owned

Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/cbp/main/Search/EntityDetail/10145944

1 of 2 4/9/2021, 7:40 AM
Page 124 of 254Page 124 of 254



Filed Documents

COPYRIGHT © STATE OF ALASKA · DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, COMMUNITY, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ·

10/23/2020 Creation Filing Click to View Click to View

10/23/2020 Initial Report Click to View

10/29/2020 Change of Officials Click to View

11/09/2020 Change of Officials Click to View

11/23/2020 Change of Officials Click to View

Date Filed Type Filing Certificate

Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/cbp/main/Search/EntityDetail/10145944

2 of 2 4/9/2021, 7:40 AM
Page 125 of 254Page 125 of 254



Page 126 of 254Page 126 of 254



Community and 
Economic Analysis 
For the Preparation of an Annexation Petition 

Prepared for The City of Palmer, Alaska  

April 2021  

Agnew::Beck Consulting 

Halcyon Consulting, Inc. 

Alaska Map Company 

Page 127 of 254Page 127 of 254



[This page is intentionally blank.]

Page 128 of 254Page 128 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 i 

Overview and Executive Summary 

Purpose 
The purpose of this Community and Economic (i.e., Fiscal) Analysis is to provide a solid analytical 
foundation that will inform the preparation of a future annexation strategy and petition for the City of 
Palmer, should the City decide to pursue annexation. Annexation is an important tool for the City to use 
as way to promote orderly growth, development and expansion of essential services for the health, safety 
and welfare of the greater Palmer community. Communities often annex land for three main reasons.  

1. Fiscal: A local government may consider annexation when can provide services more efficiently
to annexed areas. New revenues must be balanced with additional costs.

2. Future: A local government may consider annexation to support economic development efforts,
to provide space within its boundaries for new housing and/or for new businesses and
expansions.

3. Governance: A local government may consider annexation to maximize local control. It may
expand where services can be provided and where local tools like land use districts can be
applied. Annexation may also be considered to give residents who currently live outside city limits
a direct say in local issues that impact them.

The annexation process involves identifying land areas to be annexed, drawing up a formal petition to 
annex those areas, and submitting the petition to the Local Boundary Commission (LBC). The LBC uses 
a set of objective criteria to evaluate whether the annexation meets regulatory guidelines and weighs the 
annexation petition against public and local government testimony (written and verbal) during a review 
process that can take several months to over a year.  

Before an annexation petition is brought to the LBC, the local government submitting the annexation 
petition must show that it has the capacity and resources to extend services and governance to the 
annexed areas. The fiscal analysis of this study could serve in this capacity to support future petitions in 
that it provides estimates for the staffing, equipment, capital improvements and costs to extend services 
and governance to a number of study areas around existing boundaries. If the City were to prepare an 
annexation petition for a land area with different boundaries than any of the study areas in this report, or if 
the annexation petition happens some years in future, the fiscal analysis would be updated to reflect the 
dollar values and geographic boundaries of the annexation petition at that time.  

That said, the City of Palmer is going beyond analyzing fiscal dynamics to understand the lifestyles and 
values of the residents and business operations located outside existing City limits. Ideally, an annexation 
will be generally supported in the areas to be annexed as well as within the City. The community analysis 
part of this study provides the City with information about current community sentiment about annexation, 
with recommendations and clarifications to help inform any future discussions with neighbors about 
annexation. If the City brings a future annexation petition forward, this study provides some information 
about where and how that understanding and support can most likely to be built.  

Page 129 of 254Page 129 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 ii 

Process 
The analysis estimates the likely fiscal (i.e., economic) and potential community effects of annexation on 
a set of study areas that include lands outside of the City of Palmer. The analysis is guided by the City of 
Palmer’s broad goals for annexation, as articulated in the City of Palmer Annexation Strategy 
(Agnew::Beck et al, 2010): 

• To promote orderly, high quality development and the cost-effective extension of services where
and when warranted.

• To sustain a desirable quality of life in and around Palmer.
• To ensure a sustainable s tax base along with long-term economic viability, fiscal health and

natural environment in Palmer.

The project’s process defines geographic boundaries of potential annexation areas (also called study 
areas), which allow the study to provide estimated changes in city service provision, revenues and 
expenses for the fiscal analysis. The delineation of a study area does not mean the area is recommended 
for annexation by the consulting team or by the City. Instead, these areas provide the analytical 
framework for the analysis. Areas may be accepted, rejected, or adjusted before they are part of any 
proposal or petition in the future.  

Project Timeline 

The study also analyzes community attitudes about annexation and its potential impacts. Where 
community members have identified specific concerns about annexation, either generally or specific to 
certain land uses, the study identifies potential ways the City can proactively address these concerns 
before putting forth an annexation petition.  

This approach of working with the greater community to understand and proactively address concerns as 
well as obtain the information needed to make wise decisions about where and when to annex territory in 
future furthers the City’s commitment to a transparent and public process and serving its constituency to 
the best of its ability. 

Page 130 of 254Page 130 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 iii 

Fiscal Effects of Annexation 
The project team worked with the City to identify a set of study areas for the analysis. These geographic 
boundaries simply provide guidance for the fiscal modeling. Each of the study areas has more or less 
similar land use. For the purposes of doing the study, it makes sense to look at a variety of different areas 
with different characteristics. That way, we can fully understand the range of community issues and fiscal 
effects that an annexation would have. 

The project team then worked with City staff to estimate the amount of staff, equipment, capital 
improvements (e.g., buildings) and consequent funding needed to extend services to each of the study 
areas and the all of the study areas as a whole, both in terms of general operating costs and capital 
investments. This information was used to build a fiscal model that shows current city revenues and costs 
as well as the revenues and costs that it would experience if each of the study areas (and all the study 
areas as a whole) were annexed into the City in 2020. The team applied some assumptions about how 
the general Palmer area might develop in terms of population and land use over the next 10 years to the 
model and produced a set of 2030 projections. These help us understand the longer-term fiscal effects of 
the hypothetical annexations. 

Fiscal Analysis Methodology 

By expanding its boundaries, a municipality increases its citizenry and often its tax base. The costs of 
providing municipal governance and services would be spread among more people, which could lower 
the taxes a given individual would pay. However, the benefits of an expanded tax base must be balanced 
against the costs of providing governance and services to the annexed areas. If the costs outweigh the 
revenue potential of the annexed areas, taxes may need to be increased and the rationale for a 
successful annexation would rest more heavily on other community goals, such as protecting the health 
and safety of community members through the extension of municipal governance, regulation and/or 
services. 

Page 131 of 254Page 131 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 iv 

Study Areas Map 

Page 132 of 254Page 132 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 v 

The fiscal analysis found that Palmer’s existing boundaries are already optimized for property and sales 
tax revenue. Any annexation of the land adjacent to existing city boundaries would not be a “land grab” in 
order to increase tax revenue. The net fiscal effects range from a small net positive ( meaning that an 
annexation could spread the costs of city services enough to allow a slight reduction in taxes), to 
essentially neutral (meaning that the City could absorb a limited land area in less populated areas and 
extend city services and governance without having to adjust taxes at all) to a net negative (meaning that 
the City would have to raise taxes to pay for the increase in services).  

Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable 

Page 133 of 254Page 133 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 vi 

Heat Map of Commercial Activity 

To quantify the tax changes that would be needed to balance the City budget upon annexation, the study 
looked at adjustments to sales tax only (assuming property tax stays the same) and adjustments to 
property tax only (with sales tax staying the same). The sales tax effect ranged from a potential decrease 
in sales taxes of $0.37 on every $1,000 of spending (with no change in property tax) if Study Area B were 
annexed in 2020 to a potential increase in sales taxes of $2.02 on every $1,000 of spending (again, with 
no change in property tax) if all study areas were annexed in 2020. The property tax effect ranged from a 
potential decrease in property taxes of $70-80 on a $250,000 home (with no change in sales tax) if Study 
Area B were annexed in 2020 to a potential increase in property taxes of $430 on a $250,000 home 
(again, with no change in sales tax) if Study Area F were annexed in 2020. 

These results show that annexing Study Area B could slightly reduce the amount of tax paid by each 
taxpayer within the City. This is because Study Area B has some commercial activity but few residential 
properties that require more City services. On the other extreme, Study Area F has the densest 

Page 134 of 254Page 134 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 vii 

residential neighborhoods in the greater Palmer area and little commercial activity, although it the homes 
do have property value that could contribute through property taxes. If the City were to annex all study 
areas, the commercial activity in some would balance somewhat the costs of providing services to 
residential neighborhoods, resulting in a lower tax increase than annexing Study Area F alone, but still a 
net increase in taxes to balance the City budget.  

Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Operating Costs Capital Costs Net Annual 
Operating 

and Capital 
Repayment 
Fiscal Effect 

($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Revenues 
($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Costs ($) 

Net 
Operating 

Fiscal 
Effect ($) 

Est. 
Initial 

Capital 
Costs ($) 

Annual 
Debt 

Repayment 
($) 

Area A Only 26,000 36,000 -10,000 0 0 -10,000

Area B Only 187,000 48,000 139,000 0 0 139,000 

Area C Only 46,000 68,000 -22,000 0 0 -22,000

Area D Only 997,000 1,457,000 -460,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -725,000

Area E Only 626,000 1,175,000 -549,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -814,000

Area F Only 656,000 1,380,000 -724,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -989,000

Areas E+G 1,176,000 1,189,000 -13,000 3,930,000 -337,000 -350,000

All Study 
Areas 

3,087,000 3,535,000 -448,000 5,465,000 -469,000 -917,000

Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes 

Annexation 
Scenario 

All Property Tax Approach All Sales Tax Approach 

Mil Rate 
Change 

Required 
to Balance 
Budget (3 
mils + …) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(City of 

Palmer, $) 

Annual Cost to 
Owner of 

$250,000 in 
Property 
(Annexed 
Area, $) 

Sales Tax Rate 
Change 

Required to 
Balance Budget 

(3%+ …) 

Effect per 
$1,000 of 

Commercial 
Activity at Non-

Exempt 
Businesses ($) 

Area A Only 0.02 5 3 0.004 0.03 

Area B Only -0.29 -70 -80 -0.055 -0.37

Area C Only 0.05 10 10 0.009 0.06 

Area D Only 1.21 300 300 0.285 1.90 

Area E Only 1.54 390 380 0.316 2.10 

Area F Only 1.73 430 430 0.391 2.60 

Areas E+G 0.66 160 160 0.127 0.85 

All Study Areas 1.18 290 290 0.302 2.02 

Page 135 of 254Page 135 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 viii 

Looking to the future, the study finds that annexation of most areas studied in this analysis would still 
result in net negative annual fiscal effects in the year 2030. Looking at individual study areas, the model 
projects that in Study Areas A, B, C and E, fiscal gaps would start to close as the population increases 
and the City realizes economies of scale. However, the analysis projects that the net fiscal effects of 
annexation will worsen in Study Areas D, F and G, where tax resources are not expected to catch up with 
the costs of service provision. 

2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

2030 Environment Changes 2030 Fiscal Changes Change 
in Net 
Fiscal 
Effect 
2020-
2030 

New 
Pop-

ulation 

New 
Housing 

Units 

New 
Property 
Tax ($) 

New 
Sales 

Tax ($) 

Revenue 
Change 

($) 

Operating 
Cost 

Change ($) 

Capital 
Cost 

Change 

Area A Only 10 4 1,000 5,000 8,000 5,000 0 3,000 

Area B Only 39 15 9,000 48,000 62,000 18,000 0 44,000 

Area C Only 39 15 11,000 4,000 19,000 17,000 0 2,000 

Area D Only 103 40 33,000 129,000 176,000 224,000 14,500 -62,500

Area E Only 221 86 53,000 95,000 169,000 127,000 0 42,000 

Area F Only 214 83 53,000 52,000 133,000 389,000 14,500 -270,500

Areas E+G 224 87 51,000 250,000 -93,000 128,000 0 -221,000

All Study 
Areas 

630 244 159,000 488,000 306,000 387,000 14,500 -95,500

In purely fiscal terms, these findings led the project team to recommend an annexation strategy that either 
takes a modest approach of annexing smaller area(s) over time that have little to no effect on City budget 
and operations, or to annex a large enough area that the annexation would include areas of higher 
taxable potential (usually commercial areas) to help balance the costs of areas with lower taxable 
potential and higher service needs (primarily residential neighborhoods). 

Community Considerations 
This study represents the very beginning of conversations by the City of Palmer with neighbors in the 
area about the possibilities of annexation. Community outreach was done during the COVID-19 
pandemic. To ensure safety, outreach was conducted through an online survey, web meetings, 
interviews/focus group conversations, online presentations (e.g., to the Palmer Chamber of Commerce), 
email and phone conversations with concerned citizens and neighbors inside and outside existing City 
boundaries. Results show that there is a wide range of opinion about whether the city should annex land 
from people inside and outside city boundaries. The majority of those who shared their thoughts do not 
support annexation at this time; some do support annexation, and some need more information.  

Page 136 of 254Page 136 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 ix 

General Level of Support for Annexation 

Resident Support for Annexation 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 

Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.

Page 137 of 254Page 137 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 x 

Business Owner Support for Annexation 

Own Business in 
City 

Own Business in 
Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of all 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

• Access to or improved City services, generally
• Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed

fire station, bike paths
• Attracting businesses and families
• Everyone in the area living by the same rules
• Less confusion about city boundaries
• Lifestyle preferences
• More opportunities for input on future planning and growth
• Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base
• Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses
• Representation in City government
• Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Community Fiscal Concerns: In open-ended responses, five percent of all survey respondents noted 
positive impacts to the City’s revenues and/or tax base as a benefit of annexation, and nearly 30 percent 
of all respondents indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. 65 percent of survey 
respondents viewed City property tax as a detriment, primarily concerned about possible increases in 
property taxes. 71 percent of survey respondents viewed City sales tax as a detriment, including 
residents who limit their spending overall and particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown 
food. Business respondents voiced concern that having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax 
would hurt their business because their competition does not have to charge sales taxes to customers. 

Page 138 of 254Page 138 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xi 

Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

Planning and Growth Management: Public outreach revealed very mixed viewpoints about the planning 
and growth management aspects of annexation. Some view annexation and the City’s ability to do land 
use planning as the key to growth for Palmer, attracting businesses and families, opening more economic 
opportunities and allowing the community to develop with assurances of zoning control to avoid 
incompatible uses and maintain the small-town feel of the area. Others expressed concerns that 
annexation would encourage growth and, with it, crime, high density housing without the infrastructure to 
support it, traffic, and unwanted levels of commercial development. Several commented on the 
importance of maintaining Palmer’s small town feel and protecting farmland. Some respondents 
expressed general opposition to zoning and other land use regulations (67 percent of survey respondents 
viewed City zoning and land use regulations as a detriment), while others voiced the desire for greater 
enforcement of existing city regulations inside the City. Responses indicate that people generally want to 

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response

Page 139 of 254Page 139 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xii 

be able to keep doing what they have been doing with their land; many expressed support for 
grandfathering existing land uses in any annexed territory. 62 percent of survey respondents viewed City 
building codes, permits and inspections as a detriment, some expressing concerns about the costs 
associated with code compliance and permitting. Suggestions reflected a desire for the City to be more 
flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc.  

Overall, the Palmer-area community has mixed views about City services. Some city services seen as a 
benefit; others prefer their existing services or expressed concern about the City’s ability to extend 
services to a large area. In total, if all the study areas were annexed, it would effectively increase the 
City’s population by 58 percent, making Palmer the fourth largest city and the twelfth largest organized 
municipality by population in Alaska.  

Police: Palmer police was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 61 percent of survey 
respondents. Some area residents want access to police services to receive a more rapid response from 
law enforcement officers, while others prefer the Alaska State Troopers. A few respondents also voiced 
concerns about the expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find 
qualified people to hire for the new positions and to pay them a competitive salary. 

Road Maintenance: Palmer road maintenance was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 53 
percent of survey respondents. Some area residents view potential annexation benefits to include road 
maintenance and improvements, particularly streetlights in some neighborhoods. Other respondents do 
not want City road maintenance, nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these responses specifically 
mentioned concerns about the City’s ability to provide adequate snow removal and to find people willing 
to accept any new maintenance positions unless it raises salaries and wages for the positions. 

Garbage Collection: The City’s existing policy to require garbage collection service was considered a 
detriment by 61 percent of survey respondents. In the study areas, respondents generally want to be able 
to choose how their garbage is dealt with, whether hauling their own trash, contracting with the City or a 
provider of their choice, rather than being told by regulation how to manage their waste.   

Other Services: Some open-ended responses indicated that if annexation resulted in faster fire and 
emergency response or staffed fire stations in their area, that would be considered a benefit. Responses 
showed mixed attitudes toward City water and sewer, which ranged from piped water and sewer being 
the only thing they would want out of an annexation to objections to the idea that they might have to hook 
up to City water and sewer when they already have functioning well and septic systems.  

Governance: Some area residents see benefits to annexation from having more of a voice in local 
government, a wider pool of eligible candidates to run for public office, and potentially a more involved 
voter base. 60 percent of survey respondents view the ability to vote, run for City offices, and/or serve on 
Palmer City Council, boards and commissions as a benefit of a potential annexation. The fiscal study 
shows that many people in the study areas are already paying for Palmer City government through sales 
tax, but do not have representation. 

Regulations: Lifestyle differences between areas inside City and outside the City limits were reflected in 
community comments about the City’s regulations. Only two percent of all survey responses mentioned 
regulations as benefits in open-ended questions, whereas 29 percent mentioned regulations as concerns. 
As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way to manage growth and 
protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of everyone following the 
same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or simplifying law enforcement. The main 
concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the desire to 
use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on their property; and 

Page 140 of 254Page 140 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xiii 

keep a variety of animals on their land. Many responses suggested grandfathering or making regulatory 
allowances to retain existing lifestyles and businesses.  

Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

Communication and the need for more (or more accurate) information were strong themes in the public 
outreach activities. Around 15 percent of survey responses and other public outreach activities reflected a 
desire for more information in order to have an opinion about annexation. A number of survey responses 
also suggested the City improve existing service provision before making an annexation petition. Some of 
these concerns could be due to misunderstanding about where City boundaries are, how the City 
operates and the limits of what it can do. These concerns may also provide useful direction for the City 
about where to focus information-sharing and departmental improvements. Comments mentioned:  

• Improve City road maintenance: pave rutted gravel roads; upgrade aging paved roads; improve
snow removal and general maintenance on Colony Way, Arctic Boulevard and other streets that
branch off them.

• Improve/repair storm water collection systems, curb and gutter.
• Keep sidewalks clear.
• Increase repair and replacement for aging City facilities, generally.
• Improve the Palmer Sr. League field.

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%

Page 141 of 254Page 141 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xiv 

• Clarify if, when and how the water and sewer utility would extend piped service. City "water
pressure can be limited at times."

• Clarify City trash collection service areas and policies.
• Improve fire response times (in study areas).
• Expand the police force and improve morale in the Police Department.
• Reduce crime and increase vehicle safety enforcement ("Automobiles and Trucks are permitted

to be operated with one headlight, Violations emissions").
• Increase enforcement for junk vehicles, property maintenance, single family residential zoning.
• Pay City employees better, specifically police, emergency/first responders, and public works.
• Address homelessness in the City.
• Improve the City’s reputation for fiscal management to address concerns that annexation is

intended only to increase revenue for the City.

Recommendations  
Continue Ongoing Communication 
Regardless of whether the City brings forward an annexation petition in future, this study recommends 
continued conversations with existing City residents and neighbors about making Palmer’s city 
government the best it can be. Survey responses reflected a desire for more frequent and open 
communication between the City and area residents, generally and specific to the annexation process. 

City of Palmer boundaries have been stable for nearly the past 20 years and already capture the majority 
of taxable property values and commercial activity in the general area. Any future annexation would not 
be a “land grab” to increase revenue to the City. Instead, the fiscal analysis reveals that future annexation 
around Palmer would have to be in service of a greater community vision that would motivate City and 
area residents and busines to support a potential (though most likely modest) increase in taxes over 2020 
tax rates. A number of survey responses asked for a clear "why" statement to better understand the City’s 
motivations for annexing more land and a better understanding of the benefits of annexation to all 
concerned. 

The City could build on the stability it currently experiences by making improvements in service provision 
to the extent possible, as well as any needed or chosen adjustments or clarifications to city regulations. 
Regulatory/policy changes that came up during the community analysis as worthy of consideration 
include:  

• Building permits, fees and inspections (especially for sheds, fences, decks) are currently
required per PMC Title 15 Buildings and Construction. The City could make some degree of the
building permitting and inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, AMC 23.05.030
makes the building permit, review, and inspection processes optional in areas outside the
Anchorage Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA).

• Garbage collection is currently required per PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and
Disposal. The City could allow property owners to choose private collection service or self-haul
outside the City’s service area. Anchorage does this per AMC 27.70.030.

• Discharge of firearms is currently prohibited within City limits except at permitted practice
facilities per PMC Chapter 9.74 Discharge of Firearms. The City could designate areas in code
where hunting is allowed, like the City of Kenai per KMC 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms.
Anchorage and Juneau also prohibit the discharge of firearms except in designated areas.

• Off Highway Vehicles (OHVs) are not currently permitted on streets except to cross them per
PMC Chapter 10.08 Regulation of Off-highway Vehicles. The City could allow licensed operation

Page 142 of 254Page 142 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xv 

of OHVs, like the City of Kenai per KMC Chapter 13.40 Off-road Operations of Motor Vehicles. 
Designated pathways for OHV use could also be created alongside primary streets. 

• Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks. Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits
for fire pits and burn permits for certain types of debris on private property. Fireworks are allowed
without a permit on New Year’s Eve per PMC Chapter 8.42 Fireworks. The City could adjust
allowances on burn permits and/or fireworks. For example, Anchorage allows recreational or
ceremonial fires if they are managed according to specific safety guidelines and obtain a burn
permit if necessary. However, burning debris/waste materials is prohibited within the municipality.

• Animal restrictions. The City allows a variety of pet and livestock animals per PMC Title 6
Animals, depending on zoning per PMC Title 17 Zoning. All species of livestock mentioned in
comments are already allowed on land zoned for agriculture or on lots of 1+ acres if they do not
go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. The City could allow more dogs per parcel or dogs off-
leash. Dog kennels are an allowable use by right on land zoned BP Business Park.

City staff could continue to engage in surveys and listening sessions to obtain regular feedback from the 
people about where improvements can or have been made. Building on the common things people value 
about life in and around Palmer, the City would benefit from documenting the ways in which it has (and 
continues to) improved quality of life, achieved efficiencies in providing services and optimized its tax 
base. Increase awareness of the City’s role in community successes. 

More communication about the City’s planning activities may also be helpful. Some respondents were not 
aware of the City’s long-term plans for expanding services, land use planning or desired areas for future 
growth. Before engaging in a proposal for annexation, the City may want to increase area knowledge of 
and involvement in both shorter-term planning for general operations and capital projects over the next 
few years, as well as longer-term plans, such as Palmer’s Comprehensive Plan, which has not been 
updated since 2006. Though not reflected in survey results, the City may decide to be more actively 
involved in economic development planning and related activities in future.    

Choose an Annexation Approach 
If the City prepares a petition for annexation in future, the findings of this study suggest the City take 
either a “Go Big” approach and work toward a large-scale annexation, or “Go Small” and work toward 
bringing in smaller areas that would have minimal fiscal effects to the City. This decision should be 
informed by the City’s comfort level in expanding its operations as well as conversations with area 
residents. A few survey responses and meeting comments questioned why the study areas did not 
include certain areas, such as the areas south of inner Springer Inn Spring Hill and Outer Springer (Rocky 
Point, Sky Ranch, River Bend, and Colony Estate subdivisions) and Marsh Road in Study Area B. One 
respondent suggested the City consider taking an incremental approach, annexing one or two areas first, 
then adding more at a later date.  

Continue the Conversation 
This community analysis suggests that the City should start talking to neighbors early and often about 
annexation. The overall message was that, whether it benefits them or not, area residents and 
businesses want to be part of the decision to annex, rather than feel like the City is imposing boundary 
expansion on them. Some comments reflected a belief that the City is already planning to move forward 
with annexation regardless of residents’ input and intends to take action soon after the study is completed 
without further opportunity for discussion. Continuous education about the multi-step annexation process 
and opportunities for public involvement in the decision may help alleviate some of these concerns. 
Community suggestions included keeping neighbors informed and providing opportunities for them to 
voice concerns as the process moves forward through mailers, door-to-door fliers, more surveys, 
informational question-and-answer sessions, and door-to-door discussions or meetings with homeowners 

Page 143 of 254Page 143 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xvi 

and business associations. A number of survey responses asked for as much information as possible 
about the process, timelines and what to expect in any annexation process. This report can provide 
general guidance, but the transition plan developed for any future annexation petition will be critical for 
informing new citizens about the specific changes they can expect upon becoming part of the city, how 
and when those changes will take place.  

When it comes time for the City to decide on making an annexation petition, some respondents 
suggested the City consider basing its decision on a majority vote among residents/property owners in 
the areas considered for annexation. It is unlikely that any annexation petition that has not been created 
by the request of landowners will have 100 percent support. However, some areas may have enough to 
support to demonstrate a likelihood of success through a vote of the people in an area of consideration.  

Page 144 of 254Page 144 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xvii 

Table of Contents 
Overview and Executive Summary ............................................................................................... i 

Purpose ........................................................................................................................................ i 
Process ........................................................................................................................................ii 

Fiscal Effects of Annexation ................................................................................................... iii 
Community Considerations .................................................................................................. viii 
Recommendations ............................................................................................................... xiv 

Introduction to Annexation ........................................................................................................... 1 
Annexation in Alaska ................................................................................................................... 1 

Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC) ..................................................................... 1 
Petition Methods ..................................................................................................................... 1 
Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards ............................................................. 5 

City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas........................................................................................ 6 
History .................................................................................................................................... 6 
Land Use and Economy ......................................................................................................... 6 
Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned .................................................................... 7 

Fiscal Analysis ............................................................................................................................... 9 
Study Areas ................................................................................................................................. 9 
Fiscal Analysis Methodology ..................................................................................................... 11 

Individual Model Components .............................................................................................. 12 
2030 Projections ................................................................................................................... 21 

Fiscal Impact Analysis ............................................................................................................... 22 
Fiscal Effects ........................................................................................................................ 22 

Community Analysis .................................................................................................................... 28 
Community Analysis Methodology ............................................................................................ 28 

Interviews and Meetings ....................................................................................................... 28 
Survey .................................................................................................................................. 28 
Research and Reflection ...................................................................................................... 29 

Community Impact Analysis ...................................................................................................... 30 
Community Fiscal Concerns ................................................................................................ 34 
Planning and Growth Management ...................................................................................... 36 
Public Services and Infrastructure ....................................................................................... 40 
Governance .......................................................................................................................... 51 

Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area .......................................................................... 61 

Page 145 of 254Page 145 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xviii 

Study Area A ............................................................................................................................. 61 
Study Area B ............................................................................................................................. 63 
Study Area C ............................................................................................................................. 65 
Study Area D ............................................................................................................................. 67 
Study Area E ............................................................................................................................. 69 
Study Area F ............................................................................................................................. 71 
Study Area G (and E) ................................................................................................................ 73 

Transition Plan ............................................................................................................................. 75 
Transfer Process ....................................................................................................................... 75 
Policy Implications ..................................................................................................................... 79 
A History of Annexation in Palmer ............................................................................................ 83 

A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation .................................................................................. 83 
A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation ................................................................ 83 
Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development ............................................... 84 

Interview Questions ................................................................................................................... 87 
Residents and the General Public ........................................................................................ 87 
Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners ................................................................... 87 

Survey Questions ...................................................................................................................... 87 

Figures 
Figure 1. Annexation Process .......................................................................................................... 4 

Figure 2. Palmer Annexation History ............................................................................................... 8 

Figure 3. Study Areas Map ............................................................................................................ 10 

Figure 4. Fiscal Analysis Methodology .......................................................................................... 11 

Figure 5. Greater Palmer Land Ownership, 2021 .......................................................................... 13 

Figure 6. Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable .............................................. 14 

Figure 7. Heat Map of Commercial Activity .................................................................................... 16 

Figure 8. FY 2020 City of Palmer Adopted General Fund Expenditures ....................................... 20 

Figure 9. General Level of Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 30 

Figure 10. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents ................ 32 

Figure 11. Areas of Concern, All Respondents ............................................................................. 33 

Figure 12. Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area .......................................................... 44 

Figure 13. South Colony Road Service Area ................................................................................. 46 

Figure 14. City of Palmer Refuse Collection Service Area ............................................................ 48 

Figure 15. Palmer Water and Sewer Utility Service Area .............................................................. 50 

Page 146 of 254Page 146 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xix 

Figure 16. Study Area A ................................................................................................................. 61 

Figure 17. Study Area B ................................................................................................................. 63 

Figure 18. Study Area C ................................................................................................................. 65 

Figure 19. Study Area D ................................................................................................................. 67 

Figure 20. Study Area E ................................................................................................................. 69 

Figure 21. Study Area F ................................................................................................................. 71 

Figure 22. Study Area G ................................................................................................................ 73 

Figure 23. 2006 Palmer Annexation Study Area Map ................................................................... 85 

Figure 24. Survey Respondents Round 1 and 2 ............................................................................ 91 

Figure 25. General Level of Support for Annexation ..................................................................... 92 

Figure 26. Resident Respondents ................................................................................................. 92 

Figure 27. Where Survey Respondents Work ............................................................................... 93 

Figure 28. Business Owner Respondents ..................................................................................... 94 

Figure 29. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents ................ 95 

Figure 30. Areas of Concern, All Respondents ............................................................................. 97 

Tables 
Table 1. Local Boundary Commission Standards for City Annexation ............................................ 5 

Table 2. Estimated Population by Area, 2010 and 2020 ............................................................... 12 

Table 3. Assessed Property Values, 2020 ..................................................................................... 15 

Table 4. Estimated Sales Tax Base (Excluding Utility Taxes) ....................................................... 15 

Table 5. Road Lane Miles .............................................................................................................. 17 

Table 6. Estimated Annual Sales Taxes by Area, Current Tax Structure ...................................... 18 

Table 7. Potential Property Tax Revenues .................................................................................... 18 

Table 8. Estimated Additional Revenues ....................................................................................... 19 

Table 9. Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario ...................................................................... 24 

Table 10. Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes............................................................................ 25 

Table 11. 2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario ..................... 26 

Table 12. Respondent Demographics ........................................................................................... 29 

Table 13. Resident Support for Annexation ................................................................................... 31 

Table 14. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area ........................................................... 31 

Table 15. Business Owner Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 31 

Table 16. Pre-Annexation Consultation ......................................................................................... 75 

Table 17. Resident Support for Annexation ................................................................................... 93 

Page 147 of 254Page 147 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xx 

Table 18. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area ........................................................... 93 

Table 19. Business Owner Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 94 

Table 20. Respondent Demographics ......................................................................................... 105 

Page 148 of 254Page 148 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xxi 

Abbreviations 
AAC Alaska Administrative Code 

ABSSA Anchorage Building Safety Service Area 

ADEC Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation 

ADOLWD Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development 

ADT Average Daily Traffic 

AMC Anchorage Municipal Code 

APUC Alaska Public Utilities Commission 

ATV All-Terrain Vehicle 

CBJ City and Borough of Juneau 

CCR Covenants, Codes and Restrictions 

CIP Capital Improvement Plan 

COP City of Palmer 

DCCED State of Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 

FAQ Frequently Asked Questions 

IRS Internal Revenue Service 

ISO Insurance Services Office 

KMC Kenai Municipal Code 

LBC Local  Boundary Commission 

LID Local Improvement District 

Mat-Su Matanuska-Susitna 

MBC Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code 

MSB Matanuska-Susitna Borough 

NPDES National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

NRA National Rifle Association 

OHV Off-Highway Vehicle 

PILOT Payment In Lieu Of Taxes 

PMC Palmer Municipal Code 

SALT State and Local Taxes 

Page 149 of 254Page 149 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 1 

Introduction to Annexation 

Annexation in Alaska 
Alaska cities, boroughs, and unified municipalities extend their boundaries through annexation. The 
annexation process is shown in Figure 1. A petition for the annexation of some territory into a city or 
borough is made to the State of Alaska, and a decision is made by the State of Alaska through the Local 
Boundary Commission about whether to proceed with the annexation or not.  

Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC) 
Alaska’s state constitution (Article X, Section 12) established a Local Boundary Commission with the 
power to consider and approve any proposed local governmental boundary change, subject only to veto 
by the State Legislature (Article X, Section 12, Alaska Constitution). 

The Alaska Supreme Court clarified the LBC’s purpose and role in a landmark 1962 decision:1 

“Article X [of the Alaska Constitution] was drafted and submitted by the Committee on Local 
Government, which held a series of 31 meetings between November 15 and December 19, 1955. 
An examination of the relevant minutes of those meetings shows clearly the concept that was in 
mind when the local boundary commission section was being considered: that local political 
decisions do not usually create proper boundaries and that boundaries should be established at 
the state level. The advantage of the method proposed, in the words of the committee: “. . . lies in 
placing the process at a level where area-wide or state-wide needs can be taken into account. By 
placing authority in this third-party, arguments for and against boundary change can be analyzed 
objectively.” 

Fundamentally, the role of the LBC is to ensure an objective review of local city and borough boundaries 
to avoid placing sole decision-making responsibilities with local governments, particularly with respect to 
boundaries which can be difficult to properly define.2 The Alaska Division of Community and Regional 
Affairs provides staff support to the LBC, and also provides technical assistance to petitioners and to the 
general public. 

Petition Methods 
State statutes and administrative regulations define the method by which local governments may propose 
local governmental boundary changes, the LBC’s procedures for considering proposals, and the 
standards by which the LBC must evaluate proposals.  

Annexation by Legislative Review 
The primary, default method by which local governments may seek to alter their boundaries is the 
legislative review procedure authorized by the Alaska state constitution. Several important features of this 
process should be noted: 

• The only means by which Alaskan cities can alter their boundaries is by an annexation petition to
the LBC.

1 Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. City of Anchorage, 368 P.2nd 540 (Alaska 1962). 
2 Local Boundary Commission. Report to the 29th Alaska State Legislature, 1st Session February 2015. 

Page 150 of 254Page 150 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 2 

• Cities and certain other parties may propose local boundary changes by petition to the LBC, but
only the LBC can approve a boundary change. Cities cannot, by themselves, change their local
boundaries.

• The LBC reviews the petition for compliance with applicable standards (summarized in the
following pages).

• As part of its review, the LBC conducts an extensive process for public comment, including a
local public hearing. Both supporters and opponents of annexation have the opportunity to argue
the merits of their position before the LBC.

• Based on the petition record, the LBC may approve, amend (or impose conditions and approve),
or disapprove the petition. To approve a petition, the LBC must find that the petition satisfies all
applicable standards.

• If the LBC approves the petition, it presents the petition to the State Legislature. The Legislature
may disapprove the petition only by a resolution approved by a majority of members of each
house. Approval is by tacit consent; meaning that the petition is approved through no action by
the State Legislature.

• Proposed boundary changes are not decided by local vote, even when the local action pathway
to annexation is utilized (see the next section). The legislative process to annex land is consistent
with the constitutional intent, affirmed by the Alaska Supreme Court, to place decisions about
often contentious local boundary changes “at a level where area-wide or state-wide needs can be
taken into account” and where “arguments for and against boundary change can be analyzed
objectively” by a third party.

In summary, the legislative review process through Alaska’s constitution, state law and administrative 
regulations set detailed rules for petitioners, opponents, and supporters of annexation petitions as they 
argue their position before the LBC. In the legislative review procedure, LBC regulations require local 
governments to hold at least one local public hearing on a draft annexation petition before the local 
governing body can approve the final petition for submittal to the LBC. However, experience has shown 
that local governments are well advised to conduct an extensive and open public information and 
consultation process as they consider the merits of a proposed annexation. 

Annexation by Local Action 
The Alaska Legislature has authorized limited exceptions to the legislative review method for boundary 
changes. The Legislature has waived its authority to review certain non-controversial city annexation 
petitions, called local action petitions. These petitions must meet specific conditions and must still be 
reviewed and approved by the LBC. The Legislature has essentially pre-judged that these annexations 
are below its threshold of concern for exercising legislative review. By statute, local action petitions are 
limited to: 

• Annexation of adjoining city-owned property.
• Annexation of adjoining territory, unanimously supported by property owners and voters in the

territory proposed for annexation; and
• Annexations approved by a majority of voters in the annexing city and in the territory proposed for

annexation.

It is technically possible for local governments to proceed with annexation through local action by 
requiring a majority of voters in the annexing city and in the territory proposed for annexation approve the 
annexation. However, as described under the legislative action section above, a vote is not a requirement 
of the process.  

Page 151 of 254Page 151 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 3 

Legislative Review versus Local Action  
Since 1959, there have been a total of 264 annexations by cities. Of those, 136 annexation petitions were 
local action annexations. Most local action annexations were by unanimous consent or annexation of city 
property. Of the 19 local action annexation petitions prepared statewide in which there was a vote, six 
were rejected. The remaining 13 petitions were approved by a small margin or had a very small number 
of voters. All of these examples occurred in 1992 or earlier.  

Though many people indicate a preference toward local action because of a desire to vote on annexation, 
it may not be the most practical method of annexation. Statistically, about 70 percent of all local election 
annexations in Alaska have failed. The legislative option was created to get beyond the failure of the local 
action method when annexation is in the interests of the State. Alaska’s case law also supports the 
legislative option for successful annexation: 

• In 2010, the Local Boundary Commission approved a local action petition from the City of
Dillingham asking voters whether to approve annexation of approximately 400 square miles of
Nushagak Bay. The LBC approved the petition and voters affirmed it, but courts ultimately
remanded the decision, nullifying the annexation and ordering a new petition through the
legislative review method. In that subsequent petition, both the City of Manokotak and the City of
Dillingham submitted annexation petitions by the legislative review method. Manokotak’s was
accepted by the LBC and tacitly approved by the legislature. Dillingham’s was rejected by the
LBC.

• The Alaska Supreme Court has upheld the legislative review petition process on several
occasions. In 1962, The Alaska Supreme Court stated in Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v.
City of Anchorage, “local political decisions do not usually create proper boundaries and that
boundaries should be established at the state level” and that in the words of the local government
committee of the constitutional convention, “by placing authority in this third party, arguments for
and against boundary change can be analyzed objectively.”

• In 1971, the court held in City of Douglas v. City & Borough of Juneau that residents of a
community have no constitutionally protected interest in its existence as a  separate
governmental unit. Hence, the legislature may provide for the annexation of a community without
its residents’ consent.

• In 1974, in Mobil Oil Corp v. Local Boundary Commission, the court said the purpose for creating
the LBC, and conferring upon it the powers it has, was to obviate the type of situation where there
was a controversy over municipal boundaries which apparently could not be settled at the local
level .

Page 152 of 254Page 152 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 4 

Figure 1. Annexation Process by Local Action (3 AAC 110.150) or Legislative Review (3 AAC 110.140) 

Page 153 of 254Page 153 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 5 

Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards 
The LBC uses a set of annexation standards (summarized in Table 1 below) to review annexation 
petitions. As a quasi-judicial body, the LBC must make its decisions solely on the basis of standards in 
state law and relevant facts. If the City of Palmer opts to develop an annexation petition, that petition must 
show that the annexation would adequately meet these standards. This economic and community 
analysis will help the City evaluate its petition against these standards before submittal to the LBC for 
review.  

Table 1. Local Boundary Commission Standards for City Annexation (3 AAC 110.090-3 AAC 110.130) 

LBC Criterion Standard Specifics that may be considered 

Need of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed  
(3 AAC 110.090) 

The territory must exhibit a 
reasonable need for city 
government. 

• Existing or anticipated residential and commercial
growth outside the City anticipated over 10 years.

• Existing or anticipated health, safety and general
welfare problems

• Existing or anticipated economic development
• Adequacy of existing services in the territory
• Extraterritorial powers of municipalities
• Territory may not be annexed to a city if services to

that territory can be provided more efficiently by
another existing city or by an organized borough.

Character of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed  
(3 AAC 110.100) 

The territory must be 
compatible in character with 
the annexing city. 

• Land use, subdivision platting and ownership pattern
• Salability of land for private uses.
• Population density / recent population changes
• Suitability of land for community purposes
• Transportation and facility patterns
• Natural geographic features/environmental factors

Resources of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed and the 
Annexing City  
(3 AAC 110.110) 

The economy of the proposed 
post-annexation boundaries 
must include the human and 
financial resources necessary 
to provide essential city 
services on an efficient, cost-
effective level. 

• Expenses and revenues from added territory
• Economic base and property values
• Industrial, commercial and resource development

Population of the 
Territory 
Proposed to 
Annexed and the 
Annexing City  
(3 AAC 110.120) 

The population within the post-
annexation boundaries must 
be sufficiently large and stable 
to support the extension of city 
government. 

• Total population
• Duration of residency / age distribution
• Historical population patterns / seasonal change

Appropriate 
Boundaries  
(3 AAC 110.130) 

The proposed post-annexation 
boundaries must include all 
areas necessary to provide full 
development of essential city 
services on an efficient, cost-
effective level. 

• Land use and ownership patterns / Population density
• Transportation patterns
• Geographic features / Should be contiguous
• Not large unpopulated areas
• 10 years’ worth of predictable growth

Best interests of 
the State  
(3 AAC 110.135) 

The proposed annexation 
must be in the balanced best 
interests of the state, the 
territory proposed for 
annexation, the annexing city, 
and the borough in which the 
annexation is proposed. 

• Promotes maximum self-government
• Promotes minimum number of government units
• Relieves the state from providing local services

Page 154 of 254Page 154 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 6 

City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas 
The City of Palmer is a home rule city of approximately 5.07 square miles located on the west bank of the 
Matanuska River in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough (MSB) of Alaska. The City is approximately 42 road 
miles north of Anchorage, along the Glenn Highway. The City’s current population is approximately 6,041 
residents (2019, Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Research and Analysis 
Section).  

History 
The area that is now greater Palmer has long been a crossroads of several Tribes, including the Knik, 
Eklutna and Chickaloon Athabascan Tribes. Traditionally, people lived a more nomadic lifestyle in this 
area as they moved up and down the valley for subsistence and trading. Trails along the Matanuska River 
were used to transport trade goods within Den’aina lands.  

The city is named after George Palmer, a trader who is said to have arrived in 1875 and established a 
trading post on the Matanuska River around 1890. The community grew to include new residents who 
came as miners, homesteaders and for the construction of the Alaska Railroad in 1916. In 1935, over 200 
colonist families from upper midwestern states (e.g., Michigan, Wisconsin, and Minnesota) were relocated 
to Palmer to populate a planned agricultural colony as part of a New Deal program. Although the 
relocation program largely failed, some families remained in the area and continue to operate family 
farms generations later.  

Palmer incorporated as a city in 1951. Its population has continued to grow, fueled by the construction of 
the statewide road system and the growth and development of Anchorage. Today, Palmer has become 
an attractive place for families and a variety of businesses that serve the Mat-Su Valley and/or benefit 
from a relatively easy commute to and from Anchorage. Tribal people continue to reside in Palmer and in 
surrounding areas. Approximately eight percent of Palmer’s population identifies as Alaska Native. 

Land Use and Economy 
Palmer is a commercial center in the eastern Matanuska-Susitna Borough, known for its small-town 
character. A fairly compact downtown developed around the intersection of two major thoroughfares, the 
Glenn Highway and Palmer-Wasilla Highway. This central area has attracted government and 
professional offices, shops and eateries. The Alaska Railroad runs north-south through the city, carrying 
tourists/passengers during the summer. The Palmer Airport serves local aviation businesses, many of 
which cater to flightseeing tourists. Beyond the central business district, Palmer has several medium 
density residential neighborhoods, most of which are served by water and sewer. Residential subdivisions 
within City limits are mostly built out. Palmer residents enjoy neighborhood and community parks and bike 
trails through the main city corridors. Regional recreation attractions include the City-owned MTA Events 
Center and Ice Arena, Golf Course and Tennis Courts, as well as the Alaska State Fairgrounds. 

North of City limits, there are low-density residential areas and large tracts of farmland north of the 
Palmer-Wasilla Highway. To the west, land along the Palmer Wasilla Highway has been developed 
mainly as large lot and low-mid density residential (including some small-scale farming) and mixed-use 
properties with pockets of commercial development. To the southwest of the city, there is low-density, 
large-lot residential development along Glenn Highway toward a large area of public lands owned by the 
State and the University of Alaska. This area is home to the University of Alaska Mat-Su Campus and a 
regional recreation attraction, the Crevasse Moraine Trail System. Further south, where Parks and Glenn 
Highways meet, the Mat-Su Regional Hospital provides regional medical care. East of the Parks-Glenn 
Highway juncture, a large gravel mine crosses both sides of the Glenn Highway and extends all the way 

Page 155 of 254Page 155 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 7 

to the Matanuska River. Just south of City limits, the Inner Springer Loop area has, over time, been 
developed into some of the densest residential development in the greater Palmer area. The Outer 
Springer area extends to the Matanuska River and is characterized by a mix of farmland and residential 
properties.  

As with most regions within Alaska, Palmer’s population growth rate has slowed in recent years. In 2006, 
the Mat-Su Borough’s and the annexation study area’s populations were growing by about five percent 
per year. The region’s population growth rate has slowed to only 1.5 to two percent per year in recent 
years. Much of this slowdown is due to statewide trends: people are having fewer children, resulting in a 
much lower birthrate, and Alaska does not have a strong fiscal driver for in-migration. Statewide, Alaska 
has lost population due to out-migration in recent years, including the years leading up to the pandemic. 

Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned 
A Summary of Annexation in Palmer 
The history of annexation in Palmer is summarized below and in Figure 2. A more detailed history is 
included among the appendices.  

For the first five decades of Palmer’s incorporation as a City (1951-2001), annexation generally occurred 
upon request by property owners to the City. The primary reason for these requests was the desire for 
City water and sewer services. This practice of annexation by request created a number of enclaves, 
unincorporated areas that were bounded by the City of Palmer on all sides. The State discourages 
enclaves because they tend to cause confusion in municipal governance, taxation and service provision. 

In the 1990s, the State of Alaska Local Boundary Commission (LBC) urged the City of Palmer to deal with 
these enclaves and its future annexation policy in a more comprehensive manner. The LBC even went so 
far as to deny a City annexation request that would have created another enclave, an action that changed 
the City of Palmer’s effective annexation policy. The City went from annexation by request to an approach 
characterized by City-initiated petitions to annex fewer but larger, multi-parcel areas, supported by prior 
analysis and planning for the areas proposed for annexation.  

The 1999 Palmer Comprehensive Plan even recommended that the City file a conceptual growth 
boundary with the LBC identical to the Palmer water and sewer utility’s certificated service area boundary, 
so that future annexations would implement the concept. While this growth boundary was intended to 
illustrate the largest area people could imagine the city would ever be, it also arguably implied that 
annexation out to the certificated utility service area boundary was a goal that should be reached over 
time. Ultimately, whether or not annexation to a specific growth boundary proves to be desired or feasible 
is not a foregone conclusion; it will depend on how the greater Palmer community grows and evolves over 
time.  

In 2002, using the legislative review process, the City of Palmer annexed all of the enclaves that had 
been created over the years in a single annexation of over 900 acres. In 2011, one annexation petition of 
less than one acre was submitted to and approved by the LBC using the local action method by consent 
of the voters and property owners of land adjacent to city boundaries. A 2007 legislative action petition 
failed to pass a vote by the Palmer City Council to submit to the LBC because of the strenuous objections 
of residents in the areas proposed for annexation. 

Annexation Lessons Learned 
The vast majority of Palmer’s annexations have been small, voluntary and often driven by the annexed 
landowners’ desire to hook up to piped water and sewer services. Although this piecemeal approach 
allowed the City to observe area landowner preferences as to whether or not they wanted to be inside 

Page 156 of 254Page 156 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 8 

City boundaries, the resulting irregular boundaries of the City created practical problems. Irregular 
boundaries and enclaves often create confusion and dissatisfaction about where City services are 
provided, taxes are collected, and voting or other governance rights exist.    

Figure 2. Palmer Annexation History 
• 1951: The City of Palmer was incorporated.

• 1951-1999: 44 City annexations of various sizes, generally upon request by landowners.

• 1999: Palmer Comprehensive Plan (Gillian Smythe & Associates)

• 1999: City of Palmer Annexation. The annexation of 64.9 acres was approved by the LBC as
proposed and approved by unanimous consent of all property owners and residents registered as
voters.

• 2000-2001: City of Palmer Analysis of Annexation Alternatives (Northern Economics, Inc.,
Smythe Associates)

• 2002: City of Palmer Annexation. Through legislative review process, the LBC approved the
annexation of 861.44 acres into the City of Palmer. The annexation received tacit approval of the
legislature.

• 2006: Palmer Comprehensive Plan (Agnew::Beck Consulting) and City of Palmer Analysis of
Annexation Alternatives (Northern Economics, Inc.)

• 2007: City of Palmer prepared an annexation petition that failed to pass City Council and was not
submitted to the LBC.

• 2010: Palmer Annexation Strategy (Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc., Kevin
Waring & Associates)

• 2011: City of Palmer Annexation. Annexation of 0.34 acres approved by the LBC and by
unanimous consent using the local action process.

• 2020: City of Palmer contracts with Agnew::Beck, Halcyon Consulting, and the Alaska Map
Company to study the fiscal and community impacts of a future annexation.

In 2002, with some influence from the State, the City used the legislative option to annex all remaining 
enclaves. Although the annexation by legislative option had mixed support among the affected 
landowners, it provided needed stability and coherence to the City’s boundaries. Within the next few 
years, the City decoupled its water and sewer utility service area boundaries from the City boundaries to 
better serve area residents, which effectively removed the primary motivation for voluntary annexations. 
With only one small, voluntary annexation in the nearly 20 years since then, City boundaries have been 
very stable.  

As the remaining analysis shows, this stability has allowed the City to largely optimize its revenues and 
services to its current boundaries. At the same time, there could be justification for extending some City 
services into new areas through annexations in future, as long as the costs to do so are balanced and 
rural lifestyles can be accommodated. The sense of Palmer as a community may also extend beyond its 
existing boundaries, causing area residents to desire an expanded voice in governance, locally and vis-à-
vis other communities in the state. The decision to annex or not will likely require continued 
communication in a spirit of partnership among the City and any areas it may consider for annexation.  

Page 157 of 254Page 157 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 9 

Fiscal Analysis 

Study Areas 
The modeling techniques described in this chapter require the team to first establish a set of geographic 
boundaries to analyze. City staff and the consultant team started with a general boundary similar to the 
Phase 1 area of the 2006 Palmer Annexation Study (shown in Figure 23 in the Appendices). This area 
was divided into smaller study areas using the guiding questions below. These questions integrate Local 
Boundary Commission annexation standards (Table 1) and the City’s broad goals for annexation 
described in earlier report chapters:  

• Where is growth happening now and over the next 10 years?
• Where are there health and safety issues that need addressing by the City?
• Does the City have capacity to provide services to the area?
• Where is economic development happening or anticipated, including commercial corridors?
• Do the sub-areas have similar natural features?
• Are the land use patterns similar?

The Study Areas map on the following page (Figure 3) shows the resulting seven study areas. These 
geographic boundaries were used to model City finances and service needs upon a hypothetical 
annexation. These areas may or may not be selected for a future annexation petition to the State of 
Alaska. If the City chooses to proceed with annexation, land within these study areas could become part 
of the annexation petition; land outside these study areas could also be considered for annexation.  

Outer Springer Loop: The study areas selected for analytical purposes do not include a large area of 
land between the Glenn Highway and the Matanuska River, called the Outer Springer Loop. This area 
was discussed, but not included because of the size of the area and mix of land uses. Successful 
annexation of an area must be balanced by a corresponding revenue base to support it. As the fiscal 
analysis shows, areas with significant residential populations require a higher (and more costly) level of 
City services. The Outer Springer Loop contains primarily residential subdivisions and farmland, much 
like the Inner Springer Loop (Study Area F), at a much larger scale. The Fiscal Analysis shows that 
annexation of Study Area F would result in a net cost to the City over at least a decade. Annexation of 
the remaining Springer system would have a correspondingly greater net cost to the City. With 
agricultural tax exemptions, the farms in the area would not generate enough commercial tax revenue 
to support the level of services that would be required.  

A question was also raised about whether the LBC would consider any un-annexed land in the Springer 
system to be an enclave if Study Areas E and G were annexed. The 2002 City-initiated annexation 
petition included land that was bordered by the City and the Matanuska River specifically because it 
was considered an enclave, suggesting that the LBC could interpret the Springer system as an 
enclave. However, in this hypothetical annexation, any un-annexed land in the Springer system could 
be interpreted as not a true enclave because it would not be separated from local government services. 
The Alaska State Troopers could still access the area via the State-owned Glenn Highway. Most other 
essential services are already provided by agreement between the Mat-Su Borough and the City of 
Palmer within service areas that are decoupled from City boundaries, therefore unaffected by 
annexation. The consultant team sought advice from LBC staff during winter of 2020-2021, but specific 
guidance was unavailable. Should the City proceed with a petition, the consultants’ recommendation 
would be to consider this issue with LBC staff before submitting the petition. 

Page 158 of 254Page 158 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 10 

Figure 3. Study Areas Map 

Page 159 of 254Page 159 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 11 

Fiscal Analysis Methodology 
The fiscal (i.e., economic) analysis follows a well-established approach developed for the City of Palmer 
during the 2006 annexation study and which the study team has used successfully for other Alaskan 
communities in the intervening period (Figure 4). The process the analysis follows includes: 

1. Identifying the geographic region the municipality wants to include in the analysis and dividing
that region into study areas with a focus toward keeping contiguous neighborhoods of similar
character together.

2. Collecting relevant data about the municipality and the study areas which then serve as inputs
into the fiscal model. These data include population, property values, services gained/lost with
annexation, sales tax revenues, municipal budget data, etc. In essence, the study gathers data
on anything that might materially affect municipal finances in a post-annexation environment.

3. Building a fiscal model based on how the municipality provides services to its population and
generates revenue under current conditions and how it would provide services and generate
revenue if it annexed the study areas. This step provides estimated fiscal effects in the current
year if the municipality had annexed the study areas.

4. Developing scenarios of future changes in population, service cost, revenue, and service
provision.

5. Predicting future fiscal conditions and annexation effects by repeating step 3 but using the
estimates developed in Step 4.

Figure 4. Fiscal Analysis Methodology 

Page 160 of 254Page 160 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 12 

Individual Model Components 
The City of Palmer Annexation Fiscal Model (hereafter “the fiscal model” or “the model”)  is comprised of 
three primary components: 

1. Underlying demographic data and physical attributes including population, property tax base, the
sales tax base, and miles of maintained roads.

2. Revenue components such as actual property taxes collected, sales taxes collected, and all other
collected fines, fees, and forfeitures.

3. Cost of public service components such as police, fire, public works, and non-public safety
general government (e.g., administration, finance, etc.).

The following sub-sections describe the roles these elements play in the fiscal model in greater detail. 

Demographics, Physical Attributes, Tax Base 
The following model components capture the underlying physical elements that drive the city’s service 
costs and revenue streams.  

Population 
Many city costs are directly and indirectly driven by population. For example, the city’s police department 
currently fields one sworn officer for approximately every 610 residents. This service ratio is typical for 
many Alaskan cities and many small communities around the country. Maintaining this service ratio 
means that as population increases, the number of sworn officers increases, as do the number of support 
personnel and non-personnel related costs. 

Using data from the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development and the U.S. Census 
Bureau, the study estimates that in 2020, the population of the current City of Palmer was roughly 6,100 
individuals, while the combined population of all study areas was approximately 3,500. Over the past 
decade, the study estimates that the City of Palmer grew at an average rate of 0.5 percent per year and 
added 322 citizens. The study areas in aggregate grew at an average of 1.9 percent year, but that growth 
was unevenly distributed across the individual study areas. In fact, take away Study Area F and none of 
the individual study areas grew at a faster rate than the city; taken together, all other study areas actually 
had a slower growth rate than the city. The 1.9 percent compound annual growth rate is much lower than 
the 5+ percent compound annual growth rate the region was experiencing during the 2006 annexation 
study. 

Table 2. Estimated Population by Area, 2010 and 2020 

Study Area 
Est. Population 

2010 
Est. Population 

2020 Change (N) 
Avg Annual 

Growth Rate (%) 
Study Area A 35 35 0 0.0 

Study Area B 54 57 3 0.5 

Study Area C 80 80 0 0.0 

Study Area D 1,156 1,200 44 0.4 

Study Area E 835 878 43 0.5 

Study Area F 744 1,259 515 5.4 

Study Area G 8 8 0 0.0 

All Study Areas 2,912 3,517 605 1.9 

City of Palmer 5,781 6,103 322 0.5 

Page 161 of 254Page 161 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 13 

Figure 5. Greater Palmer Land Ownership, 2021 

Property Tax Base 
Property taxes are the City of Palmer’s second most important revenue source after sales taxes, 
generating approximately 15 percent of all tax revenue and 11.5 percent of all revenue. The current city 
mil rate is 3.0 mils (0.3 percent) per annum. In addition, the city residents also pay property taxes to the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough equal to 10.3 mils (1.03 percent) per annum. City residents avoid paying 
roughly 3.08 mils (0.308 percent) of non-areawide Matanuska-Susitna Borough taxes because the City of 
Palmer provides certain services which displace borough services. All things being equal (i.e., if tax rates 
didn’t change), annexed properties would see a drop in property tax rates of 0.08 mils based on 2020 
rates. This change would provide at least equivalent road and fire services and more responsive police 
service. 

Page 162 of 254Page 162 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 14 

As one might expect, aggregate property values are largely concentrated within the City of Palmer, with 
additional areas of medium density seen in Areas D, F, and E (Figure 6). There are two concentrations 
outside the city limits: (1) at the intersection of Bogard Road and N. 49th State Street, and (2) at the 
intersection of Trunk Road and the Parks Highway. The former area (1) includes properties associated 
with tax exempt organizations (i.e., schools and churches), while the latter (2) includes the private 
medical infrastructure of Mat-Su Regional Hospital and surrounding businesses. 

Figure 6. Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable 

The combined assessed value of buildings and land in the City of Palmer is nearly $470 million or 
$76,700 per person of value, on average. Annexing all of the study areas would increase the property tax 
base by $229 million; a 49 percent increase. The annexation study areas vary widely in combined value 
and value per capita. The study area with the highest combined value is Area D, which also has the 
second highest value per capita. Study Area G has the highest value per capita because it is home to 
commercial gravel operations and has almost no residents. Study A has the lowest combined value and 
the lowest value per capita, but it has very few residents.  

Page 163 of 254Page 163 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 15 

Table 3. Assessed Property Values, 2020 

Study Area 
Assessed Land 

Values ($M) 

Assessed 
Building Values 

($M) 
Combined Value 

($M) 
Value per Capita 

($) 
Study Area A 0.73 0.91 1.63 46,683 

Study Area B 1.79 2.71 4.50 78,972 

Study Area C 1.78 5.40 7.19 89,819 

Study Area D 18.43 111.43 129.87 108,221 

Study Area E 10.06 49.73 59.79 68,098 

Study Area F 14.59 89.51 104.10 82,684 

Study Area G 4.12 0.53 4.65 581,563 

All Study Areas 51.50 260.23 229.40 65,225 

City of Palmer 109.71 358.47 468.18 76,713 

Sales Tax Base 
Sales taxes are the city’s largest single source of taxes and revenue, accounting for 84 percent of annual 
tax revenue and nearly 66 percent of all revenues. As one of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough’s major 
commercial and retail centers, the city is playing to its strengths by having a sales tax. Local commercial 
activity is concentrated within the current City of Palmer boundaries (Figure 7). The study estimates that, 
of an estimated $440 million in annual non-tax-exempt commercial activity within the entire study area, 85 
percent occurs within existing City of Palmer boundaries.  

Table 4. Estimated Sales Tax Base (Excluding Utility Taxes) 

Study Area 

Approximate Annual Non-
Exempt Commercial 

Activity ($M) 
Est. 2020 

Population 

Est. Non-Exempt 
Commercial Activity 

per Capita ($) 
Study Area A 0.5 35 14,000 

Study Area B 8.1 57 142,000 

Study Area C 0.3 80 4,000 

Study Area D 14.8 1,200 12,000 

Study Area E 12.5 878 14,000 

Study Area F 2.3 1,259 2,000 

Study Area G 26.8 8 3,350,000 

All Study Areas 65.3 3,517 19,000 

All Study Areas ex. G 38.5 3,509 11,000 

City of Palmer 374.0 6,103 61,000 
Source: Alaska Map Company via DataAxle, 2020. 

In short, the current city boundaries are largely optimized to capture current commercial activity. Only in 
Areas B and G does the per capita sales tax resource base exceed the per capita sales tax resource 
base found within the city. The resources in both of these areas come with important notes: 

• The resource base within Area B is small: just 2.5 percent of what occurs inside the current city
limits.

Page 164 of 254Page 164 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 16 

• The resource base in Area G likely requires either: (1) the establishment of a gravel severance
tax or (2) a change in the city’s $1,000 sales tax cap in order to generate significant tax revenue.

The remaining areas are all relatively commercial-activity poor relative to the population base. 

Figure 7. Heat Map of Commercial Activity 

Road Lane Miles 
The largest non-education costs in most cities are police, fire/emergency response, and public works 
services. The City of Palmer is no different, with 41 percent of the approved FY 2020 budget dedicated to 
Police and Fire/Emergency Response. Public Works the next largest line item, accounting for 18 percent 
of the budget. The primary function of Public Works is to maintain and repair surface transportation routes 
in the city, whether that means repairing potholes in the summer, or plowing and removing snow in the 
winter. The cost of these services is a direct function of the number of road lane miles the city maintains. 
The study estimates that there are currently 82 road lane miles in the city, including area associated with 

Page 165 of 254Page 165 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 17 

on-street parking, and that there are 54 lane miles in the study areas which would transfer to the City.3 
Thus, annexing all of the study areas would increase the number of road lane miles maintained by the 
Palmer Public Works Department by 66 percent. 

Table 5. Road Lane Miles 

Study Area Public Lane Miles (Borough and Road Service Area Roads) 
Study Area A <1 

Study Area B <1 

Study Area C 4 

Study Area D 19 

Study Area E 14 

Study Area F 13 

Study Area G 1 

All Study Areas 54 

City of Palmer 82 
Source: Alaska Map Company 

Revenues 
Taxes, fees, fines, forfeitures, and permits/licenses make up 92 percent of the city’s annual revenues. 
The remaining eight percent of the city’s annual revenues include receipts from the MTA Events Center, 
grants/federal funding, and other revenues; these revenues are unlikely to be affected by annexation.  
The study’s fiscal model concentrates on the 92 percent of revenue generated by these sources because 
they will be directly affected by annexation. 

Sales Taxes (including Utility Sales Taxes) 
The City of Palmer generates sales tax revenues in multiple ways, including traditional sales taxes at 
brick-and-mortar businesses located within the city, a sales tax on utility bills for properties in the city, 
and, starting just recently, a sales tax on online sales.  

The study considered multiple methods of estimating sales tax revenues under annexation at brick-and-
mortar businesses including using per capita averages and average revenue per business. These 
methods were dismissed for a more accurate method that allows the study to account for the city’s 
specific sales tax ordinances, particularly those that exempt services and cap single-purchase maximum 
tax charges at $30. The study purchased a database from DataAxle, a company that specializes in 
estimating commercial activity at the business level. The study then excluded exempt businesses and 
organizations as defined by city ordinances. The study estimates that there is currently $374 million in 
annual commercial activity at non-exempt businesses and organizations within city limits. From this tax 
base, the city generates between $7.0 million and $7.5 million in sales taxes each year; effectively equal 
to two percent of all activity at non-exempt businesses.4 The study repeated the process of excluding 
exempt organizations/business for each annexation study area, then applied the two percent tax harvest 
rate. The study estimates utility sales taxes by calculating the ratio of utility sales tax collected in the city 

3 Lane miles that would transfer to the City include those currently maintained by the Borough and road service 
areas. Roads currently maintained by the State of Alaska would not transfer to the City. 
4 The city’s sales tax rate is three percent, but exempt activity at non-exempt businesses (e.g., purchasing medicine 
at the grocery store) and the sales tax cap on individual purchases above $1,000 reduce the city’s effective tax rate to 
two percent across all commercial activity.  

Page 166 of 254Page 166 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 18 

to property values in the city, then applying that ratio to property values in each study area. Online sales 
taxes are estimated as five percent of aggregate non-utility sales taxes divided among the study areas by 
population. The five percent metric came from a recommendation by the Alaska Municipal League. 

The study estimates that the annexation study areas in aggregate would generate nearly $1.7 million 
each year in sales taxes (from all sources), with Study Areas D, E, and G containing the largest revenue 
sources (Table 6). 

Table 6. Estimated Annual Sales Taxes by Area, Current Tax Structure (Rounded to Nearest $1,000) 

Study Area 

Approximate 
Annual Non-Exempt 
Commercial Activity 

($M) 

Estimated 
Non-Utility 

Sales 
Taxes 

Estimated 
Utility Sales 

Taxes 

Estimated 
Online 
Sales 
Taxes 

Total Sales 
Tax 

Revenue 
Study Area A 0.5 15,000 1,000 1,000 17,000 

Study Area B 8.1 160,000 4,000 2,000 166,000 

Study Area C 0.3 6,000 5,000 2,000 13,000 

Study Area D 14.8 293,000 114,000 40,000 447,000 

Study Area E 12.5 247,000 52,000 29,000 328,000 

Study Area F 2.3 46,000 91,000 41,000 178,000 

Study Area G5 26.8 531,000 4,000 <1,000 535,000 

All Study Areas 65.3 1,299,000 271,000 115,000 1,684,000 

Property Taxes 
Property tax revenues are the city’s second largest revenue source. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
provided the study with assessed tax values for all properties in the city and the study area. The analysis 
estimates property tax revenues by applying the city’s 3 mil property tax rate to aggregate property values 
in each study area. The study estimates the effect on a typical $250,000 property by applying the city’s 
property tax rate to properties in the study area and subtracting the Matanuska-Susitna Borough mil rates 
that would no longer apply to those properties if annexed. The largest potential sources of property tax 
revenues are Study Areas D, F, and E.  

Table 7. Potential Property Tax Revenues 

Study Area 

Assessed 
Land Values 

($M) 

Assessed 
Building Values 

($M) 
Combined 
Value ($M) 

Estimated Annual 
Property Tax 

Revenues at 3 Mils ($) 
Study Area A 0.73 0.91 1.63 55,000 

Study Area B 1.79 2.71 4.5 14,000 

Study Area C 1.78 5.40 7.19 22,000 

Study Area D 18.43 111.43 129.87 390,000 

Study Area E 10.06 49.73 59.79 179,000 

Study Area F 14.59 89.51 104.10 312,000 

Study Area G 4.12 0.53 4.65 14,000 

All Study Areas 51.5 260.23 229.40 935,000 

5 Figures for Study Area G would require a gravel severance tax or change in current sales tax caps. 

Page 167 of 254Page 167 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 19 

Other Revenues 
The city generates a small proportion of its revenues from businesses licenses and fees, building permits 
and fees, and other fines and forfeitures. The study models these additional revenues primarily on a per 
capita basis. In addition, should the city annex any territory, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough can be 
expected to lower its reimbursement to the City of Palmer for operating the Greater Palmer Fire Service 
Area. Table 8 shows net estimated other revenues by study area. Study Areas F, D and E have the 
highest estimated net revenues from these sources because they have the greatest concentrations of 
residents and businesses in the areas outside current city limits. 

Table 8. Estimated Additional Revenues 

Study Area Est. Other Revenues 
Est. Greater Palmer 

Fire Service Area Adj. 
Est. Net Other 

Revenues 
Study Area A 5,500 -1,400 4,100 

Study Area B 9,700 -1,700 8,000 

Study Area C 12,500 -2,000 10,500 

Study Area D 190,000 -29,900 160,100 

Study Area E 138,500 -20,500 118,000 

Study Area F 197,000 -32,000 165,000 

Study Area G 1,400 -300 1,100 

All Study Areas 554,700 -87,800 466,900 

Service Costs 
The study analyzed the city’s budget categories by whether they would be affected by annexation or not. 
The city’s largest cost drivers are Public Safety and Public Works services, which account for 59 percent 
of the city’s approved budget (Figure 8). The study expects that the Police and Public Works cost 
categories would be sharply affected by providing services to annexed areas. Fire Department costs 
would not necessarily increase because Palmer’s fire department already serves the study areas. 
However, as noted above, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough would likely lower fire service area 
reimbursements to the City. The smaller cost categories of the City Manager’s office, Finance, and 
Community Development would be affected as well. The study assumes that the Library, MTA Events Ctr, 
City Hall-Transfers, and Tourist Ctr-Depot, and Mayor-Council-Clerk would be largely unaffected by 
annexation. 

The remainder of this section describes how the model estimates the fiscal effects of annexation on 
affected cost categories. 

Police 
The study models the effects of annexation on the city’s police department through a service ratio 
approach. The city currently maintains one sworn officer per 610 citizens, one dispatcher per 872 citizens, 
and one non-sworn/non-dispatcher staff member per 2,034 citizens. The city’s budget and personnel 
counts allow the study to calculate average staffing costs. The study adds a new employee when the 
service ratio exceeds 105 percent of the current service ratio. For example, the number of citizens per 
sworn officer would have to increase to 641:1 before a new officer would be added. Adding a new officer 
would drop the sworn officer ratio to 583:1. The model would not add another new officer until the number 
of citizens per officer increase to 641:1 again (7,051 citizens). In addition to salary and benefit costs, the 
model adds the equipment needed to field a new officer every time an officer is added. 

Page 168 of 254Page 168 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 20 

Figure 8. FY 2020 City of Palmer Adopted General Fund Expenditures 

Source: City of Palmer, 2021. 

Public Works 
The number of maintained road lane miles drive the costs of the Public Works Department, minus the 
parks and recreation component. The study calculated road lane miles in the city and the study areas, 
then calculated the cost of maintaining road lane miles and the number of road lane miles one Public 
Works staff and their equipment could maintain. The study then worked with the Palmer Public Works 
Department to estimate the staffing and equipment needed to maintain each service area. Looking at the 
study areas, smaller areas or areas with limited public roads can be annexed without adding personnel 
and additional equipment. Study areas with more extensive roads will require significant new personnel. 

Non-Public Safety/Non-Public Works General Government 
The cost of providing the remaining general government services (excluding the library, event center, 
mayoral and council salaries, and other non-departmental line items) is $446 per person per year. In 
general, as a city’s population increases, the total cost of providing general government services also 
increases, but at a declining rate. In short, as long as they do not add new services or departments, cities 
experience economies of scale because they can provide services to a larger population more efficiently 
and spread the costs over a larger tax base. The study adds general government costs for each potential 
new citizen in the study areas but reduces that additional cost per citizen as the city grows. 

Capital Costs 
The study’s fiscal models include capital costs such as additional police vehicles and equipment, 
additional graders and dump trucks, and a new storage building for public works. The model assumes 
these purchases are made when a new police officer is needed or when new equipment operators are 
needed. The city’s department heads maintain that they are currently operating with the minimum amount 

Page 169 of 254Page 169 of 254

https://www.palmerak.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/finance/page/6701/final_adopted_2020_budget.pdf
https://www.palmerak.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/finance/page/6701/final_adopted_2020_budget.pdf


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 21 

of equipment they need for the people they currently have on staff. The Palmer Public Works Department 
currently rents vehicle storage and maintenance space at the Palmer Airport rather than own and 
maintain its own storage and maintenance space. This arrangement helps the Airport’s bottom line and 
allows for city equipment and staff to clear the airport’s runways. However, the Public Works Department 
indicates that they have no space to expand in their current location; adding additional personnel and 
equipment would require leasing or building a new space. The study estimates the cost of building a new 
Public Works storage and maintenance space at $3 million for a basic steel structure and land. This new 
building is incorporated into the fiscal model as soon as the model indicates that the Public Works 
Department would need to hire new personnel and purchase additional equipment.  

New capital for cities is relatively inexpensive because of historically low interest rates. Cities can issue 
bonds for as low as two percent per annum interest, meaning that every million dollars of debt issued 
through a 15-year municipal bond costs only $85,800 per year to repay. Repaying one million dollars in 
capital debt would currently require the city to collect an additional 1.1 cents for every dollar currently 
collected in sales tax revenue. Alternatively, if the debt were repaid through sales tax collections the 
average owner of $250,000 of taxable property would pay $27 more in property taxes per year if the tax 
base included the current city tax base plus the tax base in all the study areas. 

The study does not include a new fire station, which is not currently needed to provide fire protection. 
However, interviews conducted for this study indicated that without a new fire station, the Insurance 
Services Office (ISO) would likely increase the city’s ISO fire score. A higher rating indicates greater fire 
risk and/or lower ability to respond to a fire. The score runs from 1 to 10. Any area more than five driving 
miles from a fire station is automatically a 10. An increased ISO fire score would not directly cost the city 
money, but it could result in increased insurance costs for citizens, as home insurance premiums often 
incorporate this score. The study estimates the cost of a modest fire station at $5,000,000.  

2030 Projections 
The study estimates the net fiscal effect of projected 2030 conditions in 2020 (real dollar) terms. The 
2030 projections carry forward the methodology used in fiscal model described in the previous section 
and adjust anticipated growth in the City of Palmer and study areas. Projections are driven by 
assumptions that impact the following economic drivers: 

1. Changes to population

2. Forecasted housing development

3. Changes to revenue components, such as property taxes and sales taxes collected.

The follow sub-sections describe the roles each of these elements play in the 2030 projections in greater 
detail. 

Population 
The fiscal model bases future population growth on Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce 
Development (ADOLWD) population projections. The ADOLWD projects that the population of the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough will have an average annual growth rate of 1.8 percent between 2020 and 
2030. This growth rate is used to project the 2030 populations for the City of Palmer and total population 
of the combined study areas. The model then distributes the combined study area populations to each of 
the seven focus areas based on historical population distribution and the perceived future development 
potential in each area. Information collection through interviews with City of Palmer and Matanuska-
Susitna Borough department heads informed the distribution of the projected population growth within the 
study area. The study notes that a 1.8 percent growth rate is 60 percent less than the average annual 

Page 170 of 254Page 170 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 22 

growth rate of 5.0 percent presumed in the 2006 study. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough, and Alaska in 
general, are growing much more slowly in percentage compared to 15 years ago. Growth rates have 
slowed because birth rates are declining and because economic conditions are attracting fewer people to 
Alaska, while more people are moving out-of-state.  

Housing 
The fiscal model estimates the number of current residential structures using property tax appraisal data 
collected by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. The number of future residential structures is based on 
estimated population growth in each of the study areas divided by the current average household size in 
the study area (2.58 persons per residential structure). These housing projections assume that future 
growth will reflect current building trends and average household sizes. 

Property Taxes 
The fiscal model estimates the future property tax base using population projections (described above) 
and the average assessed value (combined land and building) per capita in each study area. Area-
specific assumptions about future development potential are used to adjust population projections, and 
average annual growth rates in assessed property values (between 2010 and 2020) are used to adjust for 
expected changes in property values. Property tax revenues are calculated by multiplying projected 
property values by the City’s current mil rate of 3.0 mils. The model assumes the mil rate stays constant 
through 2030.  

Sales Taxes 
The fiscal model estimates sales tax revenues using the average annual sales tax per capita. Historical 
sales tax revenues published by Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic 
Development (DCCED) are divided by annual DOLWD population estimates for the City of Palmer and 
surrounding census tracts to calculate and average sales tax per capita and the corresponding average 
annual growth in sales tax revenues per person.6 The average annual growth in sales tax per person is 
used to calculate the average sales tax per person in 2030 and that number is then applied to the 
population estimate for the combined study areas. The model distributes projected sales tax revenues to 
each study area based on the historical distribution of commercial activity in each area.  

Fiscal Impact Analysis 

Fiscal Effects 
Annexations almost always have some level of fiscal effect on the annexing city and the annexed areas. 
By expanding its boundaries, a municipality increases its citizenry and often its tax base. The costs of 
providing municipal governance and services would be spread among more people, which could lower 
the taxes a given individual would pay. However, the benefits of an expanded tax base must be balanced 
against the costs of providing governance and services to the annexed areas. If the costs outweigh the 
revenue potential of the annexed areas, taxes may need to be increased and the rationale for a 
successful annexation would rest more heavily on other community goals, such as protecting the health 
and safety of community members through the extension of municipal governance, regulation and/or 
services. As noted previously, a central goal of this study is to estimate the fiscal effects of annexation on 
the city, on city residents, and on residents of studied areas. 

6 Sales Tax per capital calculations based on 2010-2019 DOLWD population estimates for census tracts 11, 12.01. 
12.02, and 13 in the Mat-Su Borough  

Page 171 of 254Page 171 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 23 

Fiscal Findings 
As explained below, the study finds that annexation of most of the study areas in this analysis would 
result in net negative annual fiscal effects (i.e., cost more money than they would raise in taxes). 
However, these fiscal gaps are small and could be readily mitigated using the city’s existing tax structure.  
In particular, balancing the budget using the city’s sales tax resource would likely be imperceptible to 
taxpayers, for the most part. For example, annexing all areas and mitigating the fiscal effects through a 
sales tax increase would cost a taxpayer an extra $0.10 on a $100 purchase. There are a few study areas 
where the increased cost to property taxpayers would be potentially noticeable and impactful (about $300 
to $400 per year) assuming the city opted to mitigate the cost of annexation solely through property taxes 
in those areas. 

The study assessed the fiscal effects of eight different annexation scenarios, looking at how annexation 
would affect not only net operating fiscal effects but debt repayment fiscal effects. The study estimates 
that, if the city annexed all of the annexation areas, annual revenues under the current tax structure 
would increase by nearly $3.09 million, while operating costs would increase by $3.54 million for a net 
operating fiscal effect of approximately -$0.45 million (-$448,000) (Table 9). At the same time, the study 
estimates that the City would need to invest roughly $5.4 million in capital costs, which at current interest 
rates, would result in an annual debt repayment cost of $469,000. Thus, the total net fiscal effect of 
annexing all study areas is roughly -$0.9 million. In order to balance the budget, the City would have to 
cut costs equal to this amount, raise revenues equal to this amount, or find some combination of cost 
saving measures and additional revenue generation.  

The combined study areas are roughly equivalent to the “Phase 1” area considered in the 2006 Palmer 
annexation analysis. The 2006 study found that by 2015, Phase 1 would have a net annual fiscal effect of 
-$300,000 and -$600,000 per year. If that study had extended its projections to 2020, it would have 
estimated that Phase 1 would have a net annual fiscal effect of -$550,000 to -$1.5 million. In 2020, this 
study’s results for annexing all the study areas is nearly in the middle of that range, reaffirming the Phase 
1 results of the 2006 study. In fact, the 2006 range projected to 2020 suggests that either the study areas 
in this study are smaller than the Phase 1 area, the actual population growth rate has been lower than 
anticipated in 2006, the City has found ways to reduce the cost of providing public goods and services 
since 2006, or some combination of these factors. 

This 2020 study’s estimates for the individual study areas show a fairly wide range of results, reflecting 
the unique characteristics of each area. For example, the study estimates that: 

• Areas A or C could be annexed with minimal annual fiscal effects. These areas have small
populations, minimal levels of public roads, require no real capital investment, and have relatively
scant tax bases.

• Area B could be annexed with a positive net annual fiscal effect. In short, taxpayers in both the
City and Area B could benefit from modestly lower taxes. This area has limited population, a
decent tax base relative to population, and would require no real capital investment on the part of
the city to service.

• Areas D, E, or F would all have a negative net annual fiscal effect on the city because they are
home to larger populations and more public roads. All require similar levels of capital investment
and more capital investment than Areas A, B, or C. Of these three areas, Area D has the lowest
fiscally negative effect because it has a sales tax base to balance out its higher costs. Area F has
the largest predicted negative net annual fiscal effects because it is largely residential and has no
corresponding sales tax base.

Page 172 of 254Page 172 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 24 

• Area G is only considered for annexation in combination with Area E in observance of State
annexation rules that prevent the creation of enclaves. Because Study Area G is not contiguous
with the current city boundaries, Area E is required to create a contiguous geographic area. The
study predicts negative net annual fiscal effects from annexing these study areas together.

Table 9. Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Operating Costs Capital Costs Net Annual 
Operating 

and Capital 
Repayment 
Fiscal Effect 

($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Revenues 
($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Costs ($) 

Net 
Operating 

Fiscal 
Effect ($) 

Est. 
Initial 

Capital 
Costs ($) 

Annual 
Debt 

Repayment 
($) 

Area A Only 26,000 36,000 -10,000 0 0 -10,000

Area B Only 187,000 48,000 139,000 0 0 139,000 

Area C Only 46,000 68,000 -22,000 0 0 -22,000

Area D Only 997,000 1,457,000 -460,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -725,000

Area E Only 626,000 1,175,000 -549,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -814,000

Area F Only 656,000 1,380,000 -724,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -989,000

Areas E+G 1,176,000 1,189,000 -13,000 3,930,000 -337,000 -350,000

All Study 
Areas 

3,087,000 3,535,000 -448,000 5,465,000 -469,000 -917,000

The positive or negative net fiscal effects of annexation can be offset by changes in the City’s tax rates. In 
the case of positive fiscal effects, taxpayers would receive a reduction in their rates. Negative net fiscal 
effects require tax rate increases or service reductions to balance the city budget. The study finds that in 
all annexation scenarios, the City could balance its budget with relatively small tax increases, particularly 
if the City leveraged its sales tax base. For example, if the City annexed all the annexation areas, the 
study estimates that it could balance its budget by increasing the sales tax rate from 3 percent to 3.15 
percent. The net effect on a typical $1,000 of commercial activity at non-exempt businesses would be 
$0.98 of increased taxation. Alternatively, the city could raise its property tax mill rate to 3.6 mils, which 
would cost the owner of a $250,000 property an additional $290 annually if the property is inside or 
outside the current city limits (Table 10). 

Table 10 converts the net fiscal effect (Table 9) into expected “pocketbook” effects for taxpayers. Study 
Areas may have similar net fiscal effects, but the relative size of their tax bases determines how much tax 
rates would need to change to balance those net fiscal effects. For example, annexing Area F or 
annexing all the study areas would have the same net fiscal effect. However, annexing all study areas 
has less than half the property tax effect and about half the sales tax effect of annexing Area F alone. 
This difference between the net fiscal effect and the net tax effect is because city services are utilized 
more efficiently when the city annexes a larger area and because a larger annexation would spread the 
cost of services over the maximum tax base. 

Page 173 of 254Page 173 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 25 

Table 10. Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes 

Annexation 
Scenario 

All Property Tax Approach All Sales Tax Approach 

Mil Rate 
Change 

Required 
to Balance 

Budget 
(3 mils + 

…) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(City of 

Palmer, $) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(Annexed 
Area, $) 

Sales Tax Rate 
Change 

Required to 
Balance 
Budget 
(3%+ …) 

Effect per 
$1,000 of 

Commercial 
Activity at 

Non-Exempt 
Businesses 

($) 
Area A Only 0.02 5 3 0.004 0.03 

Area B Only -0.29 -70 -80 -0.055 -0.37

Area C Only 0.05 10 10 0.009 0.06 

Area D Only 1.21 300 300 0.285 1.90 

Area E Only 1.54 390 380 0.316 2.10 

Area F Only 1.73 430 430 0.391 2.60 

Areas E+G 0.66 160 160 0.127 0.85 

All Study Areas 1.18 290 290 0.302 2.02 

The results of the study clearly show that annexation of Areas A, B, C, and E+G would have minimal tax 
effects on taxpayers in the city and in annexation areas. Annexing Area E, Area D, or Area F would have 
modest, but significantly larger tax effects; annexing all study areas results in tax effects between the 
former and the latter. These results provide insight into two broad options for the City if it chooses to 
pursue annexation. The City could choose: 

A. Go Small: The “go small” approach would involve the City annexing some combination of Areas
A, B, and/or C, or it could choose to annex Area E+G. Annexing one, or perhaps some of these
areas, would require the least investment in new personnel, equipment, and buildings.
Annexation would require little to no changes in the City’s current tax structure. The City could
focus its efforts on the issue of how to adapt current city ordinances to accommodate the lifestyle
issue raised in public comment and identified by the study’s survey.

B. Go Big: Study results indicate that if the City wants to annex some of the larger, more populated
areas, it should consider whether it wants to annex all or nearly all of the annexation areas under
consideration. Annexing a large population at once allows the City to take advantage of
economies of scale and spread capital costs over the largest tax base possible, an option not
available when considering annexing only Areas D, E, or F. In a “Go Big” approach, the City
would annex all of the study areas (with the possible exception of Area F). This approach would
likely require a modest change in tax structure and investment in revising the City’s ordinances to
address the issues raised by the survey and public process.

2030 Fiscal Findings 
The following section summarizes the projected fiscal effects of annexation expected to be seen in the 
year 2030. The projected fiscal impacts for 2030 are presented in 2020 dollars or in real terms. 
Presenting these values in real terms excludes the effect of inflation, so that both the 2020 and 2030 

Page 174 of 254Page 174 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 26 

values are viewed through the same 2020 lens, allowing for an “apples to apples” comparison. This 
model assumes that changes in costs will align with the general upward price movement of goods and 
services in the economy and that inflationary impacts will largely be canceled out.  

The study finds that annexation of most areas studied in this analysis would continue to result in net 
negative annual fiscal effects in the year 2030. Table 11 summarizes the environmental and fiscal 
changes projected for 2030 in additive terms (i.e., the expected change between the 2020 and 2030). The 
study estimates that if the City annexed all of the study areas, annual revenues would increase by 
$306,000 and annual operating costs would increase by $387,000 between 2020 and 2030. These 
changes would increase the overall fiscal gap by roughly $95,500. This change is primarily driven by 
projected population growth and changes in sales and property tax revenues.  

Looking at individual study areas, the model projects that in Study Areas A, B, C and E, fiscal gaps would 
start to close as the population increases and the City realizes economies of scale. However, the analysis 
projects that the net fiscal effects of annexation will worsen in Study Areas D, F and G. In Study Area D, 
continued population growth is expected to incur service increases (i.e., the need for additional police 
officer(s)) without commensurate development of tax resources. There are very few sales tax resources in 
Study Area F, and continued population growth will only increase expected city operating costs in that 
area. Study Area G is expected to see decreased revenue potential as the large gravel pit in that area 
nears the end of its operational life. 

Table 11. 2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

2030 Environment Changes 2030 Fiscal Changes Change 
in Net 
Fiscal 
Effect 
2020-
2030 

New 
Pop-

ulation 

New 
Housing 

Units 

New 
Property 
Tax ($) 

New 
Sales 

Tax ($) 

Revenue 
Change 

($) 

Operating 
Cost 

Change ($) 

Capital 
Cost 

Change 

Area A Only 10 4 1,000 5,000 8,000 5,000 0 3,000 

Area B Only 39 15 9,000 48,000 62,000 18,000 0 44,000 

Area C Only 39 15 11,000 4,000 19,000 17,000 0 2,000 

Area D Only 103 40 33,000 129,000 176,000 224,000 14,500 -62,500

Area E Only 221 86 53,000 95,000 169,000 127,000 0 42,000 

Area F Only 214 83 53,000 52,000 133,000 389,000 14,500 -270,500

Areas E+G 224 87 51,000 250,000 -93,000 128,000 0 -221,000

All Study 
Areas 

630 244 159,000 488,000 306,000 387,000 14,500 -95,500

The 2030 projections for the individual study area vary significantly between study area and reflect the 
unique characteristics of each study area. The 2030 projections assume that: 

• While the soils in Area A are good for development, there is not a lot of available land in this
area. There is no real expectation for future development in this area.

Page 175 of 254Page 175 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 27 

• Areas B and C are both largely agricultural, but as larger parcels are divided and sold, these
areas could see a healthy portion of projected future growth.7 Area C’s proximity to schools also
makes this area desirable for future development.

• Area D is largely built out and is seen as having less potential for future growth. This area’s
proximity to trails makes it desirable, but there are a limited number of parcels that could
accommodate future growth.

• Area E is largely raw land that is seen as highly desirable but could be slightly more expensive to
develop. This area is expected to capture a moderate amount of future growth.

• Infill is likely to continue in Area F but there are a number of large lots owned by the Alaska State
Fair that might limit future development.

• Area G is viewed as largely unsuitable for residential development due to extensive gravel
mining operations in the area.

7 Several Palmer-area farmers have been and continue to work with the Alaska Farmland Trust to place agricultural 
preservation easements on their farmland. These preservation easements could decrease the development potential 
of farmland, depending on the provisions of the easement.  

Page 176 of 254Page 176 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 28 

Community Analysis 

Community Analysis Methodology 
The community analysis focuses on public perception as well as non-fiscal annexation impacts that would 
affect annexed areas, such as the application of City land use and other regulations. The community 
analysis is used to: a) inform the fiscal modeling assumptions, if applicable, b) clarify the changes and 
resulting impacts of a proposed annexation, and c) identify actions the City of Palmer could take to 
ameliorate unwanted effects of annexation, d) understand how members of the greater Palmer 
community weigh the potential benefits and challenges of annexation.  

The project team conducted public outreach to identify specific annexation effects through a variety of 
methods, including interviews and meetings and two rounds of an online survey. The Project team 
reviewed relevant comments and testimony offered at City Council meetings about the annexation study 
and responded to emails and telephone calls about the study from concerned citizens.  

Information about the study was posted to the project website: https://palmerannexstudy.org/, and a 
project email list was used to send updates about key project developments and opportunities for 
community involvement. 

Interviews and Meetings 
The project team conducted 10 key informant interviews and focus group discussions, including city staff, 
LBC staff, Palmer-area farmers and hobby farmers, Mat-Su Borough staff, and a local Economic 
Development Committee Board Member.  

The project team also conducted several public meetings, listening sessions and presentations, as well 
as a radio show that aired on Radio Free Palmer. Because the study was completed during the COVID-
19 pandemic, all public meetings were conducted virtually. Meetings featured a presentation of key 
findings from the study as well as opportunity for general discussion and questions to be answered. 
Recordings of the February 4 and February 20 meetings were posted online for general viewing at Radio 
Free Palmer (https://www.radiofreepalmer.org/streamed-meetings/) and the Palmer Annexation Study 
project website (https://palmerannexstudy.org/), respectively.  

1. August 25, 2020 and September 8, 2020: presentations of study methodology and plan to Palmer
City Council.

2. February 4, 2021: online public meeting, attended by 17 community members.
3. February 8, 2021: online listening session, with three community members registered.
4. February 10, 2021: Presentation to the Palmer Chamber of Commerce.
5. February 11, 2021: online listening session, with 11 community members registered.
6. February 20, 2021: online listening session, with 27 community members registered.
7. April 13, 2021: presentation of findings to Palmer City Council.

Survey 
The Palmer Annexation Study survey was open November 3 to November 20, 2020 and from January 25 
to February 22, 2021. The survey had a grand total of 610 responses. Questions were designed to reveal 
how people weigh the potential benefits and detriments of annexation (included in the Appendices). The 
survey had a majority of white respondents and a diversity of income levels. Respondents were fairly well 
distributed by age with just over one-third in the younger age cohort. In comparing survey responses to 

Page 177 of 254Page 177 of 254

https://palmerannexstudy.org/
https://palmerannexstudy.org/
https://www.radiofreepalmer.org/streamed-meetings/
https://www.radiofreepalmer.org/streamed-meetings/
https://palmerannexstudy.org/
https://palmerannexstudy.org/


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 29 

City of Palmer demographics, respondent demographics are fairly but not exactly consistent with trends 
citywide. It is fair to suggest that the younger demographic is slightly less represented, compared to City 
demographics. Similarly, people of color are slightly less represented when compared to Palmer 
demographics. Finally, lower income households are notably less represented compared to household 
income distribution in Palmer overall. 

Table 12. Respondent Demographics 

All Survey 
Respondents 

City of Palmer 2018 ACS 
(US Census Bureau) 

City of Palmer and 
Study Areas 2020* 

Female 273 45% 48% 50% 

Male 243 40% 52% 50% 

Prefer not to answer 87 14% 

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

Age 20-44 220 36% 57% 49% 

Age 45-64 229 38% 28% 34% 

Age 65 and over 86 14% 15% 17% 

Prefer not to answer 69 11% 

Total Age 20 and over 604 100% 100% 100% 

White or Caucasian 377 62% 76% 74% 
American Indian or Alaska 
Native 18 3% 8% 8% 

Black or African American 6 1% 3% 2% 

Asian or Asian American 2 0% 2% 2% 

Two or more races 33 5% 10% 8% 

Another race 12 2% 2% 6% 

Prefer not to answer 157 26% 

Total 605 100% 100% 100% 

Under $25,000 7 1% 17% 18% 

$25,000-$49,999 42 7% 24% 18% 

$50,000-$74,999 73 12% 19% 17% 

$75,000-$99,999 118 20% 14% 12% 

Over $100,000 205 34% 25% 36% 

Prefer not to answer 158 26% 

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

2020 Data from ESRI adjusted by the Alaska Map Co. using Mat-Su Borough housing assessment counts. 

Research and Reflection 
The project team reviewed previous annexation studies conducted for the City of Palmer, Palmer 
Municipal Code, as well as prior-year annexation petitions and other procedural resources on file with the 

Page 178 of 254Page 178 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 30 

LBC. Specific concerns were researched to clearly communicate the changes that would occur upon 
annexing land. If potential actions were identified to avoid or ameliorate negative impacts, these have 
been noted in the analysis and transition plan chapters. Where possible, examples of code used by 
comparable to cities to accommodate specific regulatory concerns have also been noted.  

Community Impact Analysis 
Level of Support for Annexation 
Survey findings show that 62 percent of those who live in the city support annexation and 17 percent do 
not support, whereas 15 percent of those who live in the study areas support annexation and 67 percent 
do not support it. This trend is similar for business owners in City versus the study areas. Business 
owners within the City are more evenly split (43 percent indicated possible support, whereas 39 percent 
indicated a lack of support). Business owners in the study areas indicated a stronger lack of support (74 
percent). These results indicate that Palmer residents want more people to join the City and possibly 
understand some of the benefits of annexation.  

Figure 9. General Level of Support for Annexation 

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.

Page 179 of 254Page 179 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 31 

Table 13. Resident Support for Annexation 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 

Table 14. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 

Table 15. Business Owner Support for Annexation 

Own Business in 
City 

Own Business in 
Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

Page 180 of 254Page 180 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 32 

Annexation Benefits and Challenges 
Figure 10. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

Annexation Benefits 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of survey 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

• Access to or improved City services, generally
• Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed

fire station, bike paths
• Attracting businesses and families
• Everyone in the area living by the same rules

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response

Page 181 of 254Page 181 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 33 

• Less confusion about city boundaries
• Lifestyle preferences
• More opportunities for input on future planning and growth
• Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base
• Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses
• Representation in City government
• Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Annexation Challenges 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived challenges associated with annexation, survey 
responses fell into the categorized areas of concern in Figure 11. The most repeated concerns included 
not wanting more regulation, not wanting (or feeling unable to afford) an increase in taxes, and concerns 
about the City’s ability to provide services to annexed areas at a comparable quality and cost-
effectiveness to the Borough. Respondents also noted concerns about the City’s readiness to extend 
services and enforcement of City regulations in annexed areas without first demonstrating some 
improvements within existing boundaries.  

Figure 11. Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%

Page 182 of 254Page 182 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 34 

Specific concerns raised by business owners included concerns about farms, businesses operated on the 
same property as the home, and ongoing administrative impacts of adapting to the City’s tax structure 
and regulatory framework that would be a burden to businesses. In many cases, resident and business 
concerns were identical: 17 percent of business owners live and own a business in the same area. 

Respondents were also asked open-ended questions about actions the City could take to address their 
concerns and about information the study should include. Key themes from the responses of all open-
ended questions are summarized by topic area on the following pages.  

Community Fiscal Concerns 
City Revenues/Tax Base  
Through the study’s public outreach activities, some area residents and business owners acknowledged 
the benefits of an expanded tax base to distribute the cost of public services among more taxpayers and 
potentially gain new revenue sources to improve city services. In open-ended responses, five percent of 
all respondents noted positive impacts to the City’s revenues and/or tax base as a benefit of annexation. 
These respondents suggested that the City would benefit from a larger or broader tax base through 
increased population, bringing more businesses into the City, and/or taxing the quarry/gravel pits. 
Respondents also suggested the City might see increases in revenue through taxes and/or through 
increased allocations for State/Federal funding sources. One respondent asked if annexation would 
increase or decrease Palmer’s chances as a small community to be awarded grants.  

Area residents and business owners also expressed a great deal of concern about the impact of an 
annexation on their overall taxes. In open-ended responses, nearly 30 percent of all respondents 
indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. One respondent suggested that in the event of a 
significant annexation, the City should consider temporary tax abatements or a ramp in the property and 
sales taxes in annexed territory, so any tax increases are not a shock to annexed residents and 
businesses. 

Property Taxes 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough (MSB) collects property taxes for the entire Borough, including City 
property taxes, and remits the City property taxes back to the City. All Borough residents pay the Mat-Su 
Borough areawide property tax, inside and outside City boundaries. Inside City boundaries, residents also 
pay the City property tax. Outside City boundaries, residents also pay the Mat-Su Borough non-areawide 
property tax. City and Borough property tax rates change from year-to-year; 2020 tax rates are shown 
below. Property tax exemptions for seniors and disabled veterans and farmland use tax deferments apply 
equally for City and Borough residents. 

Annexed property owners would pay City property tax to the City of Palmer plus the Mat-Su Borough 
areawide property tax; they would no longer pay a separate road service area tax, fire service area tax, or 
the Borough non-areawide property tax. The Mat-Su Borough would continue to do all property 
assessments for annexed properties. Annexation into the City of Palmer has not been found to affect 
property values in the past. Currently, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough has a cap on property taxes. The 
City of Palmer does not currently have a property tax cap, but it could implement one. Neither exemptions 
for seniors and disabled veterans, nor farmland use tax deferments would be affected by annexation. 

Page 183 of 254Page 183 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 35 

Inside Palmer City Limits, property owners pay: 

10.322 mils (MSB areawide property tax) 

+ 3.000 mils  (City property tax)

13.322 mils (total property tax, 2020 for FY21 budget) 

Outside Palmer City Limits, property owners pay: 

10.322 mils (MSB areawide property tax) 

1.500 mils (South Colony Road Service Area tax) 

0.960 mils (Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service 
Area property tax)

+ 0.511 mils  (MSB non-areawide property tax)

13.293 mils (total property tax, 2020 for FY21 budget) 

65 percent of survey respondents viewed City property tax as a detriment. Open-ended responses that 
specifically mentioned property tax indicated some concern about increasing property taxes especially if it 
pays for services that are neither wanted nor used. One response included the suggestion to create a city 
property tax cap. 

Sales Taxes 
The City of Palmer also has a three percent sales tax, which is collected by non-exempt businesses 
within City limits. The City has a sales tax cap of $1,000 per item/service and several sales tax 
exemptions (listed in Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.050 Exemptions),8 including for land/property sales, 
various school-related sales, medical services and prescriptions, bulk sales of feed, seed and fertilizer to 
farmers, various financial sales and services, food stamps, funeral expenses, some aviation-related sales 
and other exemptions. The City of Palmer recently adopted the Alaska Uniform Remote Seller Sales Tax 
Code (PMC 3.16.300), which charges sales tax on purchases made to remote businesses (i.e., online 
sellers) under Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.035 (Sales tax application). 

Palmer’s City sales tax would be collected on applicable sales within annexed areas. Individual 
businesses would have to check whether their activities would be included among the exemptions. 
Residents in annexed areas would pay sales tax on utilities (and rent if they do not own their home). 
Depending where they do their other day-to-day spending, most annexed residents would probably find 
that they have already been paying City sales tax on purchases from businesses inside existing City 
boundaries.  

71 percent of survey respondents viewed City sales tax as a detriment. Open-ended responses that 
specifically mentioned sales tax indicated that some homeowners limit their spending overall and 
particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown food. Some businesses are concerned that 
having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax would hurt their business because their 
competition does not have to charge sales taxes. One response included the suggestion to eliminate the 
City’s monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. 

8 City of Palmer. Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.050 Exemptions. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/3.16.050. 

Page 184 of 254Page 184 of 254

http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/3.16.050


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 36 

Severance Tax 
Open-ended survey responses that specifically mentioned other types of city taxes and fees indicated 
support for a severance tax on local quarries and/or gravel pits as well as a road tax against quarry 
trucks. The City does not currently have a severance tax. The City may consider implementing a 
severance tax on materials extraction, although the City has no intention to impose significant new taxes. 
The City would have to consider the maturity of existing extraction operations and how long a severance 
tax could be a reliable revenue source.  

Bed Tax 
One survey response included a question about whether the city would collect a bed tax. The Matanuska-
Susitna Borough currently collects a five percent bed tax on businesses that provide traveler 
accommodations. Annexed hospitality businesses would still pay the Borough bed tax, but the City of 
Palmer does not have a bed tax. These businesses would only be responsible to the City for collecting 
City sales tax. Note that Palmer’s zoning codes (PMC 17.89 Short-Term Rentals) include regulation and 
standards for bed and breakfast-style lodging.  

Other Fees 
Survey responses mentioned concerns about local improvement district assessments, building 
permit/inspection fees, as well as fees for specific city services (e.g., garbage collection, City water/sewer 
connection fees). The City of Palmer charges a number of fees that would apply to annexed residents or 
businesses, depending on the individual situation or activities the resident or business is engaged in. For 
example, businesses in the City of Palmer must have a City business license, which costs $25 per year. 
For an up-to-date listing, please reference the resources below.  

City of Palmer Fee Schedule: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule. 

Quick Reference Guide to Establishing a Business in Palmer, Alaska: 
www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-
alaska  

Planning and Growth Management 
As the Palmer area’s population grows and land is developed, annexation would allow the City to apply its 
land use powers to help plan for and manage development in annexed areas. Some real estate 
developers prefer to develop land within City boundaries to benefit from services like City Police. As land 
is proposed for development or redevelopment, planning and land use regulation can reduce 
incompatible adjacent land uses and help protect the small-town feel of the area that people value, 
especially along main road corridors like the Glenn and Palmer-Wasilla Highways, where State road 
improvements make development more attractive. The study areas include gravel pits, which will 
eventually close, and it is not known how that land will be re-developed. A well-timed annexation would 
give the City greater influence over what happens with the land once the gravel operations close, 
ensuring that future uses are compatible with existing land uses in the area and local community 
character. 

“If all the farmland leading into Palmer is built on, it’s just going to look like any other town, not home anymore.” 
“Palmer is a small town that is perfect for families, and we want it to stay exactly as it is.” 

Greater Palmer also includes significant areas of farmland. Not only is maintaining agriculture important to 
Palmer’s character and identity, the greater Palmer area has some of the cleanest and most productive 
(Class 2) soils in the state. City zoning could help protect farmland that is intended for perpetual use as 
agricultural land. Some area farmers are already putting conservation easements on their prime farmland 

Page 185 of 254Page 185 of 254

http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-alaska
http://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-alaska
http://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-alaska


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 37 

for this reason through the Alaska Farmland Trust. Farmers may also want to keep the flexibility of having 
at least part of their property remain un-zoned land that can maintain a higher value for sale and 
redevelopment.  

Annexation could give the City more reason to promote economic development inside its boundaries. 
Unlike most other City taxes and fees, Palmer’s City sales tax generates revenue from local and non-local 
taxpayers through business sales. The more businesses inside the City that generate sales tax revenue 
from sales to non-local customers or clients, the more the City can reduce its local tax burden to area 
residents. 

Key Findings 
Public outreach revealed very mixed viewpoints about the planning and growth management aspects of 
annexation. Some view annexation and the City’s ability to do land use planning as the key to growth for 
Palmer, attracting businesses and families, opening more economic opportunities and allowing the 
community to develop with assurances of zoning control to avoid incompatible uses and maintain the 
small-town feel of the area. Some area residents and business owners would value City land use controls 
to protect Palmer’s character as land is developed, especially along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway and 
Glenn Highway corridors. Some area residents view zoning and regulation as good for residents, rather 
than intrusive.  

”Palmer’s layout is much better than the ‘anything goes’ Matanuska-Susitna Borough zoning.” “With the Matanuska-
Susitna Borough you can have a business’ sheet metal building constructed in a residential area.” 

Others expressed concerns that annexation would encourage growth and, with it, crime, high density 
housing without the infrastructure to support it, traffic, and unwanted levels of commercial development. 
Some commented about the importance of maintaining Palmer’s small town feel and protecting farmland. 

Responses indicated support for protecting Palmer's small-town character, including support for farmland 
preservation. Responses revealed a difference of opinion about annexation as either opportunity to 
extend City land use regulations to manage growth or the belief that annexation would drive population 
growth and thereby irreversibly destroy Palmer’s small-town lifestyle. Comments included a request for 
the study to describe the long-term goals of the City in pursuing annexation as well as to provide growth, 
traffic and land value projections. These respondents want to know if annexation would affect the value of 
annexed land, as well as the costs and ripple effects of increased development and the population growth 
that would follow, such as impacts to traffic volume and patterns.  

Land Use Regulations 
67 percent of survey respondents viewed City zoning and land use regulations as a detriment. Open-
ended responses revealed mixed attitudes toward land use regulations. Some voiced concerns about 
how annexed land will be zoned and whether the City has appropriate land use designations. People 
generally want to be able to keep doing what they have been doing with their land; many expressed 
support for grandfathering existing land uses in any annexed territory. Some people expressed general 
opposition to zoning and other land use regulations, while others voiced the desire for greater 
enforcement of existing city regulations inside the City.  

Some responses support zoning or other land use regulations for a variety of reasons including: 

• protect Palmer’s small-town character;
• prevent sprawl;
• protect the quality of Palmer’s downtown and commercial district(s);
• protect farmland and hobby farm activities on primarily residential;

Page 186 of 254Page 186 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 38 

• protect public health and sanitation (i.e., disallow septic systems where they would endanger
public health);

• limit high-density housing.

One respondent suggested a green buffer next to the Mountain Ranch subdivision. Another respondent 
suggested allowing buildings over three stories. Other responses oppose zoning or other land use 
regulations for fear that it would decrease land value or disallow the existing mix of uses on individual 
properties.  

Building Codes, Permits, etc. 
62 percent of survey respondents viewed City building codes and permits as a detriment. Open-ended 
responses that mentioned building codes, permits and inspections reflected a desire for the City to be 
more flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc. Some 
concerns focused more on the costs associated with code compliance and permitting for building and 
land use.  

 Issue Explanation 

General 
Regulations 

As part of an annexation petition, the City must submit a transition plan for the areas 
proposed for annexation to the State Local Boundary Commission. The transition plan 
would describe when and how City regulations would be applied to annexed areas, 
including applicable zoning, as well as any regulatory changes that would take effect upon 
incorporating annexed territory into the city. Some land uses and building structures that 
would not meet existing Palmer Municipal Code (PMC) could be grandfathered (allowed 
inside expanded City boundaries by “grandfather rights”). The City could also change 
certain existing City regulations upon annexation for the entire City or create regulations 
that apply only in certain areas or land use designations. Existing Palmer Municipal Code 
can be viewed at http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC  

Subdivisions Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code, Title 16 (Subdivisions) was repealed by ordinance in 
2006. Palmer Municipal Code, Title 16 (Subdivisions) regulates land subdivisions within the 
City. The Palmer City Planning and Zoning Commission reviews plats and provides 
subdividers with guidance to ensure compliance with Palmer Municipal Code, and formally 
approves or disapproves final plats. 

Homeowner 
Association 
covenants, 
codes and 
restrictions 
(CCRs) 

Homeowner Association covenants, codes and restrictions (CCRs) are not affected by 
annexation and are up to the homeowner association to enforce. If private CCR(s) conflict 
with City code, the City will enforce its code.  

Zoning and 
Conditional 
Use Permits 

With a few exceptions, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough currently requires Land Use 
Permits, as well as Conditional Use Permits for certain high impact uses (e.g., adult 
entertainment, materials extraction) in all areas of the Borough outside the cities of 
Houston, Palmer and Wasilla.9  
Upon annexation, the City’s zoning powers would be applied to annexed territory by 
recommendation to the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission. Palmer Municipal Code, 
Title 17 (Zoning) currently contains 17 different zoning districts that provide a wide range of 
by right and conditional uses. Generally, annexed territory would be zoned to match the 
existing land use of the parcel and adjacent or nearby properties with similar land uses that 
are already zoned. For example, an annexed property with a single-family home on it that 
is located adjacent to a single-family residential neighborhood in the City would be zoned 
the same as the parcels in the adjacent neighborhood. The City would work with the 
owners of annexed properties to identify the zoning for each parcel, especially if existing 

9 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Zoning. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.matsugov.us/zoning. 

Page 187 of 254Page 187 of 254

http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC
http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC
https://www.matsugov.us/zoning


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 39 

 Issue Explanation 

land uses do not clearly match a particular existing zoning district. For mixed-use 
properties, multiple Palmer zoning districts could apply, depending on the intensity and 
type of existing land uses on the parcel. PMC 17.16.060 (Annexation zoning) provides 
guidance for the City to zone annexed land; it describes several situations in which a land 
parcel would be zoned T-Transitional District (PMC 17.59) upon annexation and until an 
appropriate zoning designation and any conditional use permits are applied and granted. 
Palmer’s Transitional Zoning has been amended over time to better accommodate the 
needs of property owners who wish to continue their regular and planned business or other 
operations, such as a planned building expansion, during the transitional period. 

Building 
permits, fees 
and codes 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough adopted building codes and requires a plan review for 
new or renovated commercial buildings. The Borough also requires a Flood Hazard 
Development Permit for any development located in designated special flood hazard areas 
and a permit for the construction of a driveway or other development that will affect a 
Borough-managed public right-of-way or easement. The Borough recommends contacting 
the MSB Code Compliance Office before buying or building in the Borough.10 
The City of Palmer adopted building safety codes (PMC Title 15 Buildings and 
Construction) and requires building permits for new construction, additions and alterations, 
which include decks, small storage buildings, greenhouses, etc.11 The City requires 
building permits for fences, signs and temporary structures if the structure will remain in 
place longer than six months (PMC 15.08.3103).  
The City charges a sliding scale for the permits based on the value of the structure to be 
built. This fee scale12 assumes that the greater the value of the structure, the more 
complex it is, and the more time and expertise will be needed to review it for compliance 
with all applicable plans, ordinances and regulations before approving its construction. 
To better accommodate the desire for greater flexibility in building code compliance, the 
City of Palmer could review and amend code to make some degree of the building 
permitting and inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, Anchorage Municipal 
Code 23.05.030 makes the requirements to apply for and complete the building permit, 
plan review, and building inspection processes optional in areas outside the Anchorage 
Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA), which is defined in AMC 27.30.040. The boundaries 
of the ABSSA are outlined on a map in AMC 27.30.700. 

Fences At the time of writing, the City may issue a one-time fence permit for $26 per parcel; the 
property owner must update the City on the fence location if it is moved.13 The City tracks 
the location of electric fences on agricultural lands for public health reasons and to enforce 
height restrictions on residential land. 

Signs Sign permits are required for permanent signs (PMC 14.08.020), which must comply with 
PMC 14.08 Sign regulations. At the time of writing, sign permit fees are $25 plus $1.50/sf of 
sign area (non-electrical signs) and $50 plus $3/sf of sign area (electrical signs).14 

10 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance.  
11 City of Palmer. Building Codes. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-code-enforcement-information.  

City of Palmer. Building Reports. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-reports.  
12 City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule. 
13 City of Palmer. Fence Permit Application. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/residential-fence-permit-application.  
14 City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule. 

Page 188 of 254Page 188 of 254

https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 40 

 Issue Explanation 

Historic 
Structures 

Historic buildings often do not meet current building codes and standards. Palmer 
Municipal Code recognizes the value of historic structures in PMC 17.68.050, which 
provides guidance for Nonconforming structures. Generally, existing structures are 
grandfathered into the city and may be required to be brought to code if the structure needs 
to be reconstructed or will be substantially renovated anyway. The City may be able to 
access Historic Preservation funding to subsidize the cost of renovating historic structures. 

Fire 
Inspection 

Fire inspection and approval is required for commercial buildings and multi-family 
residential properties in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, but “residential housing that is 
triplex or smaller are exempt from this requirement.”15 Fire inspection is a state 
responsibility, delegated to local government by the Alaska State Fire Marshal. Palmer Fire 
and Rescue conducts all fire and life safety plan reviews and inspections, fire prevention 
and education activities in the Palmer Fire and Rescue service area. Annexation would not 
change this. 

Public Services and Infrastructure 
Annexation would extend some new city services to annexed areas, including Palmer City Police (which 
would replace the Alaska State Troopers as the primary response provider) and street maintenance 
(which would replace the South Colony Road Service Area). Other City services are provided to service 
areas that are separate from City boundaries and would not be affected by annexation. These include 
water and sewer services (which may be extended within the utility’s Certificated Service Area), fire and 
emergency response services (which are already provided within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire 
Service Area). Services are discussed generally and by City department, below. 

Key Findings 
Community comments about city services and infrastructure were mixed. Some view having access to 
more City services as a benefit of annexation; others are content with services provided by the Borough. 
Some prefer new development to be inside the city so that it can benefit from city services, particularly 
Palmer Police response. Some view annexation as a benefit because of improvements in City service 
provision that could be possible with a larger tax base.  

Some responses voiced concern about the City’s readiness or ability to extend services to annexed 
areas. These comments questioned whether the City has the infrastructure to support the larger size of a 
major annexation. A few responses included support for fire hydrants to be extended into annexed areas, 
or at least want a better understanding of whether the City would extend fire hydrants to annexed area(s). 
A few respondents voiced concern that an annexation could mean that services like sewer, water and 
garbage collection would all be provided to the original city residents but not extended to the newly 
annexed area, so that annexed people would be paying taxes for services they don't receive.  

Public input also revealed that some area residents (both inside and outside existing City boundaries) 
would prefer to see the City improve existing service provision within its boundaries before making an 
annexation petition, with a focus on improvements in water and sewer, solid waste collection, outdoor 
recreation facilities, planning and local code enforcement. A few responses specifically mentioned the 
desire for improvements (or repair and replacement) to aging stormwater collection infrastructure and 
existing City facilities (generally). 

One or two respondents voiced strong dissatisfaction with mail service in the Palmer area (specifically the 
Post Office and cost of a PO box). It should be noted that because mail service is a Federal service, 

15 Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Fire and Life Safety Division. Building and Renovating. Accessed February 3, 2021 
from: http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating.  

Page 189 of 254Page 189 of 254

http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 41 

annexation would not necessarily affect postal services. Public input also included questions about how 
annexation would affect schools in terms of population and funding. 

Issue Explanation 

Schools Public schools are operated by the Manatuska-Susitna Borough School District in Palmer 
and all study areas; annexation would not affect public schools directly.  

City and 
service area 
boundaries 

Maps on the following pages show where the City of Palmer and service area boundaries 
are for City Refuse Collection, the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area (City), 
the Palmer Water and Sewer Utility (City), and the South Colony Road Service Area 
(Borough). 

Plan for 
staffing, 
facilities and 
equipment 
across 
departments 

Existing staffing, facilities and equipment across departments: The Palmer 
Comprehensive Plan provides guidance for City operations and was last updated in 
2006. The City’s 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) provides guidance on the 
planned construction of or improvements to City facilities and is included in each adopted 
budget with the Capital Projects Fund.16 After a significant annexation, the City may 
update these plans. 
For annexation: Through this annexation study, City department heads estimated the 
amount of increased staffing, facilities and equipment needed for annexation at the scale 
of each of the study areas. If the City prepares an annexation petition for a specific area 
(or set of areas) in future, it will be required to include a transition plan that similarly 
describes how City operations will adjust to accommodate the proposed annexation. 
Cities are often able to provide services more cost-effectively to a somewhat larger 
population.  

City Administration and Finance  
City property and sales taxes go into City of Palmer’s General Fund, which pays for city administration 
and some city services. Other city services are set up as separate enterprise or proprietary funds that are 
operated more like private businesses and pay for themselves through user fees, leases and/or sales. In 
general, when hourly City personnel work on behalf of an enterprise fund, their time is billed to the 
enterprise. Enterprise funds have a payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) based on gross revenues to account 
for general fund City staff time devoted to enterprise activities. 

The City’s general administration team includes the City’s Attorney, City Manager, City Clerk and Human 
Resources. The Palmer Finance Department manages the City’s accounting, prepares the budget, 
manages the City’s audits, collects the City sales tax, administers City business licenses, manages billing 
and collections and does grant reporting for the City. These functions are paid for through the City’s 
General Fund. The City also maintains a separate enterprise fund for land sales that has had very limited 
activity over the years; it is not the responsibility of a particular city department. The City of Palmer’s 
Administration and Finance Departments would not be greatly affected by annexation. 

Community Development 
The Palmer Community Development Department provides planning and zoning administration, plan 
review, plat review for new subdivisions, code enforcement and building inspections. The Community 
Development Department also manages the MTA Events Center, the Palmer Library and Palmer Depot 
under the general fund. Community Development staff include a Department Director, Building Inspector, 
Community Development Specialist, and Administrative Assistant, as well as the Palmer Public Library 
Director and MTA Events Center Manager. 

16 City of Palmer. Budget Documents. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents.  

Page 190 of 254Page 190 of 254

https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 42 

Some area residents identified possible parks and recreation-related improvements as a potential benefit 
of annexation through community engagement activities. Specific improvements included: increased 
access to parks and public lands, construction of new bike paths and other recreation infrastructure in 
annexed areas, and improved pedestrian access from annexed areas to the City of Palmer. One 
respondent voiced concern for the City to improve existing recreational infrastructure (specifically the 
Palmer Senior League Field) before annexing anything. 

Upon an annexation, the Palmer Community Development Department would be fairly busy administering 
the application of zoning and other land use regulations to annexed lands in support to the Palmer 
Planning and Zoning Commission. In the longer term, the department would not be greatly affected by 
annexation. Property taxpayers in annexed areas would contribute to the operation and maintenance of 
City Parks and Recreation facilities and programming, including community parks and trails, the MTA 
Events Center and Ice Arena, the Palmer Library and Palmer Depot. 

Issue Explanation 

Recreational or 
non-motorized 
transportation 
improvements 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough has generally kept ownership of Borough parks in 
annexations but delegated the powers to maintain and develop Borough-owned parkland 
to the City once it is inside that city’s boundaries. Annexation would not guarantee any 
particular improvements, but it would give residents in annexed areas greater opportunity 
to vote for recreational or non-motorized transportation improvements in City elections 
and serve on the City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. In the study areas 
considered by this report, there is the most opportunity to develop non-motorized trails 
along major roadways. 

Palmer Golf Course 
The Palmer Golf Course is set up as an enterprise fund; it generates revenue from green and trail fees, 
equipment and space rentals, as well as snack bar, merchandise and beer sales. The City contracts with 
a private management company to perform all golf course activities (e.g., sales, maintenance). The 
Palmer Golf Course would not be affected by annexation. 

Warren “Bud” Woods Palmer Municipal Airport  
Palmer Airport facilities include a number of hangars, a helipad, a 6,000-ft main runway, a 3,600-ft 
crosswind runway, and a 1,500-ft gravel runway. The airport offers aircraft parking for day and overnight 
use as well as long-term tiedowns, fueling and ground support, field maintenance and an aircraft parts 
store. The airport is home to a number of local aviation businesses. The airport is set up as an enterprise 
fund and managed by the City Airport Superintendent. Some facility maintenance is provided by the 
Public Works Department Facilities Division. Airport operations are funded primarily by Airport property 
and sales taxes, revenue from tiedowns and land leases. The Palmer Airport would not be affected by 
annexation. 

Police 
Within City limits, the Palmer Police Department provides police, emergency, and dispatch services as 
well as public safety education within City boundaries. Police services are also paid for through the City’s 
General Fund. Alaska State Troopers provide public safety services to areas outside City limits and are 
also headquartered at the Palmer Trooper Post in the same building as the Palmer Police Department.  

Issue Explanation 

Police 
coverage 

The City would assume responsibility for police services from the Alaska State Troopers. 
If there is a call outside Palmer City limits, Palmer Police may respond, but if there is a 
call at the same time from inside Palmer City limits (even if it is less of an emergency), 

Page 191 of 254Page 191 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 43 

Issue Explanation 

Palmer Police must respond to the call within the City first. The City does not receive 
extra compensation for providing police services outside City limits.  
The City of Palmer currently maintains a police force equivalent to one sworn officer per 
610 citizens, one dispatcher per 872 citizens, and one non-sworn/non-dispatcher staff 
member per 2,034 citizens. If an area is annexed into the City of Palmer, the Police 
Department would hire new staff as needed to maintain similar staff ratios. The fiscal 
study assumes that the City would hire a new sworn officer for every 641 people 
annexed into Palmer. There is no fair way to truly compare average police and State 
Trooper response times.  

Palmer police was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 61 percent of survey respondents. 
Some area residents support annexation to expand access to police services, to receive a more rapid 
response from law enforcement officers, and/or as a way to increase funding for city police. Some 
respondents prefer the Alaska State Troopers. Other responses expressed concern that the Palmer 
Police Department would be overwhelmed by a significant annexation because staff are already 
overworked, understaffed, underpaid, and do not feel supported by the City. A few respondents also 
voiced concerns about the expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find 
qualified people to hire for the new positions as well as its ability to pay its officers a competitive salary. 

Fire and Emergency Services   
Palmer Fire and Rescue provides fire safety education within the City of Palmer, and fire and rescue 
response within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area (Figure 12) by a cost-sharing 
agreement between the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and the City of Palmer. Palmer’s cost-share is paid 
for through the City’s General Fund. Staffed fire stations and improved fire response times were identified 
as potential benefits of annexation.  

Relatively few responses mentioned Palmer Fire and Rescue. Some respondents saw improvements to 
Palmer’s fire and emergency response services as a benefit of annexation, in the form of faster fire and 
emergency response times. These responses also indicated support for the department to access more 
resources to build, staff and equip new fire station(s) in areas that do not have them. Other responses 
reflected concerns about the cost of those improvements. A few area community members expressed a 
preference for the Central Mat-Su Fire Department. But as Figure 12 shows, all of the areas surrounding 
the City of Palmer are well within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area. Annexation would 
not change the service area boundaries.  

What would be affected is the ISO rating, and consequently property insurance rates. The Insurance 
Service Office (ISO) gives a fire score to fire departments and their surrounding communities. The “ISO 
rating” is meant to reflect how well the local fire department can protect its community and the homes and 
businesses within it. Insurance companies use the score to help set home insurance rates, so a better 
ISO rating often translates to lower property insurance premiums. ISO ratings are based on the quality of 
the local fire department (i.e., staffing levels, training and proximity to fire stations), available water supply 
(i.e., proximity to hydrants, volume of water available for firefighting), quality of the areas emergency 
communications system (911), and fire safety education and outreach. ISO ratings go from 1 to 10: 1 is 
the best possible rating, and 10 means the fire department did not meet the ISO’s minimum requirements. 
Within Palmer City limits, Palmer Fire and Rescue currently has an ISO rating of 3/3Y (Y notes distance 
from hydrants). Outside City limits, the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area has an ISO rating 
of 5/10, mainly because of longer distances to a water supply, fire stations, and a limited number of 
firefighting personnel. Water for firefighting is supplied at a fire station or hydrant. There are currently 
three fire stations within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area. For ISO rating purposes, a 
10 means the residence is more than 5 miles from a fire station. Firefighting personnel include full-time, 

Page 192 of 254Page 192 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 44 

part-time or paid-on-call responders. For ISO rating purposes, 3 paid-on-call personnel on a response 
count as one full-time responder. 

Issue Explanation 

Fire and 
rescue 
response 
services 

In order to maintain a higher ISO rating throughout the City and any annexed areas, the 
City may invest in constructing and outfitting a new fire station.  

Fire hydrants The installation of fire hydrants is not dependent on annexation. It depends on the ability 
of Palmer’s Water and Sewer Utility to provide water to the hydrants. Decisions to install 
and operate fire hydrants may be made on a case-by-case basis. 

Figure 12. Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area 

Page 193 of 254Page 193 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 45 

Public Works  
The Palmer Public Works Department currently employs 15 full-time staff members who provide a 
maintenance and utility services for the City and greater Palmer community through seven divisions listed 
below. Although the Department’s budget is funded by the City’s General Fund, some Department 
responsibilities are funded through enterprise funds.  

Administration Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Administration Division provides general oversight of all divisions 
within the Palmer Public Works Department. The division also provides central administrative services for 
the department, which include managing projects, tracking purchase orders and work orders, and 
managing financial code entries for department activities and expenses before submitting to the City 
Finance Department.  

Fleet Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Fleet Division maintains the City’s vehicle and equipment fleet, 
which includes City trucks, police vehicles, fire trucks, dump trucks, snowplows, fuel truck, grader, 
loaders, generators, etc.  

Facilities Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Facilities Division performs preventive maintenance and light 
repairs on City buildings and the Palmer Airport.  

Parks Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Parks Division provides maintenance and light repairs for City 
parks and trails. Palmer’s Community Development Department is responsible for parks and recreation 
planning and operations.  

Streets Division 
All roads within the City of Palmer are owned by the City, Matanuska-Susitna Borough or the State of 
Alaska. The Palmer Public Works Department, Streets Division maintains City streets and storm drains, 
City-owned streetlights and road signs. Street maintenance includes snow plowing and removal, paving, 
grading and leveling unpaved roads, streetlights. The Palmer Snow Removal Map shows where the 
Public Works Department prioritizes snow removal on City streets (note: any road designations on the 
snow removal map that are not marked with a priority level are platted roads that have not been 
developed).  

The City of Palmer Public Works Department maintains all City roads within City limits. Outside of City 
limits, local roads are under the purview of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. In the areas around the City 
of Palmer, Borough roads are maintained by the South Colony Road Service Area (Figure 13).  

Some area residents view potential annexation benefits to include road maintenance and improvements, 
particularly streetlights in some neighborhoods. Palmer road maintenance was identified as a benefit of a 
potential annexation by 53 percent of survey respondents. 

Other respondents do not want City road maintenance, nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these 
responses specifically mentioned concerns that the City cannot provide snow removal as fast as what 
they are used to now. A few respondents specifically shared concerns about the City’s ability to provide 
snow removal on Scott Road because it requires specialized equipment. A few responses also voiced 
concerns about the City’s ability to find people willing to accept any new maintenance positions unless it 
raises its salaries and wages for the positions. 

Page 194 of 254Page 194 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 46 

Figure 13. South Colony Road Service Area 

Several community members (inside and outside the City) voiced the desire to improve existing City 
facilities and road maintenance services before annexation, including:  

• improving general road maintenance and snow removal;
• paving unpaved roads inside the City of Palmer;
• upgrading paved City roads that are at the end of their life cycle;
• upgrading storm water collection systems; and
• upgrading concrete curb and gutters installed 20+ years ago that are now in disrepair.

The fiscal analysis of this annexation study provides guidance as to the City staff and equipment needed 
to meet the snow removal and general maintenance needs of an expanded City road system upon 
annexation. The City would also need to identify adequate snow disposal sites and drainage areas. 

Page 195 of 254Page 195 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 47 

Issue Explanation 

Road 
improvements 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough roads annexed into the City would become City of Palmer 
roads. The City would take over road maintenance from the RSA for the annexed road 
miles. As the roads age and need to be replaced, the City would bring them to City 
standards.17 Existing City standards suggest that annexed streets in residential 
subdivisions would eventually be required to have two 12-foot driving lanes with curb and 
gutter. Sidewalks are not required, but the City may establish Road Improvement Districts 
to pay for bringing unimproved streets to these standards. Palmer’s road standards 
require all streets to have a minimum level of street lighting. Decisions about whether to 
pave roads are usually based on safety concerns and how often they are used. Generally, 
when the average daily traffic (ADT) on a local gravel-surfaced road exceeds 250 
vehicles, the road should be a candidate for paving. 

Streetlights The City would take over any streetlights in annexed areas that are currently owned by 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Installing streetlights in annexed areas would be part of 
a City-wide Capital Improvements Plan. 

Maintenance 
to Scott Road 

As a state-owned Road, Scott Road would continue to be maintained by the Alaska State 
Department of Transportation and Public Facilities if the area were to be annexed into the 
City. It is also common practice for public road maintenance departments to trade snow 
removal responsibilities for specific roads if it makes the overall service provision more 
efficient and cost effective. For example, in Anchorage, the State provides snow removal 
for some larger Municipal roads and in exchange, the Municipality clears snow for some 
smaller State-owned roads. 

Solid Waste Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Solid Waste Division operates the City’s solid waste collection and 
disposal services, which are set up as an enterprise fund that generates revenue through collection fees 
and penalties. Solid waste collection is required by Palmer Municipal Code for all residents (PMC 
8.20.010). The City currently provides trash collection for a service area within existing City limits (Figure 
14). Outside the service area, property owners contract with a private collection service of their choosing.  

Palmer currently operates its City solid waste collection service in an exclusive certificate. If the City were 
to expand its existing service area, it would be required to enter a competitive service area, and all of the 
City’s public utilities would come under economic regulation by the Alaska Public Utilities Commission 
(APUC). The City would then be subject to additional administrative State requirements, such as 
completing extensive rate studies each time any utility rates need to be adjusted. The City is unlikely to 
change its garbage collection service area in order to avoid the additional administrative work and 
resulting costs to taxpayers. 

Both City and Palmer-area residents and business owners expressed confusion about the City’s existing 
policies and requirements for trash collection. Existing City residents voiced a desire for greater clarity 
about where properties receive City trash collection and where they are required to contract with a 
collection service. 

The City’s existing policy to require garbage collection service was considered a detriment by 61 percent 
of survey respondents. Open-ended survey responses that mentioned City garbage collection were 
mixed. Some respondents want City garbage collection, including existing City residents who live outside 
the City’s current garbage collection service area. One respondent voiced concern that expanding the 
current trash collection service area would trigger state regulation of City utilities by forcing the City to 
enter a competitive service area. Other respondents within the City and outside the City prefer to either 

17 City of Palmer. Road Standards. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-
specifications-and-development-standards.  

Page 196 of 254Page 196 of 254

http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 48 

contract with another provider or haul their own trash. In the study areas, respondents generally want to 
be able to choose who and how garbage is dealt with. Some responses voiced concern that trash 
collection would become more expensive if land is annexed.  

Figure 14. City of Palmer Refuse Collection Service Area 

Issue Explanation 

Solid waste 
collection and 
disposal 

Property owners in annexed areas would not be required to have solid waste collection 
service from the City of Palmer, but under existing City policy, may be required to contract 
with a private collection service of their choice. To better accommodate the desire for 
greater flexibility in waste management, the City of Palmer could review and amend code. 
Like Palmer, the Municipality of Anchorage requires municipal garbage collection within a 
specified service area (AMC 26.70.030), but Anchorage Municipal Code does allow the 
city manager to exempt a person from the requirement if that person requires solid waste 
collection and disposal service that cannot be provided by the Municipality. Unlike Palmer 

Page 197 of 254Page 197 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 49 

Issue Explanation 

Municipal Code, Anchorage Municipal Code does not require garbage collection by a 
private provider outside this service area. 

Burning trash 
on premises 

Inside the City, Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue Class A, B or C burn permits for open 
burning of woody debris or fields of grass on parcels of at least two (2) acres or more, 
upon approval by the Fire Chief or his designee.18 All other types of refuse would be 
disposed of according to Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 (Garbage Collection and 
Disposal). 

Water and Sewer Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Water/Wastewater Division operates the City’s Water and Sewer 
Utility, which is set up as an enterprise fund to provide piped water and sewer services. The Utility’s 
revenue comes mostly from connection, disconnection and service fees charged to customers. The 
Palmer Water and Sewer Utility may provide these services within a certificated service area that extends 
far beyond the City’s boundaries (Figure 15).  

City water and sewer service regulations are found in Palmer Municipal Code (PMC) Title 13, PMC 
8.12.010 and PMC 8.16.010. PMC allows the Utility to extend piped services to properties outside City 
limits upon approval by the Palmer City Council (PMC 13.08.070). The utility already provides piped water 
to a small number of customers located outside existing City limits. Within City boundaries, PMC 
generally requires that properties be served by the utility if practical. If determined to be impractical, City 
code allows properties to be served by a City- and State-approved onsite system, such as well and septic 
(PMC 13.08.030, 13.16.025, and 13.16.030). 

Annexation would not give the City more authority or oblige it to provide water and sewer service to 
property within the service area. The City would continue to evaluate new service additions on a case-by-
case basis. Annexation would not change the status of any existing private water or sewer utilities in any 
annexed area.  

Open-ended responses that mentioned water and sewer services were mixed. Respondents who saw 
potential annexation benefits expressed support for City planning to prevent ground water problems, as 
well as support for limiting septic systems in future for public health reasons. Some respondents voiced a 
desire to have water and sewer extended to their property; others expressed preferences for their existing 
onsite or community well and septic systems. Some respondents brought up concerns about the cost of 
extending and hooking up to piped water and/or sewer.  

"I've heard it could cost each home up to $20,000 for city sewer and water if we are annexed."  

"I just paid for a new septic install. I would be unhappy about having to pay to hook up to sewer now." 

A few respondents questioned whether the City would take over servicing their subdivision’s community 
well and septic if annexed. Responses reflected both frustration about the City refusing to take over a 
community well, while another HOA wants to maintain ownership and control of the community well. 

Farmers voiced special concerns about whether they would have to pay for City water or be able to 
maintain their private wells (discussed under Farms). One respondent voiced concern that an annexation 
would require the City’s water and wastewater plants to be expanded, with limited capacity to do so at the 
current wastewater plant." 

18 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-
rescue/page/burn-permits.  

Page 198 of 254Page 198 of 254

http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 50 

Figure 15. Palmer Water and Sewer Utility Service Area 

Issue Explanation 

Water and 
sewer service 

The extension of piped water and sewer services would be unaffected by annexation. The 
City would continue to evaluate new piped service additions on a case-by-case basis.19 

Well and 
septic 
systems 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough code establishes minimum lot sizes for well and septic 
systems, consistent with Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) 
requirements for drain fields and separation distances for well and septic (Chapter 43 

19 Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance about where and when connection to the city water and sewer system 
would be required in:  

• PMC 13.08.030 Water and sewer connections – required when – septic tank specifications

• PMC 13.16.025 Water supply system

• PMC 13.16.030 Sanitary sewer system

Page 199 of 254Page 199 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 51 

Issue Explanation 

Subdivisions, MBC 43.20.281 Area). Generally, a lot must be 40,000 square feet or 
greater to have onsite water and septic, 20,000 square feet or greater if served by either 
City piped water or sewer, and a lot can be smaller than 20,000 square feet if served by 
both City piped water and sewer. 
In the City of Palmer, residential lots of 20,000 square feet or larger are generally not 
required to connect to the city’s piped water and sewer system (PMC 13.16.025 and PMC 
13.16.030), nor are new buildings constructed more than 150 feet from the city’s existing 
piped system (PMC 13.08.030). Palmer’s code allows well and septic systems as long as 
they meet ADEC standards and approval. 

Palmer’s 
wastewater 
treatment 
plant is under 
a Department 
of Justice 
consent 
decree.20  

Palmer Water and Wastewater Utility operations would be unaffected by annexation. A 
consent decree is an agreement or settlement that resolves a dispute between two parties 
without admission of guilt or liability. Under a 2016 consent decree, the Palmer Water and 
Wastewater Utility committed to extensive upgrades of the Palmer Waste Water 
Treatment Plant to correct alleged violations of its National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) permit and payment of a civil penalty of $192,162 to the 
United States and State of Alaska. The consent decree was driven by tightened 
Environmental Protection Agency regulations designed to protect Matanuska River 
salmon spawning grounds. A new Palmer Waste Water Treatment Plant was constructed 
in 2017 and has been in operation since 2018. 

Governance 
Annexation allows more Palmer-area residents to have a voice in City governance by extending the ability 
to vote in vote in City elections, to run for office and to serve on Boards and Commissions to annexed 
areas. Residence inside City limits is required to vote in City elections, run for a City office, or to serve on 
some boards and commissions. Palmer Municipal Code requires that:  

• a person be a resident of the city for at least the preceding 30 days to vote in City elections (PMC
18.10.010).

• a person who wants to run for city office be a qualified voter of the city and meet state and city
requirements for the office (PMC 18.15.010).

• a person reside in the City to serve on the Planning and Zoning Commission (PMC 2.20.010).
• a majority of Parks and Recreation Advisory Board members reside in the City (PMC 2.22.010).
• at least two members of the Airport Advisory Commission reside in the City (PMC 2.25.020).
• at least two members of the Board of Economic Development reside in the City (PMC 2.30.010).

City zoning, regulations and ordinances would be applied in annexed areas, which is viewed as a benefit 
to some but a challenge to others. A successful annexation may ultimately involve changes to Palmer’s 
zoning and other regulations that would otherwise effectively prohibit a number of residential, business 
and agricultural practices that commonly occur in the areas outside City limits. In this case, the City may 
consider allowing certain practices in some areas of the city and not in others. 

20 United States Justice Department. “Notice of Lodging of Proposed Consent Decree Under the Clean Water Act: A 
Notice by the Justice Department on 09/12/2016,” Federal Register. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-
under-the-clean-water-act.  

Rockey, Tim. “Waste water treatment plan up and running,” Frontiersman Sep 19, 2018. Accessed February 9, 2021 
from: https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-
9b58-9b23af2f166c.html.  

Page 200 of 254Page 200 of 254

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 52 

Key Findings  
Some area residents see benefits to annexation from having more of a voice in local government, a wider 
pool of eligible candidates to run for public office, and a more involved voter base. 60 percent of survey 
respondents view the ability to vote, run for City offices, and/or serve on Palmer City Council, boards and 
commissions as a benefit of a potential annexation. Public engagement activities revealed some 
confusion among area residents about where existing City boundaries are; some areas around the edges 
of existing City limits may already be so entwined with City life and development that people who are 
actually outside City limits believe they are living within the City. Within the City, some residents voiced 
the desire for better enforcement of certain existing city regulations, mostly related to the use and upkeep 
of neighboring property.  

Residential and Lifestyle 
There are significant lifestyle differences between areas inside City and outside the City limits that were 
reflected in community comments about the City’s regulations. Among open-ended survey responses, 
only two percent mentioned regulations as benefits, whereas 29 percent mentioned regulations as 
concerns. As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way to manage 
growth and protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of everyone 
following the same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or law enforcement. The main 
concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the desire to 
be able to use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on their 
property, and keep a variety of animals on their land. Responses about actions the City could take 
overwhelmingly reflected the desire to grandfather or make regulatory allowances to retain existing 
lifestyles and businesses.  

Use of Firearms. Responses included suggestions to allow hunting (generally and small-game hunting), 
target practice on property, and access to hunting grounds. Respondents also expressed the desire to be 
able to continue using private rifle/shooting range(s), including the existing gun range that operates in 
Study Area G.  

Use of Off-Road Vehicles. Responses included suggestions to allow off-road vehicles (e.g., ATVs, snow 
machines) to be licensed for road use. One respondent specifically mentioned wanting to drive off-road 
vehicles on Bogard Road.  

Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks. Responses included suggestions to allow burning waste, having 
backyard firepits and setting off fireworks on private property. A few comments specifically mentioned 
wanting burn permits with the same allowances as they are currently granted by the Mat-Su Borough.  

Animals. Responses indicated the desire to have a variety of type and number of animals on their 
property. Respondents specifically mentioned livestock on farms or hobby farms, e.g., goats, chickens 
(including roosters), cows, horses, bees.  

"Many of these areas have people with more than a few chickens. And they depend on them for food or money from 
egg sales. Same with other livestock. Making it a city would really harm these practices and people will move 
farther."  

Responses also included suggestions for different rules for dogs, including:  

"Maintain the four-dog limit; four dogs is okay if there are no other animals."  

"Allow permits and inspection for more than two dogs for small dog kennels. No more than 10 dogs." 

"Allow dogs to run free." 

Other Regulations. Responses indicated a strong lack of support for building codes and permits for 
sheds, decks, storage buildings; the City’s garbage collection requirement; and any requirement to 

Page 201 of 254Page 201 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 53 

connect to the City’s piped water-sewer utility if a property is served by functioning well and septic. One 
response mentioned a lack of support for a mask ordinance. Responses did indicate support for 
regulations to address homelessness and to allow private wells, especially on farms. Responses reflected 
a mix of support and objection to allowing businesses such as marijuana dispensary (and cannabis 
tourism), a strip club and pawn shop. Suggestions to improve regulations included:  

• Enforce quiet hours from the quarry
• Revisit requirements concerning agricultural practices (e.g., noise, smells, land use, number and

size of animals allowed on the property)
• Allow well and septic
• Allow self-haul and privately contracted trash collection
• Flexibility and/or exemptions to building code and permit requirements for small structures

(decks, sheds, fences, outbuildings)
• Allow neighborhood roads to not have sidewalks.

Issue Explanation 

Hunting PMC Chap 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms prohibits discharging a firearm within city 
limits, except at permitted practice facilities. Hunting with firearms would not be permitted 
in annexed areas unless the City amends the Palmer Municipal Code to expand the areas 
and conditions under which it is an allowable activity. For example, the City of Kenai 
allows firearms discharge in designated areas of the city only, shown on a Firearms 
Discharge Map.21 Anchorage and Juneau have helpful webpages describing their rules 
about hunting and use of firearms within their boundaries. The City and Borough of 
Juneau permits hunting with regulatory guidelines within its boundaries.22 It is against the 
law to discharge a firearm in the Municipality of Anchorage except in designated hunting 
areas or shooting ranges per Anchorage Municipal Code 8.25.030.23 

Large 
equipment/ 
vehicle 
parking and 
storage 

Parking for large equipment and vehicle storage is allowed in some Palmer zoning 
districts by right or with a conditional use permit. See Palmer Municipal Code, Chapter 17 
Zoning. 

Off Highway 
Vehicle (OHV) 
use 

ATVs, four-wheelers, side-by-sides, snow machines, motocross bikes and motorcycles, 
etc. are all considered “Off-highway Vehicles” (OHV) in Palmer Municipal Code. These 
vehicles are not allowed on public rights-of-way (e.g., sidewalk, street), parkland, or 
private land without the owner’s permission within City limits (PMC 10.08 Regulation of 
Off-Highway Vehicles). Off-highway vehicles are allowed to cross public rights-of-way 
(streets, etc.) following safety guidelines outlined in the code.  
The City may choose to revisit these regulations if greater use of off-highway vehicles 
(beyond that allowed by existing code) can be safely accommodated in annexed 
territories. Some Alaska communities have recreational trails that run alongside main 
roadways to accommodate off-highway vehicle use, although additional provisions may be 
needed to allow the vehicles to travel from a residence to designated trails along 
neighborhood streets.  

21 City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010. 

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf. 
22 City and Borough of Juneau. Hunting on CBJ Property. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting.  
23 Municipality of Anchorage. Firearms – FAQ. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx. 

Page 202 of 254Page 202 of 254

https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 54 

Issue Explanation 

Issues with 
animal 
restrictions 

Palmer Municipal Code Title 6 regulates animals within the City. The code limits the legal 
number and type of domestic pets and farm animals, defines animal cruelty rules, 
restrictions on animal noise, odor, ability to free-roam, and where and how animals can be 
buried. 
Dogs: Up to three dogs are allowed in the City on a given parcel of land. This restriction 
does not apply to land zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than an acre and the 
animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. City code does not allow dogs 
to run free (PMC 6.08.065 Animals at large). The City could review and consider 
amending the code to allow up to four dogs on parcels less than one acre and/or off-leash 
dogs in designated areas within City boundaries. 
Chickens: Up to five “domestic birds” are allowed on a given parcel of land (PMC 
6.08.020.C); domestic birds include female chickens but not roosters (PMC 6.04.010). 
This restriction does not apply to land zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than 
an acre and the animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. 
Cows (Cattle), Horses and Goats: These and several other animals are allowed to be 
kept if the land is zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than an acre and the 
animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line (PMC 6.08.020.A). 
Bees: Bees are permitted on land zoned for agriculture (PMC Chapter 17.57 AG 
Agricultural District). The City could review and consider amending the code to allow bees 
on land in one or more residential zoning district(s); the agricultural zoning also allows for 
a single-family residential dwelling. 

Burning trash 
on premises,  
fire pits and 
fireworks 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough directs residents to the Alaska Division of Forestry to 
issue burn permits outside City limits. Fireworks are prohibited in the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough, with the exception of New Year’s Eve.24 
Inside the City, Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits for fire pits and 
Class A/B/C burn permits for open burning of woody debris or fields of grass, upon 
approval by the Fire Chief or his designee.25 The City could review and amend code to if 
needed. One example would be to expand the allowances for burn permits on parcels of 
five or more acres in newly annexed areas. The Municipality of Anchorage allows 
recreational or ceremonial fires as long as they are done according to regulatory safety 
standards and obtain a burn permit if necessary. However, burning trash, yard debris, 
leaves, construction material, and/or woody debris is prohibited within the municipality.26 
Palmer Fire & Rescue may also issue permits for commercial fireworks displays inside city 
limits. PMC 8.42 outlines the regulations for fireworks inside city limits. Fireworks can be 
used by private individuals without obtaining an application on New Year’s Eve from 9 
p.m. to 1 a.m. per Palmer Municipal Code 8.42.010.

Businesses and Economic Development 
Responses that mentioned businesses and economic development included a range of support for 
potential benefits of annexation and concerns about how an annexation would affect business operations 
in annexed areas and inside the City. Some respondents view annexation as a way to support private 
business development. Others concerned that people who own business but don't live in Palmer don't 

24 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance.  
25 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed March 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-
permits. 
26 Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.  

Page 203 of 254Page 203 of 254

https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 55 

have a voice. Responses also included concerns that City officials would not be willing to allow big 
businesses to be established in annexed areas. 

Business responses included concerns about the impact of taxation (present and future) and City 
regulations on the ability to do business. Some businesses expressed concerns about having to have 
more license(s), more fee(s), and another set of quarterly paperwork to complete and submit. Some 
businesses voiced concerns that because they compete against businesses located in areas that do not 
have a sales tax, collecting the Palmer sales tax would make them less competitive, and they could lose 
a large amount of business. Business responses also included concerns that owners of annexed property 
would pass cost increases to the lease holder operating a business on the property, and that annexation 
could cause job losses and/or drive businesses away. Business owners seek protection under current 
economic hardships (i.e., due to COVID-19 restrictions) and to be allowed to continue operation. 

Responses included a request for information about the long-term effects of annexation on businesses in 
the annexed areas, about the financial impact to businesses and how that might affect current and 
potential future business in the city. One respondent voiced concern about whether growth associated 
with annexation would create high wage jobs (e.g., medical support) or low wage jobs (e.g., big box 
retail).  

Survey responses reflected a mix of interest in and concern about annexation causing an increase in the  
number of City jobs. Some  respondents voiced support for more City jobs, though others expressed 
concerns that City of Palmer employees are not paid competitive salaries/wages and question whether 
the City could attract qualified people to fill new positions at current pay levels.  

Farms 
“We own a farm on the Springer system, and I’m scared. Historically when farmland is annexed it is a few short years 
before farmland is sold to developers. Cities need a tax base and farms are big open spaces where nobody lives to 
spread out the tax burden so what happens is cities start taxing what is produced on farms until farms can’t afford to 
stay in business and sell out to developers. If Palmer values its roots and colony heritage, it will not annex any 
farmland. The pressures will be too great, and farms will go away.” – Anonymous, annexation survey response 

The quote above illustrates some of the concerns expressed about the loss of existing and historical 
farmland to development in the Palmer area. Farmers want to be able to maintain pastureland and 
livestock, and residents generally treasure Palmer’s agricultural character and heritage. At the same time, 
Palmer continues to experience growth in residential and commercial development, increasing 
development pressure. It is not clear that annexation would affect the pace of real estate development 
and re-development in the Palmer area, although the City has more land use tools than the Borough to 
manage growth that does occur within its boundaries.  

The land use conflicts that occur between residential subdivisions and farmland result from the kind of 
unplanned development that City land use regulations are intended to reduce, avoid or address. For 
example, if a residential property owner is concerned about heavy equipment being stored in the 
residential yard of a recently subdivided farm property, the City can enforce zoning regulations that allow 
or disallow the activity within City limits.  

The City’s Agricultural zoning (PMC 17.57) may offer some protection for agricultural land uses inside the 
City. Some of the City’s other zoning districts allow for smaller-scale or hobby farming uses, such as 
Limited Commercial District (PMC 17.28) or Rural Residential District (PMC 17.54). Agricultural property 
is usually assessed at a lower property value to recognize the use. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
already recognizes some parcels as agricultural in their assessment records. One farmer expressed 
concern that agricultural zoning could reduce flexibility to subdivide and sell the property at a later date, 
should they choose to do so. The land would have to be rezoned if a buyer were to redevelop the 
property for a different use, and that could lower the potential sales value of the land. When thinking long-

Page 204 of 254Page 204 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 56 

term about their financial or business management, farm property owners could view this as an unwanted 
depreciation of their primary business asset.  

In general, farmers in the Palmer area voiced a desire to feel greater support from the City of Palmer for 
agriculture, including actions that are unrelated to annexation. For example, one suggested that the City 
could sell or transfer some of the land it owns to the Alaska Farmland Trust to preserve for agricultural 
use. Addressing these issues is beyond the scope of this study. Survey responses included suggestions 
for the City to adopt Right-to-Farm laws and/or publish regulations, protections and changes to city policy 
involving farmland to ensure the preservation of farmland and agricultural practices, including 
encouraging the creation of more agricultural businesses. State and Federal Right to Farm Acts are 
designed to prevent unfair taxation and regulations that would be detrimental to farming. 

Responses also included suggestions to exempt agricultural land from mandatory trash collection, 
building permits for storage buildings, and eliminate monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. One 
respondent suggested that the City "keep the R7 rating so agriculture can continue without being 
impacted by placing farmland in competition with new subdivisions." Another respondent commented that 
the size and/or type of lots should be treated differently regarding allowances for animals. Respondents 
also mentioned concerns about the number and size of animals allowed, building codes/permits for 
outbuildings, road accesses, and the ability to maintain private well and waste management on the 
property. One respondent estimated the amount of water used for farm operations (up to 5,000 gallons 
per day) to estimate the cost impact to the farm if it had to purchase City water.  

Issue Explanation 

Agricultural 
zoning, 
including 
setbacks for 
farms 

PMC 17.56 Agricultural District would be applied to farmland. Currently, structures must 
have a 25-foot setback in front or rear yards, with a minimum of 6 feet for a side yard and 
10 feet for a corner-lot side yard. Fences may be a few inches inside the property line 
unless fencing animals/livestock.  

Livestock and 
farm animals 

Title 6 of Palmer Municipal Code regulates animals, including residential pets as well as 
livestock on farms. PMC 6.08.020 Animal Restrictions allows livestock on land zoned 
Agricultural or on a lot larger than one acre, provided they are not closer than 25 feet 
from the property line. It also allows for livestock on the premises of a permitted 
slaughterhouse for up to 72 hours. 
Conflicts may still arise for farmers with livestock due to noise (PMC 6.08.050) or odor 
from animals (PMC 6.08.060). City code currently prohibits a person to allow offensive 
noise or odor from animals on their property. Farms with livestock can be the source of 
noise and/or odors that residential neighbors may find offensive. Although Right to Farm 
laws will protect farm operations, the City may want to consider farm-specific provisions 
in PMC to support agriculture. 
Another possible conflict may be for homeowners that do not run a farm as a business 
but do conduct small-scale agricultural activities on their property. Agricultural zoning 
might not be appropriate for a primarily residential property that also engages in hobby 
farming, bee-keeping, etc. mainly for personal consumption. 

Farm waste 
management 

Palmer’s Agricultural zoning (PMC 17.57 AG Agricultural District) does not address 
onsite waste management. PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and Disposal 
suggests the City would require a farm located outside the City’s waste collection service 
area to contract with a private contractor to haul waste that cannot be safely and legally 
disposed of onsite. If it becomes a problem or nuisance, the City could review its policies 
to provide guidance specific to farms.  

Guns on farms PMC Chap 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms prohibits discharging a firearm within city 
limits, except at permitted practice facilities. In the event that a farmer would have to fire 
a gun to protect livestock/crops from bear or moose, State rules about defense of private 

Page 205 of 254Page 205 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 57 

Issue Explanation 

property would supersede city code against discharging firearms. The City could review 
Palmer Municipal Code (which does not specifically address the use of a firearm to 
harvest or euthanize livestock) and consider amending it to expand the areas and 
conditions under which it is an allowable activity. For example, the City of Kenai allows 
firearms discharge in designated areas of the city only, shown on a Firearms Discharge 
Map.27 

Vehicle 
storage on 
farms 

Vehicle storage is allowed as a conditional use on agricultural zoned land; it requires 
conditional use permit (PMC 17.56.040).  

Drilling wells Well drilling would be unaffected by annexation. ADNR issues permits to appropriate 
water, which would be required for the volume of water needed for agricultural 
operations. ADEC regulates drinking and wastewater (18 AAC 80 Drinking Water, 18 
AAC 72 Wastewater). The City of Palmer does not require a building permit to drill a well. 

Pesticides, 
fertilizers, 
disposal of 
animal 
carcasses, 
manure 
management 

These activities would be unaffected by annexation. ADEC (Division of Environmental 
Health, Solid Waste program) regulates the application of pesticides, fertilizers, disposal 
of animal carcasses, and manure management (AS 46 and 18 AAC 60). Annexation 
would not affect fertilizer application fees. 

Property taxes Farms would pay property taxes to the City of Palmer instead of the Borough non-
areawide property taxes. Farms would still pay Borough areawide property taxes. 
Annexation would not change the assessed value of farm property. State and Federal 
farmland use tax deferments would be unaffected by annexation. State agricultural law 
enables tax deferment for some of the property tax burden if 10 percent of the farmer’s 
gross income comes from farming (AS 29.45.060). State law requires local governments 
to assess and tax farmland at its value for farm use only (not what it would be valued if 
developed into residential subdivision). If converted to another use, the landowner may 
be liable for additional tax. IRS Publication 225 provides information about Federal tax 
law for farms. 

Sales taxes Farms would collect the City’s 3 percent sales tax (with a cap of $1,000 per item/service). 
The new “online sales tax” would only affect residents or businesses that purchase from 
participating online retailers (e.g., Amazon.com).The City of Palmer’s participation in the 
Uniform Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax28 would require remote sellers (e.g., 
Amazon.com) to charge a sales tax on orders to addresses within the City. Collections 
for the City of Palmer began in March 2020. State and local taxes (SALT) are generally 
allowed as a Federal tax deduction, although the details are subject to change each tax 
year. The City could review and consider changing its sales tax reporting requirements 
and/or include locally grown produce among its sales tax exemptions (PMC 03.16.050). 

Business 
license 

Farms would pay $25/year for a Palmer business license. 

Building 
permits, fees 
and codes on 
farms 

The City of Palmer requires building permits and code compliance for building 
construction, signs and fences. Unless the City changes Palmer Municipal Code, these 
would apply equally to farms as other types of property within the City. Building permits, 
fees and codes are discussed on under Planning and Growth Management.  

27 City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010.   

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf. 
28 The Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax Commission provides more information about the tax: http://arsstc.org/ 

Page 206 of 254Page 206 of 254

https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
http://arsstc.org/


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 58 

Issue Explanation 

Special 
Assessments 

A Special Assessment is essentially an additional increment of property tax levied to a 
group of property owners that benefit from a specific capital improvement or 
infrastructure project. Both Borough and City Codes allow special assessments to be 
created. Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code (Chapter 3.28 Special Assessments) allows 
property owners to create Local Improvement Districts (LIDs) to finance infrastructure for 
a group of benefitting property owners. Palmer Municipal Code (Chapter 3.08 Special 
Assessments) allows Palmer City Council or a group of benefitting property owners to 
create special assessment districts to finance capital improvements. The City would have 
a role in determining and enforcing assessment rules. As citizens, annexed farmers 
would have more say in City Council decisions about Special Assessments. 

Conflicts with 
Neighbors 

Annexation would not affect conflicts with neighboring property owners from noise and 
smells due to livestock, application of manure as fertilizer, farm machinery, etc. State 
right-to-farm laws protect farmers in these cases, and City planning and land use tools 
can also help mitigate some of these conflicts.  

Soil protection Annexation would not affect soil protection. The State Department of Agriculture 
encourages State Farm Conservation Plans and/or Soil and Water Conservation Plans. 
City planning and land use tools can help support soil conservation measures. 

Easements 
and/or Eminent 
Domain 

Eminent Domain is the right of a government or its agent to take private property for 
public use, with payment of compensation. Governments usually avoid using Eminent 
Domain if at all possible, because of the public relations damage it often does. Public 
easements are more common; they only grant permission to use some area of land, 
often for a particular purpose, such as making public infrastructure improvements. 
Infrastructure improvements are made by the City of Palmer, the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough, the State of Alaska and private utilities; they will happen regardless of whether 
the land is inside or outside city boundaries. The City can adopt a preferential policy to 
route public infrastructure improvements around rather than across farmland where 
feasible, but not all future circumstances can be predicted, nor does the City necessarily 
have any power to control the outcome where State or Borough improvements are being 
made. 

Other Businesses 
Public outreach revealed some support for annexation because it will open more business opportunities. 
One respondent voiced interest in attracting national chains, auto/truck dealerships, a movie theater and 
shopping mall to Palmer. Another respondent suggested that Palmer should have a strip club and allow 
pawn shops within the City. One respondent suggested allowing small kennels of up to 10 dogs.  

A number of community members expressed concerns about the costs associated with building codes, 
building permits and inspection fees in real estate development. Some responses expressed concern that 
Palmer-area business owners have little say in City decision-making unless they are also residents. 
Others shared concerns about being annexed during current economic hardship (due to COVID-19) as 
well as the general administrative and financial impact that City licenses, fees, taxes and regulations 
would have on businesses.  

Public input also revealed the need for clarification about the impacts of annexation to specific types of 
businesses. Responses included concerns about the impacts of annexation to landlords (e.g., how much 
sales tax they would have to pay) and that zoning would prohibit certain home businesses. Responses 
also included support for maintaining private gun range(s). 

Responses included support for regulating the gravel pits/quarry to enforce quiet hours and "make the 
midnight gravel train go away." When a materials extraction operation closes, local government may also 
have an interest in working with the landowners to determine an appropriate use for the mined land. If the 

Page 207 of 254Page 207 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 59 

future land use is not addressed proactively, the closed mining operation could become a detriment to the 
community. 

Marijuana businesses were legalized within the City of Palmer by municipal vote in October 2020. 
Responses indicated mixed support for allowing marijuana businesses: a few respondents suggested 
allowing dispensaries within the City and developing cannabis tourism, while one voiced concern that  
there are too many cannabis businesses in the Valley already and that the regional market cannot 
support them all.  

Issue Explanation 

Zoning for 
mixed use 
properties 
with home-
based 
businesses. 

When the City develops an annexation petition, it will work with landowners to identify the 
appropriate zoning. If the property is primarily residential use, a residential zone will apply. 
The City’s residential zoning codes may allow a home-based business as long as none of 
the buildings are exclusively for commercial use. PMC Title 17 Zoning includes several 
Residential Districts. 
Some mixed-use properties would fit Palmer’s Rural Residential District (PMC 17.54), 
which would allow home occupations and farming as an accessory use. This zoning 
designation requires a conditional use permit, with restrictions for excessive noise, traffic, 
or other impact to the neighborhood. Significant on-street parking or deliveries that disrupt 
residential neighborhoods would not be permitted.  
A mixed-use property could also be zoned Limited Commercial District (PMC 17.28), 
which restricts the type of commercial activity on the property. 
If no zoning adequately fits the property, the City may consider amending a zoning district, 
creating a new zoning district, grant a conditional use permit or grandfather (i.e., legally 
non-conforming) the property to accommodate land uses.  

Business 
license for 
home-based 
businesses 

All businesses operating within City limits must register a business license with the City. 
One license covers all locations. The City has separate categories of licenses for door-to-
door sales, mobile itinerant vendors (i.e., food truck) and for businesses conducting sales 
at the State Fair or other special event(s). 

Gun range The City may issue permits to gun clubs for practice in facilities that meet NRA safety 
recommendations (PMC 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms).  

Landlords Palmer’s zoning code (PMC Title 17) contains specific regulation and standards for real 
estate rental, depending on the nature and scale of the rental. The City provides guidance 
specifically for landlords.29 Landlords and property managers must have a City business 
license (a cost of $25 per year) and collect the City’s 3 percent sales tax on rents up to the 
first $1,000 of each rental unit (PMC 03.16.040 (F)). Property manager fees are a taxable 
service. The City requires a landlord agreement for each property, found on the City 
website (see footnote). Other City fees may apply to specific activities, such as obtaining 
building permits to build or renovate rental units. 

Bed and 
Breakfasts 

Regulation: Palmer’s zoning codes (PMC 17.89 Short-Term Rentals) include regulation 
and standards for bed and breakfast-style lodging.  
Taxes: The Matanuska-Susitna Borough currently collects a bed tax of 5 percent on 
businesses that provide traveler accommodations (MSB Code Chapter 3.32 Transient 
Accommodations Tax). Annexed hospitality businesses would continue to pay the 
Borough bed tax. The City of Palmer does not currently collect a bed tax on hospitality 
businesses. These businesses would only be responsible to the City for collecting City 
sales tax. 

Materials 
extraction 

If annexed, existing materials extraction (e.g., gravel pits) would be granted legal 
nonconforming status. Starting a new extraction within City boundaries requires an 

29 City of Palmer. Landlord and Property Manager Information. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: 
www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information.  

Page 208 of 254Page 208 of 254

http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 60 

Issue Explanation 

approved Conditional Use Permit and is only permitted on land zoned Industrial to ensure 
minimal impacts to neighboring uses. The City would still have to address the process of 
converting depleted sites to new uses. 
The City does not currently have a severance tax. The City may consider implementing a 
severance tax on materials extraction, although the City has no intention to impose 
significant new taxes. The City would have to consider the maturity of existing extraction 
operations and how long a severance tax could be a reliable revenue source. 

Marijuana 
businesses 

Marijuana establishments are allowed within the City of Palmer; they are regulated by 
Palmer Municipal Code, Chapters 5 Licensing and Standards, 8 Public Health and Safety 
and 17 Zoning. In the October 6, 2020 election, City of Palmer voters passed Proposition 
1, repealing PMC 5.32.020, which previously banned (non-cultivation) marijuana 
businesses inside city limits. Hemp cultivation and production is allowed per state law, and 
does not require this license. Marijuana licenses cannot be transferred to a new location 
(only to a new owner), and there are not a limited number set in statute. Cities can set 
limits on the number of marijuana licenses.  

Dog Kennels Palmer Municipal Code allows boarding kennels as a permitted use on land zoned BP 
Business Park District (PMC Chapter 17.58) in a completely enclosed building; an outdoor 
exercise yard is permitted. The size of kennels is not mentioned in code. 

Page 209 of 254Page 209 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 61 

Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area 

Study Area A 
Key Considerations 
Land use in Study Area A is mostly residential, 
with one light commercial establishment and one 
communications parcel. The Study Area has 
similar land use characteristics to Palmer and is 
in close proximity to the city as a whole. The area 
allows for both sides of the northern gateway to 
the City to be within the City’s boundaries. 
Because there is very little available land for 
development, Study Area A is not a significant 
growth area.  

The City would have a strong geographic case to 
the Local Boundary Commission for annexing Study Area A to ensure the continuity of city boundaries. 
However, 43 percent of resident survey responses indicated possible support for annexation in Study 
Area A (three of seven responses).  

Figure 16. Study Area A 

Study Area A 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 25 25 35 

Housing Units 17 17 21 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0% 2.6% 

Land Area 1 square mile / 731 acres 

Page 210 of 254Page 210 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 62 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Annexation of Study Area A would have minimal fiscal effects on the City of Palmer and residents in the 
annexed area. Study Area A is the smallest annexation study area by property value and geographic size, 
and the second smallest area by non-exempt commercial activity and population. The study estimates 
that annexing Study Area A would generate $26,000 in a year in revenue and cost $36,000 a year in 
operating costs for a differential of -$10,000. This differential is small enough that the City would not likely 
have to adjust its tax rates to accommodate annexation. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study estimates that between 2020 and 2030, tax revenues from Area A would increase by roughly 
$8,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $5,000, resulting in a net positive change of 
$3,000 in 2030. When this shift of +$3,000 is added to the estimated 2020 net fiscal of -$10,000 per year, 
the study arrives at a projected annual fiscal effect of -$7,000 for 2030. This slight decrease in the 
negative fiscal effect compared to 2020 is attributed to small-scale development that is projected to take 
place in the limited available land in Study Area A over the next decade. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area A Only -10,000 8,000 5,000 3,000 -7,000

Page 211 of 254Page 211 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 63 

Study Area B 
Key Considerations 
Study Area B includes agricultural land, 
residential and commercial with a church and a 
public utilities facility/easement. Study Area B is 
characterized by large agricultural parcels/family 
farms. If the property is subdivided and 
redeveloped, it could accommodate significant 
residential growth. However, the area includes a 
Farmland Trust property. Also, the Moffit Farm 
(which was in the process of obtaining an 
agricultural preservation easement on a 
significant portion of the farm at the time of 
writing) extends outside the study area. If the study area were included in an annexation petition as is, it 
would put part of the owner’s property inside the City and part of the property outside the City. Study Area 
B also includes a marijuana business.  

The City would have a strong geographic case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing Study 
Area B to ensure the continuity of city boundaries. However, no resident survey responses indicated any 
support for annexation in Study Area B (zero of six responses). 

Figure 17. Study Area B 

Study Area B 2010 2020
2030, 

Projected 

Population 54 57 96

Housing Units 25 26 41

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0.5% 5.4%

Land Area 7 square miles / 4,204 acres

Page 212 of 254Page 212 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 64 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Annexation of Study Area B would be revenue positive for the City of Palmer and result in lower property 
tax bills for both area and City residents. Study Area B is a low-density agricultural area with strong future 
growth potential. The study estimates that incorporating the area would increase City revenues by nearly 
$190,000 per year, while costing less than $50,000 per year in operations expenses. Area residents 
would pay property tax to the City and see a tax reduction in their Borough tax bills, while receiving City 
services including police protection. This study area has the potential to be a fiscal win-win for both 
residents and the City. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
Study Areas B and C could ultimately support more development than other study areas, but on a longer 
time horizon, since that development is dependent on larger parcels being subdivided and sold. 
Assuming that Study Area B maintains its primarily agricultural character over the coming decade and a 
limited amount of land is developed in future, the study projects that this area will increase its net positive 
fiscal effect over the next decade. The study estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly 
$62,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $18,000, resulting in an annual net fiscal effect 
of $183,000 in 2030; a net change of +$44,000 from the estimated 2020 fiscal effect. The increase in the 
positive fiscal effect compared to 2020 results from modest commercial and residential development in 
the area. The tax base is projected to grow as larger lots are subdivided, but the population is not 
expected to grow so much that it triggers additional operational costs, such as adding another police 
officer.

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area B Only 139,000 62,000 18,000 44,000 183,000 

Page 213 of 254Page 213 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 65 

Study Area C 
Key Considerations 
Like Study Area B, Study Area C is characterized 
by large agricultural parcels. If developed, they 
could accommodate significant future growth. 
Because Study Area C is near existing schools, it 
may be especially desirable for residential 
development.  

However, there is significant value for farmland 
preservation in the Palmer area. Some farmers 
may be interested in developing their land; others 
intend to continue farming and do not plan to 
subdivide and sell. Seven percent of resident 
survey responses indicated any support for annexation in Study Area C (one of 14 responses). 

Figure 18. Study Area C 

Study Area C 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 72 72 111 

Housing Units 27 27 42 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0% 4% 

Land Area 7 square miles / 4,472 acres 

Page 214 of 254Page 214 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 66 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Annexation of Study Area C would result in similar fiscal effects as annexation of Study Area A. While 
geographically much larger than Study Area A, and with a population twice that of Study Area A, the fiscal 
effects of annexing Study Area C are similar. The study predicts annual revenues under the City’s current 
tax structure of just under $50,000 each year, with annual operating costs near $70,000 per year for a net 
difference of roughly -$22,000. The study anticipates that this differential could be covered without 
significant tax structure changes.  

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
Study Areas B and C could ultimately support more development than other study areas, but on a longer 
time horizon, since that development is dependent on larger parcels being subdivided and sold.  
Assuming that Study Area C maintains its primarily agricultural character over the coming decade and a 
limited amount of land is developed in future, the study projects that the net fiscal effect of annexing the 
area will change little between 2020 and 2030. Between 2020 and 2030 the study model’s expected tax 
revenues would increase by roughly $19,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $17,000, 
resulting in a net change of +$2,000 in 2030. This amount shifts the area’s net fiscal effect from -$22,000 
in 2020 to -$20,000 in 2030. This slight decrease in the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is 
attributed to modest residential development and population growth that is projected to occur as larger 
parcels are developed. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area C Only -22,000 19,000 17,000 2,000 -20,000

Page 215 of 254Page 215 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 67 

Study Area D 
Key Considerations 
Study Area D includes a mix of residential and 
commercial land uses, as well as a school and a 
church. In the long-term, Study Area D may be 
an area for growth, but it is mostly built out and 
has little room for additional near-term growth. 
Study Area D is proximate to public trails. 

Population growth would give the City a strong 
case to the Local Boundary Commission for 
annexing Study Area D. However, 19 percent of 
resident survey responses indicated any support 
for annexation in Study Area D (15 of 80 
responses). 

Figure 19. Study Area D 

Study Area D 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 1,163 1,208 1,311 

Housing Units 436 454 494 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0.4% 0.8% 

Land Area 17 square miles / 10,946 acres 

Page 216 of 254Page 216 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 68 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Study Area D is a developed residential area with a modest amount of commercial activity relative to 
population and geographic area. The area’s estimated population of roughly 1,200 citizens is seven times 
the combined population of Study Areas A, B, and C. The number of lane miles that the Palmer Public 
Works Department would be responsible for is more than twice the combined lane miles of Study Areas 
A, B, and C. The study estimates additional annual operational costs of nearly $1.5 million plus annual 
capital debt repayment costs of roughly $265,000 against just under $1 million in annual revenues. This 
difference amounts to a roughly $725,000 negative net fiscal effect. If the City mitigated these fiscal 
effects through the property tax, the property tax mil rate would increase by nearly 0.8 mils and cost 
property owners roughly $190 per $250,000 of property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax 
rate to 3.18 percent from 3.0 percent to balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
Although much of Study Area D’s proximity to trails and schools make it desirable for residential 
development, there are a limited number of parcels that could accommodate future growth. However, 
based on interviews with the Mat-Su Borough and pending building permits, Study Area D is expected to 
have more short-term development than areas to the north. Assuming modest infill residential 
development over the next decade, the study estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly 
$176,000, while City operating and capital costs would increase by $238,500, resulting in a -$62,500 
change in the estimated fiscal effect between 2020 and 2030. In short, the study expects the annual 
negative net fiscal effect of annexing just this area to increase. The increase in the negative fiscal effects 
compared to 2020 is attributable to increasing public safety costs that are tied to forecasted population 
growth in this area, including hiring additional sworn officers to maintain a ratio of no more than 640 
residents per officer (statewide averages hover between 600 and 700 residents per officer) and the 
capital cost for an additional police car (cruiser).  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area D Only -725,000 176,000 238,500 -62,500 -787,500

Page 217 of 254Page 217 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 69 

Study Area E 
Key Considerations 
Existing land use in Study Area E is primarily 
residential to the south and undeveloped 
parkland to the north. The area includes part of 
the southern gateway to the City of Palmer. 
Recent road improvements along the Glenn 
Highway corridor make Study Area E an 
attractive area for new commercial development. 
Study Area E is considered a desirable 
residential area, but the raw developable land in 
key areas lack road access and would therefore 
be expensive to develop. Study Area E may be 
an area for long-term residential growth.  

Population growth would give the City a strong case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing 
Study Area E. However, 15 percent of resident survey responses indicated any support for annexation in 
Study Area D (15 of 98 responses). 

Figure 20. Study Area E 

Study Area E 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 835 878 1,099 

Housing Units 292 309 395 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0.5% 2.3% 

Land Area 12 square miles / 7,965 acres 

Page 218 of 254Page 218 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 70 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Study Area E has the smallest population of the three larger population study areas and has the highest 
potential for future growth. The combination of population and some commercial activity makes this area 
more fiscally attractive than Area F, but less fiscally attractive than Area D. The study estimates additional 
annual operational costs of nearly $1.2 million plus annual capital debt repayment costs of roughly 
$265,000 against roughly $626,000 in annual revenues. This difference amounts to a negative net fiscal 
effect of just over $800,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal effects through the property tax, the property 
tax mil rate would increase by just over one mil and cost property owners roughly $260 per $250,000 of 
property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax rate to 3.21 percent from 3.0 percent to 
balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at three mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study projects a very modest improvement between 2020 and 2030 in the strong net negative fiscal 
effect of annexing Area E only. Assuming a moderate amount of future growth in Study Area E, the study 
estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly $169,000 and that City operating and capital costs 
would increase by $127,000, resulting in a net change of +$42,000 in 2030. This change would shift the 
area’s estimated annual negative effect from -$814,000 annually to -$782,000 annually. The decrease in 
the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is attributable to modest residential development and 
population growth in Study Area E. Although some residential development in Study Area E would require 
the construction of access roads, these estimates do not include additional road mileage because it is 
unclear how much of that road construction would be private and how much would be public.  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Area E Only -814,000 169,000 127,000 42,000 -782,000

Although the anticipated housing development and population increase for Study Areas E and F are very 
similar, the fiscal effects are different. This result is partly because Study Area E has a larger sales tax 
base than Study Area F in 2020, but mainly because Study Area F has a larger 2020 population, which 
triggers the need for additional police officers and associated capital costs (e.g., for police cruiser) much 
faster than Study Area E. 

Page 219 of 254Page 219 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 71 

Study Area F 
Key Considerations 
 Existing land use in Study Area F is a mix of 
residential, commercial and agriculture. The area 
includes part of the southern gateway to the City 
of Palmer. Study Area F features some of the 
densest housing development in the Palmer 
area. Multiple farms also operate in this area, 
including smaller hobby farms and larger 
operations. There may continue to be more 
residential infill as farmland is sold and 
redeveloped, but there is also a great deal of 
support for farmland preservation in the Palmer 
area. The State Fair owns several lots in Study Area F that are unlikely to be redeveloped or change use. 

Population growth would give the City a strong case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing 
Study Area F. However, 12 percent of resident survey responses indicated any support for annexation in 
Study Area D (19 of 153 responses). 

Figure 21. Study Area F 

Study Area F 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 744 1,259 1,473

Housing Units 279 485 568

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  5.4% 1.6% 

Land Area 10 square miles / 6,584 acres

Page 220 of 254Page 220 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 72 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Study Area F has the largest population and the lowest level of commercial activity per capita of all the 
study areas considered in this analysis. This combination makes Study Area F a poorer fiscal fit for 
annexation than the other study areas. The negative net fiscal effects of annexing this study area are 
nearly as large as annexing all the study areas without the broader tax base upon which to balance the 
budget. The study estimates additional annual operational costs of nearly $1.4 million plus annual capital 
debt repayment costs of roughly $265,000 against just under $660,000 in annual revenues. This 
difference amounts to a negative net fiscal effect of nearly $990,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal 
effects through the property tax, the property tax mil rate would increase by just over one mil and cost 
property owners roughly $315 per $250,000 of property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax 
rate to nearly 3.3 percent from 3.0 percent to balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 
mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study projects that the strong net negative fiscal effect of annexing Area F only will strengthen over 
the next decade. Assuming continued development in Study Area F, the study estimates that tax 
revenues would increase by roughly $133,000 annually and that City operating and capital costs would 
increase by $403,500 annually, resulting in a -$270,500 shift in net fiscal effect. This change would shift 
the annual net fiscal effect for the city from -$989,000 in 2020 to -$1.26 million in 2030. The increase in 
the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is attributable to an increase in public safety costs 
associated with the projected population growth for this primarily residential area, including hiring 
additional sworn officers to maintain a ratio of no more than 640 residents per officer (statewide averages 
hover between 600 and 700 residents per officer) and the capital cost for an additional police car 
(cruiser).   

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Area F Only -989,000 133,000 403,500 -270,500 -1,259,500

Although the anticipated housing development and population increase for Study Areas E and F are very 
similar, the fiscal effects are different. This result is partly because Study Area E has a larger sales tax 
base than Study Area F in 2020, but mainly because Study Area F has a larger 2020 population, which 
triggers the need for additional police officers and associated capital costs (e.g., for police cruiser) much 
faster than Study Area E. 

Page 221 of 254Page 221 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 73 

Study Area G (and E) 
Key Considerations 
Existing land use in Study Area G is primarily 
gravel extraction. The study area also includes a 
few residences and the Matanuska Valley 
Sportsmen Shooting Range. Recent road 
improvements along the Glenn Highway corridor 
make Study Area G an attractive area for new 
commercial development. At some point, the 
gravel extraction operation will close, and the 
land will be redeveloped. Area residents may be 
interested in having the City’s land use controls 
to influence redevelopment of the property at that 
time. 

In Study Area G alone, 43 percent of resident survey responses indicated support for annexation (three of 
seven responses). When combined with Study Area E, support for annexation drops to 17 percent (18 of 
105 responses). 

Figure 22. Study Area G 

Study Area G 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 8 8 11 

Housing Units 4 4 5 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0% 3.5% 

Land Area 21 square miles / 13,652 acres 

Page 222 of 254Page 222 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 74 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Fiscal effects are described for Study Area G and 
E because the City would only be able to annex 
Study Area G if Study Area E is annexed as well. 
Study Areas G and E would extend the city south 
on the western edge of the Glenn Highway. This 
combination area would allow the City to 
influence Palmer’s primary visual entrance at 
modest fiscal expense. The City would need to 
adjust its tax structure to capture some of the 
high-dollar commercial activity occurring at the 
local gravel pits in order to keep fiscal effects 
modest. The study estimates additional annual 
operational costs of nearly $1.2 million plus annual capital debt repayment costs of roughly $370,000 
against just under $1.2 million in annual revenues. This difference amounts to a negative net fiscal effect 
of roughly $380,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal effects through the property tax, the property tax mil 
rate would increase by just over 0.04 mil and cost property owners roughly $10 per $250,000 of property. 
Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax rate to nearly 3.005 percent from 3.0 percent to balance 
the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 mils. This adjustment in the sales tax rate is so small 
that it might make sense to consider adjusting the $1,000 sales act transaction cap for inflation instead of 
changing the rate.  

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study expects that the annual net negative fiscal effects of annexing Areas G+E will increase over the 
next decade from -$350,000 a year to -$571,000 a year. Because Study Area G is viewed as largely 
unsuitable for residential development, minimal development or population increase is assumed in the 
study area over the next decade. Sales tax revenues in Study Area G are also expected to decline as 
gravel production slows and the mine in this area is decommissioned. However, combined with the 
development potential of Study Area E, the study estimates that tax revenues would only decrease by 
roughly $93,000 and City operating costs would increase by $128,000, resulting in a net change of  
-$221,000 in 2030.  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Areas 
G+E Only -350,000 -93,000 128,000 -221,000 -571,000

Study Areas 
G + E 
Combined 2010 2020

2030, 
Projected 

Population 843 886 1,110

Housing Units 296 313 400

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0.5% 2.3%

Land Area 33 square miles / 21,617 acres

Page 223 of 254Page 223 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 75 

Transition Plan 

Transfer Process 
An annexation petition must include a practical plan, informed by the City of Palmer, the State of Alaska, 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and general community that demonstrates the capacity of the City 
government to:  

• extend essential City services into the territory proposed for annexation in the shortest practicable
time after annexation, not to exceed two years following annexation.

• assume all relevant and appropriate powers, duties, rights, and functions presently exercised by
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough in the territory proposed for annexation.

• transfer and integrate all relevant and appropriate assets and liabilities of the Matanuska-Susitna
Borough in the territory proposed for annexation.

The estimated staffing, equipment and capital needed to annex the Study Areas identified in this report 
are included in the fiscal study assumptions. If the City proposes to annex a different land area, the 
transition plan for that annexation petition will provide comparable estimates adjusted to the area included 
in the petition. 

Generally, the transition process occurs within one year of an annexation decision. The impact to the City 
of Palmer of extending services to areas proposed for annexation would be greatest for areas with the 
greatest population and existing development. As the City prepares the transition plan for a given 
annexation petition, it will confer and coordinate with other governmental agencies and service providers, 
such as those listed in Table 15. 

Table 16. Pre-Annexation Consultation 

Entity Topic(s) of Coordination 
Mat-Su Borough  
(various departments) 

Status of annexation petition; voting districts; alcohol and marijuana 
licensing; emergency and hazard planning; tax receipts, timing of tax 
collection/effective dates; improvement districts; bond repayment; 
planning and land development; gravel pits; subdivision and platting 
procedures; mapping; general coordination 

South Colony Road 
Service Area 

Borough road contracts; existing maintenance and capital projects, 
service levels; general coordination 

Alaska Department of 
Transportation and 
Public Facilities 

Confirm ownership and maintenance of State roads/infrastructure; 
ADOT policies; general coordination 

Alaska State Troopers Impact to Trooper workload; problem areas; dispatch; staffing levels; 
general coordination 

Alaska Alcohol and 
Marijuana Control Office 

Alcohol and marijuana licensing; marijuana and alcohol licenses; license 
types; conditions of approval; general coordination 

Alaska Fire Marshal Application of City building and fire safety codes/policies; general 
coordination 

School District Police response; safe routes to schools; general coordination 

State of Alaska Local 
Government Specialist 

Anything City has questions about; general coordination 

Page 224 of 254Page 224 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 76 

General Government Services 
All areas of potential City annexation are currently governed by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, so 
general government services for any territory proposed for annexation would be transferred from the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer. Some specific government services and functions 
would remain with the Borough and are noted in the following pages. Once annexation is effective, the 
City would work with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to ensure that all affected departments are made 
aware of the boundary change.  

Transition of voter roles 
Voter registration would shift from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer for all residents 
of annexed territory upon effective annexation. Annexed residents would be assigned to City of Palmer 
voting precincts. Voting precincts are set by the State of Alaska and reviewed every ten years after the 
Census. The City of Palmer currently has two precincts, located at:  

• 11-070: Matanuska-Susitna Borough Administration Building Assembly Chambers (350 E. Dahlia
Avenue)

• 11-075: Senior Center (350 E. Dahlia Avenue)
A map of Palmer’s existing voting precincts may be viewed at: www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-
office/page/polling-locations.  

Licenses 

Business licenses 
Businesses located in annexed areas would be required to obtain a City of Palmer business license, 
effective upon annexation. 

Alcohol and Marijuana Licenses 
The Alaska Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office (AMCO) would continue to oversee the licensing of 
alcohol and marijuana businesses. Any annexed business holding an alcohol or marijuana license issued 
by AMCO would be permitted to continue operating consistent with their license and any restrictions or 
conditions that were placed on the license at its approval or most recent renewal. Renewal of licenses 
post-annexation would be reviewed according to Palmer Municipal Code. Once annexation is effective, 
the new city boundaries would be provided to the AMCO for future licensing and renewals.   

Property Tax 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough assesses and collects property taxes for properties inside and outside 
organized cities in the borough; this system would not change. However, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
Assessing Department would be notified of the new property in the city to make sure that the property 
receives the proper assessment. Annexed parcels would be transitioned to the correct tax code area for 
Palmer, which would begin at the beginning of the next calendar year following the effective date of 
annexation. Annexed properties would no longer pay the Borough’s Non-Area Wide millage, Road 
Service Area millage nor separate Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area millage, and would 
instead pay the City of Palmer millage. 

Sales Tax 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough at this time has not imposed a sales tax. The City of Palmer currently 
has a sales tax in the amount of three percent. Once annexation is effective, all future sales, rentals and 
services made on or from businesses within the annexed area would be subject to the City of Palmer 
sales tax. The procedures that are currently in place when developers and/or businesses apply for a 
Building Permit or Business License ensure that individuals are informed of the City sales tax and proper 
collection and reporting requirements.  

Page 225 of 254Page 225 of 254

http://www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-office/page/polling-locations
http://www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-office/page/polling-locations
http://www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-office/page/polling-locations


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 77 

Other taxes and fees 
A transient accommodations taxation (bed tax) is collected by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. This tax 
would continue to be collected by the Borough for all applicable businesses operating within the City and 
annexed areas. The City of Palmer does not collect a bed tax.  

Once annexation is effective, all applicable fees charged by the City of Palmer would be required upon 
the associated action. The City’s current Fee Schedule may be viewed at: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

Economic Development  
Economic Development would transfer from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer. 

Planning, Land Use and Zoning  
Some planning and land use powers would transfer from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of 
Palmer, including subdivisions and plat review, zoning, and the application of building permits.  

Subdivisions and platting for land within City boundaries is done by the City of Palmer, with approval by 
the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission. Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance for these 
actions in PMC Title 16 Subdivisions (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/16). Once annexation is 
effective, landowners would work with City of Palmer staff to subdivide and plat their land in accordance 
with City code. 

Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance for the application of City zoning upon annexation of territory 
into the city (PMC 17.59.030: https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59). Following the effective date of 
annexation, the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct public hearings to take public 
comment on land use and potential zoning for the newly annexed territory. After due considerations, the 
City would designate initial zoning districts for annexed parcels. Owner-initiated zoning amendments can 
be made at any time, so landowners can propose the zoning of their choice to the city as part of the initial 
zoning or afterward. City staff would work with landowners to determine how best to accommodate any 
non-conforming territory within study areas, which may include some combination of zoning application, 
conditional use permits, variances or some other land use regulatory tool.  

Palmer Municipal Code also provides guidance about the initial zoning of annexed properties (PMC 
17.16.060: https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.16.060 and PMC 17.59.040 
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59), copied below. These designations are intended to make the 
zoning process smooth by allowing existing uses to continue to the extent possible during transition into 
the City.  

17.16.060 Annexation zoning. When land becomes a part of the city by means of annexation, 
the land shall be zoned as follows: 

A. Privately owned parcels primarily used for single-family residential purposes shall be classified
as R-1, single-family residential;

B. Parcels owned by a governmental agency and intended for uses allowed in a public use
district shall be classified as P, public use;

C. Parcels owned by a governmental agency and not intended for uses allowed in a public use
district shall be classified as T, transitional use;

D. Privately owned parcels primarily used for other than single-family residential purposes shall
be classified as T, transitional use;

Page 226 of 254Page 226 of 254

https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/16
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/16
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.16.060
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.16.060
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 78 

E. Privately owned parcels not in use upon the effective date of the annexation shall be classified
as T, transitional use. (Ord. 632 § 3, 2004; Ord. 454 § 4, 1992)

17.59.040 Permitted principal and accessory uses and structures. Principal uses and 
structures in the T – transitional district are: 

A. Lawful uses are to continue in the transitional district, except those prohibited uses specified
in PMC 17.59.060 and those permitted to continue only by conditional use.

B. Lawful accessory uses and structures are allowed to continue. (Ord. 13-009 § 6, 2014; Ord.
632 § 4, 2004)

Once annexation is effective, property owners would also be required to obtain City of Palmer building 
permits and meet City building codes for new construction or significant repairs. 

Water and Sewer 
There would be no effective change in water and wastewater upon annexation for the affected territory. 
The Palmer Water and Sewer Utility provides sewers, sewage treatment, water treatment and distribution, 
including fire hydrants to areas within its service area, which already includes all areas that may be 
considered for annexation. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough does not provide these utility services to 
Borough residents. Regardless of any annexation, the Palmer Water and Sewer Utility would consider 
extensions to its existing services and infrastructure on a case-by-case basis. Many properties in the 
study areas are serviced by their own water wells and septic systems. These properties would be 
permitted to continue to use their existing systems per Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 13.16.  

Public Safety 
Public safety services would transfer from the Alaska State Troopers to the Palmer Police Department. 
Once annexation is effective, the City would notify the Alaska State Troopers and the Palmer Police 
Department that the annexed territory is inside the Palmer Police Department's jurisdiction. Fire and 
Emergency Response service would continue to be provided by the Palmer Fire and Rescue within the 
Greater Palmer Fire Service Area, which would include all annexed areas.  

Roads and Road Maintenance 
All Matanuska-Susitna Borough-owned streets, roads, sidewalks, paths and trails including related utility 
easements, water drainage, landscaping, parking and approximately 40 streetlights would transfer from 
the South Colony Road Service Area to the City of Palmer. Once annexation is effective, Palmer Public 
Works maintenance crews would be informed of the new area to be serviced. Road maintenance of State 
Highways would continue to be provided by the State of Alaska in annexed areas.  

Libraries, Parks and Recreation 
The Palmer Library is already operated by the City of Palmer. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough makes 
contributions to the City on behalf of residents that use the Palmer Library outside City boundaries, which 
would likely be reduced to reflect the City’s new boundaries. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough would 
maintain ownership of Borough parks, playgrounds, sports fields and other recreation facilities, but would 
delegate the powers to maintain and develop Borough-owned parkland to the City of Palmer upon 
annexation. 

Services Not Affected by Annexation 
Airport and aviation services would continue to be available to annexed areas and provided by the City of 
Palmer, Municipal Airport. The following services would continue to be provided by the Matanuska-
Susitna Borough to annexed areas: Animal Control, Education, Air pollution control, and Historic 
preservation. 

Page 227 of 254Page 227 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 79 

Policy Implications 
The annexation study revealed a number of concerns from area residents and businesses about how 
existing City of Palmer policy would affect them, if annexed. In some cases, public concerns reflect a lack 
of understanding about how City governance and service provision works. Most, if not all, of these can be 
clarified by the information presented in this report. In other cases, public concerns reflect issues that will 
require a decision by the City of Palmer. These are noted below, with alternatives for the City to consider. 
It should also be noted that recent LBC decisions demonstrate a current philosophy among 
Commissioners that leans toward supporting individual property rights and well-supported annexations; 
addressing these issues and demonstrating a base level of support for annexation among the City and 
area residents will be especially important for a successful annexation.  

Sales Taxes 
The City could speak with businesses in areas proposed for annexation to find out if there is a consistent 
type of business that would be negatively affected by having to collect sales tax and consequently make a 
determination if PMC 03.16.050 should be amended to include any other specific sales tax exemptions. 
Some survey respondents specifically indicated that locally grown food should be exempt from the City 
sales tax, but it is beyond the scope of this study to determine how much of an impact the sales tax would 
have, if any, on the competitiveness of annexed businesses.  

Building permits, fees and codes for sheds, fences, decks, etc. 
The City currently requires building permits, fees and inspections for sheds and decks per PMC Title 15 
Buildings and Construction (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/15). The City also charges a fence 
permit. The City could review and amend code to make some degree of the building permitting and 
inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, Anchorage Municipal Code 23.05.030 makes the 
requirements to apply for and complete the building permit, plan review, and building inspection 
processes optional in areas outside the Anchorage Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA), which is 
defined in AMC 27.30.040. The boundaries of the ABSSA are outlined on a map in AMC 27.30.700. 

Off Highway Vehicle (OHV) use (ATVs, snow machines, etc.) 
The City currently does not allow on streets except to cross per PMC Chapter 10.08 Regulation of Off-
highway Vehicles (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/10.08). The City could amend PMC to allow 
licensed operation of OHVs, like the City of Kenai per KMC Chapter 13.40 Off-road Operations of Motor 
Vehicles (https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.40). Designated pathways or recreational trails could be 
created that run alongside main roadways to accommodate off-highway vehicle use, although additional 
provisions may be needed to allow the vehicles to travel from a residence to designated trails along 
neighborhood streets. 

Animal restrictions 
The City currently allows a variety of pet and livestock animals, depending on zoning per PMC Title 6 
Animals (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/6) and PMC Title 17 Zoning 
(https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17). Most community concerns were either about dogs or farm 
animals (chickens, roosters, cows, horses, goats, bees). Palmer Municipal Code allows all of these on 
land zoned for agriculture or parcels larger than one acre if the animals do not go within 25 feet from an 
exterior lot line (PMC 6.08.020.A). For dogs, the City could review and consider amending the code to 
allow up to four dogs on parcels less than one acre and/or off-leash dogs in designated areas within City 
boundaries if existing code cannot accommodate annexed properties. Where there is potential conflict 
regarding farm animals is in the case of a property owner living on a residential parcel of less than one 
acre with small-scale agricultural activities mainly for personal consumption. The City could review and 
amend code to better accommodate these activities if existing zoning and animal regulations fail to do so. 

Page 228 of 254Page 228 of 254

https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/15
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/15
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/10.08
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/10.08
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.40
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.40
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/6
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/6
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 80 

Hunting and Use of Firearms 
The City currently prohibits discharge of firearms within City limits except at permitted practice facilities 
per PMC Chapter 9.74 Discharge of Firearms (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/9_DivVIII). The City 
could designate areas in code where hunting is allowed, like the City of Kenai per KMC 13.15.010 
Discharge of firearms (https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010). Anchorage and Juneau have 
helpful webpages describing their rules about hunting and use of firearms within their boundaries. The 
City and Borough of Juneau permits hunting with regulatory guidelines within its boundaries 
(https://juneau.org/lands/hunting). It is against the law to discharge a firearm in the Municipality of 
Anchorage except in designated hunting areas or shooting ranges per Anchorage Municipal Code 
8.25.030 (https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx). 

Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks 
Fireworks are allowed without a permit on New Year’s Eve per PMC Chapter 8.42 Fireworks 
(https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.42). Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits for 
fire pits and Class A/B/C burn permits for open burning of woody debris or fields of grass, upon approval 
by the Fire Chief or his designee.30 The City could review and amend code to if needed. One example 
would be to adjust the allowances for burn permits on parcels of five or more acres in newly annexed 
areas. The Municipality of Anchorage allows recreational or ceremonial fires as long as they are done 
according to regulatory safety standards and obtain a burn permit if necessary. However, burning trash, 
yard debris, leaves, construction material, and/or woody debris is prohibited within the municipality.31  

Solid Waste Collection and Disposal 
Garbage collection is currently required throughout the City of Palmer per PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage 
Collection and Disposal (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.20). The City could consider changing 
PMC to allow self-haul, disposal of waste on property, in addition to contracted collection services, either 
in a part of the city or citywide. Like Palmer, the Municipality of Anchorage requires municipal garbage 
collection within a specified service area (AMC 26.70.030), but Anchorage Municipal Code does allow the 
city manager to exempt a person from the requirement if that person requires solid waste collection and 
disposal service that cannot be provided by the Municipality. Unlike Palmer Municipal Code, Anchorage 
Municipal Code does not require garbage collection by a private provider outside this service area. 

Farms 
If the City seeks to accommodate working farms into its boundaries, the City is advised to meet with 
farmers and discuss their specific concerns, then prepare a plan for transitioning the working farms into 
the City. Many farm concerns could be accommodated within now-existing City code. However, in order 
to meet City standards, farmers may have to invest time and money into things like moving their fences, 
coming into building code compliance and meeting the City’s sales tax policies and reporting 
requirements. There is also some uncertainty about how to interpret City code for farm waste 
management. These are issues that might not necessarily put the farmer out of business, but that could 
create significant hurdles and animosity among farmers if they are not addressed proactively. Depending 
on the issue, the City could consider offering assistance or incentive programs or allow farms to slowly 
transition to code compliance.  

30 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed March 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-
permits. 
31 Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.   

Page 229 of 254Page 229 of 254

https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/9_DivVIII
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/9_DivVIII
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.42
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.42
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.20
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.20
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 81 

References 
Agnew::Beck Consulting (2006). Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc. and Kevin Waring Associates (2010). City of Palmer 
Annexation Strategy. Accessed November 5, 2020 from https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-
analysis-annexation-alternatives.  

Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local 
Boundary Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. 
Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax Commission. Alaska Remote Sales Tax Information Portal. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: http://arsstc.org/. 

City and Borough of Juneau. Hunting on CBJ Property. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting. 

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_cit
y_limits_map.pdf. 

City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://www.kenai.city/citycouncil/page/kenai-municipal-code. 

City of Palmer (1999). Record to the Local Boundary Commission Palmer Annexation Petition. Accessed 
November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer, Alaska (March 2002). A Petition by the City of Palmer for Annexation of approximately 
921.34 acres North, South, East & West of the current City Limits. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer (2011). Petition to the Local Boundary Commission For Annexation to the City of Palmer, a 
Home Rule City within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Using the local option method by the 
consent of all owners of the property proposed for annexation and all registered voters residing 
on that property. Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer. Budget Documents. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents. 

City of Palmer. Building Codes. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-code-enforcement-information. 

City of Palmer. Building Reports. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-reports. 

Page 230 of 254Page 230 of 254

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
http://arsstc.org/
http://arsstc.org/
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
https://www.kenai.city/citycouncil/page/kenai-municipal-code
https://www.kenai.city/citycouncil/page/kenai-municipal-code
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 82 

City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-
schedule. 

City of Palmer. Fence Permit Application. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application. 

City of Palmer. Landlord and Property Manager Information. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: 
www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information. 

City of Palmer. Palmer Municipal Code. Accessed February 4-9, 2021 from: 
https://palmer.municipal.codes/. 

City of Palmer. Road Standards. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/public-
works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards. 

Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. City of Anchorage, 368 P.2nd 540 (Alaska 1962). 

Gillian Smythe & Associates (1999). Palmer Comprehensive Plan. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Local Boundary Commission. Report to the 29th Alaska State Legislature, 1st Session February 2015. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Zoning. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.matsugov.us/zoning. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Fire and Life Safety Division. Building and Renovating. Accessed February 
3, 2021 from: http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating. 

Municipality of Anchorage. Firearms – FAQ. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx. 

Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx. 

Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 
2020 from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives. 

Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-
rescue/page/burn-permits. 

Rockey, Tim. “Waste water treatment plan up and running,” Frontiersman Sep 19, 2018. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-
running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html. 

United States Justice Department. “Notice of Lodging of Proposed Consent Decree Under the Clean 
Water Act: A Notice by the Justice Department on 09/12/2016,” Federal Register. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-
21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act. 

Page 231 of 254Page 231 of 254

http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information
https://palmer.municipal.codes/
https://palmer.municipal.codes/
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
https://www.matsugov.us/zoning
https://www.matsugov.us/zoning
http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating
http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 83 

Appendix A: Annexation History 
A History of Annexation in Palmer 

A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation 
For most of its history, annexation into the City of Palmer has happened through frequent, small-scale 
petitions only when requested by property owners. From the City’s incorporation in 1951 through 1999, 
the City’s boundaries were expanded by 44 separate annexations, 41 of which occurred between 1970 
and 1999 (ADCED, 2000).32 These annexations often involved either large commercial parcels or parcels 
that were subdivided into smaller lots for residential development. Annexation into the City provided 
access to municipal services, particularly water and sewer services, which have been the primary driver 
of annexation requests by landowners and developers.  

This piecemeal approach to annexation created irregular, meandering city boundaries and several 
enclaves of non-annexed properties isolated within City boundaries (Smythe, 1999).33 In 1992, the LBC 
denied a City-initiated annexation petition because it would have created an additional enclave,34 and 
recommended that the City take a more comprehensive approach to annexation in future to address the 
problem of enclaves (ADCED, 2000).  

A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation 
From the 1990’s onward, the City followed the LBC’s recommendation for a more comprehensive 
approach to annexation. A 1999 City-initiated annexation petition included four separate parcels 
contiguous with then-existing City boundaries, one of which was a voluntary annexation request; the 
remaining three were either owned by the City or were privately-owned lots over which the City already 
held Power of Attorney for annexation (City of Palmer, 1999).35  

The City of Palmer also completed a comprehensive plan in 1999, which recommended that the City 
adopt Palmer’s certificated sewer service area as the conceptual boundary for expansion of the City and 
file the concept with the LBC so that future individual annexation petitions would be used to implement 
the concept (Smythe, 1999). The plan reasoned that a conceptual growth boundary would provide 
advance notice to landowners and residents in areas of possible annexation, which would thereby allow 
more time for landowners, developers, the City and Matanuska-Susitna Borough to plan and prepare for 

32 Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local Boundary 
Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  
33 Gillian Smythe & Associates (1999). Palmer Comprehensive Plan. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan.  
34 Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local Boundary 
Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  
35 City of Palmer (1999). Record to the Local Boundary Commission Palmer Annexation Petition. Accessed 
November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

Page 232 of 254Page 232 of 254

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 84 

future annexations (Smythe, 1999). Following the 1999 Palmer Comprehensive Plan, the City contracted 
with Northern Economics, Inc. in 2000 to analyze the economic effects of a potential future annexation. 
This study analyzed four study areas defined as potential annexation phases toward the conceptual 
boundary recommended by the Comprehensive Plan and, by City Council request, added a study area for 
the extensive gravel extraction area south of the City (Northern Economics, Inc., 2006).36  

A City-initiated annexation petition in 2002 (of over 920 acres) specifically addressed the issue of 
enclaves within Palmer by annexing all remaining enclaves, including properties that were either entirely 
surrounded by the City or bordered by the City and the Matanuska River. The 2002 petition also 
established that the conflict between the City's policy of annexing land only upon request and the LBC's 
policy of denying a petition that would create an enclave had effectively made the voluntary piecemeal 
approach to annexation an obstacle to investment in the Palmer community and to its growth and 
development (City of Palmer, 2002).37 Any non-contiguous property outside City boundaries would have 
to be annexed along with the land between that development and City boundaries. Even if driven by a 
landowner’s voluntary request for annexation, future annexation petitions would likely have to be initiated 
by the City in order to include enough land area to ensure contiguous City borders.  

Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development 
Annexation was identified in Palmer’s 1999 Comprehensive Plan as an important mechanism to support 
the City’s ability to plan for and manage community growth, which had become constrained by Palmer’s 
relatively small physical area, high population density, and high growth rate (Smythe, 1999). The plan 
recommended that Palmer adopt an annexation strategy specifically to help guide future development 
because significant growth was happening just outside municipal boundaries (Smythe, 1999).  

Growth management was a significant part of the rationale for the subsequent 2002 City-initiated 
annexation petition, which noted a population increase of 58 percent from development within City 
boundaries and 38 percent within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough over the previous Census decade 
(1990-2000) (City of Palmer, 2002). The petition cited the need to address the potential for conflicting 
land uses and building standards along municipal boundaries with planning and zoning in the areas 
proposed for annexation, particularly where enclaves existed (City of Palmer, 2002). It included four 
partially developed subdivisions (of almost 200 lots) that requested annexation for water and sewer 
service and noted the City’s desire to plan for commercial development and retail growth expansion along 
the Glenn Highway to the south prior to development (City of Palmer, 2002).38  

A 2006 update to the Palmer Comprehensive Plan reaffirmed that the City needed additional area for 
community expansion and that much of the Palmer area’s recent growth and development had taken 
place near Springer Loop to the south and along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway to the west, both areas 
outside city boundaries and not zoned (Agnew::Beck, 2006).39 The 2006 update recommended that there 
be a plan for the phased expansion of city boundaries, with a detailed planning study and cost-benefit 
analysis of the area proposed for annexation. 

36 Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives.  
37 City of Palmer, Alaska (March 2002). A Petition by the City of Palmer for Annexation of approximately 921.34 acres 
North, South, East & West of the current City Limits. Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary 
Commission: https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  
38 Ibid. 
39 Agnew::Beck Consulting (2006). Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Page 233 of 254Page 233 of 254

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 85 

Figure 23. 2006 Palmer Annexation Study Area Map 

This map, from the 2006 Analysis of Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer (Northern Economics, Inc.), then-
proposed annexation phasing out to the Palmer Certificated Sewer Utility Service Area boundary. The utility service 
area boundary was recommended as a conceptual growth boundary for the City in the 1999 Palmer Comprehensive 
Plan as a way to give landowners, developers, the City and Matanuska-Susitna Borough more opportunity to plan 
and prepare for future annexations. 

As the 2006 Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update was underway, the City retained Northern Economics, 
Inc. to conduct another annexation study using the same analytical approach as the 2001 study. The 
2006 Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer also used the previously established phased 
approach toward a conceptual growth boundary that matched the Palmer certificated sewer utility service 

Page 234 of 254Page 234 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 86 

area, shown in Figure 23 (Northern Economics, Inc. 2006).40 The study noted the City’s ability to offer a 
high level of municipal services including City police, fire protection, street maintenance, and planning 
and land use regulatory powers. However, it noted that the extension of water and sewer services, which 
had previously been a major driver in annexation requests to the City, was coordinated by a separate 
certificated city utility through an enterprise fund (Northern Economics, Inc. 2006).41 

The City has not successfully led any large-area annexations since 2002. An annexation petition was 
prepared in 2007 but failed to pass a vote of the Palmer City Council for submittal to the LBC. Testimony 
from residents in the area proposed for annexation was overwhelmingly opposed for reasons ranging 
from expectations that annexation would adversely affect their lives and property to a lack of adequate 
opportunity to participate in the development of the annexation proposal (Agnew::Beck Consulting, 
2010).42

In 2010, the City retained a consultant team (Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc., and 
Kevin Waring Associates) to prepare an Annexation Strategy. The 2010 study identified two commercial 
corridors, the Palmer Wasilla Highway and Glenn Highway, as areas with the most potential need for 
growth management, depending on how and when properties along the highways are developed. It also 
recommended public process improvements and potential changes to City policies to address area 
resident concerns about annexation (Agnew::Beck Consulting, 2010).43 A property was annexed in 2011 
using the local option/local action method by the consent of all property owners and registered voters 
residing on the property (City of Palmer, 2011).44 The owner, a church, already owned adjacent property 
inside City limits and sought to consolidate and fully develop its property through annexation. 

The Case for Annexation 
The City of Palmer Annexation Strategy (Agnew::Beck et al, 2010) provided the rationale for annexation 
that applies equally in 2020 as it did in 2010. That study discussed how State law generally favors city 
annexations to sustain the fiscal viability of existing cities, to plan for growth and the efficient provision of 
essential public services to adjacent areas. Palmer’s case for annexation would rest on:  

• The city’s constrained boundaries with ongoing growth in the City’s periphery.
• The City’s unique ability to plan for and deliver essential public services to adjacent areas as

development progresses.
• The City’s demonstrated capacity to provide expanded public services without impacting the

quality and costs of services to existing residents.
• The City’s need to maintain its sales tax revenue base.

The 2020 annexation study looks at these elements of Palmer’s annexation rationale in more detail and 
offers guidance for issues that would have to addressed as part of a future annexation. 

40 Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives.  
41 Ibid. 
42 Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc. and Kevin Waring Associates (2010). City of Palmer 
Annexation Strategy. Accessed November 5, 2020 from https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-
alternatives.  
43 Ibid. 
44 City of Palmer (2011). Petition to the Local Boundary Commission For Annexation to the City of Palmer, a Home 
Rule City within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Using the local option method by the consent of all owners of the 
property proposed for annexation and all registered voters residing on that property. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

Page 235 of 254Page 235 of 254

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 87 

Appendix B: Survey Questions 
Interview Questions 

Residents and the General Public 
1] What opportunities do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries?

2] What risks do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries?

3] Are there specific policies, city services or other potential impacts (on services, taxes or regulations)
that are of interest or concern to you?

4] Are there specific actions the City could take to ameliorate any negative impacts if property is
annexed?

Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners 
1] Based on your experience and knowledge about recent and future development trends, where could
we expect residential and/or commercial growth, within and around Palmer?

2-5] Same questions as Residents and the General Public.

Survey Questions 
1] Please chose the option that most closely reflects where you live: (Choose 1.)

□ I live in the City of Palmer.
□ I live in Study area A.
□ I live in Study area B.
□ I live in Study area C.
□ I live in Study area D.
□ I live in Study area E.
□ I live in Study area F.
□ I live in Study area G.
□ I live outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas.

2] Please chose the options that most closely reflects if and where you own a business. (Choose all that
apply.)

□ I own a business in the City of Palmer.
□ I own a business in Study area A.
□ I own a business in Study area B.
□ I own a business in Study area C.
□ I own a business in Study area D.
□ I own a business in Study area E.
□ I own a business in Study area F.
□ I own a business in Study area G.
□ I own a business outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas.
□ I do not own a business.

Page 236 of 254Page 236 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 88 

3] Please chose the options that most closely reflects if and where you work. (Choose all that apply.)

□ I work in the City of Palmer.
□ I work in Study area A.
□ I work in Study area B.
□ I work in Study area C.
□ I work in Study area D.
□ I work in Study area E.
□ I work in Study area F.
□ I work in Study area G.
□ I work outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas.
□ I do not work for anyone.

4] Annexation often sparks strong opinions about how it will impact residents and businesses. When
thinking about annexing new land into the City of Palmer, which category most closely reflects your
opinion of each statement?

Statement 

Significant 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
detriment to 

the area 

Significant 
detriment to 

the area 

Newly annexed areas will have to comply 
with City zoning and other land use 
regulations, which would provide more 
local control over land use and 
development decisions. 

□ □ □ □ 

New residents would be able to vote in 
City elections, run for office, and serve on 
City Council, boards and commissions, 
etc.  

□ □ □ □ 

Palmer Police would be extended into 
newly annexed areas. □ □ □ □ 

City road maintenance would be extended 
into newly annexed areas.  □ □ □ □ 

Newly annexed areas would be required to 
have trash collection. The City provides 
trash collection within a service area. 
Outside the service area, property owners 
are required to contract with a private solid 
waste collection service. 

□ □ □ □ 

Businesses in annexed areas would 
collect City sales tax of 3 percent; the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough has no sales 
tax. 

□ □ □ □ 

Landowners in annexed areas would pay 
City property taxes and would stop paying 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough non-areawide 
property taxes as well as Greater Palmer 
Fire Service area assessments. 
Annexation would not affect exemptions 
for seniors and disabled veterans, nor 
farmland use tax deferments. 

□ □ □ □ 

Page 237 of 254Page 237 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 89 

Statement 

Significant 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
detriment to 

the area 

Significant 
detriment to 

the area 

Building permits would be required and 
building safety codes would have to be 
met for new construction in newly annexed 
areas. 

□ □ □ □ 

5] What other benefits do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries? (max 1,000 characters)

6] What other concerns do you have about expanding Palmer’s boundaries? (max 1,000 characters)

7] What actions could the City take to reduce negative impacts if property is annexed into the City of
Palmer? For example, zoning and/or other City regulations could be changed to allow certain practices in
annexed areas. Are there specific practices or issues the City should consider allowing in annexed areas
that would not be allowed under existing Palmer Municipal Code? (max 1,000 characters)

8] What specific information should the study provide about potential benefits or challenges of annexing
new land into the City of Palmer? (max 1,000 characters)

9] When thinking about annexing new land into the City of Palmer, which statement most closely reflects
your current overall opinion? (Choose 1.)

□ I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs to the City, my household and/or business
increase in the short term because of the benefits annexation will provide to the community.

□ I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it makes fiscal sense to my household, business
and/or the City.

□ I have no opinion about annexation.
□ I do not currently support annexation but could support it if my concerns were addressed.
□ I do not support annexation under any circumstances.
□ I need more information about annexation to make an informed choice.
□ None of the above.

Finally, it’s important for us to ask a few questions to understand how the demographics of survey 
respondents compare to the general population of the area. 

10] What is your gender? (Choose 1.)

□ Male
□ Female
□ Prefer not to answer

Page 238 of 254Page 238 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 90 

11] What is your age? (Choose 1.)

□ 19 and Under
□ Age 20-44
□ Age 45-64
□ Age 65 and over
□ Prefer not to answer

12] What is your household income? (Choose 1.)

□ Under $25,000
□ $25,000-$49,999
□ $50,000-$74,999
□ $75,000-$99,999
□ Over $100,000
□ Prefer not to answer

13] What is your race or ethnicity? (Choose 1.)

□ White/Caucasian
□ Black
□ American Indian/Alaska Native
□ Asian
□ Pacific Islander
□ Other
□ Two or more races
□ Prefer not to answer

Page 239 of 254Page 239 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 91 

Appendix C: Survey Findings 
Survey results shows that people and businesses inside City are more interested in annexation than 
those in the study areas. Study areas show the least interest in annexation, though there is some support 
in certain study areas. If the economics work out and concerns about conflicting lifestyles can be 
addressed, support for annexation would likely increase in the study areas. Information learned through 
this survey and other public outreach will guide the City’s process as it looks at possible annexation in 
future. 

The Palmer Annexation Study survey was open November 3 to November 20, 2020 and from January 25 
to February 22, 2021. The survey had a grand total of 610 responses.  

Figure 24. Survey Respondents Round 1 and 2 

Level of Support for Annexation 
Findings show that 62 percent of those who live in the city support annexation and 17 percent do not 
support, whereas 15 percent of those who live in the study areas support annexation and 67 percent do 
not support it. This trend is similar for business owners in City versus the study areas. Business owners 
within the City are more evenly split (43 percent indicated possible support, whereas 39 percent indicated 
a lack of support). Business owners in the study areas indicated a stronger lack of support (74 percent). 
These results indicate that Palmer residents want more people to join the City and possibly understand 
some of the benefits of annexation.  

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

I live in Study area A.

I live in Study area B.

I live in Study area C.

I live in Study area D.

I live in Study area E.

I live in Study area F.

I live in Study area G.

I live in the City of Palmer.

I live outside the City of Palmer and outside the study
areas.

Number of Respondents

Round 2 Round 1

Page 240 of 254Page 240 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 92 

Figure 25. General Level of Support for Annexation 

Figure 26. Resident Respondents 

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0%

I live in Study area A.

I live in Study area B.

I live in Study area C.

I live in Study area D.

I live in Study area E.

I live in Study area F.

I live in Study area G.

I live in the City of Palmer.

% of total pop % of Responses

Page 241 of 254Page 241 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 93 

Table 17. Resident Support for Annexation 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 

Table 18. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 

Figure 27. Where Survey Respondents Work 

7%

0%

1%

1%

5%

2%

6%

1%

29%

48%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

I do not work for anyone.

I work in Study area A.

I work in Study area B.

I work in Study area C.

I work in Study area D.

I work in Study area E.

I work in Study area F.

I work in Study area G.

I work in the City of Palmer.

I work outside the City of Palmer and outside the
study area.

Page 242 of 254Page 242 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 94 

In the figure below, the Percent of Businesses (dark blue bars in the graph) are calculated as the number 
of survey responses for which the respondent owns a business in the geographic area indicated, divided 
by the total number of businesses in the geographic area (Source: Data Axle USA, 2019 data). The 
survey was administered in 2020 and 2021; the Data Axle business data is from 2019. This difference in 
time explains why some geographic areas have greater than 100 percent response from businesses in 
that area. The 2019 data does not capture new businesses since it was collected. The number of 
businesses is not strictly comparable, but it does give us a rough sense of the proportion of business 
owners in each area who filled out the survey. 

Figure 28. Business Owner Respondents 

Table 19. Business Owner Support for Annexation 

Own Business in 
City 

Own Business in 
Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%120%140%160%180%200%

I own a business in Study area A.

I own a business in Study area B.

I own a business in Study area C.

I own a business in Study area D.

I own a business in Study area E.

I own a business in Study area F.

I own a business in Study area G.

I own a business in the City of Palmer.

I own a business outside the City of Palmer and
outside the study areas.

% of Businesses % of Responses

Page 243 of 254Page 243 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 95 

Annexation Benefits and Challenges 
Figure 29. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response

Page 244 of 254Page 244 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 96 

Annexation Benefits 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

• Access to or improved City services, generally
• Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed

fire station, bike paths
• Attracting businesses and families
• Everyone in the area living by the same rules
• Less confusion about city boundaries
• Lifestyle preferences
• More opportunities for input on future planning and growth
• Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base
• Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses
• Representation in City government
• Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Annexation Challenges 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived challenges associated with annexation, 
responses fell into the categorized areas of concern in Figure 30. The most repeated concerns included 
not wanting more regulation, not wanting (or feeling unable to afford) an increase in taxes, and concerns 
about the City’s ability to provide services to annexed areas at a comparable quality and cost-
effectiveness to the Borough. Respondents also noted concerns about the City’s readiness to extend 
services and enforcement of City regulations in annexed areas without first demonstrating some 
improvements within existing boundaries.  

Specific concerns raised by business owners included concerns about farms, businesses operated on the 
same property as the home, and ongoing administrative impacts of adapting to the City’s tax structure 
and regulatory framework that would be a burden to businesses. In many cases, resident and business 
concerns were identical: 17 percent of business owners live and own a business in the same area. 

Respondents were also asked open-ended questions about actions the City could take to address their 
concerns and about information the study should include. Key themes from the responses of all open-
ended questions are summarized by topic area on the following pages.  

City Revenues/Tax Base  
In an open-ended question about the benefits of annexation, five percent of all survey respondents 
mentioned City’s revenues and/or tax base. These respondents suggested that the City would benefit 
from a larger or broader tax base through increased population, bringing more businesses into the City, 
and/or taxing the quarry/gravel pits. Respondents also suggested the City might see increases in revenue 
through taxes and/or through increased allocations for State/Federal funding sources. One respondent 
asked if annexation would increase or decrease Palmer’s chances as a small community to be awarded 
grants?  

Nearly 30 percent of all survey respondents indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. One 
respondent suggested that in the event of a significant annexation, the City institute temporary tax 

Page 245 of 254Page 245 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 97 

abatements or a ramp in the property and sales taxes for annexed areas so any tax increases are not a 
shock to annexed residents and businesses. 

Figure 30. Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

Sales Tax 
Responses that specifically mentioned sales tax indicated that some homeowners limit their spending 
overall and particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown food. Some businesses are 
concerned that having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax would hurt their business because 
their competition does not have to charge sales taxes. One response included the suggestion to eliminate 
the City’s monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. 

Property Tax 
Responses that specifically mentioned property tax indicated some concern about increasing property 
taxes especially if it pays for services that are neither wanted nor used. One response included the 
suggestion to create a city property tax cap. 

Other Specific Taxes/Fees 
Responses that specifically mentioned other types of city taxes and fees indicated support for a 
severance tax on local quarries and/or gravel pits as well as a road tax against quarry trucks. One 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%

Page 246 of 254Page 246 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 98 

response included a question about whether the city would collect a bed tax. Other responses mentioned 
local improvement district assessments, building permits and/or building inspection fees, as well as fees 
for specific city services, such as garbage collection. Responses included suggestions for the city to not 
require fee services such as garbage collection or building permits, especially for small structures like 
sheds, decks and fences. Several responses voiced concerns and questions about the fees they would or 
could have to pay to connect to City water/sewer. One response included a question about whether 
annexation would increase or decrease eligibility for grants.  

Growth/Community Planning  
Responses indicated support for protecting Palmer's small-town character, including support for farmland 
preservation. Responses revealed a difference of opinion about annexation as either opportunity to 
extend City land use regulations to manage growth or the belief that annexation would drive population 
growth and thereby irreversibly destroy Palmer’s small-town lifestyle. Comments included a request for 
the study to describe the long-term goals of the City in pursuing annexation as well as to provide growth, 
traffic and land value projections. These respondents want to know if annexation would affect the value of 
annexed land, as well as the costs and ripple effects of increased development and the population growth 
that would follow, such as impacts to traffic volume and patterns.  

Land Use Regulations 
Responses revealed mixed attitudes toward land use regulations. Some responses support zoning or 
other land use regulations for a variety of reasons including:  

• protect Palmer’s small-town character;
• prevent sprawl;
• protect the quality of Palmer’s downtown and commercial district(s);
• protect farmland and hobby farm activities on primarily residential;
• protect public health and sanitation (i.e., disallow septic systems where they would endanger

public health);
• limit high-density housing.

One respondent suggested a green buffer next to the Mountain Ranch subdivision. Another respondent 
suggested allowing buildings over three stories. Other responses oppose zoning or other land use 
regulations for fear that it would decrease land value or disallow the existing mix of uses on individual 
properties.  

Building Codes, Permits, etc. 
Responses that mentioned building codes, permits and inspections reflected a desire for the City to be 
more flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc.  

City Services and Infrastructure 
Responses that mentioned city services and infrastructure were mixed. Some respondents view access to 
city services as a benefit of annexation, while others expressed concerns about the provision of services 
and infrastructure. Some responses reflected a preference for other service providers rather than the City 
of Palmer. Some concerns were about the City’s readiness or ability to extend services to annexed areas. 
Others voiced concern that an annexation could mean that services like sewer, water and garbage 
collection would all be provided to the original city residents but not extended to the newly annexed area, 
so that annexed people would be paying taxes for services they don't receive.  

Parks, Trails and Recreation 
Responses that mentioned parks and recreational infrastructure expressed support for more parks, trails, 
public access points, and recreation infrastructure as a potential benefit of annexation. One respondent 

Page 247 of 254Page 247 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 99 

specifically mentioned the desire for improvements in pedestrian access from annexed areas to the City 
of Palmer. One respondent voiced concern for the City to improve existing recreational infrastructure 
(specifically the Palmer Senior League Field) before annexing anything. 

Police 
Responses that mentioned Palmer’s Police services were mixed. A few responses reflected concern that 
annexation would increase population and therefore crime. Some respondents voiced support for Police 
expansion as a potential benefit of annexation, anticipating that it would result in faster response times 
within existing City boundaries as well as in annexed areas. Some responses reflected a preference for 
the Alaska State Troopers. Other responses expressed concern that the Palmer Police Department would 
be overwhelmed by a significant annexation because staff are already overworked, understaffed, 
underpaid, and do not feel supported by the City. A few respondents also voiced concerns about the 
expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find qualified people to hire for 
the new positions as well as its ability to pay its officers a competitive salary. A few responses reflected a 
desire for more information about the specifics of how exactly the Palmer Police Department would be 
expanded or changed with an annexation. 

Fire 
Relatively few responses mentioned Palmer Fire and Rescue. Some respondents saw improvements to 
Palmer’s fire and emergency response services as a benefit of annexation, specifically faster fire and 
emergency response times. These responses also indicated support for the department to access more 
resources to build, staff and equip new fire station(s) in areas that do not have them. Other responses 
reflected concerns about the cost of those improvements. A few responses reflected a desire for more 
information about the specifics of how exactly Palmer Fire and Rescue would be expanded or changed 
with an annexation. 

Roads 
Responses that mentioned road maintenance and related infrastructure were mixed. Some responses 
indicated support for the expansion of City road maintenance and installation of streetlights in their 
neighborhoods. One response voiced frustration that the City does not pay for the maintenance and 
electricity for street lighting in their neighborhood. Other respondents do not want City road maintenance, 
nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these responses specifically mentioned concerns that the City 
cannot provide snow removal as fast as what they are used to now. A few respondents specifically 
shared concerns about the City’s ability to provide snow removal on Scott Road because it requires 
specialized equipment. (Note that as a state-owned Road, Scott Road would continue to be maintained 
by the Alaska State Department of Transportation and Public Facilities if the area were to be annexed into 
the City. It is also common practice for public road maintenance departments to trade snow removal 
responsibilities for specific roads if it makes the overall service provision more efficient and cost effective. 
For example, in Anchorage, the State provides snow removal for some larger Municipal roads and in 
exchange, the Municipality clears snow for some smaller State-owned roads.) A few responses also 
voiced concerns about the City’s ability to find people willing to accept any new maintenance positions 
unless it raises its salaries and wages for the positions. 

Garbage 
Responses that mentioned City garbage collection were also mixed. Some respondents want City 
garbage collection, including existing City residents who live outside the City’s current garbage collection 
service area. One respondent voiced concern that expanding the current trash collection service area 
would trigger state regulation of City utilities by forcing the City to enter a competitive service area. 

Page 248 of 254Page 248 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 100 

Other respondents within the City and outside the City prefer to either contract with another provider or 
haul their own trash. In the study areas, respondents generally want to be able to choose who and how 
garbage is dealt with. Some responses voiced concern that trash collection would become more 
expensive if land is annexed. 

Water and Sewer 
Responses that mentioned water and sewer services were likewise mixed. Respondents who saw 
potential annexation benefits expressed support for City planning to prevent ground water problems, as 
well as support for limiting septic systems in future for public health reasons. Some respondents voiced a 
desire to have water and sewer extended to their property; others expressed preferences for their existing 
onsite or community well and septic systems. Some respondents brought up concerns about the cost of 
extending and hooking up to piped water and/or sewer.  

"I've heard it could cost each home up to $20,000 for city sewer and water if we are annexed."  

"I just paid for a new septic install. I would be unhappy about having to pay to hook up to sewer now." 

A few respondents questioned whether the City would take over servicing their subdivision’s community 
well and septic if annexed. Responses reflected both frustration about the City refusing to take over a 
community well, while another HOA wants to maintain ownership and control of the community well. 

Farmers voiced special concerns about whether they would have to pay for City water or be able to 
maintain their private wells (discussed under Farms). One respondent voiced concern that an annexation 
would require the City’s water and wastewater plants to be expanded, with limited capacity to do so at the 
current wastewater plant."  

Other Services and Infrastructure 
Responses also included questions and concerns regarding a number of other City services and 
infrastructure. A few specifically mentioned the desire for improvements (or repair and replacement) to 
aging stormwater collection infrastructure and existing City facilities (generally). Some responses voiced 
concerns that the city does not have the infrastructure to support the larger size of a major annexation. A 
few responses included support for fire hydrants to be extended into annexed areas, or at least want a 
better understanding of whether the City would extend fire hydrants to annexed area(s). 

One or two respondents voiced strong dissatisfaction with mail service in the Palmer area (specifically the 
Post Office and cost of a PO box). It should be noted that because mail service is a Federal service, 
annexation would not necessarily affect postal services.  

A few responses included questions about how annexation would affect schools in terms of population 
and funding. 

"How does all of this affect the zoning of our current school system?  Has there been an impact study done by a 
neutral source determining projected student increases by age groups?  Will new schools need to be built to handle 
the projected increases?"  

Governance 
Governance was not often mentioned among the open-ended responses: six percent of all respondents 
mentioned governance as benefits and three percent of all responses mentioned it as a concern. These 
responses included support for being able to vote in City elections and having more of a voice in City 
government for both residents and businesses. They also included as benefits a wider pool of eligible 
candidates to run for public office and hopes for a more involved voter base and greater sense of 
community. Some respondents had a preference for the City of Palmer over the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough; others preferred the Borough over the City. A few comments observed that an annexation could 
make boundaries between the City and Borough easier to understand. Respondents who mentioned 

Page 249 of 254Page 249 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 101 

concerns with governance want as little government oversight as possible and view an annexation not by 
their choice (against their will) as an overreach of government and an infringement on their personal 
freedoms. 

Regulations 
In open-ended questions about benefits and concerns regarding annexation, only two percent of all 
survey responses mentioned regulations as benefits, whereas 29 percent of all responses mentioned 
regulations as concerns. As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way 
to manage growth and protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of 
everyone following the same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or law enforcement.  

The main concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the 
desire to be able to use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on 
their property, and keep a variety of animals on their land. Responses about actions the City could take 
overwhelmingly reflected the desire to grandfather or make regulatory allowances to retain existing 
lifestyles and businesses.  

Use of Firearms 
Responses included suggestions to allow hunting (generally and small-game hunting), target practice on 
property, and access to hunting grounds. Respondents also expressed the desire to be able to continue 
using private rifle/shooting range(s), including the existing gun range that operates in Study Area G.  

Use of Off-Road Vehicles 
Responses included suggestions to allow off-road vehicles (e.g., ATVs, snow machines) to be licensed 
for road use. One respondent specifically mentioned wanting to drive off-road vehicles on Bogard Road. 

Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks 
Responses included suggestions to allow burning waste, having backyard firepits and setting off fireworks 
on private property. A few comments specifically mentioned wanting burn permits with the same 
allowances as they are currently granted by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough.  

Animals 
Responses indicated the desire to have a variety of type and number of animals on their property. 
Respondents specifically mentioned livestock on farms or hobby farms, e.g., goats, chickens (including 
roosters), cows, horses, bees.  

"Many of these areas have people with more than a few chickens. And they depend on them for food or money from 
egg sales. Same with other livestock. Making it a city would really harm these practices and people will move 
farther."  

Responses also included suggestions for different rules for dogs, including:  

"Maintain the four-dog limit; four dogs is okay if there are no other animals."  

"Allow permits and inspection for more than two dogs for small dog kennels. No more than 10 dogs." 

"Allow dogs to run free." 

Other Regulations 
Responses indicated a strong lack of support for building codes and permits for sheds, decks, storage 
buildings; the City’s garbage collection requirement; and any requirement to connect to the City’s piped 
water-sewer utility if a property is served by functioning well and septic. One response mentioned a lack 
of support for a mask ordinance. Responses did indicate support for regulations to address 
homelessness and to allow private wells, especially on farms. Responses reflected a mix of support and 

Page 250 of 254Page 250 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 102 

objection to allowing businesses such as marijuana dispensary (and cannabis tourism), a strip club and 
pawn shop. Suggestions to improve regulations included:  

• Enforce quiet hours from the quarry
• Revisit requirements concerning agricultural practices (e.g., noise, smells, land use, number and

size of animals allowed on the property)
• Allow well and septic
• Allow self-haul and privately contracted trash collection
• Flexibility and/or exemptions to building code and permit requirements for small structures

(decks, sheds, fences, outbuildings)
• Allow neighborhood roads to not have sidewalks.

Businesses and Economic Development 
Responses that mentioned businesses and economic development included a range of support for 
potential benefits of annexation and concerns about how an annexation would affect business operations 
in annexed areas and inside the City. Some respondents view annexation as a way to support private 
business development. Others concerned that people who own business but don't live in Palmer don't 
have a voice. Responses also included concerns that City officials would not be willing to allow big 
businesses to be established in annexed areas. 

Business responses included concerns about the impact of taxation (present and future) and City 
regulations on the ability to do business. Some businesses expressed concerns about having to have 
more license(s), more fee(s), and another set of quarterly paperwork to complete and submit. Some 
businesses voiced concerns that because they compete against businesses located in areas that do not 
have a sales tax, collecting the Palmer sales tax would make them less competitive, and they could lose 
a large amount of business. Business responses also included concerns that owners of annexed property 
would pass cost increases to the lease holder operating a business on the property, and that annexation 
could cause job losses and/or drive businesses away. Business owners seek protection under current 
economic hardships (i.e., due to COVID-19 restrictions) and to be allowed to continue operation. 

Responses included a request for information about the long-term effects of annexation on businesses in 
the annexed areas, about the financial impact to businesses and how that might affect current and 
potential future business in the city. One respondent voiced concern about whether growth associated 
with annexation would create high wage jobs (e.g., medical support) or low wage jobs (e.g., big box 
retail).  

Survey responses reflected a mix of interest in and concern about annexation causing an increase in the  
number of City jobs. Some  respondents voiced support for more City jobs, though others expressed 
concerns that City of Palmer employees are not paid competitive salaries/wages and question whether 
the City could attract qualified people to fill new positions at current pay levels.  

Farms 
Responses that mentioned farms universally sought to protect agricultural businesses and activities in the 
greater Palmer area. Some voiced concerns that City regulations would make it difficult for hobby farms 
and business-scale farms, alike. Specifically, respondents mentioned concerns about the number and 
size of animals allowed, building codes/permits for outbuildings, road accesses, and the ability to maintain 
private well and waste management on the property. One respondent estimated the amount of water 
used for farm operations (up to 5,000 gallons per day) to estimate the cost impact to the farm if it had to 
purchase City water.  

Page 251 of 254Page 251 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 103 

Responses included suggestions for the City to adopt Right-to-Farm laws and/or publish regulations, 
protections and changes to city policy involving farmland to ensure the preservation of farmland and 
agricultural practices, including encouraging the creation of more agricultural businesses. Responses also 
included suggestions to exempt agricultural land from mandatory trash collection, building permits for 
storage buildings, and eliminate monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. One respondent 
suggested that the City "keep the R7 rating so agriculture can continue without being impacted by placing 
farmland in competition with new subdivisions." Another respondent commented that the size and/or type 
of lots should be treated differently regarding allowances for animals. 

Other Businesses 
Specific businesses mentioned include farms, the gravel pit, gun range, marijuana cultivation and 
dispensaries, home-based businesses. (Note: The few responses that mentioned marijuana-related 
businesses show mixed attitudes toward them.) One respondent voiced interest in attracting national 
chains, auto/truck dealerships, a movie theater and shopping mall to Palmer. Responses also included 
concerns about the impacts of annexation to landlords (e.g., how much sales tax they would have to pay) 
and that zoning would prohibit certain home businesses.  

Responses included support for regulating the gravel pits/quarry to enforce quiet hours and "make the 
midnight gravel train go away," as well as maintaining private gun range(s). Responses indicated mixed 
support for allowing marijuana businesses: a few respondents suggested allowing dispensaries within the 
City and developing cannabis tourism, while one voiced concern that  there are too many cannabis 
businesses in the Valley already and that the regional market cannot support them all. One respondent 
suggested that Palmer should have a strip club and allow pawn shops within the City.  

Fix it First 
Concerns about service provision also revealed a desire among current City residents as well as 
residents outside the City for Palmer to improve the quality of existing services and local regulation/law 
enforcement before a significant annexation takes place. Some specific concerns could be due to 
misunderstanding about where City boundaries are, how the City operates and the limits of what it can 
do. These concerns may also provide useful direction for the City about where to focus information-
sharing and departmental improvements. Comments mentioned:  

• Improve City road maintenance: pave rutted gravel roads; upgrade aging paved roads; improve
snow removal and general maintenance on Colony Way, Arctic Boulevard and other streets that
branch off them.

• Improve/repair storm water collection systems, curb and gutter.
• Keep sidewalks clear.
• Increase repair and replacement for aging City facilities, generally.
• Improve the Palmer Sr. League field.
• Clarify if, when and how the water and sewer utility would extend piped service. City "water

pressure can be limited at times."
• Clarify City trash collection service areas and policies.
• Improve fire response times (in study areas).
• Expand the police force and improve morale in the Police Department.
• Reduce crime and increase vehicle safety enforcement ("Automobiles and Trucks are permitted

to be operated with one headlight, Violations emissions").
• Increase enforcement for junk vehicles, property maintenance, single family residential zoning.
• Pay City employees better, specifically police, emergency/first responders, and public works.
• Address homelessness in the City.

Page 252 of 254Page 252 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 104 

• Improve the City’s reputation for fiscal management to address concerns that annexation is
intended only to increase revenue for the City.

Suggestions for Communication, Process and Timeline 
Responses reflected a desire for more frequent and open communication between the City and area 
residents, generally and specific to the annexation process. Regarding the annexation process, 
responses reflected the desire for a clear "why" statement to better understand the City’s motivations for 
annexing more land, and as much information as possible about the process, timelines and what to 
expect in any annexation process. One respondent specifically asked which services would be extended 
to annexed areas immediately. The transition plan developed for any future annexation petition will be 
critical for informing new citizens about the specific changes they can expect upon becoming part of the 
city, how and when those changes will take place.  

"I would want to know the cost of annexation, the projected revenues generated by annexed business, and see a 
plan for how long it would take to accomplish the annexation from start to finish once passed."  

Many responses questioned whether annexation had any benefits and wanted more information about 
how annexation would benefit them and/or the City, beyond a larger tax base. Responses included a 
desire for specific analysis of how annexation would affect taxes, cost of living, land use regulations and 
other impacts to the day-to-day use of their property, compared with Borough taxes and regulations. 

"There should be a five year forward looking budget forecast for the city, based on the projected increases in costs 
and revenues, so that people can be adequately informed." 

A few responses questioned why the study areas did not include certain areas, such as the areas south 
of inner Springer Inn Spring Hill and Outer Springer (Rocky Point, Sky Ranch, River Bend, and Colony 
Estate subdivisions) and Marsh Road in Study Area B. One respondent suggested the City consider 
taking an incremental approach, annexing one or two areas first, then adding more at a later date.  

Some comments reflected a belief that the City is already planning to move forward with annexation 
regardless of residents’ input and intends to take action soon after the study is completed without further 
opportunity for discussion. Continuous education about the multi-step annexation process and 
opportunities for public involvement in the decision may help alleviate some of these concerns. 
Suggestions included keeping citizens informed and providing opportunities for them to voice concerns as 
the process moves forward through mailers, door-to-door fliers, more surveys, informational Q&A 
sessions, and door-to-door discussions or HOA meetings. When it comes time for the City to decide on 
making an annexation petition, some respondents suggested the City consider basing its decision on a 
majority vote among residents/property owners in the areas considered for annexation. 

“Sometimes it's difficult to make a case for annexation because residents in those areas don't see a direct benefit to 
them. Sometimes there aren't positive impacts, but larger community issues are often critical for effective and 
efficient service delivery...a broader issue different from ‘what do I get out of it?’” 

More communication about the City’s planning activities may also be helpful. Some respondents were not 
aware of the City’s long-term plans for expanding services, land use planning or desired areas for future 
growth. For example, the City may engage in shorter-term planning for general operations and capital 
projects over the next few years. The City may also look to update Palmer’s Comprehensive Plan to 
revisit longer-term plans. Though not reflected in survey results, the City may decide to be more actively 
involved in economic development planning and related activities in future, regardless of whether its 
boundaries expand or remain stable.  

Respondent Demographics 
The survey had a majority of white respondents and a diversity of income levels. Respondents were fairly 
well distributed by age with just over one-third in the younger age cohort. In comparing survey responses 

Page 253 of 254Page 253 of 254



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 105 

to City of Palmer demographics, respondent demographics are fairly but not exactly consistent with 
trends citywide. It is fair to suggest that the younger demographic is slightly less represented, compared 
to City demographics. Similarly, people of color are slightly less represented when compared to Palmer 
demographics. Finally, lower income households are notably less represented compared to household 
income distribution in Palmer overall. 

Table 20. Respondent Demographics 

All Survey 
Respondents 

City of Palmer 2018 ACS 
(US Census Bureau) 

City of Palmer and 
Study Areas 2020* 

Female 273 45% 48% 50% 

Male 243 40% 52% 50% 

Prefer not to answer 87 14% 

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

Age 20-44 220 36% 57% 49% 

Age 45-64 229 38% 28% 34% 

Age 65 and over 86 14% 15% 17% 

Prefer not to answer 69 11% 

Total Age 20 and over 604 100% 100% 100% 

White or Caucasian 377 62% 76% 74% 

American Indian or Alaska Native 18 3% 8% 8% 

Black or African American 6 1% 3% 2% 

Asian or Asian American 2 0% 2% 2% 

Two or more races 33 5% 10% 8% 

Another race 12 2% 2% 6% 

Prefer not to answer 157 26% 

Total 605 100% 100% 100% 

Under $25,000 7 1% 17% 18% 

$25,000-$49,999 42 7% 24% 18% 

$50,000-$74,999 73 12% 19% 17% 

$75,000-$99,999 118 20% 14% 12% 

Over $100,000 205 34% 25% 36% 

Prefer not to answer 158 26% 

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

2020 Data from ESRI adjusted by the Alaska Map Co. using Matanuska-Susitna Borough housing assessment 
counts. 

Page 254 of 254Page 254 of 254


	Agenda
	AM 21-037 MOA - SOA Covid19 Emergency Operation Grant
	Minutes
	Ord. 21-008 Garbage
	Ord. 21-009 Water Supply System
	Res. 21-020 MEA Land Sale
	Res. 21-021 Chugach Land Sale
	AM 21-038 Connoisseur Lounge
	Annexation Study
	Overview and Executive Summary
	Purpose
	Process
	Fiscal Effects of Annexation
	Community Considerations
	Recommendations
	Continue Ongoing Communication
	Choose an Annexation Approach
	Continue the Conversation
	Figures
	Tables



	Introduction to Annexation
	Annexation in Alaska
	Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC)
	Petition Methods
	Annexation by Legislative Review
	Annexation by Local Action
	Legislative Review versus Local Action

	Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards

	City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas
	History
	Land Use and Economy
	Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned
	A Summary of Annexation in Palmer
	Annexation Lessons Learned



	Fiscal Analysis
	Study Areas
	Fiscal Analysis Methodology
	Individual Model Components
	Demographics, Physical Attributes, Tax Base
	Population
	Property Tax Base
	Sales Tax Base
	Road Lane Miles

	Revenues
	Sales Taxes (including Utility Sales Taxes)
	Property Taxes
	Other Revenues

	Service Costs
	Police
	Public Works
	Non-Public Safety/Non-Public Works General Government
	Capital Costs


	2030 Projections
	Population
	Housing
	Property Taxes
	Sales Taxes


	Fiscal Impact Analysis
	Fiscal Effects
	Fiscal Findings
	2030 Fiscal Findings



	Community Analysis
	Community Analysis Methodology
	Interviews and Meetings
	Survey
	Research and Reflection

	Community Impact Analysis
	Level of Support for Annexation
	Annexation Benefits and Challenges
	Annexation Benefits
	Annexation Challenges

	Community Fiscal Concerns
	City Revenues/Tax Base
	Property Taxes
	Sales Taxes
	Severance Tax
	Bed Tax
	Other Fees


	Planning and Growth Management
	Key Findings
	Land Use Regulations
	Building Codes, Permits, etc.


	Public Services and Infrastructure
	Key Findings
	City Administration and Finance
	Community Development
	Palmer Golf Course
	Warren “Bud” Woods Palmer Municipal Airport
	Police
	Fire and Emergency Services
	Public Works
	Administration Division
	Fleet Division
	Facilities Division
	Parks Division
	Streets Division
	Solid Waste Division
	Water and Sewer Division


	Governance
	Key Findings
	Residential and Lifestyle

	Businesses and Economic Development
	Farms
	Other Businesses




	Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area
	Study Area A
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area B
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area C
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area D
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area E
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area F
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area G (and E)
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030


	Transition Plan
	Transfer Process
	General Government Services
	Transition of voter roles

	Licenses
	Business licenses
	Alcohol and Marijuana Licenses

	Property Tax
	Sales Tax
	Other taxes and fees
	Economic Development
	Planning, Land Use and Zoning
	Water and Sewer
	Public Safety
	Roads and Road Maintenance
	Libraries, Parks and Recreation
	Services Not Affected by Annexation

	Policy Implications
	Sales Taxes
	Building permits, fees and codes for sheds, fences, decks, etc.
	Off Highway Vehicle (OHV) use (ATVs, snow machines, etc.)
	Animal restrictions
	Hunting and Use of Firearms
	Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks
	Solid Waste Collection and Disposal
	Farms

	A History of Annexation in Palmer
	A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation
	A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation
	Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development
	The Case for Annexation


	Interview Questions
	Residents and the General Public
	Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners

	Survey Questions
	Level of Support for Annexation
	Annexation Benefits and Challenges
	Annexation Benefits
	Annexation Challenges

	City Revenues/Tax Base
	Sales Tax
	Property Tax
	Other Specific Taxes/Fees

	Growth/Community Planning
	Land Use Regulations
	Building Codes, Permits, etc.

	City Services and Infrastructure
	Parks, Trails and Recreation
	Police
	Fire
	Roads
	Garbage
	Water and Sewer
	Other Services and Infrastructure

	Governance
	Regulations
	Use of Firearms
	Use of Off-Road Vehicles
	Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks
	Animals
	Other Regulations

	Businesses and Economic Development
	Farms
	Other Businesses

	Fix it First
	Suggestions for Communication, Process and Timeline
	Respondent Demographics






